

SEPSIS AND COVID-19: CROSS-TALK IN SIGNALLING PATHWAYS AND IN THERAPEUTIC PERSPECTIVES

EDITED BY: Reinaldo Salomao, Felipe Dal Pizzol and Fernando Queiróz Cunha PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Medicine









Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-402-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-402-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

SEPSIS AND COVID-19: CROSS-TALK IN SIGNALLING PATHWAYS AND IN THERAPEUTIC PERSPECTIVES

Topic Editors:

Reinaldo Salomao, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil **Felipe Dal Pizzol,** Universidade do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Brazil **Fernando Queiróz Cunha,** University of São Paulo, Brazil

Citation: Salomao, R., Dal Pizzol, F., Cunha, F. Q., eds. (2022). Sepsis and COVID-19: Cross-Talk in Signalling Pathways and in Therapeutic Perspectives. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-402-0

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Sepsis and COVID-19: Cross-Talk in Signaling Pathways and in Therapeutic Perspectives

Reinaldo Salomão, Fernando Queiróz Cunha and Felipe Dal-Pizzol

07 Epigenetic Regulation in Sepsis, Role in Pathophysiology and Therapeutic Perspective

Renata Brito Falcão-Holanda, Milena Karina Colo Brunialti, Miriam Galvonas Jasiulionis and Reinaldo Salomão

18 Downregulation of CD45 Signaling in COVID-19 Patients Is Reversed by C24D, a Novel CD45 Targeting Peptide

Danny Alon, Yossi Paitan, Eyal Robinson, Nirit Ganor, Julia Lipovetsky, Rinat Yerushalmi, Cyrille J. Cohen and Annat Raiter

25 Comparative Study of Acute Lung Injury in COVID-19 and Non-COVID-19 Patients

Jianguo Zhang, Xing Huang, Daoyin Ding, Jinhui Zhang, Liusheng Xu, Zhenkui Hu, Wenrong Xu and Zhimin Tao

36 Immune System Disequilibrium—Neutrophils, Their Extracellular Traps, and COVID-19-Induced Sepsis

Colm Keane, Matthew Coalter and Ignacio Martin-Loeches

48 Sepsis of Patients Infected by SARS-CoV-2: Real-World Experience From the International HOPE-COVID-19-Registry and Validation of HOPE Sepsis Score

Mohammad Abumayyaleh, Iván J. Nuñez-Gil, Ibrahim El-Battrawy, Vicente Estrada, Víctor Manuel Becerra-Muñoz, Aitor Uribarri, Inmaculada Fernández-Rozas, Gisela Feltes, Ramón Arroyo-Espliguero, Daniela Trabattoni, Javier López Pais, Martino Pepe, Rodolfo Romero, María Elizabeth Ortega-Armas, Matteo Bianco, Thamar Capel Astrua, Fabrizio D'Ascenzo, Oscar Fabregat-Andres, Andrea Ballester, Francisco Marín, Danilo Buonsenso, Raul Sanchez-Gimenez, Christel Weiß, Cristina Fernandez Perez, Antonio Fernández-Ortiz, Carlos Macaya, Ibrahim Akin and HOPE COVID-19 investigators

58 Androgen Receptor Pathway Activity Assay for Sepsis Diagnosis and Prediction of Favorable Prognosis

Wilbert Bouwman, Wim Verhaegh and Anja van de Stolpe

70 Acute Vertigo After COVID-19 Vaccination: Case Series and Literature Review

Paola Di Mauro, Ignazio La Mantia, Salvatore Cocuzza, Pasqua Irene Sciancalepore, Deborak Rasà, Antonino Maniaci, Salvatore Ferlito, Isabella Tundo and Roberta Anzivino

79 Performance of NEWS, qSOFA, and SIRS Scores for Assessing Mortality, Early Bacterial Infection, and Admission to ICU in COVID-19 Patients in the Emergency Department

Julio Alencar, Luz Marina Gómez Gómez, Andre Lazzeri Cortez, Heraldo Possolo de Souza, Anna Sara Levin and Matias Chiarastelli Salomão for the HCFMUSP COVID-19 Study Group 91 Respiratory Outcomes After 6 Months of Hospital Discharge in Patients Affected by COVID-19: A Prospective Cohort

Gabriele da Silveira Prestes, Carla Sasso Simon, Roger Walz, Cristiane Ritter and Felipe Dal-Pizzol

98 Relationship Between Endothelial and Angiogenesis Biomarkers Envisage Mortality in a Prospective Cohort of COVID-19 Patients Requiring Respiratory Support

Felipe Maldonado, Diego Morales, Catalina Díaz-Papapietro, Catalina Valdés, Christian Fernandez, Nicolas Valls, Marioli Lazo, Carolina Espinoza, Roberto González, Rodrigo Gutiérrez, Álvaro Jara, Carlos Romero, Oscar Cerda and Mónica Cáceres



Editorial: Sepsis and COVID-19: Cross-Talk in Signaling Pathways and in Therapeutic Perspectives

Reinaldo Salomão 1*, Fernando Queiróz Cunha² and Felipe Dal-Pizzol³

¹ Infectious Disease Department, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ² Center of Research in Inflammatory Diseases (CRID), Department of Pharmacology, Ribeirão Preto Medical School, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ³ Laboratory of Experimental Pathophysiology, Graduate Program in Health Sciences, Universidade do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Criciúma, Brazil

Keywords: sepsis, COVID-19, predictor factors, pathogenesis, epigenetic

Editorial on the Research Topic

Sepsis and COVID-19: Cross-Talk in Signaling Pathways and in Therapeutic Perspectives

Sepsis, as a manifestation of several endemic and epidemic diseases, has had a profound impact on humankind's history. In the last decades, sepsis remained a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. In December 2019, the city of Wuhan, in China, became the center of an outbreak of pneumonia of unknown cause, rapidly identified as triggered by a new coronavirus, the SARS-CoV-2 (from "severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2"). The disease was characterized as COVID-19 (an acronym for "coronavirus disease") by the World Health Organization (WHO February 11, 2020, and in just a month, on March 11, it was declared a global pandemic (WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID19 -March 2020). As of 8 April 2022, there have been circa 500 million confirmed cases of COVID-19, including over 6 million deaths reported to (1).

Patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 and progressing to critical COVID-19 illness are unequivocally presenting sepsis. However, there are important differences in the clinical trajectories and underlying mechanisms driving to critical disease between a COVID-19 patient and a regular septic patient. COVID-19 is a disease and sepsis is a syndrome. COVID-19 patients deteriorating to sepsis and septic shock show a typical clinical course, the medium time from symptoms' onset to dyspnea ranging from 5 to 8 days, the median time to acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) from 8 to 12 days, and the median time to ICU admission ranging from 10 to 12 days. This is in frank contrast with the unpredictable or heterogeneous timeframe of events in a regular septic patient and has been a clue for a better understanding of the pathophysiological events as well as to achieve more success in adjunctive therapy strategies.

Although present important differences, the pathogenesis of sepsis and COVID-19 converges to a pivotal role in host systemic inflammatory response. Cytokines storm, procoagulant state, Toll-Like Receptor (TLR) signaling, Pathogen-associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs) and Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs), neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), inflammasome, changes in lipids profile are involved in both diseases. Thus, the sepsis literature quickly became COVID literature as well, and this overlap highlights our need to better phenotyping regular sepsis.

This Research Topic covered a wide scope of sepsis and COVID-19 interfaces, including clinical profiles and sequelae, translational research evaluating biomarkers and predictive outcomes, and mechanisms underlying the dysregulated inflammatory response.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Marc Jean Struelens, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium

> *Correspondence: Reinaldo Salomão rsalomao@unifesp.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases - Surveillance, Prevention and Treatment, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

> Received: 11 April 2022 Accepted: 13 May 2022 Published: 30 May 2022

Citation:

Salomão R, Cunha FQ and Dal-Pizzol F (2022) Editorial: Sepsis and COVID-19: Cross-Talk in Signaling Pathways and in Therapeutic Perspectives. Front. Med. 9:917792. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.917792

5

Abumayyaleh et al. developed a score aiming to help clinicians in identifying high-risk COVID-19 patients progressing to sepsis while Alencar et al. tested the performance of NEWS, qSOFA, and SIRS scores for assessing mortality, early bacterial infection, and admission to ICU in covid-19 patients admitted in the emergency department. Zhang et al. reported on clinical similarities and differences between acute lung injury (ALI) in COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 patients in the intensive care unit (ICU), and Prestes et al. showed that long term lung dysfunction is common in patients with severe COVID-19 and impacts negatively on activities of daily living

Pathogenetic changes are related to clinical outcomes or envisaged as oriented target therapy. Microangiopathy and thrombosis coupled with dysfunctional local inflammatory response are the basis for organ dysfunction in COVID-19. Here, Maldonado et al. observed increased concentrations of thrombomodulin, angiopoietin-2, human vascular endothelial growth factor, and human hepatocyte growth factor and a decrease in human tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2 in COVID-19 patients, and demonstrated that early endothelial and angiogenic biomarkers could predict mortality in patients with COVID-19.

A dysregulated immune response with concomitant proinflammatory and immune suppressive responses is one of the fundamental changes observed in sepsis. Alon et al. bring evidence that CD45/TCR intracellular signaling is downregulated in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from COVID-19 patients and demonstrate that C24D, an immunomodulatory peptide, rescued CD45 signaling. On the other hand, the robust data on dysfunctional inflammatory response and the pivotal role of "NETosis", the process of neutrophil release of their extracellular traps, is discussed in a comprehensive review by Keane et al.

In an interesting approach, Bouwman et al. addressed signal transduction pathway activities in whole blood samples from patients with sepsis and observed increased activity in androgen (AR) receptor and TGF β pathways. AR showed a good performance for diagnosing and predicting sepsis' outcomes.

There is increasing evidence that immune and metabolic response during an infectious process is under epigenetic

REFERENCES

 World Health Organization (2022). WHO Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Dashboard. (2022). Available online at: https://covid19.who.int (accessed April 9, 2022).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the author and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of control. Epigenetic changes play an important role in regulating DNA processes, such as transcription, repair, and replication. Falcão-Holanda et al. review the epigenetic changes reported in experimental and clinical studies and discuss their role in the pathogenesis of sepsis and as a potential target for adjunctive therapy.

The rapid development of vaccines against COVID-19, based on different platforms, from the traditional inactivated viruses to the new mRNA technology, was an unprecedented scientific achievement and a central approach to pandemic control. As of 5 April 2022, over 11 billion vaccine doses have been administered in the world (WHO, 2022). One concern with this massive immunization is the possible side effects, among others, related to thromboembolism, myocarditis/pericarditis, and neuropathies. Here, Di Mauro et al. focused on acute vertigo syndrome, which, as they pointed out, could represent an overlap between ear/labyrinth and nervous system disorders following COVID-19 immunization.

The pathogenesis-oriented target therapy also converges sepsis and COVID-19. In COVID-19, as was formerly the case with sepsis, a great enthusiasm was observed with multiple inflammation-based targets for intervention, the IL-6 inhibitors as an illustrating example. On the other hand, targeting the immunosuppressive state with IL-7 has undergone clinical trials as well. Again, deciphering the host-protective defense from the harmful response and identifying patients which would benefit from one or other approach are a pivotal research challenge.

We are in debt to the authors of the Research Topic for the excellence of their contributions and hope that the topic will contribute with our increasing knowledge about sepsis and COVID-19.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Salomão, Cunha and Dal-Pizzol. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Epigenetic Regulation in Sepsis, Role in Pathophysiology and Therapeutic Perspective

Renata Brito Falcão-Holanda¹, Milena Karina Colo Brunialti¹, Miriam Galvonas Jasiulionis² and Reinaldo Salomão^{1*}

¹ Division of Infectious Diseases, Escola Paulista de Medicina, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ² Department of Pharmacology, Escola Paulista de Medicina, Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

Sepsis is characterized by an initial hyperinflammatory response, with intense cell activation and cytokine storm. In parallel, a prolonged compensatory anti-inflammatory response, known as immunological tolerance, can lead to immunosuppression. Clinically, this condition is associated with multiple organ failure, resulting in the patient's death. The mechanisms underlying the pathophysiology of sepsis are not yet fully understood, but evidence is strong showing that epigenetic changes, including DNA methylation and post-translational modifications of histones, modulate the inflammatory response of sepsis. During the onset of infection, host cells undergo epigenetic changes that favor pathogen survival. Besides, epigenetic changes in essential genes also orchestrate the patient's inflammatory response. In this review, we gathered studies on sepsis and epigenetics to show the central role of epigenetic mechanisms in various aspects of the pathogenesis of sepsis and the potential of epigenetic interventions for its treatment.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Peter S. Steyger, Creighton University, United States

Reviewed by:

Mariane Tami Amano, Hospital Sirio Libanes, Brazil Julia K. Bohannon, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Reinaldo Salomão

Reinaldo Salomão rsalomao@unifesp.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Translational Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 25 March 2021 Accepted: 09 June 2021 Published: 12 July 2021

Citation:

Falcão-Holanda RB, Brunialti MKC, Jasiulionis MG and Salomão R (2021) Epigenetic Regulation in Sepsis, Role in Pathophysiology and Therapeutic Perspective. Front. Med. 8:685333. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.685333 Keywords: sepsis, epigenetics, chromatin remodeling, DNA methylation, histone modification

INTRODUCTION

Sepsis is a syndrome that includes different abnormalities, described in 1992 as systemic inflammatory response syndrome. It was believed that its pathogenesis was mainly due to an unbalanced inflammatory response of the organism triggered by the presence of an infectious agent. This response is much more complex is characterized by the simultaneous exacerbation of inflammatory, metabolic, catabolic, and immunosuppressive pathways, with lingering effects and difficulty in restoring basal homeostasis (1, 2). The concept of sepsis and the understanding of its pathogenesis are continually evolving. Many of the changes considered a dysregulated host response to infection may be, at least in part, an effort to adapt to a hostile environment (3).

Despite all efforts to unravel the mechanisms that orchestrate sepsis, questions remain about its pathophysiology. Epigenetic mechanisms play a prominent role in regulating gene transcription, and gene transcription undergoes significant changes during sepsis. Therefore, epigenetic mechanisms are involved in the acute events of sepsis and in the long-standing post-septic effects on the host response.

7

DEFINITION OF EPIGENETIC MECHANISMS

Epigenetic changes are described in literature as chemical changes in chromatin, inherited during cell division, with a role in regulating gene expression and genome stability, without involving changes in the DNA sequence (4). The most studied epigenetic mechanisms are DNA methylation and post-translational modifications (PTMs) of histones but also include changes in chromatin remodeling and regulation by non-coding RNAs (ncRNA) (5). Information on the epigenetic changes plays an important role in regulating DNA processes, such as transcription, repair, and replication. As a result, abnormal expression patterns of gene changes in chromatin regulators may have discrepant results (6).

Gene activation or silencing is controlled by enzymes that add or remove chemical groups (acetyl, methyl, among others) in chromatin (**Figure 1**). These modifications interact with "reader" proteins that have unique structurally conserved domains present in various chromatin regulators and transcription factors, recruiting components of transcriptional machinery and chromatin remodeling complexes (6). These complexes can be subdivided into two main regions: heterochromatin, composed mainly of inactive genes, with late and highly condensed replication; and euchromatin, which contains most of the active genes and has the loosest chromatin (7).

DNA methvlation and histone modifications are complementary dynamic processes that together determine the pattern of gene expression, essential in the development, differentiation, and cellular function (8); from the beginning of development and throughout an individual's life, they act regularly and physiologically. Epigenetic marks have plasticity in response to the cellular state and the environment. Epigenetic patterns are influenced by environmental factors during pregnancy, neonatal phase, puberty, and adulthood, and even by exposure to radiation and other chemical and physical agents. In addition, epigenetic errors are associated with the development of chronic diseases in humans (9, 10).

DNA Methylation

In mammals, DNA methylation occurs predominantly in cytosines that precede guanine, called CpG dinucleotides. DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) are enzymes that catalyze the transfer of the methyl group $(-CH_3)$ to carbon 5 of the cytosine, converting it to 5-methylcytosine (5mC) (11). DNMT1 is a maintenance methyltransferase that maintains the mitotic inheritance of the DNA bases through the preferential recognition of hemimethylated DNA during replication,





Histone modification	Modifying enzymes	Function	Location
H3K4me1	SET1, SET7/9, MLL, SMYD2, PRDM9	Activation	Enhancers
H3K4me3	SET1, MLL1, MLL2, SMYD3, PRDM9	Activation	Promoters
H3K9ac	GCN5	Activation	Enhancers, promoters
H3K27ac	GCN5	Activation	Enhancers, promoters
H3K27me3	EZH1, EZH2	Repression	Promoters, gene-rich regions
H3K9me3	SUV39H1, SUV39H2	Repression	Satellite repeats, telomeres, pericentromeres

TABLE 1 | Effects of the most frequent histone changes in gene transcription.

From references From references (18-20).

methylating the newly synthesized CpG dinucleotides, generating two new methylated DNA molecules (12). DNMT3a and DNMT3b can recognize any strand of unmethylated DNA and act mainly in establishing new methylation patterns, playing a fundamental role during embryogenesis (13).

More than half of all genes contain high concentrations of CpGs (CpG islands) in their promoters. Gene's promoters containing unmethylated CpGs give the gene a permissive state for transcription. In contrast, hypermethylation of these promoters may prevent binding of transcriptional factors and/or recruiting methyl-binding proteins and repressor complexes, resulting in gene silencing (14).

Histone Modification

Histones are proteins that compose nucleosomes H1, H2A, H2B, H3, and H4. They have amino acid residues, mainly in their N-terminal portions, subject to covalent modifications, such as acetylation, phosphorylation, methylation, and ubiquitination, which regulate the chromatin structure. Histone modifications can either modify their load or recruit proteins and complexes that affect the transcription of genes present in the region, DNA repair, and replication (6, 15).

Among these modifications, the acetylation of lysines in the N-terminal portions of histones is dynamic and catalyzed by histone acetyltransferase enzymes (HATs). Addition of acetyl groups neutralizes the positive charge of the lysine, weakening the electrostatic interaction between histones and negatively charged DNA, which favors transcriptional activation. Another family of enzymes that is also part of this process is histone deacetylases (HDACs), which have opposite effects to HATs and remove the acetyl group, restoring the positive charge of lysine (15).

Histone methylation occurs mainly in the side chain of lysine and arginine residues through the action of histone methyltransferases (HMTs). Lysines can receive more than one methyl group so that gene transcription can be suppressed or activated, depending on the number of methyl groups and the modified amino acid residue (16). In contrast to acetylation, histone methylation does not alter the general charge of the molecule. This modification was once considered static and stable. However, different families of histone demethylases (HDMs) enzymes act on the lysine residues (15, 17).

Table 1 shows the most frequent changes in histones, their function, the enzymes promoting the changes, and location (18–20).

Non-coding RNAs

In addition to the classic epigenetic mechanisms of DNA and histones, a new layer of complexity involving non-coding RNAs has emerged as an important post-transcriptional regulator of gene expression (21). Thus, ncRNAs are a group of RNAs that do not encode functional proteins, being broadly classified as short (<200 nucleotides) or long (more than 200 nucleotides), and these can be grouped by their genomic origin and biogenic processes (22).

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) belong to the most studied and highly conserved class of short ncRNAs, presenting 19–22 nucleotides (nt) in length, which destabilize messenger RNA (mRNA) by binding to 3' untranslated regions (3'-UTR) or inhibiting protein translation (23, 24). In contrast, long ncRNAs (lncRNAs), generally not much conserved among species, have a multitude of roles, including gene expression regulation at epigenetic, transcriptional, and post-transcriptional levels (23, 25).

EPIGENETIC REGULATION OF THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

The immune system can recognize different agents and substances foreign to the body, triggering an immune response mediated by immediate reactions of innate immunity and late responses of adaptive immunity through signaling pathways that are strictly regulated at different levels. Epigenetic changes can also occur during an infectious process, so changes in the epigenome can affect the immune cell phenotype, interfering with the response to infection and contributing to inflammatory disorders (**Figure 2**) (26–28).

During sepsis, the host innate immune system cells release an excessive number of inflammatory mediators through recognizing the pathogen by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that identify the microorganism through pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and damages (DAMPs). These include Toll-like receptors (TLRs), cytosolic RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs), NOD-like receptors (NLRs), and C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), which induce complex intracellular signaling with complementary activities that activate transcriptional factors that regulate inflammatory response genes, generating dynamic changes in chromatin (26, 29–31).

Pathogens are capable of various epigenetic strategies to guarantee their survival and replication, in such a way that they decrease PRR detection and signaling pathways and modulate the



methyltransferases; ncRNA, non-coding RNA.

expression of immunity-activating and -repressing substances. Thus, a chronic infection can induce epigenetic dysregulation, contributing to the pathogenesis of infectious diseases and even cancer. However, considering that epigenetic changes are potentially reversible, these could be reversed, allowing the host immunity to return to respond efficiently to stimuli (27).

The lipopolysaccharide (LPS) present in the cell wall of gram-negative bacteria binds to TLR-4 receptor, inducing the expression of several genes via the transcription factor NFκB, such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF), interleukin 1 (IL-1), and IL-8. This activation generates a local and systemic inflammatory process, resulting in coagulation, vasodilation, endothelial escape, scrolling, and leakage of neutrophils and inflammatory mediators to the extravascular space, which can lead to organ dysfunction and hypotension (2, 3, 30-32). LPS stimulation in human monocytes results in the erasure of a repression marker, histone methylation into lysine 9 (H3K9me) in inducible inflammatory gene promoters, regulating these genes (33). In the human endotoxin model, transcriptome analysis revealed that 3,714 genes undergo transcriptional changes after 2 h of exposure, with changes in DNA methylation in several regions of the genome, correlating these results with the tolerance of the immune system and the increase in vulnerability to subsequent infections (34, 35).

Recent evidence has shown that the innate immune system can generate an immune memory mediated by epigenetic reprogramming of transcription pathways, known as trained immunity. This consists of the functional long-lasting reprogramming of innate immune cells in response to exogenous or endogenous stimuli, generating an altered response to a second challenge after returning to baseline (36). For example, individuals vaccinated with BCG (Bacille Calmette-Guérin) have monocyte epigenetic reprogramming throughout the genome, with increased H3K4 trimethylation activation mark (me3), increasing IL-1 β production and protection against viral infections in an experimental model of yellow fever. These functional changes indicate trained immunity (37).

During sepsis, a phenomenon known as immunological tolerance occurs. The immune system of patients leaves the state of hyper-inflammation, called a cytokine storm, and goes to a dysfunctional state, where the innate cells do not respond adequately to posterior stimuli (3). In this process, there is a reorganization of the immune functions and metabolic processes of inflammatory cells, with suppression to subsequent challenges as part of this acute cellular reprogramming. Studies show epigenetic modifications are essential for establishing immunosuppression in late sepsis. These modifications include changes in histone marks, loss of activation marks in promoter

regions, and gene enhancers that are negatively transcribed into tolerant monocytes (2, 34, 38, 39).

In a model of tolerance induced by LPS, nuclear factor- κ B (NF-kB)-activated genes are downregulated. In contrast, genes related to the p38 pathway are preserved, showing a different regulation from the TLR cascades during immunoparalysis (40). Austenaa and colleagues showed that the H3K4me3 epigenetic activation mark participates in regulating the TLR4 signaling pathway and described the profile of this modification in the mouse macrophage genome during the response to LPS (41).

T cells recognize antigens through the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) system [the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) in humans] that are expressed on the surface of host cells; research points to a decrease in the expression of HLA-DR in septic monocytes and DCs (2, 42, 43), combined with transcription reduction of the class II transactivator gene (CIITA), which is modulated by the action of HATs (44, 45).

In this context, the dysregulation of innate and adaptive immunity is associated with harmful consequences, which, together with organ failure, lead to increased short- and longterm mortality in septic patients (46).

Another fundamental mechanism for regulating the inflammatory response is cellular metabolism. During sepsis, innate immunity cells activate a series of intracellular cascades that result in cellular metabolism alterations. The metabolic shift from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis during acute inflammation provides the necessary energy for cell function and induces an accumulation of metabolites that function as cofactors of epigenetic enzymes (47).

Thus, a reduction in intracellular levels of acetyl-CoA can decrease histone acetylation. The accumulation of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD)+ activates histone deacetylases of the sirtuin class, leading to lower acetylation levels. High concentrations of fumarate inhibit the histone demethylase enzyme KDM5, responsible for removing methyl groups. Therefore, several cellular metabolites can activate or inhibit different enzymes involved in epigenetic programming. They induce changes in chromatin and DNA, modulate gene transcription, and lead to different functional states during sepsis, such as excessive inflammation immunoparalysis (2, 33).

EPIGENETIC REGULATION IN SEPSIS

Different epigenetic changes have already been associated with immune activation and tolerance during sepsis, contributing to the process of prolonged inflammation, organ failure, persistent immunosuppression, development of severe secondary infections, and even death (36, 48, 49).

Much of the research that correlates epigenetics and sepsis has been with *in vitro* studies or animal models, with scarce data in septic patients (**Tables 2**, **3**).

Histone Modification and Sepsis

Foster and collaborators presented the first evidence linking tolerance to LPS with epigenetic mechanisms. They showed that in mouse macrophages, a different response occurs in genes induced by TLR4. These responses were divided

into two classes: class T composed of pro-inflammatory genes, which were inhibited in tolerant macrophages; and the NT class genes, composed of antimicrobials that were not inhibited in these macrophages. In the promoters of inflammatory genes, the H3K4me3 activation marks and H4 acetylation were lost during a re-exposition to LPS, and the NT class genes remained with the presence of the activation marks after a second challenge (50). Also, monocytes exposed to LPS do not show active histone marks in the promoter region and in gene enhancers that participate in lipid metabolism and phagocytic pathways, resulting in transcriptional inactivity of these genes through new stimulus (31).

In human sepsis, selective and precise changes in chromatin occur in regulatory regions of genes that participate in the immune process. Chromatin immunoprecipitation combined with high-throughput sequencing showed that in the cells of septic patients, transcriptional activation marks (H3K4me3 and H3K9ac) increased in genes related to immune response; in contrast, genes involved in processing and presenting antigens gained the repression mark (H3K27me3) compared with healthy controls (64). Differences in epigenetic marks can be explained by their plasticity at different times of exposure to the pathogen. Zhao and colleagues found the presence of the activation mark H3K4me2 in bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) in mice after 30 min of stimulation with LPS, with a return to baseline levels after prolonged exposure to the stimulus (51).

Organ dysfunction occurs during sepsis due to the excessive initial response of cytokines that generate tissue damage. In a model of acute lung injury (ALI) induced by sepsis in mice, loss of histone acetylation was observed in promoters of the main angiogenic genes in the lung and extrapulmonary organs. This systemic response of negative transcription regulation has been included in the pathogenesis of microvascular leakage induced by sepsis and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS) (54), suggesting early intervention can preserve these epigenetic marks, maintaining endothelial integrity (68). Mice pretreated with HDAC inhibitors attenuated ALI during sepsis (57).

Epigenetic Regulators and Sepsis

The activity of the enzymes HATs and HDACs can be modulated by LPS, but their contribution to endotoxin tolerance is not yet clear. A study showed that the inhibition of acetyl-lysine binding domain, known as bromodomain and its subfamily bromo- and extra-terminal (BET), induces a negative regulation of inflammatory genes in activated macrophages, reducing inflammation in a model of bacterial sepsis in murine (69).

In the NF-kB activation signaling pathway, the CREB-binding protein (CBP)—a transcriptional coactivator of HAT function contains bromodomains that bind to acetylated histones H3 and H4 in a way that allows the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokine genes (70). Exposure to LPS increases the stability of CBP by reducing interaction with the FBXL19 subunit of ubiquitin ligase 3 and activating the deubiquitylating enzyme

Study	Epigenetic modification	Experimental model	Results
In vitro			
(41)	Histone methylation	Macrophages of Wbp7 –/– mice exposed to LPS	Macrophages Wbp7 -/- show impaired responses to LPS, with loss of H3K4me3
(50)	Histone methylation histone acetylation	BMM stimulated with LPS	Epigenetic changes are associated with silencing of inflammatory genes and priming of antimicrobial effector
(51)	Histone methylation	Murine RAW264.7 cells and BMDMs upon LPS stimulation	LPS stimulation resulted in enhanced methylation at H3K4 and H3K9 in cells
(52)	Histone methylation	Raw264.7 macrophages LPS-treated	The JmjC-Jmjd3 domain protein is H3K27me macrophage-induced demethylase in the presence of bacterial products and inflammatory cytokines
(53)	Histone methylation	BMM stimulated with LPS	Jmjd3 interferes with the transcription of LPS-activated genes in an independent way to demethylate H3K27
In vivo			
(54)	Histone acetylation	ALI sepsis in murine	ALI sepsis reduces the levels of histone H3 lysine acetylation that permits the transcription of angiogenic genes in the lung, kidney, and liver
(55)	DNA methylation	ALI sepsis in rat	1,721 genes had aberrant methylation in the rat's lung tissue with acute LPS-induced injury
(56)	Histone acetylation DNA methylation	ALI sepsis in mice	Combined treatment of DNMTi and HDACi alleviates inflammation-induced pyroptosis and apoptosis during ALI
(57)	Histone acetylation	CLP-induced sepsis in mice	Pretreatment with HDACi 30 min before CLP resulted in decreased lung injury and increased survival
(58)	DNA methylation	CLP-induced sepsis in mice	Treatment with decitabine reduces DNMTs, minimizes NF-kB activation, and attenuates inflammatory cytokine levels, inhibiting sepsis progression
(59)	DNA methylation	Rat model of endotoxemia	Treatment with DMNTi (procainamide) reduced the levels of DMNT1 and 5-methylcytosine, improving inflammatory infiltrate and superoxide production in the lung
(60)	Histone acetylation	Mice injected with LPS	Prophylactic treatment with HDACi (SAHA) reduced levels of TNF- α , IL-1- β , IL-6, and IFN- γ induced by LPS
(61)	Histone acetylation	Mice injected with LPS	SAHA-treated mice had increased survival than untreated mice

TABLE 2 | In vitro and in vivo experimental studies evaluating epigenetic modifications in LPS challenge and infection.

LPS, lipopolysaccharide; BMM, bone marrow macrophage; BMDM, bone marrow-derived macrophage; ALI, acute lung injury-induced sepsis; DMNTi, DNA methyltransferase inhibitor; HDACi, histone deacetylase inhibitor; CLP, cecal ligation and puncture; SAHA, suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid; DMNT1, DNA methyltransferase 1; JMJD3, Jumonji domain-containing protein D3.

USP14, resulting in chromatin remodeling and cytokine gene expression (71).

The expression of the Jumonji domain-containing protein D3 (Jmjd3) enzyme, a H3K27me histone demethylase class, is induced in macrophages by the transcription factor NF-kB in response to LPS, and binds to genes targeting proteins of the Polycomb group, which belongs to the Chromobox family proteins and mediates gene silencing, regulating the levels of the repressor mark H3K27me3 and transcriptional activity, independent of H3K27 demethylation (52, 53).

Cellular bioenergetic changes during sepsis can also be coordinated by epigenetic mechanisms. During sepsis, sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) rapidly accumulates in the TNF- α and IL-1 β gene promoters, deacetylating H4K16 and blocking NF-kB-dependent transcription (62). The presence of SIRT6 can also attenuate NFkB signaling by deacetylating H3K9 in chromatin (72). Besides, in endotoxin tolerance, the interaction of DNA methylation with histone H3K9 methylation silences the expression of some proinflammatory genes (63, 73). LPS activates M1 macrophages, which present a high rate of glycolysis, leading to HDAC degradation, which interferes with the activity of inflammatory cytokines (74, 75). α -Ketoglutarate (α KG), a tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA) intermediate, favors tolerance to endotoxin in inflammatory genes after M1 macrophages are activated, independently of Jmjd3 (76). Exposure to LPS also increases the metabolism of one-carbon, which produces S-adenosyl methionine, a potent methyl donor (77).

DNA Methylation and Sepsis

A pilot study involving septic and non-septic patients analyzed methylation throughout the genome in the samples of these individuals and found 668 differentially methylated regions (DMRs) between the septic vs. non-septic groups, among which 56 genes have already been associated with sepsis in literature (65). Blood transcriptome analysis of patients with community-acquired pneumonia identified several chromatinmodifying enzymes are differentially expressed in the initial sepsis, leading to chromatin reorganization and stimulating widespread transcriptional reprogramming (66).

TABLE 3	Epigenetic modifications in human cells in vitro and in different clinical setting	as.
IT OLL U		30.

Study	Epigenetic modification	Model	Results
(33)	Histone methylation	Human monocytes exposed to LPS	Exposure to LPS changed the methylation pattern of H3K9 in a set of inflammatory gene
(34)	DNA methylation histone methylation	Human monocytes exposed to LPS	Exposure to endotoxin generated changes in DNA methylation, mainly demethylation, and a gain of acetyl in H3K27 and methyl H3K4 in cytokine promoters
(62)	Histone acetylation	Human monocyte cell model of endotoxin tolerance	SIRT1 coordinates the epigenetic and bioenergy shifts
(63)	DNA methylation histone methylation	Human monocyte cell line THP-1 incubated with LPS	In tolerant macrophages, the interaction of DNA methylation with H3KS methylation silences TNF- α expression
(64)	Histone methylation histone acetylation	Monocytes from septic patients	Sepsis induces changes in chromatin, with selective and precise changes in promoter regions of immunological genes
(65)	DNA methylation	Adults patients with Sepsis	The DNA methylation profile showed 668 differentially methylated regions between patients with sepsis and patients with critical non-septic diseases
(66)	DNA methylation histone methylation	Adult patients with community-acquired pneumonia	Chromatin remodeling occurs in community-acquired pneumonia associated with extensive transcriptional deregulation of chromatin-modifying enzymes
(67)	DNA methylation	Neonates with bacterial sepsis	Analysis of the entire epigenome of whole blood samples reveals 81 differently methylated CpG sites in 64 genes, where functional analysis showed an enrichment of protocadherin genes in neonatal sepsis

LPS, lipopolysaccharide; SIRT1, sirtuin 1.

Retrospective research evaluated whether the DNA methylation pattern of CpG sites in the procalcitonin gene [polypeptide related to α calcitonin (CALCA)] could be used as an epigenetic biomarker for bacterial sepsis in premature newborns. These preterm patients showed variation in the DNA methylation status of the CALCA promoter in different types of bacterial sepsis, suggesting different regulation of this gene at the epigenetic level according to the type of infection (78). In a further approach searching for prognostic markers of neonatal sepsis, a small epigenome study analyzed the methylation status of CpGs in blood samples from 3 septic neonates and 3 non-septic and found 81 differently methylated CpG sites in 64 genes, whose functional analysis showed the enrichment of protocadherin genes in neonatal sepsis (67).

An experimental model of LPS-induced ALI found an increase in DNMT1 and 5-methylcytosine, accompanied by neutrophil infiltration and superoxide production in the lung tissue of endotoxemic rats (59). Another epigenomic analysis showed aberrant DNA methylation occurs in promoter regions of 1,721 genes, many of which participate in the hyperinflammatory response (55).

Non-coding RNAs and Sepsis

ncRNAs are also involved in the pathogenesis of sepsis. A study analyzing the co-expression network of protein-coding and lncRNAs in septic and healthy neutrophils showed that several lncRNAs are linked to genes differentially expressed during sepsis and appear to have a regulatory role in the translation of proteins, and participate in regulatory loops that are altered during sepsis (79). They were detected as sepsis regulators because of the interaction between lncRNAs and

sepsis co-expression modules identified by whole blood RNA expression profile of septic patients (80). An analysis of the transcriptome in blood leukocytes of volunteers with sepsis and healthy individuals showed that both lncRNAs and, to a lesser extent, short ncRNAs undergo significant changes during sepsis in healthy individuals (81). So, different types of ncRNAs can serve as potential biomarkers for sepsis and as new therapeutic targets (82).

POTENTIAL EPIGENETIC THERAPIES FOR SEPSIS

Several studies evaluated the potential therapeutic effect of epigenetic drugs in modulating chromatin regulatory enzymes during sepsis. Animal research has shown that epigenetic mechanisms can mitigate the acute inflammatory response to endotoxins (39, 48). Many of these epigenetic therapies are undergoing clinical trials to treat different cancers (83–85). Some of these therapies have been approved by the Food and Drug Administration and are used in clinical practice.

Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA) is a histone deacetylase (HDACi) inhibitor known for its anti-tumor effects. Leoni and colleagues showed that SAHA could also reduce the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Mice treated with this inhibitor reduced the production of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and interferon gamma (IFN- γ) after a challenge with LPS (60). When mice were submitted to the polymicrobial sepsis model initiated by ligation and cecal puncture (CLP) (61, 86), survival improved and damage reduced.

Another HDACi that appears to be effective in improving the clinical outcomes of sepsis is Trichostatin A (TSA) (86). TSA-pretreated mice submitted to CLP presented a protective effect during sepsis-induced lung injury, with reduced inflammatory infiltrate, decreased expression of the intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and E-selectin in lung tissue samples, and reduced plasma IL-6, with increased survival (57). Treatment with TSA, in combination with DNA methyltransferase inhibitor (DNMTi) 5-Aza 2-deoxycytidine (5-AZA-CdR), decreases apoptosis and inflammation in BMDMs of mice exposed to LPS (56). Also, TSA blocks the effect of endotoxin tolerance in reducing IL-6 production (87).

Valproic acid (VPA) and sodium butyrate (SB) also act as HDACi and have shown efficacy in experimental models of sepsis, with reduced expression of inflammatory genes and decreased organic damage (57, 88, 89); however, toxicity may prevent its use in clinical trials (90).

Studies show that different DNMTi can reverse some sepsis results in an endotoxemia model in rats. As an example, procainamide inhibited the increase in DNMT1 and decreased neutrophil infiltration in the lung of endotoxemic rats (59). Decitabine, a DNMTi, reduced NF-kB activation, decreased the levels of inflammatory cytokines, and inhibited sepsis progression in mice challenged with CLP (58).

The mechanisms by which DNMTi and HDACi act to reverse some of the consequences of sepsis are still not fully understood. These inhibitors are believed to prevent epigenetic changes and their modulating effects on gene expression (39). However, use of these inhibitors may become unfavorable because they reduce the expression of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines and mediators, decreasing bacterial clearance (91).

Despite the effects of these enzymes' inhibitors in pre-clinical models of sepsis, one should be cautious to translate this approach as a potential clinical adjuvant therapy for sepsis. In most studies already mentioned here, the inhibitors were administered prophylactically, which does not mimic the setting of sepsis therapy. Few are those who demonstrate the benefits of late epigenetic drug use. One used the highly specific SIRT1 inhibitor, EX-527, in mice 24 h after onset of sepsis. All animals receiving this epigenetic agent survived sepsis with the reversion of endotoxin tolerance (92). Furthermore, other animal models should also be tested. For other potential uses of these drugs, the benefits must overcome the risks and toxicity.

CONCLUSION

During sepsis, dysregulated gene expression occurs, generating hyperinflammatory responses and, in parallel, persistent hypoinflammatory reactions. Strong evidence points to epigenetic changes as one of the main factors influencing gene expression changes associated with this clinical condition. In this review, we summarize studies that highlight epigenetic mechanisms as essential events during sepsis pathology, changing as sepsis progresses. Thus, epigenetic regulation occurs mainly in transcriptional promoter regions or gene enhancers, leading to pathological and bioenergetic adaptations through specific enzymes that catalyze chemical groups. The use of epigenetic enzyme inhibitors is promising as a therapeutic target during sepsis, but further research is needed to understand their role in clinical settings.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RF-H wrote the first draft of the article. RF-H and RS reviewed and wrote the final draft of article. MJ and MB contributed to paper revision and to the final version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Fundacao de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP)—grant number 2017/21052-0 to RS. RF-H has a fellowship from Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES--88882.430789/2019-01).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge Carlos Lopes for his support in elaborating and executing the figures and Enago (www.enago.com) for the English language review.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.685333/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, Dellinger RP, Fein AM, Knaus WA, et al. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and accplsccm consensus conference. *Am Coll Chest PhysiciansA*. (1992) 101:1644–55. doi: 10.1378/chest.101. 6.1644
- Van Der Poll T, Van De Veerdonk FL, Scicluna BP, Netea MG. The immunopathology of sepsis and potential therapeutic targets. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2017) 17:407–20. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.36
- Salomão R, Ferreira BL, Salomão MC, Santos SS, Azevedo LCP, Brunialti MKC. sepsis: evolving concepts and challenges. *Brazilian J Med Biol Res.* (2019) 52:1–14. doi: 10.1590/1414-431x20198595
- 4. Yasmin R, Siraj S, Hassan A, Khan AR, Abbasi R, Ahmad N. Epigenetic regulation of inflammatory cytokines and associated genes in human malignancies. *Med Inflamm.* (2015) 2015:1–8. doi: 10.1155/2015/201703
- Jasiulionis MG. Abnormal epigenetic regulation of immune system during aging. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:197. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00197
- Dawson MA, Kouzarides T. Cancer epigenetics: from mechanism to therapy. *Cell.* (2012) 150:12–27. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.013
- Allis D, Caparros M-L, Jenuwein T, Reinberg D. *Epigenetics*. 2th ed. New York, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press (2015).
- Jambhekar A, Dhall A, Shi Y. Roles and regulation of histone methylation in animal development. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2019) 20:625-41. doi: 10.1038/s41580-019-0151-1

- Jirtle RL, Skinner MK. Environmental epigenomics and disease susceptibility. Nat Rev Genet. (2007) 8:253–62. doi: 10.1038/nrg2045
- Weidman JR, Dolinoy DC, Murphy SK, Jirtle RL. Cancer susceptibility: epigenetic manifestation of environmental exposures. *Cancer J.* (2007) 13:9– 16. doi: 10.1097/PPO.0b013e31803c71f2
- Goll MG, Bestor TH. Eukaryotic cytosine methyltransferases. Annu Rev Biochem. (2005) 74:481– 514. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.74.010904.153721
- Li E, Bestor TH, Jaenisch R. Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. *Cell.* (1992) 69:915–26. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(92)90611-F
- Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, Li E. DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. *Cell.* (1999) 99:247–57. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)8 1656-6
- Jones PA, Takai D. The role of DNA methylation in mammalian epigenetics. *Science*. (2001) 293:1068–70. doi: 10.1126/science.10 63852
- Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T. Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. *Cell Res.* (2011) 21:381–95. doi: 10.1038/cr.2011.22
- Morillon A, Karabetsou N, Nair A, Mellor J. Dynamic lysine methylation on histone H3 defines the regulatory phase of gene transcription. *Mol Cell.* (2005) 18:723–34. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2005.05.009
- Bannister AJ, Schneider R, Kouzarides T. Histone methylation: dynamic or static?. *Cell.* (2002) 109:801–6. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)0 0798-5
- Abcam. Histone Modifications. Available online at: https://www.abcam.com/ epigenetics/histone-modifications (accessed May 06, 2021).
- 19. Zhang Y, Sun Z, Jia J, Du T, Zhang N, Tang Y, et al. Overview of histone modification. In: Fang D, Han J, editors. *Histone Mutations and Cancer*. Singapore: Springer (2021).
- EpiGentek. Histone Modification Studies. Available online at: https:// epigentek.com/docs/histonetable.pdf (accessed May 07, 2021).
- Yang X, Liu M, Li M, Zhang S, Hiju H, Sun J, et al. Epigenetic modulations of noncoding RNA: a novel dimension of cancer biology. *Mol Cancer*. (2020) 19:64. doi: 10.1186/s12943-020-01159-9
- 22. Li LC. Chromatin remodeling by the small RNA machinery in mammalian cells. *Epigenetics*. (2014) 9:45–52. doi: 10.4161/epi.26830
- Anastasiadou E, Jacob L, Slack F. Non-coding RNA networks in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. (2018) 18:5–18. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2017.99
- Schickel R, Boyerinas B, Park SM, Peter ME. MicroRNAs: key players in the immune system, differentiation, tumorigenesis and cell death. *Oncogene*. (2008) 27:5959–74. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.274
- Clark MB, Mattick JS. Long noncoding RNAs in cell biology. Semin Cell Dev Biol. (2011) 22:366–76. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2011.01.001
- Abbas AK, Lichtman AH, Pillai S. *Imunologia Celular e Molecular*. 7 th ed. São Paulo: Elsevier Ltd (2012).
- Zhang Q, Cao X. Epigenetic regulation of the innate immune response to infection. Nat Rev Immunol. (2019) 19:417– 32. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0151-6
- Busslinger M, Tarakhovsky A. Epigenetic control of immunity. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. (2014) 6:1–26. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a024174
- Tang D, Kang R, Coyne CB, Zeh HJ, Lotze MT. PAMPs and DAMPs : signal 0s that spur autophagy and immunity. *Immunol Rev.* (2012) 249:158– 75. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01146.x
- Salomao R, Brunialti MKC, Rapozo MM, Baggio-zappia GL, Galanos C, Freudenberg M. Bacterial sensing, cell signaling, and modulation of the immune response during sepsis. *Shock.* (2012) 38:227–42. doi: 10.1097/SHK.0b013e318262c4b0
- Hotchkiss RS, Moldawer LL, Opal SM, Reinhart K, Vincent J. Sepsis and septic shock. Nat Rev. (2016) 2:1–21. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.45
- Angus DC, Van Der Poll T. Severe sepsis and septic shock. N Engl J Med. (2013) 369:840–51. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1208623
- Saccani S, Natoli G. Dynamic changes in histone H3 Lys 9 methylation occurring at tightly regulated inducible inflammatory genes. *Genes Dev.* (2002) 16:2219–24. doi: 10.1101/gad.232502
- 34. Novakovic B, Habibi E, Wang SY, Arts RJW, Davar R, Megchelenbrink W, et al. β -glucan reverses the epigenetic state of LPS-induced immunological

tolerance. *Cell.* (2016) 167:1354–68.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016. 09.034

- Calvano SE, Xiao W, Richards DR, Felciano RM, Baker HV, Cho RJ, et al. A network-based analysis of systemic inflammation in humans. *Nature*. (2005) 437:1032–7. doi: 10.1038/nature03985
- Netea MG, Domínguez-Andrés J, Barreiro LB, Chavakis T, Divangahi M, Fuchs E, et al. Defining trained immunity and its role in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2020) doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0285-6
- 37. Arts RJW, Moorlag SJCFM, Novakovic B, Li Y, Wang SY, Oosting M, et al. BCG vaccination protects against experimental viral infection in humans through the induction of cytokines associated with trained immunity. *Cell Host Microbe.* (2018) 23:89–100. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2017. 12.010
- 38. Leentjens J, Kox M, Van Der Hoeven JG, Netea MG, Pickkers P. Immunotherapy for the adjunctive treatment of sepsis: from immunosuppression to immunostimulation time for a paradigm change? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2013) 187:1287–93. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201301-0036CP
- Binnie A, Tsang JLY, Hu P, Carrasqueiro G, Castelo-Branco P, Dos Santos CC. Epigenetics of sepsis. Crit Care Med. (2020) 48:745–56. doi: 10.1097/CCM.000000000004247
- Mendes ME, Baggio-Zappia GL, Brunialti MKC, Fernandes M da L, Rapozo MM, Salomao R. Differential expression of toll-like receptor signaling cascades in LPS-tolerant human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Immunobiology.* (2011) 216:285–95. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2010. 07.008
- Austenaa L, Barozzi I, Chronowska A, Termanini A, Ostuni R, Prosperini E, et al. The histone methyltransferase Wbp7 controls macrophage function through GPI glycolipid anchor synthesis. *Immunity*. (2012) 36:572–85. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.02.016
- Pastille E, Didovic S, Brauckmann D, Rani M, Agrawal H, Schade FU, et al. Modulation of dendritic cell differentiation in the bone marrow mediates sustained immunosuppression after polymicrobial sepsis. *J Immunol.* (2011) 186:977–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001147
- 43. Ferreira da Mota NV, Colo Brunialti MK, Santos SS, Machado FR, Assuncao M, Pontes Azevedo LC, et al. Immunophenotyping of monocytes during human sepsis shows impairment in antigen presentation: a shift toward nonclassical differentiation and upregulation of FcGRI-receptor. *Shock.* (2018) 50:293–300. doi: 10.1097/SHK.000000000001078
- Wright KL, Ting JPY. Epigenetic regulation of MHC-II and CIITA genes. *Trends Immunol.* (2006) 27:405–12. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2006.07.007
- 45. Siegler BH, Uhle F, Lichtenstern C, Arens C, Bartkuhn M, Weigand MA, et al. Impact of human sepsis on CCCTC-binding factor associated monocyte transcriptional response of major histocompatibility complex II components. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:1–17. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0204168
- Beltrán-García J, Osca-Verdegal R, Romá-Mateo C, Carbonell N, Ferreres J, Rodríguez M, et al. Epigenetic biomarkers for human sepsis and septic shock: insights from immunosuppression. *Epigenomics*. (2020) 12:617– 46. doi: 10.2217/epi-2019-0329
- Weinberg SE, Sena LA, Chandel NS. Mitochondria in the regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. *Immunity*. (2015) 42:406–17. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.02.002
- Cross D, Drury R, Hill J, Pollard AJ. Epigenetics in sepsis: understanding its role in endothelial dysfunction, immunosuppression, and potential therapeutics. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1–12. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019. 01363
- Saeed S, Quintin J, Kerstens HHD, Rao NA, Aghajanirefah A, Matarese F, et al. Epigenetic programming of monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and trained innate immunity. *Science*. (2014) 345:1251086. doi: 10.1126/science.1 251086
- Foster SL, Hargreaves DC, Medzhitov R. Gene-specific control of inflammation by TLR-induced chromatin modifications. *Nature*. (2007) 447:972–8. doi: 10.1038/nature05836
- Zhao S, Zhong Y, Fu X, Wang Y, Ye P, Cai J, et al. H3K4 methylation regulates LPS-induced proinflammatory cytokine expression and release in macrophages. *Shock.* (2019) 51:401–6. doi: 10.1097/SHK.0000000000 01141

- De Santa F, Totaro MG, Prosperini E, Notarbartolo S, Testa G, Natoli G. The histone H3 lysine-27 demethylase Jmjd3 links inflammation to inhibition of polycomb-mediated gene silencing. *Cell.* (2007) 130:1083– 94. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.019
- De Santa F, Narang V, Yap ZH, Tusi BK, Burgold T, Austenaa L, et al. Jmjd3 contributes to the control of gene expression in LPSactivated macrophages. *EMBO J.* (2009) 28:3341–52. doi: 10.1038/emboj.20 09.271
- Bomsztyk K, Mar D, An D, Sharifian R, Mikula M, Gharib SA, et al. Experimental acute lung injury induces multi-organ epigenetic modifications in key angiogenic genes implicated in sepsis-associated endothelial dysfunction. *Crit Care.* (2015) 19:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-0943-4
- Zhang X-Q, LV C-J, Liu X-Y, Hao D, Qin J, Tian H-H, et al. Genome - wide analysis of DNA methylation in rat lungs with lipopolysaccharide - induced acute lung injury. *Mol Med Rep.* (2013) 7:1417–24. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2013.1405
- Samanta S, Zhou Z, Rajasingh S, Panda A, Sampath V, Rajasingh J. DNMT and HDAC inhibitors together abrogate endotoxemia mediated macrophage death by STAT3-JMJD3 signaling. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* (2018) 102:117– 27. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2018.07.002
- Zhang L, Jin S, Wang C, Jiang R, Wan J. Histone deacetylase inhibitors attenuate acute lung injury during cecal ligation and puncture-induced polymicrobial sepsis. *World J Surg.* (2010) 34:1676–83. doi: 10.1007/s00268-010-0493-5
- Cao L, Zhu T, Lang X, Jia S, Yang Y, Zhu C, et al. Inhibiting DNA methylation improves survival in severe sepsis by regulating NF-κB pathway. Front Immunol. (2020) 11:1–11. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01360
- Shih CC, Liao MH, Hsiao TS, Hii HP, Shen CH, Chen SJ, et al. Procainamide inhibits DNA methylation and alleviates multiple organ dysfunction in rats with endotoxic shock. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:1– 24. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0163690
- Leoni F, Zaliani A, Bertolini G, Porro G, Pagani P, Pozzi P, et al. The antitumor histone deacetylase inhibitor suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid exhibits antiinflammatory properties via suppression of cytokines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* (2002) 99:2995–3000. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0527 02999
- Li Y, Liu B, Fukudome EY, Kochanek AR, Finkelstein RA, Chong W, et al. Surviving lethal septic shock without fluid resuscitation in a rodent model. *Surgery*. (2010) 148:246–54. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2010.05.003
- Liu TF, Yoza BK, El Gazzar M, Vachharajani VT, McCall CE. NAD+-dependent SIRT1 deacetylase participates in epigenetic reprogramming during endotoxin tolerance. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:9856–64. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.196790
- 63. El Gazzar M, Yoza BK, Chen X, Hu J, Hawkins GA, McCall CE. G9a and HP1 couple histone and DNA methylation to TNFα transcription silencing during endotoxin tolerance. J Biol Chem. (2008) 283:32198– 208. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M803446200
- 64. Weiterer S, Uhle F, Lichtenstern C, Siegler BH, Bhuju S, Jarek M, et al. Sepsis induces specific changes in histone modification patterns in human monocytes. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:1–13. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0 121748
- Binnie A, Walsh CJ, Hu P, Dwivedi DJ, Fox-Robichaud A, Liaw PC, et al. Epigenetic profiling in severe sepsis: a pilot study of DNA methylation profiles in critical illness. *Crit Care Med.* (2020) 48:142– 50. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000004097
- 66. Hopp L, Loeffler-Wirth H, Nersisyan L, Arakelyan A, Binder H. Footprints of sepsis framed within community acquired pneumonia in the blood transcriptome. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1620. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01620
- Dhas DBB, Ashmi AH, Bhat BV, Kalaivani S, Chandra S. Genomics data comparison of genomic DNA methylation pattern among septic and nonseptic newborns — an epigenome wide association study. *Genomics Data*. (2015) 3:36–40. doi: 10.1016/j.gdata.2014.11.004
- Bataille A, Galichon P, Ziliotis MJ, Sadia I, Hertig A. Epigenetic changes during sepsis: On your marks! *Crit Care.* (2015) 19:4–6. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-1068-5

- Nicodeme E, Jeffrey KL, Schaefer U, Beinke S, Dewell S, Chung CW, et al. Suppression of inflammation by a synthetic histone mimic. *Nature*. (2010) 468:1119–23. doi: 10.1038/nature09589
- Calao M, Burny A, Quivy V, Dekoninck A, Van Lint C. A pervasive role of histone acetyltransferases and deacetylases in an NF-κB-signaling code. *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2008) 33:339–49. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2008.04.015
- Wei J, Dong S, Bowser RK, Khoo A, Zhang L, Jacko AM, et al. Regulation of the ubiquitylation and deubiquitylation of CREB-binding protein modulates histone acetylation and lung inflammation. *Sci Signal.* (2017) 10:1–13. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aak9660
- Kawahara TLA, Michishita E, Adler AS, Damian M, Berber E, Lin M, et al. SIRT6 links histone H3 lysine 9 deacetylation to NF-κBdependent gene expression and organismal life span. *Cell.* (2009) 136:62– 74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.10.052
- Chan C, Li L, McCall CE, Yoza BK. Endotoxin tolerance disrupts chromatin remodeling and NF-κB transactivation at the IL-1β Promoter. J Immunol. (2005) 175:461–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.1.461
- Liu PS, Ho PC. Determining macrophage polarization upon metabolic perturbation. *Meth Mol Biol.* (2019) 1862:173– 86. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8769-6_13
- Wang B, Liu TY, Lai CH, Rao YH, Choi MC, Chi JT, et al. Glycolysisdependent histone deacetylase 4 degradation regulates inflammatory cytokine production. *Mol Biol Cell*. (2014) 25:3300–7. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e13-12-0757
- 76. Liu PS, Wang H, Li X, Chao T, Teav T, Christen S, et al. α-ketoglutarate orchestrates macrophage activation through metabolic and epigenetic reprogramming. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:985–94. doi: 10.1038/ni.3796
- van Teijlingen Bakker N, Pearce EJ. Cell-intrinsic metabolic regulation of mononuclear phagocyte activation: findings from the tip of the iceberg. *Immunol Rev.* (2020) 295:54–67. doi: 10.1111/imr.12848
- Tendl KA, Schulz SMF, Mechtler TP, Bohn A, Greber-platzer S, Kasper DC, et al. DNA methylation pattern of CALCA in preterm neonates with bacterial sepsis as a putative epigenetic biomarker. *Epigenetics*. (2013) 8:1261– 7. doi: 10.4161/epi.26645
- Pellegrina DVDS, Severino P, Barbeiro HV, de Souza HP, Machado MCC, Pinheiro-da-Silva F, et al. Insights into the function of long noncoding RNAs in sepsis revealed by gene co-expression network analysis. *Noncoding RNA*. (2017) 3:5. doi: 10.3390/ncrna3010005
- Cheng L, Nan C, Kang L, Zhang N, Liu S, Chen H, et al. Whole blood transcriptomic investigation identifies long non-coding RNAs as regulators in sepsis. J Transl Med. (2020) 18:217. doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-02372-2
- Scicluna BP, Uhel F, van Vught LA, Wiewel MA, Hoogendijk AJ, Baessman I, et al. The leukocyte non-coding RNA landscape in critically ill patients with sepsis. *Elife*. (2020) 9:e58597. doi: 10.7554/eLife.58597
- Zhang T, Li D, Xia J, Wu Q, Wen R, Yang N, et al. Non-coding RNA: a potential biomarker and therapeutic target for sepsis. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:91765–78. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.21766
- Gallagher SJ, Shklovskaya E, Hersey P. Epigenetic modulation in cancer immunotherapy. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2017) 35:48– 56. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2017.05.006
- Ahuja N, Sharma AR, Baylin SB. Epigenetic therapeutics: a new weapon in the war against cancer. Annu Rev Med. (2016) 67:73–89. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-111314-035900
- Faleiro I, Leão R, Binnie A, de Mello RA, Maia AT, Castelo-Branco P. Epigenetic therapy in urologic cancers: an update on clinical trials. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:12484–500. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14226
- Fang J, Lian Y, Xie K, Cai S, Wen P. Epigenetic modulation of neuronal apoptosis and cognitive functions in sepsis-associated encephalopathy. *Neurol Sci.* (2014) 35:283–8. doi: 10.1007/s10072-013-1508-4
- Rios ECS, De Lima TM, Moretti AIS, Soriano FG. The role of nitric oxide in the epigenetic regulation of THP-1 induced by lipopolysaccharide. *Life Sci.* (2016) 147:110–6. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2016.01.041
- Steckert AV, Comim CM, Igna DMD, Dominguini D, Mendonça BP, Ornell F, et al. Effects of sodium butyrate on aversive memory in rats submitted to sepsis. *Neurosci Lett.* (2015) 595:134–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.04.019
- Ji MH, Li GM, Jia M, Zhu SH, Gao DP, Fan YX, et al. Valproic acid attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury in mice. *Inflammation*. (2013) 36:1453–9. doi: 10.1007/s10753-013-9686-z

- Georgoff PE, Nikolian VC, Bonham T, Pai MP, Tafatia C, Halaweish I, et al. Safety and tolerability of intravenous valproic acid in healthy subjects: a phase I dose-escalation trial. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2018) 57:209–19. doi: 10.1007/s40262-017-0553-1
- von Knethen A, Brüne B. Histone deacetylation inhibitors as therapy concept in sepsis. Int J Mol Sci. (2019) 20:346. doi: 10.3390/ijms20020346
- Vachharajani VT, Liu T, Brown CM, Wang X, Buechler NL, Wells JD, et al. SIRT1 inhibition during the hypoinflammatory phenotype of sepsis enhances immunity and improves outcome. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2014) 96:785–96. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3MA0114-034RR

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Falcão-Holanda, Brunialti, Jasiulionis and Salomão. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Downregulation of CD45 Signaling in COVID-19 Patients Is Reversed by C24D, a Novel CD45 Targeting Peptide

Danny Alon^{1,2†}, Yossi Paitan^{3†}, Eyal Robinson⁴, Nirit Ganor³, Julia Lipovetsky^{2,5}, Rinat Yerushalmi^{2,5}, Cyrille J. Cohen⁶ and Annat Raiter^{2,5*}

¹ Department of Medicine A, Meir Medical Center, Kfar Saba, Israel, ² Sackler School of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel, ³ Microbiology Laboratory, Meir Medical Center, Kfar Saba, Israel, ⁴ Department of Medicine B, Meir Medical Center, Kfar Saba, Israel, ⁵ Felsenstein Medical Research Center, Rabin Medical Center, Petach Tikva, Israel, ⁶ Laboratory of Tumor Immunotherapy, The Goodman Faculty of Life Sciences, Bar Ilan University, Ramat Gan, Israel

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Queiróz Cunha, University of São Paulo, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Thiago DeSouza-Vieira, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States Oran Zlotnik, McGill University, Canada Reinaldo Salomao, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Annat Raiter annat.raiter@gmail.com; araiter@tauex.tau.ac.il

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases - Surveillance, Prevention and Treatment, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

> Received: 04 March 2021 Accepted: 09 July 2021 Published: 03 August 2021

Citation:

Alon D, Paitan Y, Robinson E, Ganor N, Lipovetsky J, Yerushalmi R, Cohen CJ and Raiter A (2021) Downregulation of CD45 Signaling in COVID-19 Patients Is Reversed by C24D, a Novel CD45 Targeting Peptide. Front. Med. 8:675963. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.675963

CD45, the predominant transmembrane tyrosine phosphatase in leukocytes, is required for the efficient induction of T cell receptor signaling and activation. We recently reported that the CD45-intracellular signals in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) patients are inhibited. We also reported that C24D, an immune modulating therapeutic peptide, binds to CD45 on immune-suppressed cells and resets the functionality of the immune system via the CD45 signaling pathway. Various studies have demonstrated that also viruses can interfere with the functions of CD45 and that patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) are immune-suppressed. Given the similarity between the role of CD45 in viral immune suppression and our findings on TNBC, we hypothesized that the C24D peptide may have a similar "immune-resetting" effect on PBMCs from COVID-19 patients as it did on PBMCs from TNBC patients. We tested this hypothesis by comparing the CD45/TCR intracellular signaling in PBMCs from ten COVID-19 patients vs. PBMCs from ten healthy volunteers. Herein, we report our findings, demonstrating the immune reactivating effect of C24D via the phosphorylation of the tyrosine 505 and 394 in Lck, the tyrosine 493 in ZAP-70 and the tyrosine 172 in VAV-1 proteins in the CD45 signaling pathway. Despite the relatively small number of patients in this report, the results demonstrate that C24D rescued CD45 signaling. Given the central role played by CD45 in the immune system, we suggest CD45 as a potential therapeutic target.

Keywords: CD45, COVID-19, PBMC, Src family of tyrosine kinases, immunosuppression

INTRODUCTION

CD45 is a transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type C (PTPRC), expressed exclusively in leukocytes, with double opposing effects on T cell receptor (TCR) activity (1, 2). On the one hand, CD45 plays an inhibitory function involving the dephosphorylation of the tyrosine 394 (Y394) in the lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase (Lck), preventing its activation. On the other hand, CD45 plays the role of an activator when it dephosphorylates the tyrosine 505 (Y505), an inhibitory site at the C-terminal end of the non-receptor tyrosine-Src kinases.

18

Activated Lck phosphorylates the immunoreceptor tyrosinebased activation motifs (ITAMs) of the T cell receptor (TCR)/CD3 complex. The phosphorylated ITAMs recruit the Zeta-chain-associated protein kinase 70 (ZAP-70), via its Src homology 2 (SH2) domains. Finally, for TCR activation, CD3bound ZAP-70 is activated by both Lck and (trans)-autophosphorylation at the ZAP70 tyrosine 493 (Y493) (3–5). The ZAP70 tyrosine kinase transmits a downstream signal leading to VAV-1 phosphorylation and activation (6, 7).

We recently reported an immune escape mechanism in TNBC patients showing that CD45's intracellular signals are inhibited (8). We also reported that C24D, a previously described immune modulating therapeutic peptide (9), binds to the CD45 receptor of the TNBC-suppressed immune cells and reverses immune-suppression, via the CD45 signaling pathway (8). C24D-binding to CD45 in the immune-suppressed cells resulted in immune reactivation and specific tumor killing.

Various studies have demonstrated that also viruses can interfere with the functions of CD45 (10). The underlying mechanism of the viral/CD45 immune-suppressive interaction was elucidated on cytomegaloviruses, adenoviruses and others (11, 12). The protein UL11 from the cytomegalovirus (CMV) and the protein E3/49K from adenovirus (AdV) are known to bind to CD45 (11, 12). The sec49K viral protein, derived from E3/49K, was found to affect CD45 in non-infected adjacent and distant cells (13). Additionally, functional studies showed that sec49K can suppress the activation, signaling, cytotoxicity and cytokine production of T and NK cells (13).

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), first identified in December 2019 in Wuhan, China, is an infectious disease caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). By March 2021, the number of COVID-19 confirmed cases globally was 113,467,303 and 2,520,550 deaths were reported (14, 15).

It has been shown that patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) are immune-suppressed (16–18). Given the similarity between the CD45 viral immune suppression reported by others and our oncology findings, we hypothesized that the C24D peptide may have a similar immune-resetting effect on PBMCs from COVID-19 patients as it did on PBMCs from TNBC patients. We demonstrate in this Brief Report the effect of adding C24D to PBMCs obtained from ten hospitalized COVID-19 patients on the phosphorylation of Lck, ZAP-70 and VAV-1 proteins in the CD45 signaling pathway.

METHODS

C24D Peptide Synthesis

The C24D peptide is a 25 amino acid homodimer peptide with a disulphyde bond at CG (CGHHLLRPRRRKRPHSIPTPILIFRSP), synthesized by Synpeptide Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China). HPLC showed purity >97%.

PBMC Isolation

PBMC was isolated from blood samples of healthy female donors and hospitalized COVID-19 patients and was obtained from the Blood Bank Mada Tel HaShomer and Meir Medical Center, respectively. The protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Meir Medical Center, Israel (0094-20-MMC). Samples were isolated by Ficoll–Hypaque density gradient (d = 1,077 g/mL, Ficoll-Paque Plus, GE Healthcare, Upsalla, Sweden) by centrifugation at 650 × g for 30 min.

Patients and Data Collection

We conducted analyses of ten COVID-19 patients hospitalized in the Meir Medical Center, Kfar Saba, Israel. COVID-19 was diagnosed by RT-PCR, based on criteria issued by the National Health Commission of Israel. Only patients with a positive, laboratory-confirmed test for SARS-CoV-2 and who suffered from sufficiently serious COVID-19 symptoms to warrant hospitalization were included. Baseline and follow-up data for all patients was obtained from the electronic medical record system. All ten patients were still hospitalized at the time of blood extraction; five patients already had a negative confirmed RT-PCR test for SARS-CoV-2 at the time of blood extraction and five still had a positive result. The Ethics Committees of the Meir Medical Center and the Israel Ministry of Health approved the study and written informed consent was obtained from all subjects. All ten patients were categorized as non-severe cases.

CD45 Signal Transduction

C24D, at 10 µg/ml, was added immediately after PBMC isolation and incubated for 5, 15, 30, 60 min and 24 h at room temperature. PBMCs were centrifuged and re-suspended in 0.12 ml of lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM NaF, 2 mM Na₃VO₄, 1% NP40, 10 mM b-glycerophosphate, 30% glycerol, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5% sodium-deoxycholate, 0.5% protease inhibitor cocktail), followed by one freeze-thaw cycle of 20 min. Cells were harvested and centrifuged (14,000 rpm, 15 min, 4°C). The supernatants were collected, and aliquots were separated on 10% SDS PAGE, followed by Western blotting with antiphospho-Lck Y505 (0.5 µg/ml, ab4901, Abcam, Cambridge, UK), anti-phospho-Lck Y394 (0.25 µg/ml, ab201567, Abcam), anti phospho-VAV-1 Y174 (0.23 µg/ml, ab76225, Abcam) and antiphospho-ZAP70 Y493 (1µg/ml, ab194800, Abcam). GAPDH (1µg/ml, ab9485, Abcam) was added as a control for sample loading. After several washings, the secondary antibody, IRDye 800CW Goat anti-Rabbit or IRDye 680CW Goat anti mouse (1 µg/ml, LI-COR, Nebraska, USA) was added for 1 h.

Quantification Methods

The membrane was analyzed by Odyssey 2.1 (Infrared Imaging System) for specific band identification. Quantification of phosphorylation was done by Image J (NIH, USA). Percentage (%) of maximal phosphorylation of phosphorylated proteins were first normalized to the levels obtained with GAPDH, respectively, and the activation values were normalized for each time point vs. its control, without C24D (e.g., C24D + lymphocytes vs. lymphocytes control). The values obtained were then expressed as % of maximal activation that was observed in each experiment, at each time point. All the results were normalized with GAPDH as the reference protein.

Statistics

Data to compare results between the patients and healthy groups we used the independent (two-tailed) *t*-test. For multiple comparisons we used the One-Way ANOVA test. Significance was defined as p < 0.05.

RESULTS

No Correlation Between Clinical Characteristics of Patients and RT-PCR Results Was Found

Baseline clinical data and laboratory findings are shown in **Table 1**. The median age of the study population was 60.7 (age range, 42–79) years, 50% were female. Blood from five patients was obtained toward the end of hospitalization (RT-PCR negative) and from five patients shortly after being hospitalized (RT-PCR positive). All patients were hospitalized for a minimum of 1 week (range, 7–45 days). Main risk factors for severe Covid-19 disease in our patient population included obesity (four patients) and impaired glucose tolerance (three patients).

Addition of C24D to PBMCs From COVID-19 Patients Resets the Phosphorylation of Src Protein Kinases

Using western blot analysis, we determined the phosphorylation of proteins in the CD45 signaling pathway resulting from the addition of the C24D peptide to fresh PBMCs from ten COVID-19 patients. The results were compared to the same measurements using PBMCs from healthy volunteers (**Figure 1**). Addition of C24D for 5–60 min to fresh PBMCs from the COVID-19 patients resulted in activation of Lck (a member of the Src protein kinases).

Statistically significant differences were found between four groups: (1) patients, (2) healthy volunteers, (3) before and (4) after the addition of C24D to PBMCs, ($p < 6.8 \times 10^{-5}$, p < 0.02, p < 0.017, and p < 0.05) in Lck Y505, Lck Y394, ZAP-70 and VAV-1 phosphorylation, respectively, as determined by One-Way ANOVA. The statistically significant results correspond to the effect of the addition of C24D to PBMCs from COVID-19 patients.

As depicted in Figure 1A, a significant decrease in the phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine 505 in Lck was observed (from 130.35 \pm 12.08% to 103.12 \pm 7.35%, p < 0.01) only in patients. In parallel, we observed a significant increase in the phosphorylation of the tyrosine 394 of Lck (from 130.19 \pm 19.23% to 168.25 \pm 25.69%, *p* < 0.007). Consequently, ZAP-70 was activated, as evidenced by a significant increase in the phosphorylation of the tyrosine 493 in ZAP-70 (from 77.97 \pm 10.17% to 97.34 \pm 10.14%, p < 0.0001). A similar pattern was observed for VAV-1 phosphorylation. Addition of C24D to fresh PBMCs from COVID-19 patients significantly increased VAV-1 phosphorylation (from 65.20 \pm 3.99% to 78.73 \pm 6.09%, p< 0.005, Figure 1A). In contrast to the C24D-induced immune reactivation observed in PBMCs from COVID-19 patients, no significant effect was seen on Lck (Y505, p < 0.122; Y394, p < 0.122; Y 0.301), ZAP70 (p < 0.08) and VAV-1 (p < 0.274) phosphorylation when fresh PBMCs from healthy donors were incubated with C24D for 5 min to 24 h (Figure 1A). Figure 1B depicts the western blot results obtained from three representative Covid-19 patients. Supplementary Figure 1 depicts the remaining 7 COVID-19 patients' western blot results.

To better understand the effect of the C2D peptide on the CD45 signaling pathway, we analyzed the percent change in phosphorylation for each of the 4 relevant proteins, for every PBMC sample from the ten COVID-19 patients, +C24D vs. -C24D (**Figure 2A**). The average change resulting from treatment with the C24D peptide on the phosphorylation of the inhibitory Lck tyrosine 505 and the immune-stimulating tyrosine 394 was -18.6 and +29.2%, respectively. ZAP-70 phosphorylation increased by an average of 24.8% and VAV-1 phosphorylation by 20.7%. Treatment of PBMCs from healthy volunteers with C24D did not cause a significant change in the phosphorylation of the four relevant proteins (**Figure 2B**). Thus, in this study, C24D specifically altered the phosphorylation pattern of key CD45-signaling molecules and did so only in PBMCs derived from COVID-19 patients.

Supplementary Figure 2 shows the pattern of phosphorylation of Lck, ZAP-70 and VAV-1 over time (from 5 to 30 min), obtained by western blot analysis, for each COVID-19 patient. Lck 505 de-phosphorylation and Lck 394 phosphorylation are completed 30 min after addition of C24D, to PBMCs of all patients. Five minutes and 15 min after treatment, ZAP-70 and VAV-1 are phosphorylated, respectively, in all tested PBMCs.

No Correlation Was Observed Between Clinical Characteristics and the Protein Phosphorylation Pattern

No correlation was observed between the clinical characteristics (age, weight, glucose and ferritin levels) of the ten hospitalized COVID-19 patients and the percentage of Lck505, Lck394, ZAP70, and VAV-1 phosphorylation induced by C24D, as determined by One-Way ANOVA test.

Interestingly, there was no difference in the C24D-induced CD45 signaling between the five hospitalized patients who already had negative RT-PCR results and the 5 hospitalized patients who still had positive RT-PCR results, implying that the patients whose RT-PCR results reverted to negative were still immunosuppressed.

We divided the patients into two significantly different age groups: \geq 65 and <65 (p < 5.73E-05, **Figure 3A**). No correlation between the response to C24D in Lck, ZAP-70, and VAV-1 activation to the age of patients was found.

In spite of the small number of patients in each of the weight, glucose and ferritin values sub-groups, we nonetheless evaluated the effect of C24D on CD45 signaling. We found that the difference between the two weight sub-groups (obese vs. normal) was statistically significant (p < 0.025). However, no correlation between the phosphorylation of Lck505, Lck394, ZAP70, and VAV-1 and weight was observed (**Figure 3B**). Addition of C24D induced Lck, ZAP70 and VAV-1 activation equally in both sub-groups. A similar pattern of protein phosphorylation was

TABLE 1	Clinical characteristics of the ten hospitalized Covid-19 patients	
		٠

Patient	Age	Gender	PCR	Weight	$\text{WBC} \times 10^3$	$RBC \times 10^{6}$	Hb	Glucose	Ferritin	Secondary infections	Days of hospitalization
1	78	М	Neg	76	7.14	4.04	12.2	107	760	None	45
2	79	F	Neg	54	11.99	4.29	12.6	N/A	N/A	None	30
3	55	Μ	neg	103	89.2	5.36	13.3	207	405	None	11
4	42	F	Pos	115	5.2	5.01	13.7	90	833	None	19
5	46	Μ	Pos	110	4.74	4.91	14.2	96	597	None	11
6	70	Μ	Neg	75	6.02	5.34	15.8	97	690	None	14
7	74	Μ	Pos	64	5.84	4.7	14.3	80	681	Klebsiella-colonization	16
8	68	F	Neg	n/a	9.8	5.27	12.2	119	147	Serratia bacteremia	12
9	42	F	Pos	63	7.71	4.11	12.3	94	N/A	None	8
10	53	F	Pos	n/a	4.57	4.46	12.6	96	398	None	8

WBC, White blood cell count; RBC, red blood cell count; Hb, Hemoglobin; PCR, RT PCR results for Covid-19 disease.



FIGURE 1 | C24D binding to CD45 triggers the CD45 signaling pathway: PBMCs from ten hospitalized patients, \pm C24D treatment, were lysed, separated on 10% SDS and blotted with antibodies for the determination of phosphorylation of the tyrosine 505 and 394 in Lck, the tyrosine 493 in ZAP-70 and the tyrosine 174 in VAV-1. PBMCs from healthy volunteers served as controls. The percentage of phosphorylation was calculated individually vs. GAPDH as protein control. **(A)** Percentage change of protein phosphorylation in PBMCs from 10 patients, compared to 10 healthy donors, after addition of C24D for 5–60 min to patient PBMCs, or 24 h to PBMCs from healthy donor (values represent mean \pm SE, *p < 0.01, **p < 0.005, ***p < 0.0001). **(B)** Western blot results obtained in three representative patients for each phosphorylated protein, \pm C24D.



FIGURE 2 | C24D reversed CD45 immune suppression signaling only in patients: (A) Percentage change of Lck, ZAP-70 and VAV-1 phosphorylation in PBMCs from each of the 10 patients, after addition of C24D for 5–60 min, normalized to control without C24D. (B) Percentage change of Lck, ZAP-70 and VAV-1 phosphorylation in PBMCs from healthy donors, after addition of C24D for at least 24 h, normalized to control without C24D.



high glucose: 144.3 \pm 54, P < 0.027 (D) Ferritin, in two groups, normal ferritin: 316 \pm 145 vs. high ferritin: 712 \pm 79, p < 0.0028.

observed in patients with normal and high glucose levels (p < 0.0004, **Figure 3C**) and in patients with normal and high ferritin values (p < 0.003, **Figure 3D**).

DISCUSSION

It has been reported that patients infected with the SARS-CoV-2 are immune-suppressed (16–20). In some studies, immunosuppression was described as a consequence of a drastic reduction in the number of both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in moderate and severe COVID-19 patients (21). This is consistent with reports that viruses developed immune evasion strategies similar to those deployed by tumors (22, 23).

In this short report, we demonstrated that treatment of PBMCs from ten hospitalized COVID-19 patients with C24D resulted in the reactivation of CD45 key-signaling molecules: Lck, ZAP-70 and VAV-1. Binding of C24D to the CD45 receptor provoked a decrease in the phosphorylation of the inhibitory tyrosine 505 and an increase in the phosphorylation of the tyrosine 394 in Lck, inducing its activation. The tyrosine 493 in ZAP70 and tyrosine 174 in VAV-1 were phosphorylated, resulting in TCR activation (24, 25).

Given the pivotal role of CD45 in the immune system (26–28), it is not surprising that viruses interfere with the activity of CD45 to dampen the immune response.

Similar to our findings on TNBC tumors (8), viral interference with the functions of the receptor tyrosine phosphatase CD45

have been widely reported. It was demonstrated that CD45 functions are crucial for stimulating a protective immune response against Herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) (29). When CD45 is down-regulated, the immune system fails to control HSV-1 infection and to prevent HSV-1 associated encephalitis. In adenovirus, the secreted protein sec49K derived from the viral protein E3/49K was found to bind to CD45 receptor resulting in a significant decrease in the activation of Src tyrosine proteins kinases and ZAP-70, causing suppression of activation of T and NK cells (13).

In this study, we found that on binding to CD45's extracellular domain of PBMCs of COVID-19 patients, C24D reverses the deactivation of kinases involved in CD45/TCR signaling. Conversely, in PBMCs from healthy volunteers, C24D did not change the CD45 signaling pattern, suggesting that C24D acts only on immune-suppressed cells. The focus on T cell reactivation originated from reported studies which demonstrated that the severity of COVID-19 inversely correlates with T-cell immunity of the host. Although T cells cannot prevent infections, in COVID-19 patients, killer T cells mean the difference between a mild infection and a severe one (30, 31).

The five hospitalized COVID-19 patients who, at the time blood was drawn, already had negative RT-PCR results, presented the same response to C24D treatment as did the five RT-PCR positive Covid-19 patients. This suggests that some immunosuppression may endure for some time after the elimination of the SARS-CoV-2 virus.

Age-associated alterations in the immune system contribute to the increased incidence and severity of infectious diseases in elderly patients (32). There is a consensus that the elderly (\geq 65 age) is the population group most vulnerable to COVID-19. We found no statistically significant difference in the effect of C24D on CD45 signaling in COVID-19 patients under 65 and over 65 years of age, suggesting that C24D might be effective also in patients \geq 65 years of age.

In each of the weight, ferritin and glucose values sub-groups, no statistically significant differences in the phosphorylation of Lck505, Lck394, ZAP70, and VAV-1 were observed. Ferritin values aroused our attention due to C24D being a peptide derived from the placental immunomodulatory ferritin (9).

Due to the small cohort of patients, it is possible that a correlation between the effect of treatment with the C24D peptide on CD45 downstream signaling and patients' clinical characteristics was masked.

Other report limitation was related to the hospital ethics committee that did not allow us to perform experiments with serum or plasma from COVID-19 patients due to standard biosecurity and institutional safety. The quantity of PBMCs recovered from each patient was minimal and lyzed for virus neutralization. The amount of cells only sufficed for the study of protein phosphorylation and not for functional assays.

COVID-19 is a multifaceted illness that affects different people in different ways (33). The long-term effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines is yet to be determined and may be vulnerable to virus mutations (33). Thus, there is a need to find additional therapeutic strategies to tackle COVID-19.

In spite of the relatively small number of patients in this report, the results showed that C24D rescued CD45 signaling. T cell re-activation through the CD45 molecular pathway is potentially a new therapeutic strategy against immunosuppression induced by coronavirus. Given that some cases of immune overactivation (cytokine storm) have been reported (34, 35), a molecule such as C24D, which does not activate, but rather resets the immune system, could likely serve as an important therapeutic option in the treatment of the current, and possibly future generations of SARS-CoV-2.

REFERENCES

- Huntington ND, Tarlinton DM. CD45: direct and indirect government of immune regulation. *Immunol Lett.* (2004) 94:167–74. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2004.05.011
- Chang VT, Fernandes RA, Ganzinger KA, Lee SF, Siebold C, McColl J, et al. Initiation of T cell signaling by CD45 segregation at 'close contacts'. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:574–82. doi: 10.1038/ ni.3392
- Gaud G, Lesourne R, Love PE. Regulatory mechanism in T cell receptor signalling. Nat Rev Immunol. (2018) 18:485– 97. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0020-8
- Filipp D, Ballek O, Manning J. Lck, membrane microdomains, and TCR triggering machinery: defining the new rules of engagement. *Front Immunol.* (2012) 3:155. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00155

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Meir Medical Center and Israel Ministry of Health. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DA performed and managed the ethical approval for patient recruitment and sample collection. YP analyzed and contributed to data analysis and visualization. ER contributed to recruitment, sample collection and data analysis, and visualization. NG and JL performed the experiments described in this manuscript in patients and healthy volunteers' samples. RY and CC revised and critically edited the manuscript. AR wrote, reviewed and edited the manuscript, and analyzed the data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The authors declare that this study received funding from Imanu Immunotherapy. The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article or the decision to submit it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Ms. Roza Dostan coordinated the secretarial work involved in the study.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.675963/full#supplementary-material

- Lo WL, Shah NH, Ahsan N, Horkova V, Stepanek O, Salomon AR, et al. Lck promotes Zap70-dependent LAT phosphorylation by bridging Zap70 to LAT. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:733–41. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0 131-1
- Barreira M, Rodríguez-Fdez S, Bustelo XR. New insights into the Vav1 activation cycle in lymphocytes. *Cell Signal.* (2018) 45:132–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2018.01.026
- Upshaw JL, Arneson LN, Schoon RA, Dick CJ, Billadeau DD, Leibson PJ. NKG2D-mediated signaling requires a DAP10-bound Grb2-Vav1 intermediate and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase in human natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2006) 7:524–32. doi: 10.1038/ni1325
- Raiter A, Lipovetski J, Mugami S, Dar S, Lubin I, Zlotnik O, et al. CD45 activation reverses tumor suppression of Src family tyrosine kinases pathway in leukocytes. *Oncoimmunology*. (2021) 10:1929725. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2021.1929725

- Solodeev I, Zahalka MA, Moroz C. The novel C24D synthetic polypeptide inhibits binding of placenta immunosuppressive ferritin to human T cells and elicits anti-breast cancer immunity *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Neoplasia*. (2014) 16:741–50. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2014.08.005
- Thiel N, Zischke J, Elbasani E, Kay-Fedorov P, Messerle M. Viral interference with functions of the cellular receptor tyrosine phosphatase CD45. *Viruses*. (2015) 7:1540–57. doi: 10.3390/v7031540
- Gabaev I, Steinbrück L, Pokoyski C, Pich A, Stanton RJ, Schwinzer R, et al., Messerle M., Kay-Fedorov P.C. The human cytomegalovirus UL11 protein interacts with the receptor tyrosine phosphatase CD45, resulting in functional paralysis of T cells. *PLoS Pathog.* (2011) 7:e1002432. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002432
- Davison AJ, Akter P, Cunningham C, Dolan A, Addison C, Dargan DJ, et al. Homology between the human cytomegalovirus RL11 gene family and human adenovirus E3 genes. J Gen Virol. (2003) 84:657–63. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.1 8856-0
- Windheim M, Southcombe JH, Kremmer E, Chaplin L, Urlaub D, Falk CS, et al. A unique secreted adenovirus E3 protein binds to the leukocyte common antigen CD45 and modulates leukocyte functions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:e4884–93. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1312420110
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- 15. World Health Organization. *Novel Coronavirus* (2020–2021). Available online at: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019
- Grabbe S, Beissert S, Enk A. Systemic immunosuppression in times of COVID-19: do we need to rethink our standards? J Deutschen Dermatol Gesellschaft. (2020) 18:810–3. doi: 10.1111/ddg.14194
- Diao B, Wang C, Tan Y, Chen X, Liu Y, Ning L, et al. Reduction and functional exhaustion of T-cells in patients with Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:827. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00827
- Vardhana SA, Wolchok JD. The many faces of anti-COVID immune response. J Exp Med. (2020) 217:e20200678. doi: 10.1084/jem.20200678
- Mehta P, McAuley DF, Brown M, Sanchez E, Tattersall RS, Manson JJ. COVID-19: consider cytokine storm syndromes and immunosuppression. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1033–4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30628-0
- Tian W, Zhang N, Jin R, Feng Y, Wang S, Gao S, et al. Immune suppression in the early stage of COVID-19 disease. *Nat Commun.* (2020) 11:5859. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-19706-9
- Chen G, Wu DI, Guo W, Cao Y, Huang D, Wang H. Clinical and immunological features of severe and moderate coronavirus disease 2019. J Clin Invest. (2020) 130:2620–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI137244
- Groth A, Klöss S, von Strandmann EP, Koehl U, Koch J. Mechanisms of tumor and viral immune escape from natural killer cell-mediated surveillance. *J Innate Immun.* (2011) 3:344–54. doi: 10.1159/000327014
- Wong J, Choi SY, Liu R, Xu E, Killam J, Gout PW, et al. Potential therapies for infectious diseases based on targeting immune evasion mechanisms that pathogens have in common with cancer cells. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*. (2019) 9:25. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00025
- Helou YA, Petrashen AP, Salomon AR. Vav1 regulates T-cell activation through a feedback mechanism crosstalk between the T-cell receptor CD28. J Proteome Res. (2015) 14:2963. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome. 5b00340
- Hermiston ML, Xu Z, Weiss A. CD45: a critical regulator of signaling thresholds in immune cells. Ann Rev Immunol. (2003) 21:107–37. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.140946

- Saunders AE, Johnson P. Modulation of immune cell signalling by the leukocyte common tyrosine phosphatase, CD45. *Cell Signal.* (2010) 22:339– 48. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2009.10.003
- 27. Zamoyska R. Why is there so much CD45 on T cells? *Immunity.* (2007) 27:421–3. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.08.009
- Courtney AH, Shvets AA, Lu W, Griffante G, Mollenauer M, Horkova V, et al. CD45 functions as a signaling gatekeeper in T cells. *Sci Signal.* (2019) 12:eaaw8151. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aaw8151
- Caignard G, Leiva-Torres GA, Leney-Greene M, Charbonneau B, Dumaine A, Fodil-Cornu N, et al. Genome-wide mouse mutagenesis reveals CD45mediated T cell function as critical in protective immunity to HSV-1. *PLoS Pathog.* (2013) 9:e1003637 doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003637
- Wang Z, Yang X, Zhong J, Zhou Y, Tang Z, Zhou H, et al. Exposure to SARS-CoV-2 generates T-cell memory in the absence of a detectable viral infection. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:1724. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22036-z
- Tarke A, Sidney J, Kidd CK, Dan J, Ramirez SI, Dawen Yu E, et al. Comprehensive analysis of T cell immunodominance and immuneprevalence of SARS-CoV-2 epitopes in COVID-19 cases. *Cell Rep Med.* (2021) 2:100204. doi: 10.1016/j.xcrm.2021.100204
- Jin M, Shi N, Wang M, Shi C, Lu S, Chang Q, et al. CD45: a critical regulator in immune cells to predict severe and non-severe COVID-19 patients. *Aging*. (2020) 12:19867–79. doi: 10.18632/aging.103941
- 33. Shah SJ, Barish PN, Prasad PA, Kistler A, Neff N, Kamm J, et al. Clinical features, diagnostics, and outcomes of patients presenting with acute respiratory illness: a retrospective cohort study of patients with and without COVID-19. *EClinicalMedicine*. (2020) 27:100518. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100518
- Li Q, Wu, J Nie J, Zhang L, Hao H, Liu S, et al. The impact of mutations in SARS-CoV-2 spike on viral infectivity and antigenicity. *Cell*. (2020) 182:1284– 94.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.07.012
- 35. Wang J, Jiang M, Chen X, Montaner LJ. Cytokine storm and leukocyte changes in mild versus severe SARS-CoV-2 infection: review of 3939 COVID-19 patients in China and emerging pathogenesis and therapy concepts. J Leukoc Biol. (2020) 108:17–41. doi: 10.1002/JLB.3COVR0520-272R

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer ${\rm OZ}$ declared a past collaboration with several of the authors JL, AR, and RY to the handling editor.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Alon, Paitan, Robinson, Ganor, Lipovetsky, Yerushalmi, Cohen and Raiter. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Comparative Study of Acute Lung Injury in COVID-19 and Non-COVID-19 Patients

Jianguo Zhang^{1,2}, Xing Huang³, Daoyin Ding⁴, Jinhui Zhang², Liusheng Xu¹, Zhenkui Hu², Wenrong Xu¹ and Zhimin Tao^{1*}

¹ Jiangsu Province Key Laboratory of Medical Science and Laboratory Medicine, School of Medicine, Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang, China, ² Department of Critical Care Medicine, The Affiliated Hospital, Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang, China, ³ Department of Urology, Center for Evidence-Based and Translational Medicine, Zhongnan Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China, ⁴ Department of Critical Care Medicine, The First People's Hospital of Jiangxia District, Wuhan, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Reinaldo Salomao, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Ming Fang, Guangdong Academy of Medical Sciences, China Felipe Dal Pizzol, Universidade Do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Zhimin Tao jsutao@ujs.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases – Surveillance, Prevention and Treatment, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

> Received: 10 February 2021 Accepted: 28 June 2021 Published: 16 August 2021

Citation:

Zhang J, Huang X, Ding D, Zhang J, Xu L, Hu Z, Xu W and Tao Z (2021) Comparative Study of Acute Lung Injury in COVID-19 and Non-COVID-19 Patients. Front. Med. 8:666629. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.666629 **Background:** Amid the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, we analyzed clinical characteristics of acute lung injury (ALI) in COVID-19 patients and reported their similarity and dissimilarity to those of non-COVID-19 patients in the intensive care unit (ICU).

Methods: We reported on 90 COVID-19 and 130 non-COVID-19 ALI patients in the ICUs of multiple centers. Demographic data, medical histories, laboratory findings, and radiological images were analyzed and compared between the two cohorts and within each cohort between survivors and non-survivors. For ALI survivors, clinical characteristics before and after treatment were also compared.

Findings: Aberrations in blood parameters, such as leukocytosis, neutrophilia, and thrombocytopenia, were observed in both cohorts. More characteristic abnormalities, including significantly higher red cell distribution width (RDW), C-reactive proteins, and lactic dehydrogenase (LDH) but lower troponin (TnT) and procalcitonin, were observed in the COVID-19 cohort than in the non-COVID-19 cohort, whereas D-dimer levels showed a similar elevation in both cohorts. The COVID-19 cohort also showed more diversified CT patterns where severe features such as consolidations and crazy paving patterns were more frequently observed. Multivariate analysis indicated that age, fever symptom, prothrombin time, procalcitonin, partial pressure of carbon dioxide, oxygenated hemoglobin, and crazy paving patterns in CT scans were independent risk factors associated with COVID-19.

Interpretation: Comparison of ALI characteristics between COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 patients in the ICU setting provided insight into the pathogenesis of ALI induced by different risk factors, suggesting distinct treatment plans.

Keywords: COVID-19, intensive care unit, acute lung injury, acute respiratory distress syndrome, treatment

25

BACKGROUND

Following the novel viral pneumonia that broke out in December 2019, the responsible pathogen was identified as severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), and the illness was later named as coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) (1). Strikingly, as of November 10, 2020, COVID-19 has swept across the world, infecting over 50 million people with a death rate exceeding 2.5% (2). With no valid treatment, the COVID-19 pandemic posed an unprecedented challenge to global public health.

Now, we learn that COVID-19 is far more than a typical pulmonary disease. Nevertheless, the highly infective SARS-CoV-2 is mainly transmitted *via* aerosol (3) with the infection beginning predominantly in the lungs, where acute lung injury (ALI) progressed as the illness worsened (4). ALI can develop into acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) as hypoxemia worsens, leading to a high mortality rate among severe ALI patients (5). Studies in the early period of the COVID-19 breakout identified a 67–85% mortality in patients admitted to intensive care units (ICUs), which was attributed to ARDS (6–8). In contrast, general ARDS mortality in ICU patients was estimated as 35.3% (9). Moreover, ARDS mortality after ICU admission in SARS patients was 52.2% (10).

In this study, we focused on the comparison of ALI/ARDS characteristics between COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 patients in the ICU scenario, looking for insight into the heightened death incidence of COVID-19-induced ALI and propose an efficacious treatment plan.

METHODS

Study Design

In this retrospective study, we reported 90 COVID-19 ALI patients (admitted between January 2020 and April 2020) and 130 non-COVID-19 ALI patients (admitted between January 2017 and October 2019) from different ICUs of multiple centers. For all selected ICU patients, they were diagnosed with ARDS upon ICU admission. ARDS was defined when positive end expiratory pressure (PEEP) or continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) was >5 cmH₂O and PaO₂/FiO₂ was <300 mmHg, following a classic Berlin Definition (11). Exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) pediatric patients <18 years old; (2) pregnant or lactating women patients; and (3) patients with malignant tumors, immunodeficiency, or terminal illness. A flowchart indicating the inclusion and exclusion criteria of patients is shown in Figure 1. As a result, 130 ALI patients admitted to the ICU in the Affiliated Hospital of Jiangsu University (TAHJU) were selected as the non-COVID-19 cohort. Patient consents were acquired, and the study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of TAHJU. In parallel, 90 ALI patients in the COVID-19 cohort were admitted to the First People's Hospital of Jiangxia District (TFPHJD) at Wuhan and Huangshi Central Hospital (HCH) at Huangshi city, both in the Hubei Province of China. ALI/ARDS management followed the published formal guidelines (12-14). Patient information remains anonymous and written consent was waived. The study was approved by the Ethics Commissions of TFPHJD and HCH. Patient data for comparison were gathered before and after stays in ICU. More details of the study design can be found in the **Supplementary Material**.

Procedure

Details of patient procedures can be found in the **Supplementary Material**. In particular, all COVID-19 patients were received at TFPHJD and HCH and diagnosed following the standard procedure, and all COVID-19 ICU patients were admitted following published criteria (15) and treated by following the published guidelines during early outbreak (16). For patients with clinical symptoms, such as fever, cough, and radiological abnormality, throat swabs were gathered for SARS-CoV-2 RNA detection by gene sequencing or by real-time RT-PCR as previously reported (7).

Statistical Analysis

The categorical variables were described as frequency rates and percentages, and continuous variables were applied to describe the median and interquartile range (IQR) values. All data were collected and compared between the COVID-19 cohort and the non-COVID-19 cohort. Comparison of continuous variables between the two cohorts was analyzed with Mann–Whitney test, and c^2 test was used to compare the categorical variables. These statistical methods followed a published method (17), and methodological details can be found in the **Supplementary Material**. For key variables with a p < 0.05 in the univariate analysis, multivariate logistic regression analysis was performed to explore the independent risk factors associated with either the COVID-19 or the non-COVID-19 cohort. A p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 220 ICU patients were hospitalized, namely, a COVID-19 cohort of 90 and a non-COVID-19 (non-viral) cohort of 130. Median age was 68.0 (IQR: 57.0-76.0); 33.2% were female and 31.8% had a history of smoking (Table 1). The median ICU stay was 13 days, and the eventual mortality rate reached 44.5%. Compared to the non-COVID-19 cohort, the COVID-19 cohort showed younger age, fewer male patients, shorter ICU stays, and higher death rate (p < 0.05), although smoking history had a similar effect on both cohorts; 74.5% of patients had comorbidity, with the COVID-19 cohort (65.5%) having a significantly lower proportion of patients with comorbidity than the non-COVID-19 cohort (80.8%). Hypertension, diabetes, bronchitis, and cardiovascular disease were the most common comorbidities. The frequency of each comorbidity showed no significant difference between the two cohorts. Despite different disease pathogeneses, patients in both cohorts experienced similar symptoms, including cough, fever, dyspnea, expectoration, fatigue, and vomiting (Table 1). Notably, the COVID-19 cohort had significantly more patients with fever but fewer showing expectoration. In our previous study, significantly fewer COVID-19 patients experienced



expectoration than influenza patients despite sharing flu-like symptoms (17).

Baseline blood characteristics for all patients upon ICU admission are shown in Table 2. Compared to the non-COVID-19 cohort, the COVID-19 cohort showed a higher proportion of patients with leukocytosis or thrombocytopenia, but a lower proportion with neutrophilia or monocytosis. Similarly, both cohorts exhibited an overwhelmingly low red blood cell count and low levels of hemoglobin or hematocrit, indicating serious anemia in ALI patients regardless of pathogenesis. Nevertheless, a notably higher proportion of COVID-19 patients with elevated values of red cell distribution width (RDW) compared with that of non-COVID-19 patients was found, establishing a distinctive feature of COVID-19 infection. This finding was consistent with another report (18). For coagulation factors, abnormally increased prothrombin time, activated partial thromboplastin time, thrombin time, D-dimer level, international normalized ratio, and decreased fibrinogen level were found in a substantial number of ALI patients in both cohorts. Among them, D-dimer elevation has been reported to correlate with the severity of COVID-19 (19, 20). In our study, most ALI patients showed heightened D-dimer levels, but these were indistinguishable between the COVID-19 or non-COVID-19 cohorts. In addition, ALI patients showed reduced protein and ionic concentrations, and augmented levels of many metabolic proteins and enzymatic biomarkers (**Table 2**), including C-reactive proteins (CRPs), bilirubin, ALT, AST, BUN, LDH, and CPK. Among them, compared to the non-COVID-19 cohort, COVID-19 patients demonstrated much higher levels of CRP and LDH, but a dramatically lower level of TnT and procalcitonin.

Next, arterial blood gas profiles were examined for all ICU ALI patients (**Table 3**). Compared to the non-COVID-19 cohort, the COVID-19 cohort exhibited similar levels of blood parameters such as acidity and base excess but significantly lower levels of actual bicarbonate, partial pressure of carbon dioxide or oxygen, oxygen saturation, and oxygenated hemoglobin. In parallel, CT examination was performed for all patients upon ICU admission and image patterns were compared between the two cohorts (**Table 4**). The COVID-19 cohort showed infections with substantially expanded lung involvement, with a significantly higher portion of ALI patients with bilateral lung involvement, multilobular lesions (with lobe number = 4, 5), and more lesions in each lobe. Specific CT patterns, such as consolidation and pleural effusion, were found significantly more frequently

TABLE 1	Demographic data,	medical history,	and clinical	symptoms	of 220 ALI patients.

	Total (n = 220)	COVID-19 (<i>n</i> = 90)	Non-COVID-19 (<i>n</i> = 130)	<i>p</i> -value
Age	68.0 (57.0–76.0)	60.5 (46.8–71.3)	70.0 (63.8–78.0)	<0.0001
Gender, female N (%)	73 (33.2%)	39 (43.3%)	34 (26.2%)	0.008
Smoking history	70 (31.8%)	30 (33.3%)	40 (30.8%)	0.688
ICU stay, day	13.0 (9.0–23.8)	10.0 (6.0–20.3)	15.0 (12.0–27.0)	<0.0001
Mortality, N (%)	98 (44.5%)	52 (57.8%)	46 (35.4%)	0.001
Comorbidity				
Hypertension	86 (39.1%)	34 (37.8%)	52 (40.0%)	0.740
Diabetes	42 (19.1)	15 (16.7%)	27 (20.8%)	0.447
Bronchitis	31 (14.1%)	9 (10.0%)	22 (16.9%)	0.147
Cardiovascular diseases	24 (10.9%)	6 (6.7%)	18 (13.8%)	0.093
Hepatitis B	9 (4.1%)	3 (3.3%)	6 (4.6%)	0.741
Intracerebral hemorrhage	6 (2.7%)	4 (4.4%)	2 (1.5%)	0.229
Renal dysfunction	6 (2.7%)	2 (2.2%)	4 (3.1%)	1.000
Hypothyroidism	5 (2.3%)	1 (1.1%)	4 (3.1%)	0.651
Gallstone	4 (1.8%)	4 (4.4%)	O (O)	0.027
Cholecystitis	3 (1.4%)	2 (2.2%)	1 (0.8%)	0.569
Renal calculi	3 (1.4%)	2 (2.2%)	1 (0.8%)	0.569
Gout	2 (0.9%)	2 (2.2%)	O (O)	0.166
Symptoms				
Cough	144 (65.5%)	65 (72.2%)	79 (60.8%)	0.079
Fever	127 (57.7%)	67 (74.4%)	60 (46.2%)	<0.0001
Dyspnea	86 (39.1%)	33 (36.7%)	53 (40.8%)	0.540
Expectoration	77 (35.0%)	22 (24.4%)	55 (42.3%)	0.006
Fatigue	59 (26.8%)	31 (34.4%)	28 (21.5%)	0.034
Vomiting	33 (15.0%)	11 (12.2%)	22 (16.9%)	0.337
Diarrhea	20 (9.1%)	11 (12.2%)	9 (6.9%)	0.179
Chest pain	18 (8.2%)	3 (3.3%)	15 (11.5%)	0.043
Abdominal pain	15 (6.8%)	6 (6.7%)	9 (6.9%)	0.941

in the COVID-19 cohort. More characteristically, crazy paving patterns, linear opacity, rounded opacity, halo sign, nodules, treein-bud sign, air bronchogram, and interlobular septal thickening were more frequently observed in the COVID-19 cohort than the non-COVID-19 cohort, highlighting explicit CT features caused by SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Variables with a p < 0.05 in the previous univariate analysis were put into multivariate logistic regression analysis, and results are shown in **Table 5**. It can be concluded that age, fever symptom, prothrombin time, procalcitonin, PaCO₂, HbO₂, and crazy paving patterns in CT scans are independent risk factors for differentiating COVID-19 ALI patients from non-COVID-19 ALI patients. Compared to the non-COVID-19 cohort, the COVID-19 cohort exhibited more inclination to younger population, experiencing fever, lengthened prothrombin time, and augmented lung involvement and crazy paving patterns in CT features. In addition, the COVID-19 patients also showed higher disposition to demonstrate abnormally lower levels of procalcitonin, PaCO₂, and HbO₂.

Critically ill ALI patients typically developed hypoxemia, dyspnea, and even respiratory failure requiring invasive or non-invasive oxygen support (**Table 6**). For the COVID-19 cohort,

patients were treated with an array of antiviral drugs, including 16.7% with oseltamivir, 44.4% with arbidol, 53.3% with ribavirin, and 61.1% with α -interferon. They were also given a variety of antibiotics, including 18.9% with sulbactam/cefoperazone sodium, 38.9% with piperacillin/tazobactam sodium, 43.3% with imipenem/cilastatin, and 50.0% with moxifloxacin. For the non-COVID-19 cohort, 50% of patients were given imipenem/cilastatin, 32.3% ceftazidime, 30.0% piperacillin/sulbactam sodium, and 26.2% tigecycline. As a result, mortality was 57.8% in the COVID-19 cohort and 35.4% in the non-COVID-19 cohort.

Within the COVID-19 cohort, baseline characteristics and radiological parameters were compared between survivors and non-survivors (**Supplementary Tables 1–5**). High age was found as a risk factor for mortality, while no substantial difference was found between survivors and non-survivors in their other demographic information, medical history, clinical symptoms, and CT patterns upon ICU admission. Between survivors and non-survivors, blood parameters were found to be similar; however, many arterial blood gas features were significantly different. Compared to survivors, non-survivors exhibited lower pH, PaO₂, SO₂, PaO₂/FiO₂, aADO₂, HbO₂, and tHb, but higher

TABLE 2 | Laboratory testing results of ALI patients in the COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 cohorts.

	Normal range	Total (<i>n</i> = 220)	COVID-19 (<i>n</i> = 90)	Non-COVID-19 (n = 130)	<i>p</i> -value
Blood count panel					
White blood cells, ×10 ⁹ /L	3.5–9.5	9.2 (5.9–14.7)	7.5 (4.8–14.3)	10.2 (6.9–15.3)	0.003
>9.5		107 (48.6%)	34 (37.8%)	73 (56.2%)	0.007
Neutrophils, ×10 ⁹ /L	1.8–6.3	8.4 (4.4–14.7)	5.9 (3.2-13.1)	9.6 (5.8–15.2)	0.0003
>6.3		136 (61.8%)	42 (46.7%)	94 (72.3%)	0.0001
Lymphocytes, ×10 ⁹ /L	1.1–3.2	0.6 (0.4-1.1)	0.6 (0.4–1.1)	0.6 (0.4–1.1)	0.871
>3.2		7 (3.2%)	5 (5.5%)	2 (1.5%)	0.125
Monocytes, ×10 ⁹ /L	0.1–0.6	0.5 (0.3–0.8)	0.3 (0.2–0.5)	0.6 (0.4–1.0)	<0.0001
>0.6		79 (35.9%)	15 (16.7%)	64 (49.2%)	<0.0001
Eosinophils, ×10 ⁹ /L	0.02-0.52	0.0 (0.0-0.04)	0.0 (0.0-0.03)	0.0 (0.0–0.05)	0.330
>0.52		8(3.6%)	2 (2.2%)	6 (4.6%)	0.476
Basophils, ×10 ⁹ /L	0–0.06	0.0 (0.0-0.02)	0.0 (0.0-0.01)	0.0 (0.0–0.02)	0.537
>0.06		18 (8.2%)	5 (5.6%)	13 (10.0%)	0.319
Red blood cells, ×10 ¹² /L	4.3–5.8	3.1 (2.7–3.8)	3.4 (2.9-4.0)	3.0 (2.6–3.6)	0.001
<4.3		196 (89.1%)	78 (86.7%)	118 (90.8%)	0.337
Hemoglobin, g/L	130–175	104.0 (84.3–124.0)	105.5 (84.0-122.3)	103.0 (84.8–125.3)	0.761
<130		173 (78.6%)	73 (81.1%)	100 (76.9%)	0.456
Hematocrit, %	40–50	31.4 (26.4–37.9)	31.7 (26.4–36.8)	31.4 (26.5–38.6)	0.358
<40		177 (80.5%)	78 (86.7%)	99 (76.2%)	0.053
MCV, fL	82-100	91.8 (87.2–95.8)	90.0 (86.1–95.8)	92.6 (87.9–95.9)	0.128
<82		15 (6.8%)	7 (7.8%)	8 (6.2%)	0.639
MCH, pg	27–34	30.2 (29.1–31.5)	30.6 (29.6–32.2)	29.8 (28.9–31.3)	0.004
<27		21 (9.5%)	6 (6.7%)	15 (11.5%)	0.227
MCHC, g/L	316–354	326.0 (314.0–338.0)	331.0 (317.0–347.5)	322.0 (310.0–334.0)	0.001
<316		63 (28.6%)	19 (21.1%)	44 (33.8%)	0.040
RDW, %	11.5–17.8	17.0 (13.2–41.5)	42.4 (39.1–47.5)	13.7 (12.5–15.1)	< 0.0001
>17.8		102 (46.4%)	89 (98.9%)	13 (10.0%)	<0.0001
Platelets, ×10 ⁹ /L	125-350	158.5 (88.5–242.3)	148.0 (76.0–275.0)	162.0 (99.8–233.3)	0.293
<125		84 (38.2%)	42 (46.7%)	42 (32.3%)	0.031
MPV, fL	7.4–12.5	11.0 (10.0–12.4)	10.8 (9.9–12.6)	11.1 (10.1–12.3)	0.497
>12.5	111 1210	53 (24.1%)	22 (24.4%)	31 (23.8%)	0.919
PDW, %	9–17	16.4 (15.1–17.0)	16.4 (14.9–17.2)	16.4 (15.2–17.0)	0.948
>17	0 11	54 (24.5%)	23 (25.6%)	31 (23.8%)	0.772
Coagulation panel		01(21.070)	20 (20.070)	01 (20.070)	0.172
Prothrombin time, s	9–13	14.1 (12.4–15.7)	14.8 (13.5–17.4)	13.3 (11.6–15.3)	<0.0001
>13	0 10	145 (65.9%)	78 (86.7%)	67 (51.5%)	<0.0001
INR	0.8–1.2	1.2 (1.0–1.4)	1.2 (1.1–1.5)	1.2 (1.0–1.4)	0.497
>1.2	0.0 1.2	104 (47.3%)	42 (46.7%)	62 (47.7%)	0.881
aPPT, s	23.3–32.5	30.7 (26.6–37.0)	31.7 (28.6–37.1)	29.2 (24.5–37.7)	0.021
>32.5	20.0-02.0	92 (41.8%)	39 (43.3%)	53 (40.8%)	0.705
702.0 Thrombin time, s	14–21	18.1 (16.8–20.3)	17.4 (15.9–18.9)	18.9 (17.5–22.0)	<0.0001
>21	14-21	50 (22.7%)	10 (11.1%)	40 (30.8%)	0.001
Fibrinogen, g/L	2–4			3.8 (2.2–5.5)	
<2	∠=4	4.3 (2.7–5.7) 28 (12.7%)	4.8 (3.8–5.8) 5 (5.6%)	3.8 (2.2–5.5) 23 (17.7%)	0.012 0.008
	<0.55		. ,		
D-dimer, mg/L	<0.05	3.4 (0.9–7.5)	3.6 (0.8–71)	2.8 (1.0-8.5)	0.738
>0.55 Matabalia papal		180 (81.8%)	71 (78.9%)	109 (83.8%)	0.349
Metabolic panel	0 10	067/7001	15 9 /11 0 00 0)	100/40 1000)	0.000
C-reactive protein, mg/L	0–10	26.7 (7.8–99.1)	45.8 (14.2–88.0)	18.9 (4.0–120.6)	0.026
>10 Tatal hilimuhin unana (4	0.00	160 (72.7%)	78 (86.7%)	82 (63.1%)	0.0001
Total bilirubin, mmol/L	3–22	14.1 (7.9–23.1)	12.9 (7.7–22.9)	14.4 (8.0–23.3)	0.421

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

	Normal range	Total (<i>n</i> = 220)	COVID-19 (<i>n</i> = 90)	Non-COVID-19 (<i>n</i> = 130)	<i>p</i> -value
>22		58 (26.4%)	24 (26.7%)	34 (26.2%)	0.932
Direct bilirubin, mmol/L	0–5	4.7 (2.9–8.5)	5.3 (2.8-8.6)	4.5 (2.9–8.3)	0.838
>5		102 (46.4%)	46 (51.1%)	56 (43.1%)	0.240
Indirect bilirubin, mmol/L	0–19	11.1 (7.8–19.8)	9.7 (6.6–13.4)	13.2 (8.9–46.2)	< 0.0001
>19		58 (26.4%)	5 (5.6%)	53 (40.8%)	< 0.0001
ALT, U/L	9–50	41.1 (20.6–71.9)	40.7 (17.1–68.9)	42.5 (22.8–72.3)	0.672
>50		84 (38.2%)	32 (35.6%)	52 (40.0%)	0.505
AST, U/L	15–40	49.8 (29.0–79.4)	46.0 (25.8–81.7)	54.3 (30.2–79.3)	0.686
>40		130 (59.1%)	53 (58.9%)	77 (59.2%)	0.960
ALP, U/L	32-126	94.1 (65.0–146.5)	90.5 (65.0–124.3)	103.0 (63.8–164.3)	0.080
>126		72 (32.7%)	19 (21.1%)	53 (40.8%)	0.002
GGT, U/L	12–73	53.5 (31.0–88.8)	45.8 (29.3–81.3)	61.0 (31.8–91.5)	0.136
>73		78 (35.5%)	28 (31.1%)	50 (38.5%)	0.263
Total protein, g/L	65–85	55.1 (49.1–63.3)	57.5 (50.6–64.6)	54.5 (46.2–62.2)	0.010
<65		171 (77.7%)	68 (75.6%)	103 (79.2%)	0.520
Albumin, g/L	40–55	30.0 (26.3–34.7)	31.9 (28.9–35.9)	28.0 (24.4–32.6)	< 0.0001
<40		202 (91.8%)	82 (91.1%)	120 (92.3%)	0.750
Globulin, g/L	20–40	24.5 (20.5–29.2)	22.7 (19.2–28.7)	25.5 (21.9–29.2)	0.028
<20		46 (20.9%)	26 (28.9%)	20 (15.4%)	0.015
BUN, mmol/L	2.86-8.2	8.4 (5.4–13.2)	7.7 (4.8–11.6)	8.9 (6.5–14.7)	0.014
>8.2		115 (52.3%)	40 (44.4%)	75 (57.7%)	0.053
Creatinine, mmol/L	31.7-133	71.3 (55.1–103.7)	69.5 (57.8–109.0)	72.2 (53.6–99.7)	0.676
>133		36 (16.4%)	17 (18.9%)	19 (14.6%)	0.400
Carbon dioxide, mmol/L	20–29	25.0 (19.5–29.3)	22.0 (18.4–27.1)	26.0 (21.5–30.3)	0.006
>29		57 (25.9%)	17 (18.9%)	40 (30.8%)	0.048
Glucose, mmol/L	3.89-6.11	8.4 (6.3–12.2)	8.5 (6.8–12.2)	8.1 (5.8–12.3)	0.316
>6.11		170 (77.3%)	76 (84.4%)	94 (72.3%)	0.035
Potassium, mmol/L	3.5–5.3	3.9 (3.5–4.4)	3.9 (3.5–4.4)	3.9 (3.5–4.4)	0.753
<3.5		50 (22.7%)	22 (24.4%)	28 (21.5%)	0.613
Sodium, mmol/L	137–147	138.0 (134.4–142.1)	139.0 (135.1–143.0)	136.7 (133.6–141.0)	0.029
<137		98 (44.5%)	31 (34.4%)	67 (51.5%)	0.012
Total calcium, mmol/L	2.08-2.6	2.0 (1.9-2.1)	1.9 (1.8–2.1)	2.1 (1.9–2.3)	< 0.0001
<2.08		144 (65.5%)	71 (78.9%)	73 (56.2%)	0.001
Biomarkers					
LDH, U/L	80–285	282.5 (199.3–420.8)	404 (228.2–619.6)	246.5 (178.0–335.5)	< 0.0001
>285		107 (48.6%)	59 (65.6%)	48 (36.9%)	< 0.0001
TnT, ng/mL	0-0.4	0.13 (0.03–0.94)	0.04 (0.01–0.20)	0.36 (0.07-1.27)	< 0.0001
>0.4		76 (34.5%)	13 (14.4%)	63 (48.5%)	< 0.0001
Myoglobin, U/L	25–58	73.8 (25.8–217.0)	64.2 (21.1–225.1)	82.9 (27.4–207.3)	0.474
>58		125 (56.8%)	48 (53.3%)	77 (59.2%)	0.385
CPK, U/L	38–174	126.5 (65.0–328.0)	114.9 (53.0–272.8)	165.5 (71.0–328.0)	0.146
>174		89 (40.5%)	30 (33.3%)	59 (45.4%)	0.073
CK-MB, U/L	0–25	25.4 (15.9–43.2)	21.1 (13.1–32.1)	29.1 (18.2–60.7)	0.003
>25		111 (50.5%)	36 (40.0%)	75 (57.7%)	0.010
Homocysteine, mmol/L	0–15	15.0 (12.8–23.5)	15.1 (12.8–22.7)	15.0 (12.8–23.8)	0.997
>15		108 (49.1%)	46 (51.1%)	62 (47.7%)	0.618
Procalcitonin, ng/mL	<0.1	5.1 (0.6–20.9)	0.4 (0.1-1.6)	18.8 (5.5–25.8)	< 0.0001
>0.1		201 (91.4%)	71 (78.9%)	130 (100.0%)	<0.0001

MCV, mean corpuscular volume; MCH, mean corpuscular hemoglobin; MCHC, mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration; RDW, red cell distribution width; MPV, mean platelet volume; PDW, platelet distribution width; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; GGT, Y-glutamyl transferase; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; troponin T, TnT; CK-MB, creatine kinase isoenzyme; LDH, lactic dehydrogenase; CPK, creatine phosphokinase; INR, international normalized ratio; aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time.

TABLE 3 | Arterial blood gas profiles for ALI patients in the COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 cohorts.

	Normal range	Total (n = 220)	COVID-19 (n = 90)	Non-COVID-19 (n = 130)	p-value
ICU panel					
pН	7.35-7.45	7.30 (7.25–7.33)	7.31 (7.26–7.34)	7.30 (7.25–7.32)	0.103
<7.35		192 (87.3%)	74 (82.2%)	118 (90.8%)	0.062
>7.45		11 (5.0%)	6 (6.7%)	5 (3.8%)	0.363
Base excess, mmol/L	-3-3	-5.2 (-8.1-1.8)	-5.8 (-9.4-1.5)	-4.5 (-7.3-1.9)	0.068
<-3		128 (58.2%)	58 (64.4%)	70 (53.8%)	0.117
>3		47 (21.4%)	19 (21.1%)	28 (21.5%)	0.939
[aHCO ₃], mmol/L	22-27	20.9 (18.3–25.1)	19.7 (17.9–23.5)	22.6 (19.2–25.8)	0.004
<22		121 (55.0%%)	61 (67.8%)	60 (46.2%)	0.002
>27		40 (18.2%)	14 (15.6%)	26 (20.0%)	0.401
PaO ₂ , mmHg	80-100	62.6 (58.0-66.3)	60.7 (56.4-65.2)	62.7 (59.4–67.6)	0.006
<80		206 (93.6%)	90 (100.0%)	116 (89.2%)	0.001
PaCO ₂ , mmHg	35–45	49.3 (42.5–55.0)	47.4 (38.9–53.7)	50.5 (44.9–56.6)	0.004
<35		13 (5.9%)	10 (11.1%)	3 (2.3%)	0.009
>45		147 (66.8%)	50 (55.6%)	97 (74.6%)	0.003
SO ₂ , %	95–100	92.0 (88.2–94.0)	90.5 (87.0–93.3)	92.0 (90.0–94.0)	0.012
<95		186 (84.5%)	79 (87.8%)	107 (82.3%)	0.270
PaO ₂ /FiO ₂	>300	217.3 (197.6–247.3)	218.6 (197.3–253.1)	211.9 (197.6–239.5)	0.367
≤300		220 (100.0%)	90 (100.0%)	130 (100.0%)	
aADO ₂ , mmHg	0–100	90.4 (78.4–107.4)	92.9 (79.7–108.5)	89.2 (76.8–105.7)	0.269
>100		78 (35.5%)	34 (37.8%)	44 (33.8%)	0.549
HbO ₂ ,%	90–95	85.5 (80.9–89.3)	81.5 (76.5–85.5)	87.3 (84.8–90.4)	<0.0001
<90		176 (80.0%)	83 (92.2%)	93 (71.5%)	0.0002
MetHb, g/dL	0.2-0.8	0.4 (0.3–0.6)	0.4 (0.3–0.6)	0.4 (0.3–0.5)	0.094
<0.2		9 (4.1%)	3 (3.3%)	6 (4.6%)	0.741
tHb, g/dL	11.5-17.4	9.1 (8.2–9.9)	8.7 (7.5–10.0)	9.2 (8.3–9.8)	0.212
<11.5		208 (94.5%)	81 (90.0%)	127 (97.7%)	0.017

Actual bicarbonate, [aHCO₃]; PaCO₂, the partial pressure of carbon dioxide; PaO₂, the partial pressure of oxygen; SO₂, the oxygen saturation; PaO₂/FiO₂, the oxygenation index; aADO₂, alveolar-arterial oxygen pressure; tHb, the total hemoglobin; HbO₂, the oxygenated hemoglobin; MetHb, methemoglobin.

PaCO₂, portending more severely impaired gas exchange in their virus-infected lungs.

In parallel, within the non-COVID-19 cohort, baseline characteristics and radiological parameters were compared between survivors and non-survivors (Supplementary Tables 6-10). Instead of high age, male gender was found to be a risk factor for mortality, while no substantial difference was found between survivors and non-survivors in their other demographic information, co-existing disease, clinical symptoms, and most CT patterns. Paradoxically, many blood parameters were found to be worse in survivors than in non-survivors upon ICU admission, such as aberrantly higher values of white blood cells, neutrophils, D-dimers, LDH, CRP, and procalcitonin, and lower values of PaO₂/FiO₂, aADO₂, and HbO₂. This could be associated with various pathogeneses of non-COVID-19 ALI (Supplementary Table 10), including direct and indirect lung infection, mostly triggered by sepsis, and leading to various impacts on the patient after ICU admission.

After different treatment plans were adopted in the two cohorts, all arterial blood gas profiles in ALI survivors recovered well and their laboratory parameters and CT characters were significantly ameliorated upon transfer to non-ICU wards (Supplementary Tables 11–16). However, in the COVID-19 cohort, RDW, D-dimer, CRP, and procalcitonin were similarly abnormal compared to before treatment, showing a slow recovery in those values due to COVID-19 infection despite such ICU patients having been discharged from critical care. In contrast, D-dimer, CRP, and procalcitonin were significantly improved in survivors of the non-COVID-19 cohort after treatment.

DISCUSSION

As pulmonary injuries (e.g., pneumonia and aspiration) may cause direct damage to alveolar epithelium, extrapulmonary insults (e.g., systemic infection, trauma, or other non-pulmonary acute disease) could pose an indirect threat to the integrity of the capillary endothelium. Such impairment can lead to the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, induction of cell death and leakage at intercellular junctions in the alveolar capillary membrane, and eventual migration of immune cells from microvessels into the alveolar airspace that initiates diffuse alveolar damage (DAD) (21). In the early stage of DAD, an exudative phase takes place where polymorphonuclear leukocytes (e.g., neutrophils and eosinophils), platelets, and plasma proteins TABLE 4 | Radiological findings of ALI patients in the COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 cohorts.

	Total (<i>n</i> = 220)	COVID-19 (<i>n</i> = 90)	Non-COVID-19 (n = 130)	<i>p</i> -value
Lung involvement				
Unilateral	88 (40.0%)	21 (23.3%)	67 (51.5%)	<0.0001
Bilateral	132 (60.0%)	69 (76.7%)	63 (48.5%)	<0.0001
Number of lobes with lesions				
0	0	0	0	
1	42 (19.1%)	9 (10.0%)	33 (25.4%)	0.004
2	55 (25.0%)	11 (12.2%)	44 (20.0%)	0.0003
3	38 (17.3%)	13 (14.4%)	25 (19.2%)	0.356
4	68 (30.9%)	45 (50.0%)	23 (17.7%)	<0.0001
5	17 (7.7%)	12 (13.3%)	5 (3.8%)	0.018
Location of lesions				
Left upper lobe	79 (35.9%)	39 (43.3%)	40 (30.8%)	0.056
Left lower lobe	150 (68.2%)	69 (76.7%)	81 (62.3%)	0.025
Right upper lobe	75 (34.1%)	43 (47.8%)	32 (24.6%)	0.0004
Right middle lobe	151 (68.6%)	78 (86.7%)	73 (56.2%)	<0.0001
Right lower lobe	168 (76.4%)	81 (90.0%)	87 (66.9%)	<0.0001
Predominant distribution				
Central	41 (18.6%)	11 (12.2%)	30 (23.1%)	0.042
Peripheral	93 (42.3%)	38 (42.2%)	55 (42.3%)	0.990
Central + Peripheral	87 (39.5%)	42 (46.7%)	45 (34.6%)	0.072
Characteristic pattern				
Ground glass opacity (GGO)	93 (42.3%)	31 (34.4%)	62 (47.7%)	0.051
Consolidation	65 (29.5%)	34 (37.8%)	31 (23.8%)	0.026
GGO + Consolidation	50 (22.7%)	25 (27.8%)	25 (19.2%)	0.137
Crazy paving pattern	36 (16.4%)	32 (35.6%)	4 (3.1%)	<0.0001
Linear opacities	84 (38.2%)	58 (64.4%)	26 (20.0%)	<0.0001
Rounded opacities	49 (22.3%)	45 (50.0%)	4 (3.1%)	<0.0001
Halo sign	28 (12.7%)	25 (27.8%)	3 (2.3%)	<0.0001
Nodules	35 (15.9%)	29 (32.2%)	6 (4.6%)	<0.0001
Tree-in-bud sign	19 (8.6%)	16 (17.8%)	3 (2.3%)	<0.0001
Air bronchogram	44 (20.0%)	31 (34.4%)	13 (10.0%)	<0.0001
Interlobular septal thickening	66 (30.0%)	56 (62.2%)	10 (7.7%)	<0.0001
Bronchiolar wall thickening	42 (19.1%)	34 (37.8%)	8 (61.5%)	<0.0001
Cavitation	11 (5.0%)	7 (7.8%)	4 (3.1%)	0.129
Pleural effusion	53 (24.1%)	29 (32.2%)	24 (18.5%)	0.019
Pericardial effusion	16 (7.3%)	9 (10.0%)	7 (5.4%)	0.195

in the alveolar capillary are recruited across the damaged ACM to flood interstitium and airspace, interacting with resident macrophages and forming edema (22). Consisting of cell debris, surfactant, cytokines, and other proteins, edema further promotes the formation of hyaline membrane that deposits along the alveolar walls and becomes characteristic of DAD, radiologically featured as patchy ground glass densities (23, 24). During this phase, the initial inflammation from primary insults are exacerbated, and gaseous exchange is seriously impeded.

Then, a proliferative phase follows as a self-repair mechanism when type II pneumocytes start to proliferate and differentiate into type I pneumocytes, to pump the edema into interstitium for drainage, to reproduce surfactants to lower pulmonary tension, and to summon macrophages to clear cell fragments (25, 26). As a result, the permeability barrier of the ACM may recover with improved oxygenation. Conversely, inability to clear alveolar fluid will lead to hypoxemia and hypercapnic acidosis resulting in acute respiratory failure.

In this study, compared to the COVID-19 cohort, the non-COVID-19 patients exhibited higher age, higher male ratio, longer ICU stay, and lower death rate, suggesting a higher incidence of non-viral ALI associated with older age and male gender, consistent with a previous report (5). While common clinical symptoms may include fever, dry cough, dyspnea, fatigue, and diarrhea for both cohorts, a much higher proportion of COVID-19 patients may experience fever but not expectoration.

ALI in the COVID-19 cohort is induced by SARS-CoV-2 infection, a direct pulmonary injury to the patients. In

32

the non-COVID-19 (non-viral) cohort, due to the diversity of primary disease. ALI may be caused by trauma, surgery (non-thoracic or thoracic), and gastrointestinal bleeding (nonpulmonary sepsis), showing a mixture of extrapulmonary and pulmonary induction of acute injury. For hospitalized ALI patients, leading comorbidities include hypertension, diabetes, bronchitis, and cardiovascular diseases, indicating an elevated instability of ACM in those with compromised immune systems.

Besides commonly observed aberrations in blood parameters due to systemic infection, such as leukocytosis, neutrophilia, and

TABLE 5 Multivariate analysis of independent risk factors for differentiating
COVID-19 ALI from non-COVID-19 ALI cases.

Variables	Odds ratio (OR)	95% confidence interval (CI)	<i>p</i> -value	
Age	0.947	0.912-0.984	0.005	
Gender	1.712	0.451-6.500	0.429	
Fever	6.283	1.573-25.090	0.009	
White blood cells	0.980	0.892-1.076	0.666	
Prothrombin time	1.162	1.051-1.286	0.003	
TnT	0.589	0.315-1.104	0.099	
CK-MB	1.004	0.996-1.013	0.303	
Procalcitonin	0.845	0.785-0.909	< 0.001	
PaCO ₂	0.842	0.759-0.933	0.001	
HbO ₂	0.642	0.533-0.775	< 0.001	
Lung involvement	3.746	0.846-16.592	0.082	
Crazy paving pattern	32.169	4.558-227.056	< 0.001	

TABLE 6 | Treatment of ALI patients in the COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 cohorts.

thrombocytopenia, more characteristic abnormalities in COVID-19 ALI patients were noticed when compared to their non-COVID-19 counterparts, including significantly higher RDW, CRP, and LDH but lower TnT and procalcitonin, whereas Ddimer levels showed similar elevation between the two cohorts. Furthermore, debilitated oxygenation in arterial blood was noticed more commonly in the COVID-19 cohort than in the non-COVID-19 cohort. After individual treatment and discharge from ICU, those characteristic abnormalities were ameliorated in the non-COVID-19 cohort and to a much lesser degree in the COVID-19 cohort where the characteristic parameters remained markedly out of the normal range, demonstrating a more sluggish recovery from direct lung infection by SARS-CoV-2.

Thoracic CT scan has been recommended as a diagnostic standard of positive COVID-19 following initial nucleic acid testing of pathogen (15, 27). Both asymptomatic and symptomatic COVID-19 patients demonstrated abnormality in CT images, typically progressing from unilateral or bilateral and multifocal ground glass opacities (GGOs) to intensified consolidation, until formation of reticular pave pattern (28, 29). In our study, COVID-19 patients showed more diversified and complicated CT patterns, with severe features such as consolidations and crazy paving patterns in comparison with non-COVID-19 patients.

Possible correlation between specific genes and the incidence of ALI/ARDS was unclear, except that the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), actively expressed in alveolar epithelial and endothelial cells, is responsible for adjusting alveolar permeability and repairing lung injury and was also identified as the viral entry receptor for SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2

	Total (n = 220)	COVID-19 (n = 90)	Non-COVID-19 (<i>n</i> = 130)	<i>p</i> -value
Oxygen support				
Invasive	146 (66.4%)	56 (62.2%)	90 (69.2%)	0.279
Non-invasive	74 (33.6%)	34 (37.8%)	40 (30.8%)	
Antibiotics				
Sulbactam/cefoperazone sodium	17 (7.7%)	17 (18.9%)	0	
Moxifloxacin	45 (20.5%)	45 (50.0%)	0	
Piperacillin/tazobactam sodium	35 (15.9%)	35 (38.9%)	0	
Imipenem/cilastatin	104 (47.3%)	39 (43.3%)	65 (50.0%)	
Piperacillin/sulbactam sodium	39 (17.7%)	0	39 (30.0%)	
Ceftazidime	42 (19.1%)	0	42 (32.3%)	
Tigecycline	34 (15.5%)	0	34 (26.2%)	
Antiviral drugs				
Oseltamivir		15 (16.7%)	0	
Ribavirin		48 (53.3%)	0	
α-interferon		55 (61.1%)	0	
Arbidol		40 (44.4%)	0	
Sedatives				
Dexmedetomidine		0	79 (60.8%)	
Midazolam		0	35 (26.9%)	
Propofol		0	42 (32.3%)	

(30, 31). In our study, the COVID-19 cohort showed more severe ALI/ARDS with higher mortality and slower recovery among survivors, possibly because inhaled SARS-CoV-2 directly bound and downregulated ACE2, further weakening the lungs (32, 33). To further differentiate COVID-19 ALI characteristics from non-COVID-19 cases, multivariate analysis indicated that age, fever symptom, prothrombin time, levels of procalcitonin, PaCO₂ and HbO₂, and crazy paving patterns in CT manifestations are independent risk factors.

Antibiotics were commonly used in the ICU for ALI patients due to possible bacterial (co)infection. Here, in the COVID-19 cohort, highly effective and broad-spectrum antibiotics were recommended for treatment along with antiviral drugs. At the same time, mechanical ventilation, whether invasive or noninvasive, was applied to support respiration. However, antibiotic treatment did not improve the survival of severe COVID-19 patients, consistent with a recent report (34). Moreover, early administration of antibiotics in severe COVID-19 patients may cause antibiotic resistance in the late stage of treatment (35). Invasive and non-invasive oxygen support by mechanical ventilation did not significantly influence the survival of non-COVID-19 patients. Invasive but not non-invasive mechanical ventilation caused a higher fatality rate in the COVID-19 cohort, as described in other reports (36, 37). This suggested that intubation could further damage lung function and aggravate the condition of critically ill COVID-19 patients, whereas simpler, non-invasive respiratory support should be prioritized. Even with limited understanding of COVID-19 during the beginning of pandemic, antiviral treatments (*a*-interferon, ribavirin, arbidol, and oseltamivir) applied in our COVID-19 cohort enabled efficacious clearance of SARS-CoV-2 and improved patient prognosis. Validated treatment plans against COVID-19 extend to remdesivir, chloroquine, corticosteroids, convalescent plasma, and monoclonal antibodies (38).

This study has several limitations. First, the sample size is small, which leads to a high variability, causing bias. In this retrospective study, we collected patient data from three regional hospitals, where a limited number of ALI patients had been admitted. Second, given a large set of variables studied but the relatively small size of the sample, the validity of multivariate analysis may be weakened, although it did yield useful information. Third, most blood parameters were not continuously monitored or recorded in the ICU settings. This

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. Naming the Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) and the Virus That Causes it. WHO (2020).
- 2. World Health Organization. Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19)?: Situation report 182. WHO (2020).
- Bourouiba L. Turbulent gas clouds and respiratory pathogen emissions: potential implications for reducing transmission of COVID-19. *JAMA*. (2020) 323:1837–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.4756
- Li L, Huang Q, Wang DC, Ingbar DH, Wang X. Acute lung injury in patients with COVID-19 infection. *Clin Transl Med.* (2020) 10:20– 7. doi: 10.1002/ctm2.16

may restrict our understanding toward the disease development and so limit our conclusion.

In conclusion, our study highlights the distinction in ALI characteristics between severe COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 patients and demonstrated the efficacy of our current therapeutic regimen in the ICU scenario through improved survival of critically ill ALI patients. This work will enhance our understanding of this life-threatening illness and help develop refined treatment regimens leading to better outcomes.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: Data available on request due to privacy/ethical restrictions. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to Zhimin Tao, jsutao@ujs.edu.cn.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Affiliated Hospital of Jiangsu University, Jiangxia First People's Hospital, Huangshi Central Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JiaZ and ZT conceived the idea and designed the study. JiaZ, XH, DD, JinZ, LX, ZH, and ZT contributed to the data acquisition, processing, and table preparation. JiaZ, WX, and ZT contributed to the manuscript writing. JiaZ, XH, and ZT contributed to the statistical analysis. All authors reviewed and approved the manuscript submission.

FUNDING

We are grateful for financial support from Jiangsu University.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.6666629/full#supplementary-material

- Rubenfeld GD, Caldwell E, Peabody E, Weaver J, Martin DP, Neff M, et al. Incidence and outcomes of acute lung injury. *N Engl J Med.* (2005) 353:1685– 93. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa050333
- Chen T, Wu D, Chen H, Yan W, Yang D, Chen G, et al. Clinical characteristics of 113 deceased patients with coronavirus disease 2019: retrospective study. *BMJ*. (2020) 368:m1091. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1091
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20) 30183-5
- 8. Yang X, Yu Y, Xu J, Shu H, Xia J, Liu H, et al. Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a

single-centered, retrospective, observational study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8:475–81. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30079-5

- Bellani G, Laffey JG, Pham T, Fan E, Brochard L, Esteban A, et al. Epidemiology, patterns of care, and mortality for patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome in intensive care units in 50 countries. *JAMA*. (2016) 315:788–800. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.0291
- Lew TW, Kwek TK, Tai D, Earnest A, Loo S, Singh K, et al. Acute respiratory distress syndrome in critically ill patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome. *JAMA*. (2003) 290:374–80. doi: 10.1001/jama.290.3.374
- Force ADT, Ranieri VM, Rubenfeld GD, Thompson BT, Ferguson ND, Caldwell E, et al. Acute respiratory distress syndrome: the Berlin definition. *JAMA*. (2012) 307:2526–33. doi: 10.1001/jama.2012.5669
- Chinese Society of Critical Care Medicine, Chinese Medical Association. [Guidelines for management of acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome: an evidence-based update by the Chinese society of critical care medicine (2006)]. Zhongguo Wei Zhong Bing Ji Jiu Yi Xue. (2006) 18:706–10.
- Griffiths MJD, Mcauley DF, Perkins GD, Barrett N, Blackwood B, Boyle A, et al. Guidelines on the management of acute respiratory distress syndrome. *BMJ Open Respir Res.* (2019) 6:e000420. doi: 10.1136/bmjresp-2019-000420
- Papazian L, Aubron C, Brochard L, Chiche JD, Combes A, Dreyfuss D, et al. Formal guidelines: management of acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Ann Intensive Care.* (2019) 9:69. doi: 10.1186/s13613-019-0540-9
- Li T. Diagnosis and clinical management of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection: an operational recommendation of peking union medical college hospital (V2.0). *Emerg Microbes Infect.* (2020) 9:582–5. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2020.1735265
- Peng F, Tu L, Yang Y, Hu P, Wang R, Hu Q, et al. Management and treatment of COVID-19: the Chinese experience. *Can J Cardiol.* (2020) 36:915–30. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2020.04.010
- Zhang J, Ding D, Huang X, Zhang J, Chen D, Fu P, et al. Differentiation of COVID-19 from seasonal influenza: a multicenter comparative study. J Med Virol. (2020) 93:1512–9. doi: 10.1002/jmv.26469
- Foy BH, Carlson JCT, Reinertsen E, Padros IVR, Pallares Lopez R, Palanques-Tost E, et al. Association of red blood cell distribution width with mortality risk in hospitalized adults with SARS-CoV-2 infection. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2020) 3:e2022058. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.22058
- Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA. (2020) 323:1061–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.1585
- Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1054– 62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3
- Matthay MA, Zemans RL, Zimmerman GA, Arabi YM, Beitler JR, Mercat A, et al. Acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2019) 5:18. doi: 10.1038/s41572-019-0069-0
- 22. Sweeney RM, Mcauley DF. Acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Lancet.* (2016) 388:2416–30. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00578-X
- Obadina ET, Torrealba JM, Kanne JP. Acute pulmonary injury: highresolution CT and histopathological spectrum. *Br J Radiol.* (2013) 86:20120614. doi: 10.1259/bjr.20120614
- Zompatori M, Ciccarese F, Fasano L. Overview of current lung imaging in acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Eur Respir Rev.* (2014) 23:519– 30. doi: 10.1183/09059180.00001314
- Olajuyin AM, Zhang X, Ji HL. Alveolar type 2 progenitor cells for lung injury repair. Cell Death Discov. (2019) 5:63. doi: 10.1038/s41420-019-0147-9
- Wu A, Song H. Regulation of alveolar type 2 stem/progenitor cells in lung injury and regeneration. *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin.* (2020) 52:716– 22. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmaa052

- Li Y, Xia L. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): role of chest CT in diagnosis and management. AJR Am J Roentgenol. (2020) 214:1280– 6. doi: 10.2214/AJR.20.22954
- Shi H, Han X, Jiang N, Cao Y, Alwalid O, Gu J, et al. Radiological findings from 81 patients with COVID-19 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2020) 20:P425–34. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30086-4
- Zhou S, Wang Y, Zhu T, Xia L. CT features of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pneumonia in 62 patients in Wuhan, China. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* (2020) 214:1287–94. doi: 10.2214/AJR.20. 22975
- Acosta-Herrera M, Pino-Yanes M, Perez-Mendez L, Villar J, Flores C. Assessing the quality of studies supporting genetic susceptibility and outcomes of ARDS. *Front Genet.* (2014) 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2014. 00020
- Samavati L, Uhal BD. ACE2, much more than just a receptor for SARS-COV-2. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. (2020) 10:317. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2020. 00317
- Ni W, Yang X, Yang D, Bao J, Li R, Xiao Y, et al. Role of angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in COVID-19. Crit Care. (2020) 24:422. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03120-0
- 33. Silhol F, Sarlon G, Deharo JC, Vaïsse B. Downregulation of ACE2 induces overstimulation of the renin-angiotensin system in COVID-19: should we block the renin-angiotensin system? *Hypertens Res.* (2020) 43:854– 6. doi: 10.1038/s41440-020-0476-3
- Buetti N, Mazzuchelli T, Priore EL, Balmelli C, Llamas M, Pallanza M, et al. Early administered antibiotics do not impact mortality in critically ill patients with COVID-19. J Infect. (2020) 81:e148–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.06.004
- Ginsburg AS, Kugman KP. COVID-19 pneumonia and the appropriate use of antibiotics. *Lancet Glob Health.* (2020) 8:e1453-4. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30444-7
- Hua J, Qian C, Luo Z, Li Q, Wang F. Invasive mechanical ventilation in COVID-19 patient management: the experience with 469 patients in Wuhan. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24:348. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-03044-9
- Lim ZJ, Subramaniam A, Reddy MP, Blecher G, Kadam U, Afroz A, et al. Case fatality rates for COVID-19 patients requiring invasive mechanical ventilation: a meta-analysis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2020) 203:54– 66. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202006-2405OC
- Sanders JM, Monogue ML, Jodlowski TZ, Cutrell JB. Pharmacologic treatments for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a review. JAMA. (2020) 323:1824–36. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.6019

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Zhang, Huang, Ding, Zhang, Xu, Hu, Xu and Tao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Immune System Disequilibrium – Neutrophils, Their Extracellular Traps, and COVID-19-Induced Sepsis

Colm Keane^{1,2*}, Matthew Coalter¹ and Ignacio Martin-Loeches^{1,2}

¹ Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, St. James's Hospital, Dublin, Ireland, ² Multidisciplinary Intensive Care Research Organization (MICRO), Trinity College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland

Equilibrium within the immune system can often determine the fate of its host. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) is the pathogen responsible for the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. Immune dysregulation remains one of the main pathophysiological components of SARS-CoV-2-associated organ injury, with over-activation of the innate immune system, and induced apoptosis of adaptive immune cells. Here, we provide an overview of the innate immune system, both in general and relating to COVID-19. We specifically discuss "NETosis," the process of neutrophil release of their extracellular traps, which may be a more recently described form of cell death that is different from apoptosis, and how this may propagate organ dysfunction in COVID-19. We complete this review by discussing Stem Cell Therapies in COVID-19 and emerging COVID-19 phenotypes, which may allow for more targeted therapy in the future. Finally, we consider the array of potential therapeutic targets in COVID-19, and associated therapeutics.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Felipe Dal Pizzol, Universidade Do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Phileno Pinge-Filho, State University of Londrina, Brazil Emily Córneo, Universidade Do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Colm Keane colmpkeane@hotmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases – Surveillance, Prevention and Treatment, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

> Received: 18 May 2021 Accepted: 27 July 2021 Published: 18 August 2021

Citation:

Keane C, Coalter M and Martin-Loeches I (2021) Immune System Disequilibrium – Neutrophils, Their Extracellular Traps, and COVID-19-Induced Sepsis. Front. Med. 8:711397. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.711397 Keywords: neutrophil, neutrophil extracellular trap, COVID-19, NETosis, immune system, innate, SARS-CoV-2

INTRODUCTION

Equilibrium within the immune system can often determine the fate of its host. In sepsis, and many other inflammatory syndromes, the host's immune system performs a balancing act between the protection it offers through eradication of the offending pathogen, vs. the constant threat of an immune-mediated pathophysiological maelstrom.

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) is the pathogen responsible for the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic (1).

SARS-CoV-2 breaches the alveolar epithelial membrane after binding to the human angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) 2 receptor. Subsequent viral RNAs serve as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), which are then sensed by Toll-like receptors (TLRs) (2). This results in epithelial cell activation, initiating a cascade of innate immune cell chemoattraction (**Figure 1**) (3). This immune cell infiltration causes acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) locally in the lungs, and septic shock, coagulation dysfunction, and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome beyond the lungs (2). The mechanisms behind this distal organ injury are multiple, but immune dysregulation remains one of the main pathophysiological aetiologies. Neutrophil migration is affected with SARS-CoV-2 sepsis.

36

This review will focus on the innate immune system in COVID-19-induced sepsis and subsequently discusses stem cell therapies, emerging COVID-19 phenotypes and potential therapeutic targets.

THE INNATE IMMUNE SYSTEM

Once a pathogen enters the body, the innate immune system must recognise this as foreign and initiate an immune response, with a view to the pathogen's destruction or elimination. Cells of innate immunity originate largely from the common myeloid progenitor cells in the bone marrow before differentiating into cells such as macrophages, dendritic cells, and granulocytes, including neutrophils (4). These cells, amongst others, recognise PAMPs, which are then sensed by pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) such as TLRs (2). This discriminates non-self from self and allows for phagocytosis, degradation and pro-inflammatory cytokine signalling to alert cells downstream to the invader.

One of the major weapons of the innate immune response is the macrophage, differentiated from the monocyte (5). Macrophages have a role in immune surveillance, phagocytosis of pathogens and clearance of cell debris or apoptotic cells (efferocytosis), as well as tissue remodelling after insult (6). They are activated through PAMPs or self-derived damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) binding to PRRs like TLRs, NODlike receptors (NLR), and RIG-I-like helicases. Macrophages then initiate signal transduction pathways, via mediators like myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88), that culminate in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (7). Macrophages can be broadly separated into two opposing phenotypes, pro-inflammatory (M1) and antiinflammatory (M2) (8). Originally, macrophages were thought to share their monocyte precursor with dendritic cells, displaying different cell surface markers like CD11b which aid their primary functions (6). However, more recent findings challenge this and suggest a lymphoid origin for dendritic cells (9). Dendritic cells (marked by CD11c) specialise in antigen presentation via major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules and serve as a link between the innate and adaptive immune system, recruiting lymphocytes (10).

Neutrophil maturation in the bone marrow, under the regulation of granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), results in circulating short-lived mature neutrophils. PAMPs in infected tissue bind to PRRs, initiating a cascade of events, generating chemotactic, and haplotactic gradients (e.g., CXCL-2) that recruit activated neutrophils to the affected area (11). M2-like macrophages increase targeted neutrophil recruitment to injured tissue via CXCL-2 secretion. Corresponding CXCR-2 receptors on neutrophils bind CXCL-2, and appropriate transendothelial neutrophil migration occurs to the injured tissue (12). Once at the designated tissue, neutrophils have a variety of anti-microbial effector functions like phagocytosis, degranulation of toxic substances such as nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species, and the release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (11). Elimination of the invading organism can then successfully be achieved (13).

THE COMPLEMENT SYSTEM

Another component of the innate immune system is the complement system. It is an auxiliary defence mechanism of innate immunity. It was discovered in 1896 by Bordet and named for its ability to "complement" antibodies in their antimicrobial defence (14). It comprises of over 30 soluble serum proteins, mostly proteases, which are cleaved and activated in sequence to elicit an effect. Low-level complement system activity maintains homeostasis, with ability for rapid activation in response to trauma or infectious insults (15). Cellular invasion by SARS-CoV-2, and the subsequent "cytokine storm" results in an excessive and unsustainable complement system activation (16), with C3 activation resulting in the production of proinflammatory mediators and opsonisation of the pathogen, and the formation of the membrane attack complex (MAC) made up of C5–C9 (14).

Three pathways exist—the classical, lectin, and alternative pathways. They differ in their initial steps, with the classical pathway requiring C1q and an antibody-antigen interaction (17). The lectin pathway is immunoglobulin-independent, using PRRs like mannose-binding lectin to recognise foreign molecules (17). The alternative pathway is continuously activated by spontaneous hydrolysis of C3 and can be upregulated by bacterial endotoxins, yeasts and immunoglobulins (18). The pathways converge on C3 convertases, resulting in the production of proinflammatory mediators, opsonisation of the pathogen's surface with markers such as C3b and lastly, the formation of the membrane attack complex (MAC) made up of C5–C9 (14). The MAC inserts into the lipid bilayer, allowing the dysregulated transmembrane movement of water and ions and subsequent lysis of the target cell.

In COVID-19 infection, JAK-STAT signalling induces the expression of C3 and Factor B resulting in alternative pathway activation, and intracellular processing of complement proteins (19), while in the extracellular space SARS-CoV-2 activates the lectin pathway (20). Complement hyperactivation is key to the detrimental effects of COVID-19, shown in two recent studies where higher complement activation products correlated with increased disease severity (19, 21). Factor D, upregulated by COVID-19 and involved in the alternative pathway, is correlated with markers of endothelial cell injury (e.g., angiotensin 2) and coagulation (e.g., vWF), possibly contributing to the association between COVID-19 and coagulopathy (21). Potential therapeutic mechanisms to reduce or prevent complement-mediated damage in COVID-19 are discussed below.

SEPSIS AND COVID-19 CROSSTALK

There has been much advancement in the understanding of the host response to infectious disease in the last decade. It is now well accepted that the mechanisms of damage of pathogens are not limited to their direct virulence, but also the host's immune response to the pathogen. These secondary reactions can range from localised to systemic, and manifest in the form of sepsis — "a severe, potentially fatal, organic dysfunction caused by an



FIGURE 1 | NETosis in the lung. SARS-CoV-2 virus invades alveolar epithelial cells, activating them, along with local macrophage populations (1). This causes a surge in the production and systemic release of cytokines and chemokines (cytokine storm) (2), with subsequent neutrophil recruitment (3). Activated endothelial cells exocytose Von Willebrand Factor, which allows neutrophil and neutrophil extracellular trap adherence to the vascular wall. CCL2 and IL-6 encourage "NETosis" (4). Negative feedback loops may be inhibited, through reduced CXCL-14 and IL-33, allowing sustained and enhanced immune cell recruitment (5). Complement C3 is also released from NETs, further propagating "NETosis," and allowing opsonisation of surrounding tissue, which will ultimately necrose. NETs downregulate ADAMTS13, allowing VWF multimer development (6). Subsequent fibrinogen and platelet trapping occurs, which, along with red blood cells, encourages fibrin cross-linking, and ultimate vessel thrombosis.

inadequate or dysregulated host response to infection (sepsis-3)" (22). There were 48.9 million cases of sepsis worldwide in 2017, accounting for 20% of all deaths (23), marking this as an extremely important disease to better understand and manage.

The emergence of SARS-CoV-2 has dramatically changed the landscape of communicable disease. The most common causes of death in these patients are sepsis and respiratory failure. A relatively new phenomenon of viral sepsis is being widely seen (24) and is similar to the well-characterised bacterial sepsis in the literature. Scientific efforts are underway to understand the disease's effects on the body and immune system to repurpose and develop therapies to improve outcomes and save lives. The overlap between COVID-19 and sepsis for individual aspects of innate immunity is discussed below.

Cytokine Storm

Sepsis is a complex combination of various dysregulated immune response mechanisms. The cytokine storm occurs in the early phase (hours to days) of sepsis where PAMPs are recognised by PRRs on innate immune cells causing a "hyperinflammatory" innate immune response (25). Influenza, a disease similar to SARS-CoV-2, was the first infectious disease where the cytokine storm was characterised in 2003 (26). Activated PRRs initiate signalling pathways, resulting in the production of proinflammatory cytokines like TNF- α , IL-1 β , interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3), IRF7, or adaptor-protein 1 (AP-1), under the regulation of the transcription factor NF- κ B (27). The activation of PRRs by SARS-COV-2 viral RNA (specifically TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9) results in epithelial cell activation, and the production of numerous proinflammatory molecules including TNF- α , IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-6, IL-8 (CXCL-8), IFN- γ , and CCL-2 (**Figure 1**) (2). This cytokine milieu is involved in ARDS pathological propagation in COVID-19 populations (3, 28).

The result is the increased activation, proliferation, or migration of immune cells (**Figure 1**). In sepsis, PRR expression is dysregulated with higher levels of TLR4 mRNA and TLR2 receptors (29). Levels of IL-1 β , amongst other pro-inflammatory cytokines, were found to be higher in patients who died of sepsis than in those who survived (30). Similarly, IL-6 overexpression has been associated with more severe sepsis and worse outcomes (31), potentially due to complement activation (32). In COVID-19, IL-6 becomes upregulated (TLR-8-induced in neutrophils, C5a-induced in monocytes/macrophages), enhancing neutrophil superoxide production, and delaying apoptosis (3). IL-6 production is thought to be a major initiator of the "cytokine storm" in COVID-19 (2) leading to repeated attempts to modulate IL-6 activity in sepsis, and more recently in COVID-19, with varying success (33, 34).

Cell death, caused by microbes as well as the host inflammatory response, releases endogenous DAMPs, further activating PRRs, auto-amplifying the cytokine storm (35) and initiating a cascade of innate immune cell chemoattraction (3). Chemokines also play a major role in immune cell chemoattraction in sepsis. They are small molecules specialised in the recruitment of leukocytes and their release from the bone marrow or spleen. C-X-C chemokine secretion from tissue-resident macrophages is also upregulated in COVID-19. Recruited neutrophils release CCL20, which via CCL6 attracts dendritic cells, memory T and B cells, and macrophages to the site of inflammation. A lack of chemokines, or their receptors, leads to an immunosuppressed state where the host is more susceptible to sepsis-induced death (36). Conversely, CXCL-14 potently inhibits epithelial cell chemotaxis, and is downregulated in COVID-19 allowing sustained and enhanced immune cell recruitment (3).

As detailed above, SARS-CoV-2 breaches the alveolar epithelial membrane after binding to the human ACE-2 receptor. The protein transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPRSS2) is an essential facilitator of SARS-CoV-2 viral cell entry, in conjunction with ACE-2 (37). The SARS-CoV-2 spike protein subsequently interacts with ACE-2, downregulating it (38). Without ACE2, angiotensin-II concentrations and signalling potential increase, upregulating the activation of inflammatory pathways in epithelial and endothelial cells, particularly the p38/MAPK pathway (39). This intracellular inflammatory upregulation, combined with a downregulation of cytokine-release checkpoints (CXCL-14) contributes to the "Cytokine Release Syndrome" which is now well-described in COVID-19, and likely highly pathological. As described in a prior review (40), it is established that the severity of sepsis may be more linked to the host's response to the pathogen, rather than the virulence. Another study discusses the link between clinical manifestations and host gene transcription patterns in staphylococcal infection (41), and noted a significant link between pattern of cytokine gene expression and disease severity, regardless of the causative pathogen (42). This could be relevant in the study of COVID-19, where researchers hypothesise how a single pathogen can have such a varied effect on different individuals ranging from asymptomatic to devastating ARDS and multi-organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS).

The Inflammasome

The importance of the NOD-like receptor pyrin containingdomain 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome is becoming better understood in sepsis. This macromolecular protein complex converts pro-caspases to their mature form, inducing the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-1 β (43). In sepsis, activation of TLRs primes the inflammasome through NF- κ B, and it is activated by ROS release and mitochondrial damage by phagocytic cells, having a widespread effect on various systems (44). It is active in patients with COVID-19 and higher levels of IL-18 and Casp1p20 are correlated with COVID-19 severity and poor clinical outcome (45).

Mitochondria

Mitochondria also have a pivotal role in sepsis, well beyond their classical role in oxidative phosphorylation and ATP production. Research has shown sepsis-induced mitochondrial dysfunction may play a pathophysiological role in major organ dysfunction and death (46). For example, in sepsis, mitochondria increase free radical production, propagating the cytokine storm from Kupffer cells in the liver (47), and inducing caspase-mediated apoptosis in the heart causing cardiac dysfunction (48). There is also a dysregulated electron transport chain that may cause a rise in lactate (49). There is evidence of reduced mitochondrial gene expression in individuals who die of sepsis, signifying a loss of function in mitochondria (50). In COVID-19, there is widespread mitochondrial dysfunction caused by inflammation, cytokine storm, oxidative stress, microbiota dysregulation, iron overload, and ROS accumulation (51).

Immunosuppression

Equilibrium of the host's immune response to an offending pathogen is important. A balance must be struck between pro- and anti-inflammatory responses to effectively create an immune response to recognise and eliminate the microbial threat and prevent secondary infection, without excess damage to host cells and organs and to allow full resolution of inflammation. If a patient survives the initial cytokine storm, long-lasting immunosuppression may increase the complications of secondary infection, potentially leading to their death. It has been reported in the literature, agreeing with our clinical observations, that 15% of hospitalised COVID-19 patients, and 50% of those who subsequently die, acquire a secondary infection (52). The incidence of ventilatory-associated lower respiratory tract infections in SARS-CoV-2 patients is significantly higher than in patients with influenza (53). This is likely also the case for COVID-19 associated pulmonary aspergillosis (54). Through genome-wide transcription profiling, it has been possible to quantify downregulation of antigen presentation and suppression of T cell activation to a much greater degree in those who died from sepsis (55). We also know that much mechanistic immunological research has demonstrated that an intact T cell mediated immune response is required for eliminating and suppressing viral infections (56).

Lymphopenia has consistently correlated with disease severity throughout COVID-19. It is rare in children, in whom COVID-19 mortality is very low, and much more common in the elderly, where higher mortality rates are seen (57). It is also seen that there is a consistent and marked reduction in T cell counts, which is not always the case with B cell counts (58), which may question the necessity of B cell involvement in mounting a successful response to COVID-19.

Several possible mechanisms exist for this lymphocyte depletion in COVID-19. The cytokine release syndrome, detailed above, especially cytokines IL-6 and TNF- α , may lead to massive lymphocyte death. Regulatory T cells seem to be spared however. These cytokines may also reduce the toxicity of T cells and NK cells (59). COVID-19 can also result in T cell exhaustion. This may be a result of neutrophils-induced apoptosis. There is upregulation of programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1) and T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain 3 (Tim-3), molecules that promotes the death of the target cell, which interacts with CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes to induce apoptosis (59, 60). SARS-CoV-2 may also infect T cells (61). Finally, SARS-CoV-2 may interfere with T cell expansion. MAP2K7 and SOS1, genes involved in T cell activation and function, may be downregulated in severe COVID-19 disease (62).

The subsequent alteration of the neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio is associated with increased nosocomial infection and mortality in severe sepsis (63).

Interestingly in sepsis, these pro- and anti-inflammatory phases appear to happen simultaneously as one response, and not as a distinct two-phase temporal relationship between pro- then anti-inflammatory immunity (55). Therefore, attempts to quantify patients into "hyperinflammatory" or "immunosuppressed" phenotypes may be an over-simplification of the host response, and a theranostic therapeutic approach may prove more difficult than initially proposed.

Monocytes

In sepsis, there is downregulation of the human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-DR molecule on the monocyte, necessary for antigen presentation (64). There is also a reduction in LPS-induced TNF- α secretion from monocytes in sepsis, and these patients may benefit more from an immune adjuvant therapy such as G-CSF (65). This "immunoparalysis" correlates with increased risk of septic complications and death (66). The monocyte's lifespan, like the neutrophil's, is significantly prolonged in sepsis (67). Interestingly, in sepsis, hepatocytes release large amounts of high mobility group box 1 (HMGB-1) (a potent DAMP) which is transported to the cytoplasm of macrophages where it induces pyroptosis (a lytic form of cell death) resulting in depletion of the macrophage population, shock, multiple organ failure, and death (68). The phenotypic switch from M1 to antiinflammatory M2 macrophages in sepsis also likely contributes to an immune suppressed state (69). Dendritic cells are also decreased in patients with septic shock, and their depletion is associated with increased mortality and health care associated infection (70, 71).

Neutrophils

During septic shock, which may occur with COVID-19, neutrophils are systemically stimulated, which leads to impaired neutrophil migration to the infection focus. Bacterial components present in the blood activate TLRs expressed on neutrophils, leading to the upregulation of G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 (GRK2), which induces internalisation of CXCR2 receptors on the neutrophil surface. Additionally, TLR activation induces the expression of TNF- α and iNOS (inducible nitric oxide synthase), the latter of which might also be activated by intracellular phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K). Both TNF- α and NO (nitric oxide) can lead to upregulation of GRK2, exacerbating the downregulation of CXCR2 on the neutrophil surface. As a consequence, neutrophil trafficking is impaired in sepsis (72), reducing targeted microbial clearance. Furthermore, activation of TLRs also induces the expression of CCR2 on the surface of neutrophils. These activated neutrophils can migrate from inflamed tissues to other, non-infected, tissue and organ systems producing CCL2 (termed "reverse migration"), causing widespread host injury and organ dysfunction, potentially culminating in MODS (73, 74). It has been demonstrated that IL-33 can prevent the upregulation of GRK2 expression induced by TLR overactivation and consequently prevent the failure of neutrophil migration to the site of infection (73). This has not been described specifically in the novel disease process of COVID-19 but may outline the pathophysiologic mechanisms at play in this illness, and its propensity to induce distal organ injury.

Sepsis fundamentally alters the transcriptional profile of the innate immune system's key mediators—the macrophage and neutrophil. Upregulation of genes involved in inflammation and inhibition of apoptosis are seen in neutrophils in human subjects challenged with administration of endotoxins (75) as a model for bacterial sepsis. This response is similar to that seen in multi-trauma patients (76). In a non-septic patient, rapid apoptosis is seen within 24 h in 50% of neutrophils. A core difference in neutrophil activity consistently seen in sepsis is their ability to resist apoptosis with only 5–10% of neutrophils undergoing apoptosis in the first 24 h (77). This prolonged survival is mediated through alterations in gene expression with increases in key molecules like NF- κ B (77), IL-1 β (78), and PBEF/Nampt (79).

NEUTROPHIL EXTRACELLULAR TRAPS

Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) were first described by Brinkmann in 2004 (80). NETs (**Figure 1**) are structures released from neutrophils comprising a core of chromatin DNA and histones, surrounded by specific antimicrobial proteins (lactoferrin, cathepsin G, defensins, LL-37, and bacterial permeability increasing protein), proteases (neutrophil elastase, proteinase-3, and gelatinase), and reactive oxygen speciesgenerating enzymes (myeloperoxidase) (81). NETs are extremely efficient in pathogen trapping, killing, and prevention of pathogen dissemination. "NETosis," the process of release of these extracellular traps, may be a new form of cell death that is different from apoptosis (3). CCL2, as well as recruiting immune cells, also signals for extracellular trap release (from neutrophils, mast cells, monocytes/macrophages, and eosinophils) (3), as does IL-6, CXCL-8, TNF- α , and IL-1 β (associated with mast cell extracellular trap release). Activated endothelial cells may also encourage NETosis, which will ultimately kill these cells. "NETotic" neutrophils do not release apoptotic signals, do not undergo membrane blebbing, or perform nuclear chromatin condensation (3).

Dysregulated NETosis may lead to the development and exacerbation of several autoimmune and chronic infectious or inflammatory diseases (82). NETS have also been associated with multiple types of neoplastic processes (83). NETs can be released in a process of suicidal NETosis, where the neutrophil ruptures, or vital NETosis, where NETs are exocytosed from neutrophils in vesicles (84). In suicidal NETosis, several gramme-negative bacteria activate NADPH oxidase 2, which induces NETosis via reactive oxygen species production, while a NADPH-independent pathway for suicidal NETosis also exists, involving TLR-4-platelet-neutrophil interaction (85). This TLR-4-platelet-neutrophil interaction may be especially important in the pathogenesis of NET-induced "immunothrombosis." Vital NETosis, however, also requires the presence of complement receptor-3 and TLR-2 (86). A recent paper highlights the key role that certain regulatory mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK), namely stress-activated protein kinase/c-Jun N-terminal Kinase (SAPK/JNK), play in regulating neutrophil survival. Specifically, a TLR-4/JNK activation axis exists, determining a neutrophil as NETotic or not (85).

Von Willebrand Factor (VWF) is exocytosed by activated endothelial cells onto their apical/luminal cell membrane, where the plasma glycoproteins then bind NETs via electrostatic bonds (84). VWF thrombogenic potential is tightly regulated in health by the metalloprotease ADAMTS13 (a disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin type 1 motifs, member 13). NETs downregulate ADAMTS13 activity, promoting the formation, or inhibiting the degradation, of VWF multimers (84). NETs can be a significant source of enzymatic activity that may accelerate the formation of thrombi in blood vessels during infection (87, 88). As well as adhering NETs, VWF will also trap passing platelets and fibrinogen, allowing fibrin deposition and cross-linking, and ultimately vessel thrombosis (84). NETs also ultimately lead to alternative complement pathway activation, through neutrophil secretion of complement factor P, B, and C3, compounding the prothrombotic nature of NETs (Figure 1) (3, 89). This vicious cycle can potentially self-propagate unopposed in septic shock.

This process is supported by laboratory studies, where released NETs have been shown to disrupt alveolar epithelium and endothelium, and also degrade the thin alveolar basement membrane, culminating in epithelial necrosis, denudation of epithelial lining, vascular damage, pulmonary oedema, and haemorrhage in lethal influenza-infected mice (90). In humans, NETs have been shown to contribute to the development of ARDS in other severe viral respiratory infections, including H1N1 influenza (90). In COVID-19 pathogenesis, lung infection

may accelerate local thromboembolic events, with neutrophils being a major contributor (91, 92). Mechanical ventilation may contribute however to an increased level of NETs markers in the alveoli of critically ill patients (93), compounding an already inflamed microenvironment. Another reason, perhaps, to be cautious regarding initiation of ventilation in COVID-19.

Extra-pulmonary injury from NETs has also been reported in COVID-19. Histone-induced tubular epithelial cell death results in acute kidney injury. Renal injury may be exacerbated with renal thrombosis due to NETs release. NETs may interact with hepatocytes *via* TLR2 and TLR4. Hepatocyte necrosis may occur secondary to damage from histones and C3a. Liver involvement also increases the propensity for thrombosis due to NETs (3).

STEM CELL THERAPIES

Stem cells (regardless of age of donor or source tissue) are undifferentiated cells with capacity to self-renew and/or generate more than one differentiated functional daughter cell type. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are a specific population of stem cells with much therapeutic potential for sepsis. They are relatively immune privileged, avoiding the need for immunosuppression during use. MSCs may re-programme the immune system to reduce host tissue damage while preserving a strengthened immune response to microorganisms. They have also been shown to enhance tissue and endothelial repair following sepsis and have an extensive and growing safety profile in clinical trials (13).

Multiple pre-clinical septic animal models demonstrate the potential for MSCs therapy to reprogram neutrophil function to reduce host injury while maintaining bactericidal function (94, 95). MSCs reduce the infiltration of neutrophils to target organs, including liver, lung, intestine, and kidney, reducing injury and improving the function of these organs in preclinical sepsis models (94–99). MSCs also enhance neutrophil-mediated phagocytosis, making them more effective in the clearance of bacteria (95). Neutrophil depletion, using anti-Ly6G antibody, completely abrogated the protective effect of MSCs in systemic sepsis (95), highlighting the pivotal MSC-neutrophil interaction to the resolution of sepsis.

The Cellular Immunotherapy for Septic Shock (CISS) Trial, an open label phase 1 dose escalation trial for early septic shock, has led to the phase 2 CISS Trial, assessing safety and efficacy. Other trials include French (CHOCMSC [NCT02883803]) and Russian (100) studies. One clinical trial using cell-based therapies has been completed in COVID-19, using exosomes (extracellular vesicles derived from MSCs) (101). It demonstrated safety of MSC-derived exosome use in COVID-19, and potential as a therapeutic for this disease. At least 17 other clinical trials are in progress assessing MSCs in COVID-19-induced ARDS, as recently reviewed by Gonzalez et al. (102).

PHENOTYPES

Phenotypic characterisation of illnesses may allow significant therapeutic advancement. In this regard, the identification of

sub-phenotypes or "endotypes" within the sepsis population has been undertaken in patients with ARDS by Calfee et al. (103). A related approach, termed "Theranostics," involves identifying biomarkers of therapeutic responsiveness. Man et al. (104) used this approach to identify potential subgroups of patients in the PROWESS-shock trial that may have benefited from activated Protein-C therapy (105). Similarly, Wong et al. (106) identified a paediatric septic shock subgroup that had a higher mortality from corticosteroid administration. Recently, Reddy et al. (107) published a review addressing subphenotypes in critical care, and how these can be translated into clinical practise.

IFN-γ and TNF-α drive a CXCL10/CCL2/macrophage phenotype seen in Crohns Disease and Rheumatoid Arthritis. Therefore, anti-TNF-α and janus kinase (JAK) inhibitors may be potentially successful therapeutic targets for COVID-19 (108). COVID-19 inflammatory phenotypes present in more severe illness progressing to mechanical ventilation have been described by Chua et al. (109). Several other authors have proposed clinical COVID-19 phenotypes (110–112), but the most extensive phenotypical characterisation to date is from Rodriguez et al. (113). Using unsupervised clustering analysis, Rodriguez characterised three novel clinical phenotypes. They associated the phenotypes with comorbidities and clinical outcome, using routinely available clinical and laboratory values, which may allow for easier and more economical future applicability of this model.

Septic patient populations can be divided into clinical or biomarker-driven subphenotypes, the latter focusing on more mechanistic and biologic categorisation. Translation of subphenotypes into clinical practise requires a better understanding of sepsis pathophysiology; how stable the subphenotypes are over time, how quickly, easily, and affordably we can diagnose them, and understanding the effect that multimorbidity has on these patient cohorts and their response to therapy. A theranostic approach may already have proven successful, by treating a specific subgroup of patients requiring oxygen in the first 24–48 h with anti-IL-6 therapy, leading to reduced mortality in a large trial by the REMAP-CAP group (33). However, this benefit in survival was not shared by the EMPACTA trial, investigating the same treatment with slightly different inclusion criteria (114).

POTENTIAL THERAPEUTIC TARGETS

Immune system disequilibrium is difficult to treat. To date, no specific anti-inflammatory treatment has been consistently successful in reducing morbidity or mortality in sepsis (115). Corticosteroids have shown much promise and act to inhibit NF- κ B and AP-1 (116). Initially, low-dose corticosteroids were shown to reduce mortality in severe sepsis and septic shock by Annane et al. (117) but this was unable to be replicated in the larger CORTICUS randomised control trial, which showed no benefit (118). More specific blockade of proinflammatory molecules like TNF- α has also failed to show consistent success. A metaanalysis in 2013 showed a modest reduction in death in sepsis in patients given anti-TNF medications but concluded that larger trials with over 10,000 patients were needed to fully demonstrate this benefit (119). The benefit of immunomodulators in sepsis has been difficult to demonstrate for a variety of reasons, including difficulty with timing treatments, heterogeneity of the patient cohort, and variation of the underlying causes of sepsis (35). Many of these issues are not as prominent in COVID-19, with the disease course being more predictable, the typical patient cohort being slightly more homogenous, and the cause of the dysregulated inflammatory response being consistent. This may spell greater success for upcoming trials of immunomodulation in improving outcomes in COVID-19, many of which are discussed below.

With SARS-CoV-2 infection and immune system activation, many therapeutic targets exist. A theranostic approaches to finding a solution to the problems we have highlighted above may therefore succeed. Some old, yet rejuvenated, therapies, and some novel.

Approaches to altering the "Cytokine Release Syndrome" are 2-fold; block the action of a known cytokine propagator or increase the effects of an inflammatory down-regulator. Inhibition of the effects of IL-6, through blockade of its receptor (IL-6R) with Tocilizumab has received considerable attention, as IL-6 is thought to be a major initiator of the "cytokine storm" in COVID-19 (2). Initial trials in minority, non-ventilated populations failed (114), but more recent work by the REMAP-CAP (33) and RECOVERY (120) investigators in more critically ill patients has shown promise.

IL-17, produced by Th17 T-cells, is another proinflammatory cytokine (2). It is also produced by mast cells and NETs, and may play a role in thrombosis (3), as well as upregulating the production of other cytokines, most notably IL-6. Two monoclonal antibodies against IL-17, and one targeting the IL-17R have been successfully used in rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis (2). The CXCL10-CXCR3 axis may also be a therapeutic target, especially blocking CXCL10 (eldelumab/MDX-1100) (121).

Corticosteroids have also been shown to reduce CXCL10 levels in COVID-19 (121), while separately, dexamethasone (122) and hydrocortisone (123) have been shown to reduce (rate ratio 0.83), and likely reduce (with a 93% probability) mortality, respectively. CXCL-14 potently inhibits epithelial cell chemotaxis, and is downregulated in COVID-19 allowing sustained and enhanced immune cell recruitment (3). This is, as yet an untargeted potential therapeutic.

Modulation of this overactive complement system has been attempted. Complement inhibition *via* AMY-101 (C3) or Eculizumab (C5) significantly reduced immune hyperactivation in severe COVID-19 (16). NLR was significantly altered by C3 inhibition, with reduced neutrophils and increased lymphocytes at day 7 compared to C5 inhibition. C3 inhibition resolved thrombocytopenia quicker than C5, and NETosis (*via* MPO-DNA levels) was reduced more profoundly, but not significantly, with C3 inhibition in both intubated and non-intubated patients. Ultimately, C3 inhibition may be better, preventing immune cell activation (*via* C3a-C3aR blockade), C3 opsonisation of epithelial or alveolar cells, and also the associated effects of C5 cleavage to C5a (C5a-C5aR inflammatory upregulation) and C5b (C5b–C9 MAC and cell lysis). Reduced neutrophil and T-cell recruitment *via* reduced C3a and C5a was also seen. C5a induction of monocytes and macrophages upregulates IL-6 production (3). Therefore, the viability of targeting the complement system seems more profitable than targeting a single cytokine or its receptor, due to the multi-layered effects of activating this system (C3, C5, inflammatory cell activation, and the MAC). More clinical trials may shed light on this [NCT04346797]. In a lung epithelial cell line study, ruxolitinib, a JAK1/2 inhibitor normalised interferon gene and complement gene signals induced by SARS-CoV-2, and reduced C3a production (19), showing potential to move into clinical trials. Another JAK1/2 inhibitor, Baricitinib, in combination with the antiviral agent Remdesivir, has shown benefit in hospitalised patients with COVID-19 (124).

Several therapeutics targeting innate immune cell recruitment, effector-memory T cells, or their phagocytic products are under assessment. A study assessing Vitamin C and its effects on COVID-19 patients by reducing neutrophil influx, activation and NET-associated alveolar capillary damage was abandoned due to difficulty in recruitment [NCT04264533]. The CXCR2 antagonists AZD5069 (blocks neutrophil trafficking but preserves neutrophil-mediated host immunity) and Danirixin and SCH527123 (both reduce neutrophil influx/migration) may be of benefit here (2). Neutrophil Elastase antagonists are either in clinical trial or approved for clinical use as treatments of ARDS pre-COVID-19 (2). Melatonin, a chronobiotic hormone, rejuvenates exhausted glutathione redox system in neutrophils during infection (125). Melatonin [NCT04409522], along with colchicine [NCT04350320] may also induce blockade of the inflammasome, offering other potential therapeutic targets in COVID-19.

Augmentation of the adaptive immune system is of particular interest in COVID-19, given the marked lymphopenia seen, potentially *via* upregulation of PD-L1 that induces lymphocyte apoptosis (60, 126). Its blockade may be a potential target in COVID-19 to improve outcomes (127) [NCT04356508, NCT04413838, and NCT04268537].

PAD (peptidylarginine deiminase) 4 inhibitors block NETs formation and release in murine sepsis models (128). Dipyridamole can inhibit NETs by activation of adenosine A_{2A} receptors (129), blocking adenosine reuptake and being a nonselective PDE4 inhibitor. Disulfaram as a therapy for COVID-19 is in clinical trial as a gasdermin D inhibitor, also inhibiting NETs formation [NCT04485130]. Hydroxychloroquine and Azithromycin can inhibit IL-1 β and NET formation, but have not been shown to improve patient outcome in COVID-19 (130). The peptide-based agent Lupuzor/P140, trialled successfully in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, may be of benefit in COVID-19 by blocking NET release but hasn't been trialled (131). Other NET-inhibitors include GSK-484 and BMS-P5, which have not been used *in vivo* as of yet (2). Finally, dornase alfa (Pulmozyme, recombinant human deoxyribonuclease I) may improve ARDS in patients with severe COVID-19 through reduced mucus accumulation, lung injury, and improved gas exchange (132). However, the fragmented DNA may risk spreading inflammation beyond the area of viral invasion. Nine clinical trials are currently in progress for this therapeutic in COVID-19 (132).

CONCLUSION

At the date of writing, global case incidence and related mortality of COVID-19 had surpassed 160 and 3.34 million, respectively. New, more transmissible strains of SARS-CoV-2 are now driving further waves of infection globally, and overwhelming health systems (133), with an inevitable surge in critically ill COVID-19 patients. With this, the vicious cycle of pulmonary epithelial cell infection and activation, cytokine and chemoattractant over-production, immune-cell recruitment, uncontrolled hyper-inflammation, and MODS continues. NETosis, while attempting to eradicate SARS-CoV-2, compounds this uncontrolled inflammation, with secondary "immunothrombosis" detrimental to the organ systems involved. Mechanical ventilation may compound this (93), and such support should be judiciously implemented. Emerging COVID-19 phenotypes may allow for more targeted therapy in the future. Currently, corticosteroids (122, 123), IL-6R antagonists (33, 120), and JAK inhibitors (124) are the only therapies showing promise for critically ill COVID-19 patients. Many hundreds of other clinical trials in COVID-19 maintain recruitment.

While vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 are being rolled out (134), further global pandemics are predicted (135). Future therapies against invasive pathogens revolve not only around their eradication but understanding better the deleterious effects they have on the human immune system, and how to regain and retain physiology over pathology. Perhaps trials using stem-cell-based therapies may shed some light.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CK conceived the presented idea and took lead in writing the manuscript. CK and MC wrote the manuscript in consultation with IM-L. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

CK acknowledges the help of Dr. Craig Lyons (Specialist Trainee, Department of Anaesthesia, Galway University Hospitals, Galway, Ireland) in reviewing the manuscript prior to submission and Biorender.com in helping create the figure.

REFERENCES

- Guo YR, Cao QD, Hong ZS, Tan YY, Chen SD, Jin HJ, et al. The origin, transmission and clinical therapies on coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak - an update on the status. *Mil Med Res.* (2020) 7:11. doi: 10.1186/s40779-020-00240-0
- Chiang CC, Korinek M, Cheng WJ, Hwang TL. Targeting neutrophils to treat acute respiratory distress syndrome in coronavirus disease. *Front Pharmacol.* (2020) 11:572009. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.572009
- Maxwell AJ, Ding J, You Y, Dong Z, Chehade H, Alvero A, et al. Identification of key signaling pathways induced by SARS-CoV2 that underlie thrombosis and vascular injury in COVID-19 patients. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2020) 109:35– 47. doi: 10.1002/JLB.4COVR0920-552RR
- Galli SJ, Borregaard N, Wynn TA. Phenotypic and functional plasticity of cells of innate immunity: macrophages, mast cells and neutrophils. *Nat Immunol.* (2011) 12:1035–44. doi: 10.1038/ni.2109
- Geissmann F, Manz MG, Jung S, Sieweke MH, Merad M, Ley K. Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. *Science*. (2010) 327:656–61. doi: 10.1126/science.1178331
- Gordon S, Taylor PR. Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. Nat Rev Immunol. (2005) 5:953–64. doi: 10.1038/nri1733
- Newton K, Dixit VM. Signaling in innate immunity and inflammation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2012) 4:a006049. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006049
- Mantovani A, Sica A, Locati M. Macrophage polarization comes of age. Immunity. (2005) 23:344–6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2005.10.001
- Rodrigues PF, Tussiwand R. Novel concepts in plasmacytoid dendritic cell (pDC) development and differentiation. *Mol Immunol.* (2020) 126:25– 30. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2020.07.006
- Collin M, Bigley V. Human dendritic cell subsets: an update. *Immunology*. (2018) 154:3–20. doi: 10.1111/imm.12888
- Liew PX, Kubes P. The neutrophil's role during health and disease. *Physiol Rev.* (2019) 99:1223–48. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00012.2018
- Ley K, Laudanna C, Cybulsky MI, Nourshargh S. Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2007) 7:678–89. doi: 10.1038/nri2156
- Keane C, Jerkic M, Laffey JG. Stem cell-based therapies for sepsis. Anesthesiology. (2017) 127:1017–34. doi: 10.1097/ALN.00000000001882
- 14. Dunkelberger JR, Song W-C. Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses. *Cell Res.* (2010) 20:34–50. doi: 10.1038/cr.2009.139
- Karasu E, Nilsson B, Kohl J, Lambris JD, Huber-Lang M. Targeting complement pathways in polytrauma- and sepsis-induced multiple-organ dysfunction. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:543. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00994
- Mastellos DC, Pires da Silva BGP, Fonseca BAL, Fonseca NP, Auxiliadora-Martins M, Mastaglio S, et al. Complement C3 vs C5 inhibition in severe COVID-19: Early clinical findings reveal differential biological efficacy. *Clin Immunol.* (2020) 220:108598. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2020.108598
- Noris M, Remuzzi G. Overview of complement activation and regulation. Semin Nephrol. (2013) 33:479–92. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2013. 08.001
- Pangburn MK, Müller-Eberhard HJ. Relation of putative thioester bond in C3 to activation of the alternative pathway and the binding of C3b to biological targets of complement. J Exp Med. (1980) 152:1102– 14. doi: 10.1084/jem.152.4.1102
- Yan B, Freiwald T, Chauss D, Wang L, West E, Mirabelli C, et al. SARS-CoV-2 drives JAK1/2-dependent local complement hyperactivation. *Sci Immunol.* (2021) 6:eabg0833. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abg0833
- Bosmann M. Complement control for COVID-19. Sci Immunol. (2021) 6:eabj1014. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abj1014
- Ma L, Sahu SK, Cano M, Kuppuswamy V, Bajwa J, McPhatter JN, et al. Increased complement activation is a distinctive feature of severe SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Sci Immunol.* (2021) 6:eabh2259. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.abh2259
- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (sepsis-3). *JAMA*. (2016) 315:801–10. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.0287
- Rudd KE, Johnson SC, Agesa KM, Shackelford KA, Tsoi D, Kievlan DR, et al. Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990–2017:

analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet. (2020) 395:200-11. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32989-7

- 24. Li H, Liu L, Zhang D, Xu J, Dai H, Tang N, et al. SARS-CoV-2 and viral sepsis: observations and hypotheses. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1517– 20. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30920-X
- Pisetsky DS. The origin and properties of extracellular DNA: from PAMP to DAMP. *Clin Immunol.* (2012) 144:32–40. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2012.04.006
- Yokota S. Influenza-associated encephalopathy-pathophysiology and disease mechanisms. *Nihon Rinsho.* (2003) 61:1953–8.
- Annane D, Bellissant E, Cavaillon J-M. Septic shock. *The Lancet.* (2005) 365:63–78. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17667-8
- Boomer JS, Green JM, Hotchkiss RS. The changing immune system in sepsis: is individualized immuno-modulatory therapy the answer? *Virulence*. (2014) 5:45–56. doi: 10.4161/viru.26516
- Härter L, Mica L, Stocker R, Trentz O, Keel M. Increased expression of tolllike receptor-2 and –4 on leukocytes from patients with sepsis. *Shock*. (2004) 22:403–9. doi: 10.1097/01.shk.0000142256.23382.5d
- Mera S, Tatulescu D, Cismaru C, Bondor C, Slavcovici A, Zanc V, et al. Multiplex cytokine profiling in patients with sepsis. *APMIS*. (2011) 119:155– 63. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0463.2010.02705.x
- Kellum JA, Kong L, Fink MP, Weissfeld LA, Yealy DM, Pinsky MR, et al. Understanding the inflammatory cytokine response in pneumonia and sepsis: results of the genetic and inflammatory markers of sepsis (GenIMS) study. *Arch Internal Med.* (2007) 167:1655–63. doi: 10.1001/archinte.167.15.1655
- Riedemann NC, Neff TA, Guo RF, Bernacki KD, Laudes IJ, Sarma JV, et al. Protective effects of IL-6 blockade in sepsis are linked to reduced C5a receptor expression. *J Immunol.* (2003) 170:503–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.1.503
- The REMAP-CAP Investigators. Interleukin-6 receptor antagonists in critically ill patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. (2021) 384:1491–502. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2100433
- Rosas IO, Bräu N, Waters M, Go RC, Hunter BD, Bhagani S, et al. Tocilizumab in hospitalized patients with severe Covid-19 pneumonia. N Engl J Med. (2021). 384:1503–1516. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2028700
- Chousterman BG, Swirski FK, Weber GF. Cytokine storm and sepsis disease pathogenesis. Semin Immunopathol. (2017) 39:517-28. doi: 10.1007/s00281-017-0639-8
- Lionakis MS, Swamydas M, Fischer BG, Plantinga TS, Johnson MD, Jaeger M, et al. CX3CR1-dependent renal macrophage survival promotes Candida control and host survival. J Clin Invest. (2013) 123:5035– 51. doi: 10.1172/JCI71307
- Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Kruger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 cell entry depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and is blocked by a clinically proven protease inhibitor. *Cell.* (2020) 181:271–80 e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052
- Clausen TM, Sandoval DR, Spliid CB, Pihl J, Perrett HR, Painter CD, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection depends on cellular heparan sulfate and ACE2. *Cell.* (2020) 183:1043–57 e15. doi: 10.1101/2020.07.14.201616
- Grimes JM, Grimes KV. p38 MAPK inhibition: a promising therapeutic approach for COVID-19. J Mol Cell Cardiol. (2020) 144:63–5. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2020.05.007
- Ryan T, Coakley JD, Martin-Loeches I. Defects in innate and adaptive immunity in patients with sepsis and health care associated infection. *Ann Transl Med.* (2017) 5:447. doi: 10.21037/atm.2017.09.21
- Banchereau R, Jordan-Villegas A, Ardura M, Mejias A, Baldwin N, Xu H, et al. Host immune transcriptional profiles reflect the variability in clinical disease manifestations in patients with Staphylococcus aureus infections. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e34390. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034390
- Grealy R, White M, Stordeur P, Kelleher D, Doherty DG, McManus R, et al. Characterising cytokine gene expression signatures in patients with severe sepsis. *Mediators Inflamm*. (2013) 2013:164246. doi: 10.1155/2013/164246
- Kumar V. Inflammasomes: pandora's box for sepsis. J Inflamm Res. (2018) 11:477–502. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S178084
- 44. Danielski LG, Giustina AD, Bonfante S, Barichello T, Petronilho F. The NLRP3 inflammasome and its role in sepsis development. *Inflammation.* (2020) 43:24–31. doi: 10.1007/s10753-019-0 1124-9

- 45. Rodrigues TS, de Sá KSG, Ishimoto AY, Becerra A, Oliveira S, Almeida L, et al. Inflammasomes are activated in response to SARS-CoV-2 infection and are associated with COVID-19 severity in patients. *J Exp Med.* (2020) 218:e20201707. doi: 10.1084/jem.20201707
- Supinski GS, Schroder EA, Callahan LA. Mitochondria and critical illness. Chest. (2020) 157:310–22. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2019.08.2182
- Selvaraj V, Nepal N, Rogers S, Manne ND, Arvapalli R, Rice KM, et al. Inhibition of MAP kinase/NF-kB mediated signaling and attenuation of lipopolysaccharide induced severe sepsis by cerium oxide nanoparticles. *Biomaterials.* (2015) 59:160–71. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.04.025
- Supinski GS, Murphy MP, Callahan LA. MitoQ administration prevents endotoxin-induced cardiac dysfunction. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. (2009) 297:R1095–102. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.90902.2008
- Brealey D, Brand M, Hargreaves I, Heales S, Land J, Smolenski R, et al. Association between mitochondrial dysfunction and severity and outcome of septic shock. *Lancet.* (2002) 360:219– 23. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)09459-X
- Matkovich SJ, Al Khiami B, Efimov IR, Evans S, Vader J, Jain A, et al. Widespread down-regulation of cardiac mitochondrial and sarcomeric genes in patients with sepsis. *Crit Care Med.* (2017) 45:407– 14. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002207
- Saleh J, Peyssonnaux C, Singh KK, Edeas M. Mitochondria and microbiota dysfunction in COVID-19 pathogenesis. *Mitochondrion.* (2020) 54:1– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.mito.2020.06.008
- Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1054– 62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3
- Rouze A, Martin-Loeches I, Povoa P, Makris D, Artigas A, Bouchereau M, et al. Relationship between SARS-CoV-2 infection and the incidence of ventilator-associated lower respiratory tract infections: a European multicenter cohort study. *Intensive Care Med.* (2021) 47:188–98. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06323-9
- Verweij PE, Bruggemann RJM, Azoulay E, Bassetti M, Blot S, Buil JB, et al. Taskforce report on the diagnosis and clinical management of COVID-19 associated pulmonary aspergillosis. *Intensive Care Med.* (2021) 8:819– 34. doi: 10.1007/s00134-021-06449-4
- Tang BM, Huang SJ, McLean AS. Genome-wide transcription profiling of human sepsis: a systematic review. *Crit Care.* (2010) 14:R237. doi: 10.1186/cc9392
- Vardhana SA, Wolchok JD. The many faces of the anti-COVID immune response. J Exp Med. (2020) 217:e20200678. doi: 10.1084/jem.202 00678
- Tavakolpour S, Rakhshandehroo T, Wei EX, Rashidian M. Lymphopenia during the COVID-19 infection: what it shows and what can be learned. *Immunol Lett.* (2020) 225:31–2. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2020.06.013
- Liu Z, Long W, Tu M, Chen S, Huang Y, Wang S, et al. Lymphocyte subset (CD4+, CD8+) counts reflect the severity of infection and predict the clinical outcomes in patients with COVID-19. *J Infect.* (2020) 81:318– 56. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.054
- Mazzoni A, Salvati L, Maggi L, Capone M, Vanni A, Spinicci M, et al. Impaired immune cell cytotoxicity in severe COVID-19 is IL-6 dependent. *J Clin Invest.* (2020) 130:4694–703. doi: 10.1172/JCI138554
- 60. Wang JF, Li JB, Zhao YJ, Yi WJ, Bian JJ, Wan XJ, et al. Upregulation of programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 on neutrophils may be involved in sepsis-induced immunosuppression: an animal study and a prospective case-control study. *Anesthesiology*. (2015) 122:852– 63. doi: 10.1097/ALN.00000000000525
- Leng Z, Zhu R, Hou W, Feng Y, Yang Y, Han Q, et al. Transplantation of ACE2(-) mesenchymal stem cells improves the outcome of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. *Aging Dis.* (2020) 11:216–28. doi: 10.14336/AD.2020.0228
- 62. Ouyang Y, Yin J, Wang W, Shi H, Shi Y, Xu B, et al. Downregulated gene expression spectrum and immune responses changed during the disease progression in patients with COVID-19. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020) 71:2052–60. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa462
- 63. Guignant C, Lepape A, Huang X, Kherouf H, Denis L, Poitevin F, et al. Programmed death-1 levels correlate with increased mortality, nosocomial

infection and immune dysfunctions in septic shock patients. *Crit Care.* (2011) 15:R99. doi: 10.1186/cc10112

- Lukaszewicz AC, Grienay M, Resche-Rigon M, Pirracchio R, Faivre V, Boval B, et al. Monocytic HLA-DR expression in intensive care patients: interest for prognosis and secondary infection prediction. *Crit Care Med.* (2009) 37:2746–52. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181ab858a
- Hall MW, Knatz NL, Vetterly C, Tomarello S, Wewers MD, Volk HD, et al. Immunoparalysis and nosocomial infection in children with multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. *Intensive Care Med.* (2011) 37:525– 32. doi: 10.1007/s00134-010-2088-x
- 66. Venet F, Tissot S, Debard AL, Faudot C, Crampé C, Pachot A, et al. Decreased monocyte human leukocyte antigen-DR expression after severe burn injury: correlation with severity and secondary septic shock. *Crit Care Med.* (2007) 35:1910–7. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000275271.77350.B6
- Vaki I, Kranidioti H, Karagianni V, Spyridaki A, Kotsaki A, Routsi C, et al. An early circulating factor in severe sepsis modulates apoptosis of monocytes and lymphocytes. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2011) 89:343–9. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0410232
- Deng M, Tang Y, Li W, Wang X, Zhang R, Zhang X, et al. The endotoxin delivery protein HMGB1 mediates caspase-11-dependent lethality in sepsis. *Immunity*. (2018) 49:740–53.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.08.016
- Liu YC, Zou XB, Chai YF, Yao YM. Macrophage polarization in inflammatory diseases. *Int J Biol Sci.* (2014) 10:520–9. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.8879
- Grimaldi D, Louis S, Pène F, Sirgo G, Rousseau C, Claessens YE, et al. Profound and persistent decrease of circulating dendritic cells is associated with ICU-acquired infection in patients with septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* (2011) 37:1438–46. doi: 10.1007/s00134-011-2306-1
- Guisset O, Dilhuydy MS, Thiébaut R, Lefèvre J, Camou F, Sarrat A, et al. Decrease in circulating dendritic cells predicts fatal outcome in septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* (2007) 33:148–52. doi: 10.1007/s00134-006-0436-7
- Cummings CJ, Martin TR, Frevert CW, Quan JM, Wong VA, Mongovin SM, et al. Expression and function of the chemokine receptors CXCR1 and CXCR2 in sepsis. *J Immunol.* (1999) 162:2341–6.
- Sonego F, Castanheira FV, Ferreira RG, Kanashiro A, Leite CA, Nascimento DC, et al. Paradoxical roles of the neutrophil in sepsis: protective and deleterious. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:155. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00155
- Nourshargh S, Renshaw SA, Imhof BA. Reverse migration of neutrophils: where, when, how, and why? *Trends Immunol.* (2016) 37:273–86. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.03.006
- 75. de Kleijn S, Kox M, Sama IE, Pillay J, van Diepen A, Huijnen MA, et al. Transcriptome kinetics of circulating neutrophils during human experimental endotoxemia. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e38255. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0038255
- 76. Visser T, Pillay J, Pickkers P, Leenen LP, Koenderman L. Homology in systemic neutrophil response induced by human experimental endotoxemia and by trauma. *Shock.* (2012) 37:145–51. doi: 10.1097/SHK.0b013e31823f14a4
- 77. Taneja R, Parodo J, Jia SH, Kapus A, Rotstein OD, Marshall JC. Delayed neutrophil apoptosis in sepsis is associated with maintenance of mitochondrial transmembrane potential and reduced caspase-9 activity. *Crit Care Med.* (2004) 32:1460–9. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000129975.26905.77
- Watson RW, Rotstein OD, Parodo J, Bitar R, Marshall JC. The IL-1 beta-converting enzyme (caspase-1) inhibits apoptosis of inflammatory neutrophils through activation of IL-1 beta. *J Immunol.* (1998) 161:957–62.
- Jia SH, Li Y, Parodo J, Kapus A, Fan L, Rotstein OD, et al. Pre-B cell colonyenhancing factor inhibits neutrophil apoptosis in experimental inflammation and clinical sepsis. J Clin Invest. (2004) 113:1318–27. doi: 10.1172/JCI19930
- Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science*. (2004) 303:1532– 5. doi: 10.1126/science.1092385
- Kolaczkowska E, Kubes P. Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol. (2013) 13:159–75. doi: 10.1038/nri3399
- Cheng OZ, Palaniyar N. NET balancing: a problem in inflammatory lung diseases. Front Immunol. (2013) 4:1. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00001
- DeLeo FR, Allen LH. Phagocytosis and neutrophil extracellular traps. *Fac Rev.* (2020) 9:25. doi: 10.12703/r/9-25
- 84. Yang J, Wu Z, Long Q, Huang J, Hong T, Liu W, et al. Insights into immunothrombosis: the interplay among neutrophil extracellular trap, von willebrand factor, and ADAMTS13.

Front Immunol. (2020) 11:610696. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.6 10696

- Khan MA, Farahvash A, Douda DN, Licht JC, Grasemann H, Sweezey N, et al. JNK activation turns on LPS- and gram-negative bacteriainduced NADPH oxidase-dependent suicidal NETosis. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:3409. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-03257-z
- Yipp BG, Kubes P. NETosis: how vital is it? Blood. (2013) 122:2784– 94. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-457671
- Schauer C, Janko C, Munoz LE, Zhao Y, Kienhofer D, Frey B, et al. Aggregated neutrophil extracellular traps limit inflammation by degrading cytokines and chemokines. *Nat Med.* (2014) 20:511–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.3547
- Boeltz S, Munoz LE, Fuchs TA, Herrmann M. Neutrophil extracellular traps open the pandora's box in severe malaria. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:874. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00874
- Yuen J, Pluthero FG, Douda DN, Riedl M, Cherry A, Ulanova M, et al. NETosing neutrophils activate complement both on their own NETs and bacteria via alternative and non-alternative pathways. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:137. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00137
- Narasaraju T, Yang E, Samy RP, Ng HH, Poh WP, Liew AA, et al. Excessive neutrophils and neutrophil extracellular traps contribute to acute lung injury of influenza pneumonitis. *Am J Pathol.* (2011) 179:199– 210. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.03.013
- Ciceri F, Beretta L, Scandroglio AM, Colombo S, Landoni G, Ruggeri A, et al. Microvascular COVID-19 lung vessels obstructive thromboinflammatory syndrome (MicroCLOTS): an atypical acute respiratory distress syndrome working hypothesis. *Crit Care Resusc.* (2020) 22:95–7. Available online at: https://publons.com/publon/31522120/
- Klok FA, Kruip M, van der Meer NJM, Arbous MS, Gommers D, Kant KM, et al. Incidence of thrombotic complications in critically ill ICU patients with COVID-19. *Thromb Res.* (2020) 191:145–7. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.013
- Mikacenic C, Moore R, Dmyterko V, West TE, Altemeier WA, Liles WC, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) are increased in the alveolar spaces of patients with ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Crit Care.* (2018) 22:358. doi: 10.1186/s13054-018-2290-8
- 94. Németh K, Leelahavanichkul A, Yuen P, Mayer B, Parmelee A, Doi K, et al. Bone marrow stromal cells attenuate sepsis via prostaglandin E(2)-dependent reprogramming of host macrophages to increase their interleukin-10 production. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:42–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.1905
- Hall SR, Tsoyi K, Ith B, Padera RF, Jr., Lederer JA, et al. Mesenchymal stromal cells improve survival during sepsis in the absence of heme oxygenase-1: the importance of neutrophils. *Stem Cells.* (2013) 31:397– 407. doi: 10.1002/stem.1270
- Mei S, Haitsma J, Dos Santos C, Deng Y, Lai P, Slutsky A, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells reduce inflammation while enhancing bacterial clearance and improving survival in sepsis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2010) 182:1047– 57. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201001-0010OC
- Elman JS, Li M, Wang F, Gimble JM, Parekkadan B. A comparison of adipose and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell secreted factors in the treatment of systemic inflammation. J Inflamm. (2014) 11:1. doi: 10.1186/1476-9255-11-1
- Luo CJ, Zhang FJ, Zhang L, Geng YQ, Li QG, Hong Q, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate sepsis-associated acute kidney injury in mice. *Shock*. (2014) 41:123–9. doi: 10.1097/SHK.00000000000080
- Zhao X, Liu D, Gong W, Zhao G, Liu L, Yang L, et al. The toll-like receptor 3 ligand, poly(I:C), improves immunosuppressive function and therapeutic effect of mesenchymal stem cells on sepsis via inhibiting MiR-143. *Stem Cells*. (2014) 32:521–33. doi: 10.1002/stem.1543
- 100. Galstian GM, Parovichnikova EN, Makarova PM, Kuzmina LA, Troitskaya VV, Gemdzhian E, et al. The results of the russian clinical trial of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) in severe neutropenic patients (pts) with septic shock (SS) (RUMCESS trial). *Blood.* (2015) 126:2220. doi: 10.1182/blood.V126.23.2220.2220
- 101. Sengupta V, Sengupta S, Lazo A, Woods P, Nolan A, Bremer N. Exosomes derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells as treatment for severe COVID-19. *Stem Cells Dev.* (2020) 29:747–54. doi: 10.1089/scd.2020.0080

- Gonzalez H, Horie S, Laffey JG. Emerging cellular and pharmacologic therapies for acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Curr Opin Crit Care*. (2021) 27:20–8. doi: 10.1097/MCC.00000000000784
- 103. Calfee CS, Delucchi K, Parsons PE, Thompson BT, Ware LB, Matthay MA, et al. Subphenotypes in acute respiratory distress syndrome: latent class analysis of data from two randomised controlled trials. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2014) 2:611–20. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(14)70097-9
- 104. Man M, Close SL, Shaw AD, Bernard GR, Douglas IS, Kaner RJ, et al. Beyond single-marker analyses: mining whole genome scans for insights into treatment responses in severe sepsis. *Pharmacogenomics J.* (2013) 13:218– 26. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2012.1
- Ranieri VM, Thompson BT, Barie PS, Dhainaut JF, Douglas IS, Finfer S, et al. Drotrecogin alfa (activated) in adults with septic shock. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 366:2055–64. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1202290
- Wong HR, Cvijanovich N, Lin R, Allen GL, Thomas NJ, Willson DF, et al. Identification of pediatric septic shock subclasses based on genome-wide expression profiling. *BMC Med.* (2009) 7:34. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-7-34
- 107. Reddy K, Sinha P, O'Kane CM, Gordon AC, Calfee CS, McAuley DF. Subphenotypes in critical care: translation into clinical practice. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8:631–43. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30124-7
- 108. Zhang F, Mears JR, Shakib L, Beynor JI, Shanaj S, Korsunsky I, et al. IFNgamma and TNF- alpha drive a CXCL10 + CCL2 + macrophage phenotype expanded in severe COVID-19 and other diseases with tissue inflammation. *Genome Med.* (2020) 13:64. doi: 10.1186s13073-021-00881-3
- Chua RL, Lukassen S, Trump S, Hennig BP, Wendisch D, Pott F, et al. COVID-19 severity correlates with airway epithelium-immune cell interactions identified by single-cell analysis. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2020) 38:970– 9. doi: 10.1038/s41587-020-0602-4
- Rello J, Storti E, Belliato M, Serrano R. Clinical phenotypes of SARS-CoV-2: implications for clinicians and researchers. *Eur Respir J.* (2020) 55:2001028. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01028-2020
- 111. Garcia-Vidal C, Moreno-Garcia E, Hernandez-Meneses M, Puerta-Alcalde P, Chumbita M, Garcia-Pouton N, et al. Personalized therapy approach for hospitalized patients with COVID-19. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2020). ciaa964. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa964
- 112. Gattinoni L, Chiumello D, Caironi P, Busana M, Romitti F, Brazzi L, et al. COVID-19 pneumonia: different respiratory treatments for different phenotypes? *Intensive Care Med.* (2020) 46:1099–102. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06033-2
- 113. Rodriguez A, Ruiz-Botella M, Martin-Loeches I, Jimenez Herrera M, Sole-Violan J, Gomez J, et al. Deploying unsupervised clustering analysis to derive clinical phenotypes and risk factors associated with mortality risk in 2022 critically ill patients with COVID-19 in Spain. *Crit Care.* (2021) 25:63. doi: 10.1186/s13054-021-03 487-8
- 114. Salama C, Han J, Yau L, Reiss WG, Kramer B, Neidhart JD, et al. Tocilizumab in patients hospitalized with Covid-19 pneumonia. N Engl J Med. (2021) 384:20–30. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2030340
- 115. Opal SM, Dellinger RP, Vincent J-L, Masur H, Angus DC. The next generation of sepsis clinical trial designs: what is next after the demise of recombinant human activated protein C?*. Crit Care Med. (2014) 42:1714– 21. doi: 10.1097/CCM.000000000000225
- 116. Rhen T, Cidlowski JA. Antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids new mechanisms for old drugs. N Engl J Med. (2005) 353:1711– 23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra050541
- 117. Annane D, Sébille V, Charpentier C, Bollaert PE, François B, Korach JM, et al. Effect of treatment with low doses of hydrocortisone and fludrocortisone on mortality in patients with septic shock. JAMA. (2002) 288:862–71. doi: 10.1001/jama.288.7.862
- 118. Sprung CL, Annane D, Keh D, Moreno R, Singer M, Freivogel K, et al. Hydrocortisone therapy for patients with septic shock. *N Engl J Med.* (2008) 358:111–24. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa071366
- 119. Qiu P, Cui X, Sun J, Welsh J, Natanson C, Eichacker PQ. Antitumor necrosis factor therapy is associated with improved survival in clinical sepsis trials: a meta-analysis*. *Crit Care Med.* (2013) 41:2419–29. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182982add

- Group RC. Tocilizumab in patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19 (RECOVERY): a randomised, controlled, open-label, platform trial. *Lancet.* (2021) 397:1637–45. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00676-0
- 121. Blot M, Jacquier M, Aho Glele LS, Beltramo G, Nguyen M, Bonniaud P, et al. CXCL10 could drive longer duration of mechanical ventilation during COVID-19 ARDS. *Crit Care.* (2020) 24:632. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-0 3328-0
- RECOVERY Collaborative Group, Horby P, Lim SW, Emberson JR, Mafham M, Bell JL, et al. Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. (2020) 384:693–704. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2021436
- 123. Investigators TWCftR-C. Effect of hydrocortisone on mortality and organ support in patients with severe COVID-19: the REMAP-CAP COVID-19 corticosteroid domain randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:1317–29. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.17022
- 124. Kalil AC, Patterson TF, Mehta AK, Tomashek KM, Wolfe CR, Ghazaryan V, et al. Baricitinib plus remdesivir for hospitalized adults with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. (2021) 384:795–807. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa20 31994
- 125. NaveenKumar SK, Hemshekhar M, Jagadish S, Manikanta K, Vishalakshi GJ, Kemparaju K, et al. Melatonin restores neutrophil functions and prevents apoptosis amid dysfunctional glutathione redox system. *J Pineal Res.* (2020) 69:e12676. doi: 10.1111/jpi.12676
- 126. Aghbash PS, Eslami N, Shamekh A, Entezari-Maleki T, Baghi HB. SARS-CoV-2 infection: the role of PD-1/PD-L1 and CTLA-4 axis. *Life Sci.* (2021) 270:119124. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2021.119124
- 127. Hotchkiss R, Colston E, Yende S, Angus D, Moldawer L, Crouser E, et al. 1504: immune checkpoint inhibitors in sepsis: a phase 1B trial of anti-PD-L1 (BMS-936559). *Crit Care Med.* (2018) 46:736. doi: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000529506.43290.de
- Biron BM, Chung CS, O'Brien XM, Chen Y, Reichner JS, Ayala A. Cl-amidine prevents histone 3 citrullination and neutrophil extracellular trap formation, and improves survival in a murine sepsis model. *J Innate Immun.* (2017) 9:22–32. doi: 10.1159/000448808
- 129. Liu X, Li Z, Liu S, Sun J, Chen Z, Jiang M, et al. Potential therapeutic effects of dipyridamole in the severely ill patients with COVID-19. Acta Pharm Sin B. (2020) 10:1205–15. doi: 10.1016/j.apsb.2020. 04.008

- 130. Cavalcanti AB, Zampieri FG, Rosa RG, Azevedo LCP, Veiga VC, Avezum A, et al. Hydroxychloroquine with or without azithromycin in mild-to-moderate Covid-19. N Engl J Med. (2020) 383:2041–52. doi: 10.1056/NEJMx200021
- 131. Zimmer R, Scherbarth HR, Rillo OL, Gomez-Reino JJ, Muller S. Lupuzor/P140 peptide in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase IIb clinical trial. Ann Rheum Dis. (2013) 72:1830–5. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202460
- 132. Earhart AP, Holliday ZM, Hofmann HV, Schrum AG. Consideration of dornase alfa for the treatment of severe COVID-19 acute respiratory distress syndrome. *New Microbes New Infect.* (2020) 35:100689. doi: 10.1016/j.nmni.2020.100689
- Kirby T. New variant of SARS-CoV-2 in UK causes surge of COVID-19. The Lancet Respir Med. (2021). e20–e21. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00005-9
- 134. Soleimanpour S, Yaghoubi A. COVID-19 vaccine: where are we now and where should we go? *Expert Rev Vaccines*. (2021). 20. doi: 10.1080/14760584.2021.1875824
- 135. Board GPM. 2020 A World in Disorder. Geneva (2020).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Keane, Coalter and Martin-Loeches. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Sepsis of Patients Infected by SARS-CoV-2: Real-World Experience From the International HOPE-COVID-19-Registry and Validation of HOPE Sepsis Score

Mohammad Abumayyaleh^{1*}, Iván J. Nuñez-Gil^{2†}, Ibrahim El-Battrawy¹, Vicente Estrada², Victor Manuel Becerra-Muñoz³, Aitor Uribarri⁴, Inmaculada Fernández-Rozas⁵, Gisela Feltes⁶, Ramón Arroyo-Espliguero⁷, Daniela Trabattoni⁸, Javier López Pais⁹, Martino Pepe¹⁰, Rodolfo Romero¹¹, María Elizabeth Ortega-Armas¹², Matteo Bianco¹³, Thamar Capel Astrua¹⁴, Fabrizio D'Ascenzo¹⁵, Oscar Fabregat-Andres¹⁶, Andrea Ballester¹⁷, Francisco Marín¹⁸, Danilo Buonsenso¹⁹, Raul Sanchez-Gimenez²⁰, Christel Weiß²¹, Cristina Fernandez Perez²², Antonio Fernández-Ortiz², Carlos Macaya², Ibrahim Akin^{1†} and HOPE COVID-19 Investigators

¹ University Medical Centre Mannheim, University of Heidelberg, Mannheim, Germany, ² Hospital Clínico San Carlos, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, Instituto de Investigación, Sanitaria del Hospital Clínico San Carlos (IdISSC), Madrid, Spain, ³ Hospital Clínico Universitario Virgen de la Vic, Málaga, Spain, ⁴ Hospital Clínico Universitario de Valladolid, Valladolid, Spain, ⁵ Hospital Severo Ochoa, Leganés, Spain, ⁶ Hospital Nuestra Señora de América, Madrid, Spain, ⁷ Hospital Universitario Guadalajara, Guadalajara, Spain, ⁸ Centro Cardiologico Monzino, IRCCS, Milan, Italy, ⁹ Complexo Hospitalario Universitario de Ourense, Spain, ¹⁰ Azienda ospedaliero-universitaria consorziale policlínico di Bari, Bari, Italy, ¹¹ Hospital Universitario de Getafe, Universidad Europea, Madrid, Spain, ¹² Hospital General del norte de Guayaquil IESS Los Ceibos, Guayaquil, Ecuador, ¹³ San Luigi Gonzaga University Hospital, Orbassano and Rivoli Infermi Hospital, Turin, Italy, ¹⁴ Hospital Virgen del Mar, Madrid, Spain, ¹⁵ San Giovanni Battista, Turin, Italy, ¹⁶ Hospital IMED, Valencia, Spain, ¹⁷ Hospital Clínico de Valencia, INCLIVA, Valencia, Spain, ¹⁸ Hospital Clínico Universitario Virgen de la Arrixaca, IMIB-Arrixaca, CIBERCV, Murcia, Spain, ¹⁹ Department of Woman and Child Health and Public Health, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A. Gemelli IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ²⁰ University Hospital Joan XXIII, Tarragona, Spain, ²¹ Department for Statistical Analysis, University Heidelberg, Mannheim, Germany, ²² Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Santiago de Compostela Instituto para la Mejora de la Asistencia Sanitaria (IMAS Fundación), Spain

Background: Patients with sepsis with a concomitant coronavirus (COVID-19) infection are related to a high morbidity and mortality rate. We investigated a large cohort of patients with sepsis with a concomitant COVID-19, and we developed a risk score for the estimation of sepsis risk in COVID-19.

Methods: We conducted a sub-analysis from the international Health Outcome Predictive Evaluation Registry for COVID-19 (HOPE-COVID-19-Registry, NCT04334291). Out of 5,837 patients with COVID-19, 624 patients were diagnosed with sepsis according to the Sepsis-3 International Consensus.

Results: In multivariable analysis, the following risk factors were identified as independent predictors for developing sepsis: current smoking, tachypnoea (>22 breath per minute), hemoptysis, peripheral oxygen saturation (SpO₂) <92%, blood pressure (BP) (systolic BP < 90 mmHg and diastolic BP < 60 mmHg), Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) <15, elevated procalcitonin (PCT), elevated troponin I (TnI), and elevated creatinine >1.5 mg/dl. By assigning odds ratio (OR) weighted points to these variables, the following three risk categories were defined to develop sepsis during admission: low-risk

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Reinaldo Salomao, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Kefu Tang, Shanghai JiaoTong University School of Medicine, China José Avendaño Ortiz, University Hospital La Paz, Spain

*Correspondence:

Mohammad Abumayyaleh mohammad.abumayyaleh@ medma.uni-heidelberg.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases – Surveillance, Prevention and Treatment, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 20 June 2021 Accepted: 06 September 2021 Published: 14 October 2021

Citation:

Abumayyaleh M, Nuñez-Gil IJ, El-Battrawv I. Estrada V. Becerra-Muñoz VM, Uribarri A, Fernández-Rozas I, Feltes G, Arroyo-Espliguero R, Trabattoni D, López Pais J, Pepe M, Romero R, Ortega-Armas ME, Bianco M, Astrua TC, D'Ascenzo F, Fabregat-Andres O, Ballester A, Marín F. Buonsenso D. Sanchez-Gimenez R, Weiß C, Fernandez Perez C. Fernández-Ortiz A, Macaya C, Akin I and HOPE COVID-19 Investigators (2021) Sepsis of Patients Infected by SARS-CoV-2: Real-World Experience From the International HOPE-COVID-19-Registry and Validation of HOPE Sepsis Score. Front. Med. 8:728102. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.728102

48

group (probability of sepsis 3.1–11.8%); intermediate-risk group (24.8–53.8%); and high-risk-group (58.3–100%). A score of 1 was assigned to current smoking, tachypnoea, decreased SpO₂, decreased BP, decreased GCS, elevated PCT, TnI, and creatinine, whereas a score of 2 was assigned to hemoptysis.

Conclusions: The HOPE Sepsis Score including nine parameters is useful in identifying high-risk COVID-19 patients to develop sepsis. Sepsis in COVID-19 is associated with a high mortality rate.

Keywords: sepsis, score, COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, outcome

INTRODUCTION

The severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) outbreak, which was first emerged in Wuhan, China, in December 2019, has spread rapidly and has had an immense impact on the whole world. Consequently, states have endeavored to slow down the progression of the disease.

The course of coronavirus infectious disease (COVID-19) caused by SARS-CoV-2 is mild in the majority of patients. In 5% of COVID-19 patients, multiorgan dysfunction with an overall mortality rate of 1–11% was observed (1–4). However, sepsis is the main cause of death from the infection, particularly if not diagnosed and treated promptly.

It was revealed that many patients with severe COVID-19 showed general signs of shock (5). These patients met the sepsis and septic shock criteria according to the Sepsis-3 International Consensus (6). However, there are no comparative data available about the incidence and mortality rate in patients suffering from sepsis in COVID-19. In addition, predictors of sepsis have not yet been investigated.

In the international Health Outcome Predictive Evaluation Registry for COVID-19 (HOPE-COVID-19-Registry) (7), we compared baseline characteristics and clinical, laboratory, and radiologic findings in COVID-19 patients suffering from sepsis with those without sepsis at admission. We developed the HOPE Sepsis Score to estimate the risk of developing sepsis during admission. Predictors of mortality were analyzed.

METHODS

Study Design and Patients

HOPE-COVID-19 (NCT04334291) is an international project. It is designed as a retrospective cohort registry without any financial compensation. The data of 5,837 consecutive hospitalized patients with COVID-19 were gathered. We analyzed all included patients from March 1, 2020, to June 2, 2020. An online database was built and completed by each participating center. Additional information on datasets of the HOPE-COVID-19-Registry is available at www.hopeprojectmd.com. The methodology of the HOPE-COVID-19-Registry has been described previously (7, 8). The study was approved by the Ethics Committee in all involved centers.

Sepsis Definition III

The third international Consensus Task Force defined sepsis as life-threatening organ dysfunction due to a dysregulated host response to the infection. Organ failure in patients with sepsis increases in-hospital mortality by greater than 10% (6).

Data Collection

Clinical laboratory investigation consisted of transaminases, glomerular filtration rate (GFR), creatinine, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), electrolytes, coagulation profile, and complete blood count. Radiological imaging, such as chest radiography or CT, to detect bilateral or unilateral infiltrates was applied. Abnormal blood pressure (BP) was defined as systolic BP (SBP) less than 90 mmHg or diastolic BP (DBP) less than 60 mmHg. Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) consisted of eye-opening, verbal, and motor responses. Elevated creatinine was defined as an elevation of more than 1.5 mg/dl, elevated troponin I (TnI) more than 0.05 μ g/L, and procalcitonin (PCT) more than 0.5 ng/ml. We gathered as primary end point all-cause mortality. Oxygen therapy at admission including high nasal-cannula, non-invasive ventilation, and invasive mechanical ventilation, respiratory insufficiency, heart failure, upper respiratory tract involvement, clinically relevant bleeding, and embolic events as secondary end points were reported. Missing data are addressed in the tables.

Statistical Analysis

Data of continuous variables were performed as mean \pm SD with a normal distribution, median (interquartile range) with a nonnormal distribution, while categorical variables were presented as frequencies and percentages (%). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to test the normal distribution. The Mann-Whitney U-test and Student's t-test were used to compare normal or non-normal distributions of continuous variables, respectively. For distribution analysis of categorical variables, Fisher's exact test or chi-squared test was used. We applied a two-tailed Fisher's exact test in tests with a sample size of n = 5 or below. Results are performed with 95% CIs. We estimated the differences in both groups using Kaplan-Meier and applied Log-Rank statistics. Predictors of sepsis were identified by univariate analysis. Predictors with p < 0.0001 were analyzed by the logistic multivariate regression. These variables were used to build a Score system. The Score system was confirmed through comparison with random choice with 10% of all the participants. Harrell's C-index or the area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC-ROC) was used to evaluate the ability of risk scores to predict outcome (C-index measures the goodness of fit of a model, with 0.5 indicating no discrimination and 1.0 indicating perfect prediction). We estimated the mortality risk according to HOPE Sepsis Score using Kaplan-Meier and applied Log-Rank statistics. Sensitivity, specificity, and positive (PPV) and negative predictive values (NPV) of HOPE Sepsis Score to predict the sepsis in low-, intermediate-, and high-risk groups were calculated. Statistical analysis was showed with SPSS (IBM Statistics, Version 23.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp). p < 0.05 was recognized as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Comparison of Sepsis to Non-Sepsis Participants

At baseline, patients suffering from sepsis in COVID-19 were older than non-sepsis patients (>65 years old; 66.3 vs. 52%; p <0.001). Patients with sepsis showed more baseline comorbidities, such as arterial hypertension (65.2 vs. 46.9%; p < 0.001), dyslipidemia (41.9 vs. 32.8%; p < 0.001), diabetes mellitus (DM) (25.6 vs. 17.7%; p < 0.001), and current smoking (11.4 vs. 4.5%; p < 0.001), Table 1. Clinical presentations, such as dyspnoea (68.1 vs. 55%; *p* < 0.001), tachypnoea (46.3 vs. 23.5%; p < 0.001), hemoptysis (6.3 vs. 1.1%; p < 0.001), anosmia or hyposmia (10.4 vs. 5.9%; p < 0.001), and dysgeusia (11.7 vs. 6.3%; p < 0.001), were more observed in the sepsis group as compared to the non-sepsis group. Clinical parameters at admission were worse in patients with sepsis as compared to nonsepsis patients with a decrease in peripheral oxygen saturation (SpO₂) <92% and abnormal BP (systolic BP < 90 mmHg and/or diastolic BP < 60 mmHg; 61.1 vs. 31.1%; p < 0.001; and 16.8 vs. 5.8%; p < 0.001). Similarly, changes in laboratory parameters were also more pronounced in sepsis group (Table 1).

In-Hospital Course

Non-invasive ventilation and invasive mechanical ventilation were more often required in patients with sepsis as compared to those without sepsis, (34.2 vs. 11%; p < 0.001) and (32.5 vs. 4%; p < 0.001), respectively. Accordingly, the mortality rate was considerably higher in the sepsis group (61.2 vs. 15.2%; p < 0.001; **Table 1**).

Treatment Approaches

During hospital stay, patients with sepsis more often received glucocorticoids (44.4 vs. 25.1%; p < 0.001), interferon (28.2 vs. 11.5%; p < 0.001), tocilizumab (21.3 vs. 6.7%; p < 0.001), and antibiotics (89.4 vs. 74.2%; p < 0.001). Interestingly, hydroxychloroquine use and antiviral drugs, such as lopinavir and/or ritonavir use, were higher in the non-sepsis group (79.4 vs. 85%; p < 0.001 and 52.3 vs. 59.7%; p = 0.35). Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor (ACEi) or angiotensin receptor blocker (ARB) treatment at admission was not different in both groups (18.7 vs. 19.9%; p = 506; Table 1).

Predictors of Sepsis, Development, and Validation of the HOPE Sepsis Score

Table 2 presents the result of univariable and multivariable analyses. The multivariable analysis identified the following nine independent predictors to developing sepsis: current smoking (odds ratio, OR 2.43, 95% CI: 1.77–3.33; *p* < 0.001), tachypnoea (OR 1.60, 95% CI: 1.31–1.96; p < 0.001), hemoptysis (OR 4.30, 95% CI: 2.66–6.96; *p* < 0.001), reduced SpO₂ < 92% (OR 2.11, 95% CI: 1.73-2.57; p < 0.001), reduced BP at admission (OR 1.87, 95% CI: 1.08–3.22; p = 0.02), reduced GCS (OR 1.89, 95% CI: 1.42-2.51; p < 0.001), elevated PCT (OR 2.44, 95% CI: 1.99-2.99; *p* < 0.001), TnI (OR 1.94, 95% CI: 1.48-2.54; p < 0.001), and creatinine (OR 2.24, 95% CI: 1.81–2.78; p <0.001). We divided the OR value of each variable by the median value of the regression coefficients of all variables (rounded to nearest 0.5 points). A score of 1 was assigned to current smoking, tachypnoea, decreased SpO₂, decreased BP, decreased GCS, elevated PCT, TnI, and creatinine, whereas a score of 2 was assigned to hemoptysis. This score can be used to assess the risk for developing sepsis by assigning patients with COVID-19 to three risk groups: a low-risk group from 0 to 2 points, an intermediate-risk group from 3 to 5 points, and a high-risk group from 6 to 10 points (Figure 1). The probability of sepsis risk was 3.1-11.8% in the low-risk group, 24.8-53.8% in the intermediate-risk group, and 58.3-100% in the high-risk group.

The final model was applied to the validation cohort (random choice of 10% of all study participants). The Cindex for the HOPE Sepsis Score was 0.763, while the C-index for the validation cohort was 0.77 (**Table 3**). In addition, the sensitivity of the HOPE Sepsis Score to predict sepsis was higher in the intermediate-risk group as compared to high-risk patients (81.1 vs. 34.3%). On the other hand, the specificity and PPV were lower in the intermediate-risk group than in patients with high risk for sepsis, respectively (specificity: 80.3 vs. 99.2% and PPV: 32.4 vs. 66.1%). In addition, estimating the risk of mortality in COVID-19 according to HOPE Sepsis Score was investigated (**Figure 2**). Clinical characteristics of the validated group, sensitivity, specificity, PPV, and NPV are presented in the **Supplementary Materials**.

DISCUSSION

HOPE-COVID-19-Registry shows real-world experience from data worldwide. The present study shows patient characteristics at baseline, in-hospital complications, and mortality, particularly in the participants with sepsis. The main findings of the study are that (1) patients suffering from sepsis in COVID-19 had higher rates of comorbidity, (2) the incidence of sepsis in COVID-19 is estimated at 11%, (3) predictors for developing sepsis are identified, and (4) HOPE Sepsis Score is developed to support physicians to early identifying of COVID-19 patients with sepsis on the basis of chronic conditions, clinical findings, hemodynamic, and laboratory parameters at admission. TABLE 1 | Patients with Sepsis as compared to patients without Sepsis; Baseline characteristics, laboratory and radiographic findings, complications, and clinical outcomes.

Characteristic	Patients with Sepsis $N = 624$	Patients without Sepsis $N = 5213$	P-value*
Age – no. (%)			
<65	207/614 (33.7)	2458/5124 (47.9)	<0.001
≥65	407/614 (66.3)	2666/5124 (52)	<0.001
Male – no. (%)	417/624 (66.8)	3004/5213 (57.6)	<0.001
Duration of symptom onset to admission – days mean \pm SD	5.9 ± 7.6	7.2 ± 6.5	<0.001
Duration of hospital stay – days mean \pm SD	12.8 ± 11.7	9.8 ± 8.6	<0.001
Chronic conditions – no. (%)			
Arterial hypertension	407/624 (65.2)	2443/5213 (46.9)	<0.001
Dyslipidaemia	259/618 (41.9)	1643/5007 (32.8)	<0.001
Diabetes Mellitus	160/624 (25.6)	924/5213 (17.7)	<0.001
Obesity	126/497 (25.4)	890/4034 (22.1)	0.09
Current Smoking	71/624 (11.4)	235/5213 (4.5)	<0.001
Renal insufficiency Ξ	75/624 (12)	306/5213 (5.9)	<0.001
Lung disease	126/624 (20.2)	933/5043 (18.5)	0.307
Cardiac disease	200/624 (32.1)	1129/5213 (21.7)	<0.001
Atrial Fibrillation	27/624 (4.3)	172/5043 (3.4)	0.24
Cerebrovascular disease	78/624 (12.5)	372/5213 (7.1)	<0.001
Connective Tissue disease	27/624 (4.3)	136/5213 (2.6)	0.013
liver disease	30/624 (4.8)	182/5213 (3.5)	0.09
Cancer disease	131/624 (21)	639/5213 (12.3)	<0.001
mmunosuppression − no. (%) ≪	88/624 (14.1)	328/5213 (6.3)	<0.001
Prior tuberculosis – no. (%)	4/624 (0.6)	11/5043 (0.2)	0.074
Human Immunodeficiency virus – no. (%)	3/624 (0.5)	18/5043 (0.4)	0.498
Home Oxygen Therapy – no. (%)	31/624 (5)	140/5213 (2.7)	0.002
Premedication – no. (%)			
ASA Ω	148/624 (23.7)	720/5213 (13.8)	<0.001
Antiplatelet drug	36/579 (6.2)	166/4945 (3.4)	0.001
Dral Anticoagulation	98/624 (16.3)	494/5213 (9.5)	<0.001
Beta Blockers	147/601 (24.5)	761/4990 (15.3)	<0.001
Beta Agonist Inhalation Therapy	69/599 (11.5)	487/4983 (9.8)	0.178
Glucocorticoids Inhalation Therapy	58/604 (9.6)	438/4992 (8.8)	0.499
/itamin D3	96/604 (15.9)	491/4966 (9.9)	<0.001
Benzodiazepine	115/606 (19)	729/4997 (14.5)	0.004
Antidepressant	104/603 (17.2)	625/4987 (12.5)	0.001
Symptomatic – no. (%)	10 1/ 000 (11 .2)	020,1001 (12.0)	0.001
Asymptomatic	21/606 (3.5)	272/5012 (5.4)	0.04
Dysphoea	425/624 (68.1)	2869/5213 (55)	<0.001
Fachypnoea > 22 breaths per minute	289/624 (46.3)	1226/5213 (23.5)	<0.001
Haemoptysis	39/624 (6.3)	57/5213 (1.1)	<0.001
	39/024 (0.3)	2205/4896 (45)	<0.001
Fatigue	65/624 (10.4)		< 0.001
Anosmia / Hyposmia		310/5213 (5.9)	
Dysgeusia	73/624 (11.7)	329/5213 (6.3)	<0.001
Sorethroat	83/567 (14.6)	570/4779 (11.9)	0.062
	511/614 (83.2)	3962/5003 (79.2)	0.019
Cough	398/606 (65.7)	3425/4992 (68.6)	0.143
Vomiting	49/586 (8.4)	358/4879 (7.3)	0.372
Diarrhea 	105/581 (18.1)	965/4897 (19.7)	0.348
Erythromelalgia	157/579 (27.1)	1603/4880 (32.8)	0.005

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Characteristic	Patients with Sepsis $N = 624$	Patients without Sepsis $N = 5213$	P-value*
Peripheral Oxygen Saturation < 92 %	375/624 (60.1)	1619/5213 (31.1)	<0.001
Reduced Blood Pressure §	105/624 (16.8)	302/5213 (5.8)	<0.001
GCS ø < 15 – no. (%)	104/624 (16.7)	257/5213 (4.9)	<0.001
Laboratory parameters – no. (%) or median (IQR)			
Elevated Di-Dimer	410/624(65.7)	2773/5213(53.2)	<0.001
Elevated Procalcitonin	277/624 (44.4)	675/5213 (13)	<0.001
Elevated CRP a	581/624 (93.1)	4430/5213 (85)	<0.001
Elevated TnI ∞	126/624 (20.2)	279/5213 (5.4)	<0.001
Elevated Transaminases •	315/624 (50.5)	1836/5213 (35.2)	<0.001
Elevated Ferritin	272/390 (69.8)	1473/2552 (57.7)	<0.001
Elevated Triglyceride	100/345 (29)	416/2186 (19)	<0.001
Elevated LDH °	465/624 (82.2)	3247/5213 (62.1)	<0.001
Elevated Creatinine (>1.5 mg/dl)	211/624 (33.8)	596/5213 (11.4)	<0.001
Leukocytopenia (<4000 10E9/I)	79/619 (12.8)	739/4922 (15)	0.137
Lymphocytopenia (<1500 10E9/I)	469/605 (77.5)	3728/4832 (77.2)	0.839
Anemia hemoglobin (< 12 g/dl)	232/624 (37.2)	1229/5213 (23.6)	<0.001
Thrombocytopenia (<150000 10E9/l)	193/611 (31.6)	1199/4908 (24.4)	<0.001
Moderate Hyponatremia	38/400 (9)	188/3876 (4.9)	<0.001
Severe Hyponatremia	19/624 (3)	39/5213 (0.7)	<0.001
Complication	ζ,	× ,	
Respiratory Insufficiency	503/616 (81.7)	2302/5033 (45.7)	<0.001
Heart Failure	115/611 (18.8)	241/5012 (4.8)	<0.001
Acute kidney Injury	293/611 (48)	609/5026 (12.1)	<0.001
Upper Respiratory-Tract Infection	119/575 (20.7)	596/4959 (12)	<0.001
Pneumonia	575/624(92.1)	4471/5213(85.8)	<0.001
SIRS π	333/601 (55.4)	747/4991 (15)	<0.001
Any relevant bleeding ç	44/594 (7.4)	100/4978 (2)	<0.001
Embolic event	34/600 (5.7)	85/4999 (1.7)	<0.001
Oxygen Therapy	0 1, 000 (011)	20, 1000 ()	
O2 at the admission	563/621 (90.7)	3388/4958 (68.3)	<0.001
High Flow Nasal Cannula	283/604 (46.9)	798/4942 (16)	<0.001
Non-Invasive Mechanical Ventilation	206/603 (34.2)	545/4984 (11)	<0.001
Invasive Mechanical Ventilation	193/594 (32.5)	198/4955 (4)	<0.001
Another Medication or Intervention Procedures during the Admission	100/004 (02.0)	100/4000 (4)	<0.001
Prone Position	156/599 (26)	400/4937 (8.1)	<0.001
ECMO å	4/396 (1)	21/3549 (0.6)	0.320
Use of Glucocorticoids	267/601 (44.4)	1243/4955 (25.1)	<0.020
Use of Hydroxychloroquine	483/608 (79.4)	4259/5013 (85)	<0.001
Use of Antiviral Drugs \sum	319/610 (52.3)	2978/4991 (59.7)	0.35
Use of Interferon	166/589 (28.2)	566/4940 (11.5)	<0.001
Use of Tocilizumab	126/592 (21.3)	330/4958 (6.7)	<0.001
Use of Antibiotics	530/593 (89.4)	3507/4727 (74.2)	<0.001
ACEI/ARB's «	110/587 (18.7)	963/4840 (19.9)	< 0.001 0.506
	269/366 (73.5)	2182/2929 (74.5)	< 0.001
Anticoagulation	203/300 (13.3)	2102/2929 (14.3)	<0.001
	60/604 (11 1)	024/5042 (19 2)	.0.004
ACEI/ARB's	69/624 (11.1)	924/5042 (18.3)	< 0.001
Antiplatelet Drug	38/361 (10.5)	367/4336 (8.5)	0.180
Anticoagulation Drug Death †	76/602 (12.6) 382/624 (61.2)	1018/4934 (20.6) 767/5043 (15.2)	<0.001 <0.001

SD standard deviation. CrCL < 30. Immunosuppressive therapy for psoriasis arthritis, lung transplantation, kidney transplantation or systemic lupus erythematosus; oncological disease such as mamma-ca, prostate-ca, myelodysplastic syndrome or gammopathy; glucocorticoid therapy caused by COPD; dialysis; HIV or hepatitis. Ω Acetylsalicylic acid. Systolic blood pressure < 90 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure < 60 mmHg. **0** Glasgow coma scale. **∂** C-reactive Protein. ∞ High sensitive Troponin I (cardiac injury; troponin > 99th percentile upper reference limit). \bullet ALAT and ASAT. π Systemic inflammatory response syndrome. **Ç** Rectorrhagia, haematuria, epistaxis, and popliteal aneurysm bleeding with relevant decreased hemoglobin> 2 mg/l. **å** Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. <math> Lopinavir or /and Ritonavir. <math> Premedication with ACEI/ARB's is not stopped. Significant p values are marked bold.

TABLE 2 | Predictors of Sepsis, multivariate analysis.

Variable	Univariate analysis		Multivariate analysis			
	OR	95% CI	P-value	OR	95% CI	P-value
Patients characteristic						
Male	1.48	1.24-1.76	<0.001			
Age≪	1.81	1.52-2.16	<0.001			
Chronic conditions						
Hypertension	2.13	1.79–2.53	<0.001			
Diabetes Mellitus	1.60	1.32-1.94	<0.001			
Current Smoking	2.72	2.06-3.59	<0.001	2.43	1.77-3.33	<0.001
Renal insufficiency	2.19	1.68-2.86	<0.001			
Prior heart disease	1.71	1.43-2.05	<0.001			
Cerebrovascular disease	1.86	1.43-2.41	<0.001			
Prior cancer disease	1.90	1.54-2.35	<0.001			
Connective tissue disease	1.69	1.11-2.57	0.013			
Previous therapies						
Immunosuppression	2.46	1.90-3.15	<0.001			
Home oxygen therapy	1.81	1.22-2.69	0.002			
ASA	1.94	1.59-2.37	<0.001			
Oral anticoagulation	1.78	1.41-2.25	<0.001			
Symptomatic						
Dyspnoea	1.75	1.46-2.08	<0.001			
Tachypnoea	2.81	2.37-3.32	<0.001	1.60	1.31-1.96	<0.001
Anosmia / Hyposmia	1.84	1.39-2.44	<0.001			
Dysgeusia	1.97	1.50-2.57	<0.001			
Haemoptysis	6.03	3.98-9.14	<0.001	4.30	2.66-6.96	<0.001
Clinical parameters at admission						
SpO2 < 92%#	3.34	2.82-3.97	<0.001	2.11	1.73-2.57	<0.001
Reduced Blood Pressure §	3.29	2.59-4.18	<0.001	1.90	1.44-2.50	<0.001
Reduced GCS	3.86	3.02-4.93	<0.001	1.89	1.42-2.51	<0.001
Laboratory values						
Elevated CRP	2.38	1.74-3.29	<0.001			
Elevated Procalcitonin	3.84	3.20-4.61	<0.001	2.44	1.99-2.99	<0.001
Elevated Ferritin	1.88	1.59-2.24	<0.001			
Elevated LDH	1.77	1.47-2.14	<0.001			
Elevated Di-Dimer	1.69	1.42-2.01	<0.001			
Elevated Tnl	4.47	3.56-5.63	<0.001	1.94	1.48-2.54	<0.001
Elevated Creatinine*	3.96	3.28-4.77	<0.001	2.24	1.81-2.78	<0.001
Elevated Transaminases	1.88	1.59-2.22	<0.001			
Anemia \sum	1.91	1.61-2.28	<0.001			
Severe hyponatremia	4.17	2.39-7.26	<0.001			
X–Ray Abnormality						
Uni- or bilateral infiltrates	1.95	1.44-2.63	<0.001			

HR, hazard ratio; EF, ejection fraction; CI, confidence interval; «, age \geq 65; *, > 1.5 mg/dl; ∂ , <1500 10E9/l; \sum , Hb <12 g/dl; # peripheral oxygen saturation; **§** Systolic blood pressure < 90 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure < 60 mmHg. Significant p values are marked bold.

Comparison of COVID-19 Patients With Sepsis and Without Sepsis

Patients with sepsis were older and had more comorbidities as compared to patients with non-sepsis. The incidence of sepsis in COVID-19 is estimated at 11%. In addition, in the sepsis cohort, an increase of inflammatory markers, such as CRP, PCT, and ferritin, was more pronounced than in participants with non-sepsis. This phenomenon is known in patients with sepsis due to excessive inflammation (9). In patients with COVID-19, the immune response seems to be more pronounced and may be based on underlying pathomechanisms: macrophageactivation syndrome, viral sepsis-induced immune paralysis, and dysregulation of an intermediate functional state of the immune system in infected patients with SARS-CoV-2 (10–12). Other



laboratory abnormalities were more observed in participants with sepsis than those without sepsis, such as elevated d-dimer, transaminases, creatinine, LDH, anemia, thrombocytopenia, triglyceride, and hyponatremia. These abnormalities indicate that liver and kidney functions were impaired, such as coagulation disorder in patients with sepsis at admission. Clinical Data from 409 US hospitals from 2009 to 2014 in patients showed a slightly lower sepsis rate of 6% as compared to our data (13). Chen et al. reported that dead 119 patients with COVID-19 presented an increase of inflammatory parameters (14). The coagulation disorder may develop disseminated intravascular coagulopathy (DIC) in patients with sepsis. Therefore, it is proposed to establish prophylaxis against venous thromboembolism (VTE) (15). These changes, such as abnormal coagulation function, were observed in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 (2, 14, 16). Additionally, COVID-19 patients have built antiphospholipid antibodies (17). However, the inflammation could increase procoagulant activity thereby contributing to thrombus formation (18). All these abnormalities may explain the higher rate of thromboembolism and multiorgan dysfunction in patients with sepsis.

HOPE SEPSIS SCORE

HOPE Sepsis Score is developed and validated to support physicians to identify COVID-19 patients with sepsis. The score integrates nine parameters ranging from medical history to clinical and laboratory findings. Collecting the clinical findings, such as current smoking, hemoptysis, tachypnoea, decreased BP, GCS, SpO₂, elevated PCT, TnI, and creatinine, at admission is **TABLE 3** | The validation of HOPE Sepsis Score; the Risk of developing sepsis in COVID-19 in the validated group (n = 584) as compared to all patients (n = 5837).

Validated group <i>N</i> = 584	Findings at admission	Points
Chronic conditions	Current smoking	1
Symptoms	Tachypnoea	1
	Haemoptysis	2
Clinical findings at admission	SpO2 < 92%	1
	Decreased BP	1
	GCS<15	1
Laboratory values	PCT	1
	Tnl	1
	Creatinine >1.5 mg/dl	1

C-index = 0.77 (N = 584); Tachypnoea >22 breath per minute; SpO2, peripheral oxygen saturation; BP, blood pressure; GCS, Glasgow coma scale; PCT, procalcitonin; Tnl, troponin I.

relatively easy and promptly. Concerning this matter, a score of 2 is assigned to hemoptysis that represents an important predictor for developing sepsis. However, Hemoptysis is a less common symptom in patients with COVID-19 (1). As laboratory findings, the HOPE Sepsis Score represents TnI, PCT, and elevated creatinine as predictors for developing sepsis as compared to the sequential failure assessment (SOFA) score, which only included respiratory rate, GCS, BP, and elevated creatinine (6). To summarize, the HOPE Sepsis Score is also useful and feasible in identifying high-risk COVID-19 patients predicted to develop sepsis with a high mortality rate. The C-index for HOPE Sepsis Score was 0.763; the score can also be used to predict sepsis



in COVID-19. The C-index of SOFA score in patients who required intensive care unit (ICU) was 0.74, while the C-index in other hospitalized patients was 0.79 (6). In addition, the Cindex of qSOFA was 0.66 in ICU while it was 0.81 for non-ICU patients (19). The logistic organ dysfunction score (LODS) can be used to assessing the severity of sepsis in ICU. The C-index of LODS was 0.843 (20). In summary, the C-index of our score is comparable to the recently published scores. Additionally, the sensitivity of the HOPE Sepsis Score to predict sepsis was higher in intermediate as compared to high-risk patients (81.1 vs. 34.3%). On the other hand, the specificity and PPV of the HOPE Sepsis Score to predict the risk of sepsis were lower in patients with intermediate than those with high-risk for sepsis, respectively (specificity: 80.3 vs. 99.2% and PPV: 32.4 vs. 66.1%). However, the sensitivity and specificity of qSOFA ≥ 2 to predict in-hospital mortality were 69 and 55.5%, respectively (21). In 2,112 patients suffering from infections, the calculation of systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) and qSOFA showed a sensitivity of 52.8 and 19.5% and a specificity of 52.5 and 92.6% for 28-day mortality (22).

Therapeutic Approaches in Patients With Sepsis in COVID-19

The use of antibiotic treatment was significantly higher in patients with sepsis than those without sepsis, followed by hydroxychloroquine and then antiviral drugs. Prone position was more revealed in sepsis as compared to patients with non-sepsis. The co-infection among COVID-19 patients with diverse co-pathogens including bacteria was reported (23). In one observational study, the treatment with hydroxychloroquine was not associated with a lower mortality rate (24). RECOVERY trial did not show a reduction of 28-day-mortality in patients with COVID-19 after lopinavir-ritonavir treatment (25). However,

these patients did not suffer from sepsis. In addition, the short duration of prone position associated with better oxygenation did not improve the mortality rate (26). In other clinical trials, prone positioning for 16 hours every day in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) was reduced to 90-day mortality (27). However, further randomized clinical trials are needed to investigate the safety and efficacy of all treatment options in patients infected by SARS-CoV-2.

Outcomes of COVID-19 Patients With Sepsis

The mortality rate was significantly higher in patients with sepsis as compared to the non-sepsis group due to diverse complications (61.2 vs. 15.2%). In addition to respiratory insufficiency, other complications were more observed among patients with sepsis in comparison to non-sepsis participants; these included heart failure, acute kidney injury, pneumonia, bleeding, embolic event, and need for oxygen therapy including high flow nasal cannula, non-invasive, and invasive mechanical ventilation. In New York City, the mortality rate of COVID-19 patients, who received invasive mechanical ventilation, was less than the rate in our sepsis cohort (14.6%) but comparable with the non-sepsis group (28). Additionally, COVID-19 patients with cardiac injury presented a high mortality rate (51.2%) (29). In this regard, our data also showed that elevated TnI was associated with developing sepsis and consequently a high mortality rate. However, data in patients with sepsis with COVID-19 are limited.

At last, in comparison to SARS-CoV with 8,098 cases across 29 countries and Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS) with 2,494 cases across 27 countries with the case-fatality rate (CFR) of 10% and 35%, the CFR of SARS-CoV-2 in Hubei was 2.9% and outside Hubei 0.4% with respect of challenges to identify all cases particularly with asymptomatic and mild courses (4, 30).

Therefore, patients with more comorbidities are susceptible to suffer from sepsis. Smokers who particularly suffering from hemoptysis and tachypnoea with decreased BP, SpO2, and GCS at admission who show abnormal laboratory as elevated PCT, TnI, and creatinine are more potential to develop sepsis when infected by SARS-CoV-2.

This study has some limitations. It has a retrospective character, not all laboratory tests were done in all patients. In addition, data about blood, urine, and stool culture are missing. External validation of our sepsis score is not performed.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University Medical Centre Mannheim, University of Heidelberg, Mannheim, Germany. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MA, IN-G, IE-B, and IA made substantial contributions to the study concept and design. All authors took obtaining ethical

REFERENCES

- Guan WJ Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med. (2020) 382:1708– 20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2002032
- Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:507–13. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30211-7
- Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA. (2020) 323:1061–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.1585
- Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a report of 72314 cases from the Chinese center for disease control and prevention. JAMA. (2020) 323:1239–42. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.2648
- Li H, Liu L, Zhang D, Xu J, Dai H, Tang N, et al. SARS-CoV-2 and viral sepsis: observations and hypotheses. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1517– 20. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30920-X
- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The third international consensus definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. (2016) 315:801–10. doi: 10.1001/jama.20 16.0287
- Nunez-Gil IJ, Estrada V, Fernandez-Perez C, Feltes G, Vedia O, Vergara-Uzcategui CE, et al. Health Outcome Predictive Evaluation for COVID 19 international registry (HOPE COVID-19), rationale and design. *Contemp Clin Trials Commun.* (2020) 20:100654. doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2020.100654
- Nunez-Gil IJ, Fernandez-Perez C, Estrada V, Becerra-Munoz VM, El-Battrawy I, Uribarri A, et al. Mortality risk assessment in Spain and Italy, insights of the HOPE COVID-19 registry. *Intern Emerg Med.* (2021) 16:957–66. doi: 10.1007/s11739-020-02543-5

approval. Data were collected by MA, IN-G, IE-B, VE, VB-M, AU, IF-R, GF, RA-E, DT, JL, MP, RR, MO-A, MB, TA, FD'A, OF-A, AB, FM, DB, RS-G, CF, AF-O, and CM. MA, IN-G, and IA analysed all data. CW supported the descriptive statistics. IN-G approved the statistical analysis. MA, IN-G, IE-B, and IA prepared the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submission version.

FUNDING

Non-conditioned grant (Fundación Interhospitalaria para la Investigación Cardiovascular, FIC, Madrid, Spain). This nonprofit institution had no role in the study design; in the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; nor in the decision to submit the paper for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Cardiovascular Excellence SL for their essential support in the database and HOPE webpage.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.728102/full#supplementary-material

- van der Poll T, van de Veerdonk FL, Scicluna BP, Netea MG. The immunopathology of sepsis and potential therapeutic targets. Nat Rev Immunol. (2017) 17:407–20. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.36
- Kyriazopoulou E, Leventogiannis K, Norrby-Teglund A, Dimopoulos G, Pantazi A, Orfanos SE, et al. Macrophage activation-like syndrome: an immunological entity associated with rapid progression to death in sepsis. *BMC Med.* (2017) 15:172. doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0930-5
- Lukaszewicz AC, Grienay M, Resche-Rigon M, Pirracchio R, Faivre V, Boval B, et al. Monocytic HLA-DR expression in intensive care patients: interest for prognosis and secondary infection prediction. *Crit Care Med.* (2009) 37:2746–52. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200910000-00011
- Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Netea MG, Rovina N, Akinosoglou K, Antoniadou A, Antonakos N, et al. Complex immune dysregulation in COVID-19 patients with severe respiratory failure. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2020) 27:992–1000 e3. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2020.04.009
- Rhee C, Dantes R, Epstein L, Murphy DJ, Seymour CW, Iwashyna TJ, et al. Incidence and trends of Sepsis in US hospitals using clinical vs claims data, 2009-2014. JAMA. (2017) 318:1241–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017. 13836
- Chen T, Wu D, Chen H, Yan W, Yang D, Chen G, et al. Clinical characteristics of 113 deceased patients with coronavirus disease 2019: retrospective study. *BMJ*. (2020) 368:m1091. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1091
- Connors JM, Levy JH. COVID-19 and its implications for thrombosis and anticoagulation. *Blood*. (2020) 135:2033–40. doi: 10.1182/blood.2020006000
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- Zhang Y, Xiao M, Zhang S, Xia P, Cao W, Jiang W, et al. Coagulopathy and antiphospholipid antibodies in patients with Covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:e38. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2007575

- Corrales-Medina VF, Musher DM, Shachkina S, Chirinos JA. Acute pneumonia and the cardiovascular system. *Lancet.* (2013) 381:496– 505. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61266-5
- Seymour CW, Liu VX, Iwashyna TJ, Brunkhorst FM, Rea TD, Scherag A, et al. Assessment of clinical criteria for sepsis: for the third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (Sepsis-3). *JAMA*. (2016) 315:762–74. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.0288
- Le Gall JR, Klar J, Lemeshow S, Saulnier F, Alberti C, Artigas A, et al. The logistic organ dysfunction system. A new way to assess organ dysfunction in the intensive care unit ICU Scoring Group. *JAMA*. (1996) 276:802– 10. doi: 10.1001/jama.276.10.802
- Perman SM, Mikkelsen ME, Goyal M, Ginde A, Bhardwaj A, Drumheller B, et al. The sensitivity of qSOFA calculated at triage and during emergency department treatment to rapidly identify sepsis patients. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:20395. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-77438-8
- Abdullah S, Sorensen RH, Dessau RBC, Sattar S, Wiese L, Nielsen FE. Prognostic accuracy of qSOFA in predicting 28-day mortality among infected patients in an emergency department: a prospective validation study. *Emerg Med J.* (2019) 36:722–8. doi: 10.1136/emermed-2019-208456
- Jean SS, Lee PI, Hsueh PR. Treatment options for COVID-19: the reality and challenges. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. (2020) 53:436– 43. doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2020.03.034
- Geleris J, Sun Y, Platt J, Zucker J, Baldwin M, Hripcsak G, et al. Observational study of hydroxychloroquine in hospitalized patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. (2020) 382:2411–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2012410
- Group RC. Lopinavir-ritonavir in patients admitted to hospital with COVID-19 (RECOVERY): a randomised, controlled, open-label, platform trial. *Lancet*. (2020) 396:1345–52. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3675410
- Telias I, Katira BH, Brochard L. Is the prone position helpful during spontaneous breathing in patients with COVID-19? JAMA. (2020) 323:2265– 7. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.8539
- Guerin C, Reignier J, Richard JC, Beuret P, Gacouin A, Boulain T, et al. Prone positioning in severe acute respiratory distress syndrome. *N Engl J Med.* (2013) 368:2159–68. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1214103

- Goyal P, Choi JJ, Pinheiro LC, Schenck EJ, Chen R, Jabri A, et al. Clinical characteristics of Covid-19 in New York City. N Engl J Med. (2020) 382:2372–4. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc20 10419
- Shi S, Qin M, Shen B, Cai Y, Liu T, Yang F, et al. Association of cardiac injury with mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Cardiol.* (2020). doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020. 0950
- Song Z, Xu Y, Bao L, Zhang L, Yu P, Qu Y, et al. From SARS to MERS, thrusting coronaviruses into the spotlight. *Viruses*. (2019) 11:59. doi: 10.3390/v110 10059

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Abumayyaleh, Nuñez-Gil, El-Battrawy, Estrada, Becerra-Muñoz, Uribarri, Fernández-Rozas, Feltes, Arroyo-Espliguero, Trabattoni, López Pais, Pepe, Romero, Ortega-Armas, Bianco, Astrua, D'Ascenzo, Fabregat-Andres, Ballester, Marín, Buonsenso, Sanchez-Gimenez, Weiß, Fernandez Perez, Fernández-Ortiz, Macaya, Akin and HOPE COVID-19 Investigators. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Androgen Receptor Pathway Activity Assay for Sepsis Diagnosis and Prediction of Favorable Prognosis

Wilbert Bouwman¹, Wim Verhaegh¹ and Anja van de Stolpe^{2*}

¹ Philips Research, Eindhoven, Netherlands, ² Philips Molecular Pathway Dx, Eindhoven, Netherlands

Introduction: Sepsis is a life-threatening complication of a bacterial infection. It is hard to predict which patients with a bacterial infection will develop sepsis, and accurate and timely diagnosis as well as assessment of prognosis is difficult. Aside from antibiotics-based treatment of the causative infection and supportive measures, treatment options have remained limited. Better understanding of the immuno-pathophysiology of sepsis is expected to lead to improved diagnostic and therapeutic solutions.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Felipe Dal Pizzol, Universidade do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Chaonan Jin, University of Bern, Switzerland Jaqueline Generoso, Universidade do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Anja van de Stolpe anja.van.de.stolpe@philips.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases–Surveillance, Prevention and Treatment, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 30 August 2021 Accepted: 01 November 2021 Published: 23 November 2021

Citation:

Bouwman W, Verhaegh W and Stolpe Avd (2021) Androgen Receptor Pathway Activity Assay for Sepsis Diagnosis and Prediction of Favorable Prognosis. Front. Med. 8:767145. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.767145 Functional activity of the innate (inflammatory) and adaptive immune response is controlled by a dedicated set of cellular signal transduction pathways, that are active in the various immune cell types. To develop an immune responsebased diagnostic assay for sepsis and provide novel therapeutic targets, signal transduction pathway activities have been analyzed in whole blood samples from patients with sepsis.

Methods: A validated and previously published set of signal transduction pathway (STP) assays, enabling determination of immune cell function, was used to analyze public Affymetrix expression microarray data from clinical studies containing data from pediatric and adult patients with sepsis. STP assays enable quantitative measurement of STP activity on individual patient sample data, and were used to calculate activity of androgen receptor (AR), estrogen receptor (ER), JAK-STAT1/2, JAK-STAT3, Notch, Hedgehog, TGF β , FOXO-PI3K, MAPK-AP1, and NF κ B signal transduction pathways.

Results: Activity of AR and TGF β pathways was increased in children and adults with sepsis. Using the mean plus two standard deviations of normal pathway activity (in healthy individuals) as threshold for abnormal STP activity, diagnostic assay parameters were determined. For diagnosis of pediatric sepsis, the AR pathway assay showed high sensitivity (77%) and specificity (97%), with a positive prediction value (PPV) of 99% and negative prediction value (NPV) of 50%. For prediction of favorable prognosis (survival), PPV was 95%, NPV was 21%. The TGF β pathway activity assay performed slightly less for diagnosing sepsis, with a sensitivity of 64% and specificity of 98% (PPV 99%, NPV 39%).

58

Conclusion: The AR and TGF β pathways have an immunosuppressive role, suggesting a causal relation between increased pathway activity and sepsis immunopathology. STP assays have been converted to qPCR assays for further evaluation of clinical utility for sepsis diagnosis and prediction of prognosis, as well as for prediction of risk at developing sepsis in patients with a bacterial infection. STPs may present novel therapeutic targets in sepsis.

Keywords: sepsis, pathway activity assay, host response, infectious diseases, diagnosis, prediction, signal transduction pathways, androgen receptor pathway

INTRODUCTION

Sepsis is a life-threatening infection in which the immune response is dysregulated resulting in multi-organ dysfunction or failure (1). Sepsis is generally a complication of severe bacterial infection and characterized by a systemic inflammatory response leading to septic shock. Mortality rates range between 25 and 30% for sepsis and 40% to 70% for septic shock (2–4).

Aside from antibiotics and supportive measures to maintain blood circulation of internal organs, no treatments have proven to be effective, although it cannot be excluded that some treatments may benefit a subset of patients who so far cannot be identified (1). One reason for failure to develop effective treatments is the heterogeneity among sepsis patients, that is, variation in underlying medical conditions and use of drugs, and genetic variations influencing the immune response in an individual patient.

Detailed assessment of the functional immune response in a patient with sepsis may enable a personalized treatment approach and improve treatment efficacy. Diagnostic assessment of immune function is currently limited to routine blood measurements, such as numbers of immune cells and inflammation markers (e.g., C-reactive protein), but is not informative on the functional activity state of the various types of immune cells, responsible for the abnormal immune response in a sepsis patient.

The functional state of immune cells is determined by a small number of so-called cellular signal transduction pathways (STPs) (5–9). Recently, novel assays have been developed to quantitatively measure activity of STPs in cell and tissue samples, including blood samples (10–13). Measuring combined activity of these STPs in blood cells is expected to enable quantitative assessment of the innate and adaptive immune response in an individual patient (8, 14).

In this study, STP analysis was performed on publicly available gene expression data from multiple clinical sepsis studies. Measurement of activity of the androgen receptor (AR) pathway, and to a lesser extent the TGF β pathway, in a whole blood sample is shown to have value for sepsis diagnosis and prediction of prognosis in a sepsis patient, and may lead to novel personalized treatment options. Measurement of STP activity to identify patients with a bacterial infection who are at high risk to develop sepsis is discussed.

METHODS

STP Assays to Determine Activity of AR, Estrogen Receptor (ER), FOXO-PI3K, JAK-STAT1/2, JAK-STAT3, Notch, Hedgehog (HH), TGFβ, and NFκB Pathways in Blood Cells

Development and validation of assays to quantify STP activity have been described before (10–13). In brief, target genes of transcription factors of the respective signal transduction pathways were identified, and a Bayesian network computational model was created for interpretation of measured mRNA levels of the pathway target genes to generate a quantitative pathway activity score (PAS). PAS are presented on a log2 odds scale as described (15, 16).

Affymetrix Expression Microarray Data Analysis

For analysis of clinical studies, STP assays were performed on public Affymetrix HG-U133 Plus2.0 microarray expression datasets from previously published clinical studies [deposited in the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) database (17)]. Quality control (QC) was performed on Affymetrix data of each individual sample prior to STP analysis, as described before (11), using available R packages (18, 19). Samples that failed QC were removed prior to data analysis.

A summary of clinical datasets used in this study is shown in **Supplementary Table 1**. All studies provided Affymetrix data from whole blood samples. Duplicate sample data between datasets of different studies were removed when such datasets were combined into one analysis or calculation, such as for determining normal pathway activity range thresholds and for sensitivity and specificity calculations. For these purposes, 8 duplicates from GSE26640, 28 duplicates from GSE8121, 10 duplicates from GSE9692, 48 duplicates from GSE13904, and 1 duplicate from GSE26378 were removed (specified in **Supplementary Table 1**).

Interpretation of Signal Transduction Pathway Activity Scores

An important and unique advantage of the STP assays is that they can in principle be performed on all cell types. A few considerations to bear in mind when interpretating log2 odds PAS, as described before (11), are:

- (1) On the same sample, log2 odds PAS cannot be compared between different signaling pathways, since each of the signaling pathways has its own range in log2 odds activity scores (11).
- (2) The log2 odds range for pathway activity (minimum to maximum activity) may vary depending on cell type. Once the range has been defined using samples with known pathway activity, on each new sample the absolute value can be directly interpreted against that reference. If the range has not been defined, only differences in log2 odds activity score between samples can be interpreted.
- (3) PAS are highly quantitative, and even small differences in log2 odds PAS can be reproducible and meaningful.
- (4) A negative log2 odds ratio does not necessarily mean that the pathway is inactive.

Statistics

Boxplots were made using the Python data visualization library function seaborn. Statistical annotations were created using the Python package statannot (20, 21). Two sided Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon testing was used to compare PAS across groups. For paired testing (dataset GSE95233) a one-sided t-test was used. P-values are indicated in the figures. In accordance with current consensus regarding the use of statistical parameters, a p-value of 0.01 (indicated as double asterisk in the figures) was considered significant (22). Receiver Operating Characteristics (ROC) curves and Area Under Curve (AUC) was calculated in R. Normal range thresholds for diagnosis and prognosis classification were based on the normal range for pathway activity in healthy individuals, as determined by mean ± 2 standard deviations (SD) of pathway activity of healthy individuals. Based on these thresholds, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV) and negative predictive value (NPV) were determined, and Fisher exact tests were used to compare groups.

RESULTS

Measuring STP Activity in Whole Blood Samples of Pediatric and Adult Patients With Sepsis

PAS scores for the AR, ER, MAPK-AP1, FOXO-PI3K, JAK-STAT1/2, JAK-STAT3, Notch, Hedgehog, TGF β , and NF κ B pathways were measured using target gene expression data of whole blood samples from clinical studies on children (**Supplementary Figures 1–6**) and adults with sepsis and septic shock (**Supplementary Figures 7, 8**). An overview of included datasets is available in **Supplementary Table 1**.

AR and TGFβ Signal Transduction Pathway Activity Scores Are Higher in Patients With Sepsis/Septic Shock

Activity of the AR pathway, and with exception of clinical study GSE57065, also of the TGF β pathway, were consistently and significantly increased in pediatric and adult patients with sepsis

and septic shock (**Figures 1–4**). No consistent differences in AR and TGFβ pathway activity scores were observed between men and women (**Figures 1F, 2F**, and **Supplementary Figure 6**), between patients categorized as "sepsis" vs. "septic shock" (**Figures 1D, 2D**, and **Supplementary Figure 4**), nor between patients categorized as "SAPSII-low" and "SAPSII-high" (**Figures 3A, 4A**, and **Supplementary Figure 7**). No difference was found between patients with gram-negative and grampositive bacterial infections (clinical study datasets GSE4607 and GSE9692; data not shown).

Two adult sepsis clinical studies [GSE57065 (28); GSE95233 (29)] allowed investigation of STP activity at several time points after disease onset. Blood samples had been collected within 30 min, and at 24 and 48 h after septic shock onset (**Figures 3A**, **4A**, and **Supplementary Figure 7**) or at Day 1, Day 2, or Day 3 (**Figure 3B** and **Supplementary Figures 8**, 11). AR PAS were found to be significantly increased at first measurement and remained increased during subsequent days.

Normal Range AR Pathway Activity in Patients With Sepsis May Be Indicative for Survival

In pediatric sepsis patients who survived, AR (but not TGF β) pathway activity showed a trend toward lower PAS, within the PAS range of healthy controls (**Figures 1A–C,F** and **Figures 2A–C**). Only one adult sepsis study allowed investigation of the relation between survival and STP activity [GSE95233 (29), **Figures 3B-F** and **Supplementary Figures 8, 11**]. AR pathway activity tended to be lower for sepsis survivors at day three after diagnosis, decreased between Day 1 and Day 3 of sepsis in survivor patients and (**Figures 3B-D** and **Supplementary Figure 11**). For the TGF β pathway this was not found (**Figures 4B**, **3E,F**, and **Supplementary Figure 11**). Although not significant, results from these independent clinical studies (children and adults) suggest that AR pathway activity within the normal range may be favorable in patients with sepsis.

Activity of Other Signaling Pathways (Supplementary Figures 1–8)

ER pathway PAS were low and increased slightly in patients with sepsis, but the increase was not significant in dataset GSE95233 (pediatrics) and GSE9692 (adults). MAPK-AP1, FOXO-PI3K, JAK-STAT1/2, JAK-STAT3, NF κ B and Notch signaling pathway PAS were either not significantly increased in sepsis patients, or not consistently increased across multiple independent clinical studies. Activity of the Hedgehog pathway tended to be lower in sepsis patients, only meeting statistical requirements in the adult sepsis studies (GSE57065 and GSE95233) (**Supplementary Figures 7, 8**).

Defining an Upper Threshold for Normal AR and TGF β Signal Transduction Pathway Activity in Whole Blood Samples

To enable determination of STP assay performance parameters for diagnostic use in sepsis patients, normal STP PAS ranges in



of initial presentation to the pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) (all datasets). Indicated when applicable: survivors and non-survivors (**A**–**F**); time (Day) on PICU (**C**); and gender (**F**). Control patients were recruited using the following exclusion criteria: a recent febrile ilness (within 2 weeks), recent use of anti-inflammatory medications (within 2 weeks), or history of chronic or acute disease associated with inflammation. (**A**) Dataset GSE26440 (23). (**B**) GSE26378 (23). (**C**) Dataset GSE4607 (24). (**D**) Dataset GSE304 (25). (**F**) Dataset GSE304 (26). (**F**) Dataset GSE304 (27). AR PAS on Y-axis on a log2 odds scale. Two sided Mann–Whitney–Wilcoxon statistical tests were performed; *p*-values are indicated in the figures as "*p* < 0.5, "*p* < 0.01, ""*p* < 0.0001, ""*p* < 0.0001 or ns (not significant).

whole blood samples were determined. Eight datasets contained samples of healthy individuals [GSE26440 (22), GSE26378 (23), GSE4607 (24), GSE13904 (25), GSE8121(26), and GSE9692 (27)] (**Supplementary Table 1**).

Mean AR PAS in healthy individuals was -15.37 (log2 odds scale, SD 1.52) for children (n = 93) and -12.44 (log2 odds scale, SD 1.44) for adults (n = 37) (**Supplementary Table 2**). Combining healthy pediatric and adult sample data (n = 130), mean AR PAS was -14.5 (log2 odds scale, SD 2.0). No significant differences between men and women were found. Using this information, normal range (healthy) STP PAS thresholds were determined for each STP, based on the mean STP PAS score in healthy controls ± 2 SD for combined datasets (**Supplementary Table 2**). The upper AR PAS threshold for

normal AR pathway activity was calculated as the mean +2SD, resulting in a threshold for pediatric patients of -12.33 (log2 odds scale), for adults -9.57 (log2 odds scale), and for pediatric and adults combined -10.54 (log2 odds scale). For the TGF β pathway mean PAS in healthy individuals was -17.05 (log2 odds scale, SD 1.63) for children and -13.01 (log2 odds scale, SD 1.83) for adults (**Supplementary Table 2**). Combining healthy pediatric and adult sample data, mean TGF β PAS was -15.9 (log2 odds scale, SD 2.49).

Applying the pediatric upper threshold for normal AR PAS on the pediatric study data showed that only 3 out of 45 (7%) children in the non-survivor groups had an AR pathway activity in the normal range, while 53 out of 210 (25%) survivor children had AR pathway activity in the normal range (Fisher exact test p = 0.005). For the TGF β pathway



the percentages were respectively 31 and 32. Thus, AR PAS in the normal range was associated with sepsis survival, at least in children (**Figures 1A-C,F** and **Figures 2A-C, F**). We proceeded with calculating AR and TGF β pathway assay performance parameters.

Sensitivity and Specificity of AR and TGFβ Pathway Activity Assays for Pediatric Sepsis Diagnosis and Prognosis Prediction

Using the pediatric upper threshold of the normal range of AR and TGF β PAS, sensitivity, specificity, PPV, and NPV for diagnosis and prediction of survival in a pediatric sepsis patient were calculated (**Tables 1, 2**, and **Supplementary Tables 5, 6**), and a ROC curve was generated (**Figure 5**). For the same parameters of the other STPs, see **Supplementary Figures 9, 10**. For sepsis diagnosis, the AR pathway assay showed both a high sensitivity (77%) and specificity (97%), with a PPV of 99% and

a NPV of 50%. AUC in the ROC curve was 0.94 for sepsis diagnosis. For prediction of favorable (survivor) prognosis, the PPV was 95%, indicating that the assay was highly specific (93%) in identifying survivor patients. The NPV was 21%, indicative of low sensitivity (25%) in predicting survivor patients. The TGF β assay performed less, with a sensitivity for diagnosing sepsis of respectively 64% and specificity of 98%; all other STP assays performed less well (**Supplementary Figure 9**).

Comparison of Affymetrix Data Analysis Results, Described in the Original Publication Associated With the Dataset, With Results of STP Analysis

For each Affymetrix dataset, bioinformatics tools used for data analysis as reported in the associated publication were listed, together with reported functional gene annotations and/or identified "pathways" as defined by the used



tools (Ingenuity, PANTHER, D.A.V.I.D., ToppGene) (see **Supplementary Information**). In all analyses, groups of patient samples had been compared with respect to differential gene expression. In contrast to the current study, individual samples had not been analyzed. An association between sepsis/septic shock and signal transduction pathways had been identified using Ingenuity Pathways Analysis and PANTHER. The NF κ B pathway (termed NF κ B or TLR) (23, 24, 26, 27), the MAPK pathway (termed "p380MAPK, PDGF") (24, 26–28), the JAK-STAT3 pathway (termed "IL6, IL10") (24, 26–28), and the PI3K-FOXO pathway (termed "Integrin signaling/Insulin signaling/IGF1 signaling") (26), were identified as associated

with sepsis, but without information on activity state of these pathways. Hormonal AR and ER pathways were not mentioned and neither was the TGF β pathway.

DISCUSSION

Using a previously reported STP assay platform, we quantified activity of the most important signal transduction pathways that determine immune cell function, using RNA expression data of whole blood samples from previously published clinical pediatric and adult sepsis studies (9–13, 16).



FIGURE 4 | TGF β PAS, same datasets as in **Figures 3A,B**. Two sided Mann–Whitney–Wilcoxon statistical tests were performed; *p*-values are indicated in the figures as p < 0.5, p < 0.01, p < 0.01, p < 0.001, p < 0.

Activity of Several Signaling Pathways Is Increased in Whole Blood From Patients With Sepsis: Potential for Diagnostic Use

Activity of the AR pathway, and to a lesser extent of the TGF β signaling pathway, was increased in sepsis, while a trend toward higher activity was observed for MAPK-AP1, ER, NF κ B and JAK-STAT3 pathways, toward lower activity for the Hedgehog pathway, while activity of the JAK-STAT1/2 pathway did not differ between healthy controls and sepsis patients. Only the AR pathway assay could to some extent identify sepsis patients with a favorable prognosis. This assay showed high sensitivity and specificity for sepsis diagnosis, and high specificity for prediction of favorable (survival) prognosis in children with sepsis.

In sepsis, the immune system plays a crucial role, with both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory mechanisms. A subset of patients with sepsis has been described to rapidly display signs of immunosuppression and inflammation, which is associated with worse prognosis (30, 31).

In line with our observations, for AR, ER, TGF β , NF κ B, and JAK-STAT3 pathways a number of functional roles in the immune response have been described, with a distinct immunosuppressive role for AR and TGF β pathways and an inflammatory role for NF κ B and JAK-STAT3 pathways (30–39).

The lack of increase in JAK-STAT1/2 pathway activity in sepsis patients is in line with our earlier findings that PAS scores of this signaling pathway only increase in virally, but not bacterially, infected patients, at least when measured in whole blood and Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell (PBMC) samples (9).

For the AR, ER, TGF β , and NF κ B pathways putative roles in sepsis have been described, generally in relation to specific immune cell types (40–44). This may explain the lack of diagnostic power of some of the measured STPs when measured in whole blood samples, since whole blood samples consist of a mix of multiple immune cell types.

Is There a Causal Relation Between AR Pathway Activity and Sepsis?

Despite the disadvantage of measuring in whole blood samples, the diagnostic performance of AR and TGF β assays for sepsis was good. With respect to the TGF β pathway, either decreased or elevated levels of various TGF β pathway ligands have been reported in sepsis patients, while uncertainty remains with respect to the causal role of this pathway (44).

Multiple findings support a causal role for the AR pathway in sepsis. The AR signaling pathway is in principle activated by the presence of testosterone ligand, binding to a pocket in the AR transcription factor protein to induce RNA transcription of target genes (7). The AR protein is expressed in a wide variety of innate and adaptive immune cells including neutrophils, macrophages, mast cells, monocytes, megakaryocytes, B cells, and T cells, indicating that the AR signaling pathway can be activated in these blood cell types (42). Monocytes are one of the key cell types that play a pathogenic role in sepsis, and make up around 10% of whole blood cells (45, 46). Interestingly and in line, men have shown to be more susceptible to developing sepsis than women (47). Some studies suggest that the AR pathway may be a useful drug target in sepsis: testosterone blockade in patients with hemorrhage improved the prognosis if subsequently sepsis developed (48). Also AR pathway blockade reduced mortality in a preclinical mouse model for sepsis (38, 40). While suggestive of a role for the AR pathway in the pathophysiology of sepsis, we are not aware of any clinical studies investigating AR pathway targeted drugs in human sepsis patients.

AR Pathway Assay as a Diagnostic Assay for Sepsis

Current diagnosis of sepsis is based on assessment of multiple clinical symptoms and biomarkers, but timely diagnosis and even more so, prediction of prognosis of a sepsis patient, remain a clinical challenge. Despite the limitation of measuring in



FIGURE 5 | ROC curves (and AUC) of AR and TGFβ pathway activity assays for sepsis diagnosis (A,B) and survival prediction (C,D). Healthy controls and sepsis patients (sepsis and sepsis shock groups combined) from datasets GSE26440 (23), GSE26378 (23), GSE4607 (24), GSE13904 (25), GSE8121 (26), and GSE9692 (27) are included (duplicate samples excluded). The red dot represents sensitivity and specificity when the upper threshold is mean plus 2 SD of normal pathway activity.

whole blood samples, determination of AR PAS showed very good performance to diagnose sepsis, while as a prognostic assay, results suggest potential clinical utility to identify good prognosis patients.

The normal range in AR pathway activity differed between healthy adults and children. This may be a "real" difference, for example caused by differences in testosterone levels between adults and children. However, the normal range in AR pathway activity did not differ between men and women. Alternatively, differences may have been caused by different handling of samples between clinical centers involved in pediatric vs. adult studies (22–26, 26–28, 28, 29).

Since Affymetrix analysis of sample data takes too long to be useful in a clinical setting, STP assays have currently been adapted to qPCR for future diagnostic use (16). The time-to-result of the qPCR-based STP-assays is a few hours, and clinical implementation of such assays can be fast, following determination of normal ranges of STP activities. TABLE 1 | Performance parameters of the AR pathway assay for diagnosis of pediatric sepsis and prediction of survival.

Sepsis	Sepsis diagnosis AR PAS above normal range n = 492	Sepsis survival AR PAS in normal range n = 255	Sepsis non survival AR PAS above normal Range n = 255
Sensitivity	77%	25%	93%
Specificity	97%	93%	25%
PPV	99%	95%	21%
NPV	50%	21%	95%
Fisher's exact test	P < 2.2e-16	p = 0.005023	p = 0.005023

TABLE 2 | Performance parameters of the TGF_β pathway assay for diagnosis of pediatric sepsis and prediction of survival.

Sepsis	Sepsis diagnosis TGFβ PAS above normal n = 492	Sepsis survival TGF β PAS in normal range n = 255	Sepsis non-survival TGFβ PAS above normal n = 255
Sensitivity	64%	32%	69%
Specificity	98%	69%	32%
PPV	99%	83%	18%
NPV	39%	18%	83%
Fisher's exact test	p < 2.2e-16	p = 1	p = 1

In general, correlation between STP activity determined by Affymetrix-based STP analysis and qPCR-based analysis is very good (15).

Thus, while we show feasibility of determining a normal range of AR pathway activity in whole blood samples based on Affymetrix data analysis, clinical adoption of the AR pathway activity assay for diagnostic use in sepsis will require determination of normal AR pathway activity ranges for both adults and children, using the qPCR-based AR pathway assay, followed by further confirmation of clinical utility.

In addition to diagnosing sepsis, and prediction of prognosis, we hypothesize that the AR pathway activity assay may find clinical utility in prediction of risk at serious infectious complications in the period after surviving sepsis. This is of relevance since patients who survive sepsis often remain immune-compromised for longer periods of time, which is associated with increased risk at secondary infections with poor clinical outcome (3, 49). In view of the immunosuppressive role of the AR pathway, we hypothesize that this may be causally related to persistent high AR pathway activity (50).

Similarly, the assay may have value in predicting risk at developing sepsis in patients with a bacterial infection. To illustrate this clinical use case, AR pathway activity was measured in RNAseq data [GSE161731, (51)] from samples of patients presenting either with Community Acquired bacterial Pneumonia (CAP) or with viral influenza infection at the emergency ward, using an RNAseq-converted AR pathway assay (**Supplementary Figure 12**). In whole blood of CAP patients mean AR pathway activity was increased, compared to healthy individuals or patients with an influenza infection, while around one third of CAP patients had AR pathway activity in the normal range. Within the perspective of the current study, we hypothesize that the latter group with normal AR pathway activity did not have sepsis at admission and was at lower risk to develop sepsis, possibly not needing hospital admission. This is in line with data showing that at least a third of patients presenting with CAP have or develop sepsis (52, 53). Future clinical studies are necessary to further investigate these clinical use cases.

STP Assays to Guide Therapy Choices

STP activity measurements may be used to develop novel therapies for sepsis, on the premise of a causal relation with sepsis. Targeted drugs are available against the AR, TGF β , MAPK-AP1, NF κ B, and JAK-STAT3 pathways, all involved in immune responses, offering a new perspective on treating sepsis (42). It is expected that a specific drug will only be effective if the causal signaling pathway(s) is (are) abnormally active. Variation in STP PAS was high in sepsis patients, suggesting that only a subpopulation of patients may benefit from pathway-targeted therapy. Thus, investigation of potential benefit of for example androgen antagonists will require a personalized treatment approach based on measuring signal transduction pathway activity.

Interestingly, the AR pathway has been suggested to play a role in severe COVID-19 infections, and an AR inhibitor (proxalutamide) has been reported to reduce disease severity, overall mortality, and length of hospitalization (54, 55). Secondary bacterial infections frequently complicate severe COVID-19 pneumonia and we hypothesize that increased AR pathway activity may be indicative of immunosuppression and high risk at sepsis, explaining the benefit of anti-androgen therapy in this setting.

Comparison of Our Data Analysis Results With the Original Data Analysis Performed in the Clinical Studies

Since we frequently get questions regarding the difference between our STP analysis and other bioinformatics tools for Pathway Analysis, such as GSEA and Ingenuity, we compared our STP analysis results with data analysis results performed by the investigators who generated the Affymetrix data. Using a variety of bioanalytical biomarker discovery tools (Ingenuity, PANTHER, D.A.V.I.D., and ToppGene) associations between sepsis and the NFkB, MAPK, FOXO-PI3K and JAK-STAT3 pathways had been found, in agreement with our STP analysis results, but no associations with the AR, ER, and TGF^β pathways. Identification of "pathways" using these bioinformatics tools is not suited for analysis of individual sample data and is not informative on the actual (and quantitative) activation state of the signaling pathway. To our best knowledge the sepsisassociated gene signatures discovered by earlier bioinformatics analysis of these clinical studies have not been implemented in clinical practice.

STP assays were developed for diagnostic purposes and have been analytically validated for measuring signaling pathway activity prior to use on the current data. STP results are potentially clinically actionable, since many targeted drugs inhibit activity of the signal transduction pathways that were found to be overactive in sepsis and septic shock.

In summary, our current results show initial results supporting clinical validity and potential clinical utility of measuring activity of the AR and TGF β signal transduction pathways in patients with sepsis, fulfilling the basic requirements for biomarker assays (56). In addition, good reproducibility between the different clinical studies suggests that defining a normal ("healthy") range of pathway activity in whole blood samples will be feasible. This is important for future clinical implementation. STP assays have been converted to qPCR assays, which can be easily performed in a routine hospital lab, and provide a pathway activity score within a few hours, enabling timely clinical decisions (16).

REFERENCES

- 1. Cecconi M, Evans L, Levy M, Rhodes A. Sepsis and septic shock. *Lancet*. (2018) 392:75–87. doi: 10.1016/S0140-67361830696-2
- Lever A, Mackenzie I. Sepsis: definition, epidemiology, and diagnosis. BMJ. (2007) 335:879–83. doi: 10.1136/bmj.39346.495880.AE
- Hotchkiss RS, Moldawe LL, Opal SM, Reinhart K, Turnbull IR, Vincent JL. Sepsis and septic shock. Nat Rev Dis. (2016) 2:1–21. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.20216.45
- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. (2016) 315:801–10. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.0287
- Newton K, Dixit VM. Signaling in innate immunity and inflammation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. (2012) 4:1–20. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006049
- Cantrell D. Signaling in lymphocyte activation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2015) 7:1–13. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a018788
 Cardar J. C. Hunter, T. Tarre, Surg. P. Theorem IW. Signal Transduction.
- 7. Cantley LC, Hunter T, Tony, Sever R, Thorner JW. Signal Transduction : Principles, Pathways, and Processes. Cold Spring Harbor, NY : Cold Spring

Limitations and Future Studies

Clinical studies are needed to confirm the clinical utility of measuring AR (and TGF β) pathway activity in patients with, or at risk for developing, sepsis or septic shock. Only two studies with adult patients were available for STP analysis. Although results were comparable, causes of sepsis are far more variable in adult patients and in in future studies it would be important to include more adult patient populations.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WB: data, results analysis, and concept and writing. WV: pathway model development and results analysis. AS: pathway model development, results analysis, and writing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge Yvonne Wesseling-Rozendaal for analyzing dataset GSE161731 and preparing **Supplementary Figure 12**; and Paul van de Wiel, Diederick Keizer, and Yvonne Wesseling-Rozendaal for critically reviewing the manuscript. We also wish to acknowledge all investigators who generated the GEO datasets used in the current analysis.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2021.767145/full#supplementary-material

Harbor Laboratory Press (2014). Available online at: https://trove.nla.gov.au/version/203634108 (accessed Dec 2, 2018)

- Wesseling-Rozendaal Y, van Doorn A, Willard-Gallo K, van de Stolpe A. Characterization of immunoactive and immunotolerant CD4+ T cells in breast cancer by measuring activity of signaling pathways that determine immune cell function. *BioRxiv.* (2020) p1–6. doi: 10.1101/2020.10.08.2 92557
- Bouwman W, Verhaegh W, Holtzer L, van de Stolpe A. Measurement of Cellular Immune Response to Viral Infection and Vaccination. Front Immunol. (2020) 11:575074. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.575074
- Verhaegh W, Ooijen H. van, Inda MA, Hatzis P, Versteeg R, Smid M, et al. Selection of personalized patient therapy through the use of knowledge-based computational models that identify tumor-driving signal transduction pathways. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:2936–45. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2515
- van de Stolpe A, Holtzer L, van Ooijen H, Inda MA de, Verhaegh W. Enabling precision medicine by unravelling disease pathophysiology: quantifying signal transduction pathway activity across cell and tissue types. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:1603. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-38179-x

- van Ooijen H, Hornsveld M. Dam-de Veen C, Velter R, Dou M, Verhaegh W, et al. Assessment of functional phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway activity in cancer tissue using forkhead box-o target gene expression in a knowledge-based computational model. *Am J Pathol.* (2018) 188:1956– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2018.05.020
- Canté-Barrett K, Holtzer L, van Ooijen H, Hagelaar R, Cordo' V, Verhaegh W, et al. A molecular test for quantifying functional notch signaling pathway activity in human cancer. *Cancers (Basel)*. (2020) 12:3142. doi: 10.3390/cancers12113142
- Bouwman W, Verhaegh W, Holtzer L, van de Stolpe A.Measurement of cellular immune response to viral infection and vaccination. Front Immunol. (2020) 11:575074. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.5750744 eCollection 2020
- Inda MA, Blok EJ, Kuppen PJK, Charehbili A, Biezen-Timmermans EC den, Brussel A. van, et al. Estrogen receptor pathway activity score to predict clinical response or resistance to neoadjuvant endocrine therapy in primary breast cancer. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2020) 19:680– 9. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-19-0318
- van de Stolpe A, Verhaegh W, Blay J-Y, Ma CX, Pauwels P, Pegram M, et al. RNA based approaches to profile oncogenic pathways from low quantity samples to drive precision oncology strategies. *Front Genet.* (2021) 11:598118. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2020.598118
- NCBI. Home GEO DataSets. (2019). Available online at: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/gds/ (accessed Feb 24, 2021).
- affyQCReport: QC Report Generation for affyBatch objects version 1.68.0 from Bioconductor. (2020). Available online at: https://rdrr.io/bioc/affyQCReport/ (accessed Feb 24, 202)
- Gautier L, Cope L, Bolstad BM, Irizarry RA. affy-analysis of Affymetrix GeneChip data at the probe level. *Bioinformatics*. (2004) 20:307–15. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btg405
- seaborn. Seaborn.Boxplot Seaborn 0.11.1 Documentation. Available online at: https://seaborn.pydata.org/generated/seaborn.boxplot.html (accessed Feb 24, 2021).
- Weber M. Webermarcolivier/Statannot. (2021). Available online at: https:// github.com/webermarcolivier/statannot [accessed Feb 24, 2021].
- Amrhein V, Greenland S, McShane B. Scientists rise up against statistical significance. *Nature*. (2019) 567:305–7. doi: 10.1038/d41586-019-00857-9
- Wynn JL, Cvijanovich NZ, Allen GL, Thomas NJ, Freishtat RJ, Anas N, et al. The influence of developmental age on the early transcriptomic response of children with septic shock. *Mol Med.* (2011) 17:1146– 56. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2011.00169
- Wong HR, Shanley TP, Sakthivel B, Cvijanovich N, Lin R, Allen GL, et al. Genome-level expression profiles in pediatric septic shock indicate a role for altered zinc homeostasis in poor outcome. *Physiol Genomics.* (2007) 30:146–55. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00024.2007
- Wong HR, Cvijanovich N, Allen GL, Lin R, Anas N, Meyer K, et al. Genomic expression profiling across the pediatric systemic inflammatory response syndrome, sepsis, and septic shock spectrum. *Crit Care Med.* (2009) 37:1558– 66. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31819fcc08
- Shanley TP, Cvijanovich N, Lin R, Allen GL, Thomas NJ, Doctor A, et al. Genome-level longitudinal expression of signaling pathways and gene networks in pediatric septic shock. *Mol Med.* (2007) 13:495– 508. doi: 10.2119/2007-00065.Shanley
- Cvijanovich N, Shanley TP, Lin R, Allen GL, Thomas NJ, Checchia P, et al. Validating the genomic signature of pediatric septic shock. *Physiol Genomics*. (2008) 34:127–34. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00025.2008
- Cazalis M-A, Lepape A, Venet F, Frager F, Mougin B, Vallin H, et al. Early and dynamic changes in gene expression in septic shock patients: a genome-wide approach. *Intensive Care Med Exp.* (2014) 2:20. doi: 10.1186/s40635-014-0020-3
- Venet F, Schilling J, Cazalis M-A, Demaret J, Poujol F, Girardot T, et al. Modulation of LILRB2 protein and mRNA expressions in septic shock patients and after *ex vivo* lipopolysaccharide stimulation. *Hum Immunol.* (2017) 78:441–50. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2017.03.010
- Venet F, Monneret G. Advances in the understanding and treatment of sepsis-induced immunosuppression. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2018) 14:121– 37. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2017.165
- Fattahi F, Ward PA. Understanding immunosuppression after sepsis. Immunity. (2017) 47:3–5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.07.007

- Flavell RA, Sanjabi S, Wrzesinski SH, Licona-Limón P. The polarization of immune cells in the tumour environment by TGFbeta. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2010) 10:554–67. doi: 10.1038/nri2808
- Kovats S. Estrogen receptors regulate innate immune cells and signaling pathways. Cell Immunol. (2015) 294:63–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.01.018
- Hillmer EJ, Zhang H, Li HS, Watowich SS. STAT3 signaling in immunity. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2016) 31:1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2016. 05.001
- 35. Campbell JD, Cook G, Robertson SE, Fraser A, Boyd KS, Gracie JA, et al. Suppression of IL-2-induced T cell proliferation and phosphorylation of STAT3 and STAT5 by tumor-derived TGF beta is reversed by IL-15. J Immunol. (2001) 167:553–61. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.1.553
- Baldwin AS. The NF-kappa B and I kappa B proteins: new discoveries and insights. Annu Rev Immunol. (1996) 14:649– 83. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.14.1.649
- Sun S-C. The non-canonical NF-κB pathway in immunity and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol. (2017) 17:545–58. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.52
- Angele MK, Pratschke S, Hubbard WJ, Chaudry IH. Gender differences in sepsis. Virulence. (2014) 5:12–9. doi: 10.4161/viru.26982
- Gubbels Bupp MR, Jorgensen TN. Androgen-Induced Immunosuppression. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:794. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00794
- Roell D. Androgen-Regulation of Sepsis response: Beneficial Role of Androgen Receptor Antagonists. (2015). Available online at: /paper/Androgen-regulation-of-sepsis-response-%3A-beneficial-Roell/56789a32d9dc5d88b2324534b4eda12eeed9513f (accessed Feb 25, 2021).
- Liu SF, Malik AB. NF-κB activation as a pathological mechanism of septic shock and inflammation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2006) 290:L622–45. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00477.2005
- Ben-Batalla I, Vargas-Delgado ME, von Amsberg G, Janning M, Loges S. Influence of androgens on immunity to self and foreign: effects on immunity and cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:1184. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01184
- Straub RH. The complex role of estrogens in inflammation. Endocr Rev. (2007) 28:521–74. doi: 10.1210/er.2007-0001
- Bergmann CB, Beckmann N, Salyer CE, Hanschen M, Crisologo PA, Caldwell CC. Potential targets to mitigate trauma- or sepsis-induced immune suppression. *Front Immunol.* 12:622601. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.622601
- Clinical Laboratory int. The Role of Monocytes in the Progression of Sepsis. (2020). Available online at: https://clinlabint.com/the-role-of-monocytes-inthe-progression-of-sepsis/ (accessed Feb 24, 2021).
- Haveman JW, Muller Kobold AC, Tervaert JW, van den Berg AP, Tulleken JE, Kallenberg CG, et al. The central role of monocytes in the pathogenesis of sepsis: consequences for immunomonitoring and treatment. *Neth J Med.* (1999) 55:132–41. doi: 10.1016/S0300-2977(98)00156-9
- Bauman KA, Han MK. Chapter 27 Gender Differences in Susceptibility, Outcomes, and Pathophysiology of Sepsis. In: Legato MJ, editor. *Principles of Gender-Specific Medicine*. 2nd ed. San Diego: Academic Press (2010) p. 291– 301. Available online at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ B9780123742711000277 doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-374271-1.00027-7 (accessed Feb 24, 2021).
- Angele MK, Wichmann MW, Ayala A, Cioffi WG, Chaudry IH. Testosterone receptor blockade after hemorrhage in males. Restoration of the depressed immune functions and improved survival following subsequent sepsis. *Arch Surg.* (1997) 132:1207–14. doi: 10.1001/archsurg.1997.01430350 057010
- Cao C, Yu M, Chai Y. Pathological alteration and therapeutic implications of sepsis-induced immune cell apoptosis. *Cell Death Dis.* (2019) 10:1– 14. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-2015-1
- Hotchkiss RS, Monneret G, Payen D. Sepsis-induced immunosuppression: from cellular dysfunctions to immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2013) 13:862–74. doi: 10.1038/nri3552
- McClain MT, Constantine FJ, Henao R, Liu Y, Tsalik EL, Burke TW, et al. Dysregulated transcriptional responses to SARS-CoV-2 in the periphery. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:1079. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-2 1289-y
- Montull B, Menéndez R, Torres A, Reyes S, Méndez R, Zalacaín R, et al. Predictors of severe sepsis among patients hospitalized for community-acquired pneumonia.

PLoS ONE. (2016) 11:e0145929. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0145929

- Cillóniz C, Dominedò C, Ielpo A, Ferrer M, Gabarrús A, Battaglini D, et al. Risk and prognostic factors in very old patients with sepsis secondary to community-acquired pneumonia. J Clin Med. (2019) 8:961. doi: 10.3390/jcm80 70961
- 54. Pharmaceuticals K. Kintor Pharmaceutical Announces Results from Investigator-Initiated Brazil Trial Demonstrating 92% Reduction in Mortality in Hospitalized COVID-19 Patients. Available online at: https://www. prnewswire.com/news-releases/kintor-pharmaceutical-announces-resultsfrom-investigator-initiated-brazil-trial-demonstrating-92-reduction-inmortality-in-hospitalized-covid-19-patients-301245257.html (accessed Apr 12, 2021).
- 55. Cadegiani FA, McCoy J, Gustavo Wambier C, Vaño-Galván S, Shapiro J, Tosti A, et al. Proxalutamide Significantly Accelerates Viral Clearance and Reduces Time to Clinical Remission in Patients with Mild to Moderate COVID-19: Results from a Randomized, Double-Blinded, Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Cureus.* 13:e13492. doi: 10.7759/cureus.13492

 Hayes DF. Defining Clinical Utility of Tumor Biomarker Tests: A Clinician's Viewpoint. J Clin Oncol. (2021) 39:238–48. doi: 10.1200/JCO.20.01572

Conflict of Interest: All authors are employees of Philips.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Bouwman, Verhaegh and Stolpe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Acute Vertigo After COVID-19 Vaccination: Case Series and Literature Review

Paola Di Mauro^{1*}, Ignazio La Mantia¹, Salvatore Cocuzza¹, Pasqua Irene Sciancalepore², Deborak Rasà¹, Antonino Maniaci¹, Salvatore Ferlito¹, Isabella Tundo¹ and Roberta Anzivino³

¹ Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences and Advanced Technologies "G.F. Ingrassia", ENT Section, A.O.U. Policlinico "G.Rodolico-San Marco", University of Catania, Catania, Italy, ² Centre of Phoniatry and Rehabilitation of Communication Disorders - Azienda Sanitaria Locale Lecce, Lecce, Italy, ³ Otolaryngology Unit, Di Venere Hospital, Bari, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Reinaldo Salomao, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Maria Gavriilaki, University General Hospital of Thessaloniki AHEPA, Greece Norma De Oliveira Penido, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Paola Di Mauro paola_mp86@hotmail.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases – Surveillance, Prevention and Treatment, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 07 October 2021 Accepted: 06 December 2021 Published: 06 January 2022

Citation:

Di Mauro P, La Mantia I, Cocuzza S, Sciancalepore PI, Rasà D, Maniaci A, Ferlito S, Tundo I and Anzivino R (2022) Acute Vertigo After COVID-19 Vaccination: Case Series and Literature Review. Front. Med. 8:790931. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.790931 **Objective:** The aim of this study was to present some cases of acute vertigo potentially related to the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) vaccine and review the available literature about cochleovestibular dysfunction after the COVID-19 vaccination.

Methods: In the period from May to July 2021, we evaluated 33 patients (mean age 54.3 ± 14.1) with "acute vertigo" post COVID-19 vaccination. A detailed medical history was taken on comorbidities, types of vaccines received, and symptoms associated. All patients underwent otoneurological evaluation, such as head impulse test, nystagmus evaluation, test of skew (HINTS) examination. Head shaking test-induced nystagmus, hyperventilation-induced nystagmus, and parossistic positional nystagmus were studied to search for vestibular impairment.

Results: Symptoms included 16 patients (48.5%) with objective vertigo, 14 patients (42.4%) with subjective vertigo, and 3 patients (9.1%) with dizziness. Of the associated ear, nose, and throat (ENT) symptoms, the most expressed was tinnitus (18.2%). Bedside examination showed absent nystagmus in 7 patients (21.2%), 9 patients (27.3%) had horizontal or rotatory nystagmus, 17 patients (51.5%) had a vertical or oblique nystagmus, negative HST, or "central HINTS."

Discussion and Conclusions: The 9 patients had an evoked nystagmus pathognomonic for benign paroxysmal positional vertigo; in the remaining 17 cases, peripheral vestibular dysfunction could be excluded and central disorder may be suggested. Due to the prevalence of nystagmus of non-peripheral origin, a central nervous system involvement could not be excluded. However, due to the small sample size, a definite cause–effect relationship between vaccination and vertigo cannot be inferred. In light of expected third dose, large-scale and well-designed studies are needed to better define possible adverse reactions of the COVID-19 vaccine.

Keywords: HINTS examination, COVID-19, acute vertigo, dizziness, central vertigo, peripheral vertigo, tinnitus, vaccine

INTRODUCTION

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-COV-2) infection has led to a global pandemic and a public health crisis, resulting in over 4,806,841 deaths at the time of publication (1).

The efforts of the scientific community to prevent coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) associated mortality and morbidity have resulted in multiple vaccines worldwide available and approved for use.

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus spike (S) glycoprotein is the main target for current vaccines, since antibodies directed against SARSCoV-2 spike can block the fusion between the virus and host cell membrane, inhibiting the infection (2, 3).

Currently, authorized vaccines for COVID-19 include the mRNA vaccines: BNT162b2 (Pfizer/BioNTech) and mRNA-1273 (Moderna) and the adenoviral-vectored vaccines: ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (University of Oxford/AstraZeneca) and Ad26.COV2.S (Janssen).

Pfizer/BioNTech is currently the most widely used vaccine in the Italian vaccination campaign (71%), followed by AstraZeneca (16%), Moderna (11%), and COVID-19 Janssen vaccine (2%).

Adverse effects observed in Italy after administration of these vaccines, are recorded in the COVID-19 Vaccine Surveillance Report drawn up by the Italian Medicines Agency (AIFA) (4). As of August 2021, 91,360 reports of adverse events following vaccination have been entered in the National Pharmacovigilance Network, out of 76,509,846 vaccine doses (119/100,000 administered doses). Approximately 86.1% of adverse effects reports entered refer to non-serious events, and 13.8% to serious adverse events.

The most reported adverse events fall within general diseases as fever, injection site pain, asthenia, followed by pathologies of the nervous system, such as headache and paresthesia, by pathologies of the musculoskeletal system and of the connective tissue, mostly musculoskeletal pain, and by gastrointestinal diseases, generally nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. Rare are psychiatric disorders, cardiac, blood, and lymphatic system disorders, eye, ear, and labyrinth disorders. Very rare are anaphylactic reactions, myocarditis/pericarditis, and facial nerve paralysis. Very rare adverse events related to Astra Zeneca include acute and subacute neuropathies (such as, Guillain– Barré's syndrome) and intracranial or atypical venous thrombosis with or without thrombocytopenia.

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials were conducted on the incidences of nervous and muscular adverse events (NMAEs) after COVID-19 vaccination. The incidence of NMAEs was 29.2% in the vaccine group and 21.6% in the control group, in a total of 15 randomized blinded controlled clinical trials. Systemic neurological symptoms included migraine, dizziness, vertigo, and syncope (5).

Audiovestibular side effects for the COVID-19 vaccines, as already mentioned, are generally categorized as "ear and labyrinth disorders," which include a wide range of clinical expression.

Few reports of audiovestibular symptoms after the administration of all four types of vaccine were notified by

the Italian Pharmacovigilance Network (4). Recently Parrino et al. (6) published three cases of sudden unilateral tinnitus following BNT162b2 mRNA-vaccine injection, which rapidly resolved in 2 out of 3 cases.

In addition, Tseng et al. reported a single case presenting with sudden-onset tinnitus and cochleopathy after his first dosage of COVID-19 vaccine, reversible and recoverable under conservative steroid management (7).

Besides, the US Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS) database (8) cites possible adverse reactions involving the cochleovestibular system: 12,787 reports of tinnitus among 1,302,332 COVID-19 vaccine total adverse events, 1,627 reports of hypoacusis, 8,504 reports of vertigo, 254 of positional vertigo, and 133 of vestibular neuronitis.

It is worth noting that acute vertigo syndrome could represent an overlap between ear/labyrinth and nervous system disorders, especially if nystagmus presence/absence or peripheral/central etiopathogenesis have not been investigated.

In this work, we present some cases of acute vertigo potentially related to the vaccine, to enlarge the available literature and, if possible, suggest hypotheses about the origin of vestibular dysfunction after the COVID-19 vaccination.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

During the period from May 1 to July 30, 2021, in this observational retrospective study, we evaluated 33 patients (7 men and 26 women; mean age 54.53 ± 14 years) with "acute vertigo" after COVID-19 vaccination. These patients arrived at the vestibular clinic from the Emergency Room of our Hospital or after the request of a primary care physician. The patients reported vertigo or dizziness not more than 48 h after the COVID-19 vaccination. No patient had the COVID-19 disease before administering the vaccine. Inclusion criteria: all adult subjects (>18 years old) referred for acute vertigo after the COVID-19 vaccination were enrolled. Exclusion criteria: subjects with acute vertigo onset before COVID-19 vaccination.

For all patients, we performed: bedside examination with vestibulospinal stability tests, head impulse test, nystagmus direction, testing skew (HINTS) examination, head shaking test (HST), hyperventilation-induced nystagmus (HIN), and positional nystagmus maneuvers.

The Research Ethics Committee of Catania 1, G Rodolico-San Marco University Hospital, approved the study protocol (Permit Number: 242/2021/PO). The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and all participants provided their written consent.

Bedside Examination

The bedside examination was performed at the moment of the hospital admission. First of all, a complete medical history was taken: past and proximate medical history, paying particular attention to comorbidities and cardiovascular risk. In the proximate medical history, we asked for objective or subjective vertigo and dizziness, vertigo/dizziness length, if the patient had neurovegetative symptoms, for trigger of vertigo, visual
impairment, tinnitus or hearing loss onset, or other symptoms associated with acute vertigo.

After medical history acquisition, we evaluated equilibrium of a patient with vestibulospinal stability tests:

- Romberg test, having the patient stand in tandem or on one foot with eyes open and closed;
- Fukuda stepping test, performed by marching in place with eyes closed for 30 s and noting any excessive turning suggestive of a vestibular imbalance.
- Finger-nose-finger, heel-knee-shin, rapid alternating movements, to evaluate cerebellar function and search potential dysmetria and/or adiadochokinesia.

HINTS Examination

Head impulse test, nystagmus direction, testing skew (HINTS) examination is a triad component that we routinely perform in our clinic, and it consists of three steps: head impulse test (HI), nystagmus direction (N), testing skew (TS). HINTS was developed as a test to assess patients with acute vestibular syndrome (AVS), defined like the acute onset of vertigo, dizziness, gait instability, presence of neurovegetative symptomatology (nausea and vomiting), head movements intolerance, and presence of nystagmus (9–12).

Head impulse testing is used in both unilateral and bilateral vestibulopathy. It is to remember that a normal response to a rapid and passive eye movement during a fixation on central target (in this case, usually the nose of examiner) is an equal and opposite eye movement of the same magnitude. Moving the head of a patient toward or away from center position, vestibulo-ocular reflex (VOR) does not change; instead, if there is a peripheral vestibular damage, VOR is damaged and the acceleration signal to move eyes is impaired and resulting in gain loss. HIT is considered "positive" (or abnormal) when rapid movements of a patient's head bring to a fixation loss of the eyes and a corresponding refixation saccade: this is common in people with peripheral vertigo (for instance, in vestibular neuritis). Instead, central vertigo has a "negative" (or normal) HIT, and this is because the VOR is not damaged and the eye of a patient remains fixed on target (12).

Nystagmus direction analysis is very important to differentiate a central from a peripheral vertigo: pseudo-spontaneous nystagmus, gaze induced, direction changing nystagmus, head shaking nystagmus, pure torsional, or pure vertical nystagmus in patients with AVS are signs of possible central lesion. Instead, a spontaneous horizontal nystagmus in primary position, that is inhibited with fixation and that follows Alexander's law (the amplitude of the nystagmus increases in the gaze-direction of the primary position nystagmus fast phase) testifies for vestibular neuritis (VN). Typically, peripheral vestibular lesions have a unidirectional nystagmus that increases in the gaze direction of the fast phase (Alexander's Law) (12).

Skew deviation is a vertical ocular misalignment in primary position of gaze, and it reflects an altered otolith-ocular reflex (OOR). The physician asks the patient to fixate a central target (usually the nose of examiner), while the examiner covers the eyes of patient alternatively and observes the vertical position of the eyes. Vertical skew deviation is absent if vertigo is peripheral, while, if present, it shows a central cause (12).

If any step of HINTS indicates a central vertigo, the HINTS test is considered "central": it implies the need for further investigation, like neuroimaging (CT or RMN), referring patients to other specialists.

Signs of Vestibular Impairment

We searched for the signs of vestibular impairment under infrared binocular videonystagmoscopy through:

Head Shaking Test

Head shaking test is considered as a useful clinical tool for detecting asymmetries between the vestibular labyrinths. The test requires that the head patient is shaked rapidly at 2 Hz oscillation for approximately 20 s in the horizontal plane. A positive test HSN was defined by the presence of at least three beats of nystagmus after stopping the head shake. These movements may cause a horizontal nystagmus where the fast phase beats toward the healthy labyrinth: this finding suggests a peripheral vestibular hypofunction, and the nystagmus has a duration that can last as long as 6 s.

Instead, the presence of a vertical or oblique nystagmus after a horizontal head shaking typically suggests pathology with a central etiology; nystagmus that is downbeating has been reported as the most common direction after horizontal head shaking in patients with migrainous vertigo (13).

Hyperventilation-Induced Nystagmus

Hyperventilation-induced nystagmus is commonly used because hyperventilation induces neuro-physiological modifications able to reveal latent cerebellar or vestibular diseases, while in healthy people incidence of HIN is low.

In the cases of VN and acoustic neuroma, the HIN can evoke a paretic nystagmus (in which the fast phases beat toward the healthy side) by disrupting central compensation mechanisms, but, in these pathological conditions, it can also evoke an excitatory type of nystagmus, in which the fast phases beat, on the contrary, toward the affected side. HIN is important to test in perilymphatic fistula and in the superior canal dehiscence syndrome because it can evoke either a horizontal nystagmus, in the case of larger defects in the bony wall of the semicircular canal with associated hypofunction, or torsional nystagmus, in the case of smaller defects causing a third mobile window into the inner ear (14). In cerebellar diseases, HIN can increase or evoke a downbeat nystagmus.

Diagnosis of Benign Paroxysmal Positional Vertigo

The benign paroxysmal positional vertigo (BPPV) is derived from a dislodged otoliths from the utricle that migrate into one of the semicircular canals (most commonly the posterior canal). BPPV is suspected when a patient reports very brief episodes of objective vertigo (generally less than 1 or 2 min), and episodes of vertigo wake up the patient from sleep (10). Clinical features essential for diagnosis are the latency, direction, time course, and duration of positional nystagmus (15). The diagnosis is confirmed reproducing symptoms and signs using canal specific maneuvers to identify a canal-specific nystagmus. The canal-specific response is diagnosed when the head-rotation on the plane of the semicircular canal evokes a positional nystagmus. These beats in the plane of the affected canals end in the expected direction for the canal excitation or inhibition, and this positional nystagmus was studied using the Dix–Hallpike test to diagnose posterior semicircular canal BPPV (pc-BPPV) and the Pagnini-McClure maneuver to diagnose horizontal semicircular canal BPPV (hc-BPPV).

In the Dix–Hallpike maneuver, the head of patient (with sitting patient) is turned 45 degrees toward the side to be tested, and then laid back quickly into a head-hanging position. Patient refers to an attack provoked by lying down or turning over in the supine position. The canalolithiasis of posterior canal had a duration attack <1 min, the positional nystagmus is elicited after a latency of few second and the nystagmus is a combination of torsional and up-beating, and typically lasting <1 min (15).

In the Pagnini-McClure maneuver, the patient lying supine and head is elevated about 30 degrees and quickly rolled to one to another side. In this case too, vertigo is provoked by lying down or turning over in the supine position and the attack has a duration <1 min. Instead, the nystagmus is elicited after a brief latency or no latency and it beats horizontally toward the undermost ear with the head turned to either side (the nystagmus changes his direction: it is geotropic) (15).

Statistical Analysis

Data collected were put into a database to be used for statistical analysis. Quantitative variables have been presented as mean \pm SD or median (interquartile range, [IQR]), as appropriate. Categorical variables have been expressed as absolute numbers and percentages. We performed chi-squared test and one-way ANOVA to analyze the differences between demographics and different outcomes (vertigo, central nystagmus, and peripheric nystagmus). We used Fisher's exact test to examine the differences in type of nystagmus between dichotomous groups (Pfizer *vs.* all other vaccines, mRNA vaccines *vs.* others), calculating odds ratios (*ORs*) with 95% CIs. We considered results at two-tailed p < 0.05 as statistically significant. Data analysis was performed using R 4.1.0 (R Foundation, 2021).

RESULTS

Their mean age was 54.3 ± 14.1 years old, with 26 women and 7 men. We collected the general characteristics, medical history, and types of vaccines received in **Table 1** and highlighted any comorbidity in **Table 2**. Particularly, 23 patients received Pfizer, 5 patients received Astrazeneca, 4 patients received Moderna, and 1 patient received Johnson & Johnson vaccine.

Symptoms included objective vertigo (16 patients, 48.5%), subjective vertigo (14 patients, 42.4%), and dizziness (3 patients, 9.1%). Of the associated ear, nose, and throat (ENT) symptoms, the most expressed was tinnitus (18.2%).

Analyzing the results of bedside examination, HINTS examination and signs of vestibular impairment, we hypothesized the probable clinical diagnosis for each patient **TABLE 1** | General characteristics of patients (sex and age), types of vaccines

 received, reported symptomatology (objective, subjective vertigo, or dizziness),

 numbers of patients who refer associated ear, nose, and throat (ENT) symptoms.

Total number of patients	33
Men	7 (21, 21%)
Women	26 (78, 79%)
Mean age	54.53 ± 14.14
Range	24–78
Vaccine received	Number of patients, (%)
MRNA vaccine Pfizer-Biontech (Tozinameran)	23 (69, 70)
Vaccine Astrazeneca (CHADOX1 NCOV-19)	5 (15, 15)
MRNA vaccine Moderna (CX-024414)	4 (12, 12)
Vaccine Janssen (AD26.COV2.S)	1 (3, 3)
Reported symptomatology	
Objective vertigo	16 (48, 5)
Subjective vertigo	14 (42, 4)
Dizziness	3 (9, 1)

Dizziness	3 (9, 1)
Associated ENT symptoms	
Hearing loss	4 (12, 12)
Tinnitus	6 (18, 2)
Ear fullness	2 (6, 06)
Hypersensitivity to noise	1 (3, 03)

TABLE 2 | Presence of comorbidities.

Comorbidities	Number of patients, (%)
Cardiovascular	15 (45, 4)
Diabetes	4 (12, 1)
Neurologic	9 (27, 2)
Orthopedic	3 (9, 0)

Cardiovascular: hypertension, coronaropathy and anticoagulant antiplatelet therapy; neurologic: chronic neurovascular disease, headache, and psychiatric pathologies; orthopedic: cervical or lumbar hernia.

(**Table 3**). In particular, 7 patients (21.2%) did not show nystagmus, 9 patients (27.3%) had and horizontal or rotatory nystagmus, 17 patients (51.5%) had a vertical or oblique nystagmus, negative HST or "central HINT." No patient had HIN.

The equilibrium of a patient was evaluated with vestibulospinal stability test. Particularly, 26 patients (78.79%) presented positive Romberg Test and only 6 patients (18.18%) presented a negative Romberg Test. Moreover, 1 patient cannot execute it because of excessive instability. Of the 26 patients with positive Romberg Test, 17 patients (65.38%) presented pluridirectional oscillation, 5 patients (19.23%) presented anteroposterior oscillation, 2 patients (7.69%) presented laterolateral oscillation, and 2 patients (7.69%) showed fall tendency.

TABLE 3 | Analysis of nystagmus and probable clinical diagnosis.

Type of nystagmus	Number of patients, (%)
No presence of nystagmus	7 (21, 21)
Presence of horizontal or rotatory nystagmus	9 (27, 27)
Presence of positive HST/ "central HINTS" or vertical or oblique nystagmus/ "central HINTS"	17 (51, 52)
Probable clinical diagnosis	
No presence of vestibular impairment or central etiology of vertigo/dizziness	7 (21, 21)
Benign paroxysmal positional vertigo	9 (27, 27)
Probable central etiology	17 (51, 52)

Examinating Fukuda stepping patients test, 21 (63.64%) showed a positive test and 6 patients (18.18%) showed a negative test, while 6 patients (18.18%)cannot execute it due of high instability. Particularly of this 21 patients, 10 (47.61%) right or showed left deviation, 11 (52.38%) manifested fall tendency. Only 2 patients presented frenage testing dysmetria and adiadochokinesia.

Benign paroxysmal positional vertigo was diagnosed in all patients with horizontal or rotatory nystagmus, who received a therapeutic maneuver to solve the canalolithiasis. The latter 17 cases were suggestive for vertigo of central origin, were referred to the neurologist for further clinicalinstrumental investigations.

Patients with no presence of vestibular impairment or sign of central etiology of symptomatology, have been sent to other specialists, such as physiatrist or cardiologist.

We have not found any statistical difference between sex and age of patients with different outcomes (vertigo, peripheric, and central nystagmus). Restricting the analysis to patients with nystagmus (n = 26), we have not found any difference in the type of nystagmus comparing patients subjected to Pfizer vaccination to all the other (*OR* of having central nystagmus = 0.24, 95% *CI*: 0.004–2.65; p = 0.36). Similarly, patients subjected to one of the two mRNA vaccines had a nonsignificant *OR* = 0.42 (95% *CI*: 0.007–5.33; p = 0.63) of having central nystagmus.

DISCUSSIONS

The cohort included in the present study revealed the incidence of audiovestibular symptoms, in particular acute vertigo, with short onset after mRNA or adenoviral-vectored SARS-CoV-2 vaccines in patients with no history of previous COVID-19 disease.

The presence of smell and taste loss, nasal congestion, rhinorrhea, sore throat, and hearing loss has been already investigated after COVID-19 vaccination.

In a large study on 3,383 healthcare workers who received the inactivated COVID-19 vaccine (CoronaVac, Sinovac Life Sciences). Otolaryngology-specific symptoms were showed as significantly more common in subjects with a history of COVID-19 infection (16). Differently from us, in this case the authors paid attention to the previous infection and postulated that vaccination may play a triggering role in the activation of symptoms in patients with the previous COVID-19 infection.

So far, very few reports on audiovestibular symptoms after the administration of all four types of vaccine have been reported in literature. Parrino and colleagues (6) have recently described three cases of sudden unilateral tinnitus no more than 1 week later Pfizer vaccine injection in patients without previous diagnosis of COVID-19. According to the definition of Guidelines for Clinical-Safety Information on Drugs, authors reported this side effect as "very rare" (17). Indeed, it is worth citing a research letter from Formeister from Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, which reported that the incidence of SSNHL occurring after COVID-19 vaccination does not exceed that of the general population, and may be lower (18). Although there is no direct evidence of the association between vaccination and SSNHL, some cases of SSNHL after COVID-19 vaccination have been recently reported (19, 20).

Many works—case series and multicentric studies in literature during pandemic have postulated a relationship between cochleovestibular deteriorations and COVID-19 infection.

A recent systematic review analyzed 28 case reports/series and 28 cross-sectional studies that fit the criteria with an overall reported prevalence of 7.6% for hearing loss, 14.8% for tinnitus, and 7.2% for rotatory vertigo (21, 22).

Seventeen case reports and one case series reported hearing loss as a potential COVID-19 related symptom; of these, nine reported sensorineural hearing loss (23–34).

Although the pathophysiology of any audio-vestibular disorder linked to COVID-19 is still unknown, myriad theories have been postulated:

- cochleitis or neuritis caused by viral involvement of the inner ear or the vestibulocochlear nerve, potentially leading to vertigo, tinnitus, and hearing loss (30, 35, 36), thus a similar neurotropism could be supposed also for Coronavirus;
- immune-mediated response such as production of proinflammatory cytokines and vasculitic events that may negatively affect the audio-vestibular system (24);
- cross-reactions of antibodies or T-cells, which may misidentify inner ear antigens as the virus, leading to accidental damage to the inner ear (30);
- vascular disorders because cochlea and semicircular canals are largely susceptible to ischaemia (37, 38) due to a lack of collateral blood supply;
- endothelial dysfunction that has been suggested as a main pathophysiological process in several viral infections, such as SARS-CoV-2. The microvascular injury affects the central and peripheral nervous systems, causing a variety of neurological symptoms, such as headache and dizziness (39).

Moreover, proneness to worry and incoming stress, together with the absence of masking sounds, have been shown as potential risk factors for tinnitus worsening during pandemic (40).

We can extend the same line of reasoning to vertigo, which was the least commonly reported audio-vestibular symptom during pandemic; in many occasions (41-47), it was not clear if the findings were referring to new or preexisting symptoms. Moreover, the majority of studies relied on self-reported questionnaires and many studies combined the prevalence of vertigo with dizziness, being the latter not necessarily of vestibular origin (41, 44, 48, 49), and mostly a common neurological manifestation of COVID-19 (50). Moreover, in 2021 was collected a case series of six patients all over the world who had sudden, severe symptoms such as vertigo, dizziness, nausea, and vomiting, with presumptive diagnosis of vestibular neuritis (51) by excluding other possible differential diagnoses.

On the contrary, large data on incidence and mechanism potentially underlying the development of ENT- and specifically cochleovestibular-effects of vaccination are still lacking.

Recently Wichova et al. (52) in a paper about otologic manifestations after COVID-19 Vaccinations reported 25 patients (83.3%) complained of hearing loss, 15 (50%) of tinnitus, 8 (26.7%) of dizziness, 5 (16.7%) of vertigo, and 9 (30%) of aural fullness. As 36.7% of the patients had a known previous underlying inner ear disorder, this work widely focused on immunologic factors that cause possible exacerbation of pre-existing otologic symptoms, due to a spike of disease specific IgG.

A randomized, cross-sectional study was performed to investigate the side effects of the BNT162b2 vaccine among healthcare workers. Vertigo-like symptoms (2.49%)20/803), dizziness (8.34%), tinnitus (1.99%),ear pain (0.87%),changes in hearing (0.37%),ear discharge (0.12%) were reported the by and recipients (53).

Italian cross-sectional According recent to а study on 314,671 subjects vaccinated, dizziness recorded one of the most frequent is as COVID-19 effects vaccination adverse 296, (*n*: 21%) (54).

In **Table 4**, we present a literature review on audiovestibular disorders after COVID-19 vaccination.

As far as we know, the present study is the first clinical report about acute vertigo after COVID-19 vaccination, which describes characteristics of nystagmus and related suggested peripheral/central origin. Evoked horizontal/rotatory nystagmus was pathognomonic for BPPV and led to treatment with therapeutic maneuver. In the remaining 17 cases, peripheral vestibular dysfunction could be almost excluded if spontaneous or evoked nystagmus are absent, while vertical/oblique nystagmus and central HINT are highly suggestive for central origin disorder.

However, this work has several limitations, since it evaluates a common symptom "acute vertigo" present in different diseases

with multiple pathophysiological factors. Although the HINT test demonstrates excellent sensitivity and specificity in the assessment of acute vestibular syndromes, false-positive and false-negative results do exist; all tests have been used in this study in order to reach a topodiagnosis, but a specific etiology could not be identified. Moreover, the sample size included in the study was too small and heterogeneous to establish a cause–effect relationship between acute vertigo and SARS-CoV-2 vaccines.

However, it is worth noting that all reports in literature about possible vaccination side effects have small sample sizes; this phenomenon is linked to the scarce observational time elapsed since the large-scale diffusion of vaccines, as well as the variable adherence of the population to the vaccination campaign. The most extensive data on the adverse effects have been reported by the surveillance reports drawn up by medicines agencies or were collected through online questionnaires, without ever relying on a real clinical evaluation of symptoms. This exposes to multiple and worse biases, as the reports are not clinically verified.

So far, this is the first post-vaccine clinical evaluation of the complaint "acute vertigo," which has been investigated by ENT/otoneurological point of view, by means of nystagmus description, specific tests battery and symptoms characterization. Our results seem to demonstrate that after vaccination peripheral injuries are less frequent, which represents the contrary to what is expected in the general population. After all, these observations refer to a historical moment of particular attention to post-vaccine symptoms; it is reasonable to think that in other times patients with "acute vertigo" symptom may turn to the general practitioner, while ENT doctor is consulted mainly for vestibular disorders of peripheral origin.

The mechanism underlying the onset of acute vertigo of central origin remains unclear. SHNL after COVID-19 vaccination has been linked to an abnormal autoimmune response (mediated by circulating immune complexes or cytotoxic vestibule-cochlear autoantibodies) or a vasculitic event with subsequent localized damage to the cochlea (55).

Due to the prevalence of nystagmus of non-peripheral origin, a central nervous system involvement could be included. It is worth noting that a significant number of central and peripheral nervous system manifestations have been reported during pandemic, such as cerebrovascular disease, impaired consciousness, cranial nerve manifestations, and impaired vision (56, 57). Recent studies have unveiled neurotrophic and neuroinvasive characteristics possessed by the novel coronavirus, probably due to direct viral neurological injury or indirect neuroinflammatory and autoimmune mechanisms (57). This has ignited the search on the evidence available on the prevalence of audiovestibular symptoms among patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 (21, 22).

It is well known that mRNA vaccines against the SARS-CoV-2 virus provide human cells instructions to produce the Spike protein, thus inducing levels of anti-S and/or anti-RBD binding antibodies. A recent work as shown how spike protein subunit 1 (S1) of SARS-CoV-2 – in this case intravenously

TABLE 4 | Literature review on audiovestibular disorders after coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) vaccination.

References	Vaccine platform	Adverse event	Events/Total (%)
Parrino et al. (6)	mRNA-vaccine BNT162b2	Tinnitus	3
Tseng et al. (7)	Adenoviral-vectored vaccine: ChAdOx1 nCoV-19	Tinnitus and cochleopathy	1
Avci et al. (16)	Inactivated COVID-19 vaccine	Ear pressure	28/1,710 (1.6%)
		Dizziness	23/1,710 (1.3%)
		Hearing loss	5/1,710 (0.3%)
Formesteir et al. (18) - data from the CDC vaccine adverse events reporting system	mRNA vaccines: BNT162b2 mRNA-1273	Sudden sensorineural hearing loss	40/86,553,330 (0.3%)
Tsetsos et al. (19)	Adenoviral-vectored vaccine: ChAdOx1 nCoV-19	Sudden sensorineural hearing loss	1
Jeong and Choi (20)	Adenoviral-vectored vaccine: ChAdOx1 nCoV-19; mRNA-vaccine BNT162b2	Sudden sensorineural hearing loss	3
Wichova et al. (52)	mRNA vaccines: BNT162b2 mRNA-1273	Hearing loss	25/30 (83.3%)
		Tinnitus	15/30 (50%)
		Dizziness	8/30 (26.7%)
		Vertigo	5/30 (16.7%)
		Aural fullness	9/30 (30%)
Kadali et al. (53)	mRNA vaccine: BNT162b2	Vertigo-like symptoms	20/803 (2.49%)
		Dizziness	67/803 (8.34%)
		Tinnitus	16/803 (1.99%)
		Ear pain	7/803 (0.87%)
		Changes in hearing	3/803 (0.37%)
		Ear discharge	1/803 (0.12%)
Gianfredi et al. (54)	mRNA vaccines: BNT162b2, mRNA-1273; adenoviral-vectored vaccines: ChAdOx1 nCoV-19, Ad26.COV2.S	Dizziness	296/314,671 (21%)

injected radio iodinated S1 (I-S1) – is capable to cross the blood-brain barrier and enter the parenchymal brain space in male mice (58). S1 is the binding protein for SARS-CoV-2; it binds to angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) (59) and probably other proteins as well. These mechanisms are important for understanding whether SARS-CoV-2 and S1 itself could induce responses in the brain. As ACE2 has been reported to be abundant in the brain, medulla oblongata, and temporal lobe, the hearing center becomes affected, paving the way to hearing loss.

On the other hand, an immunization anxiety-related reaction can be postulated, as anxiety has also been related to the severity and persistency of tinnitus (40, 60). It is of utmost importance to evaluate the subsequent sequelae involving not only audiovestibular system, but also connected psychological field.

Some considerations are necessary. In our cohort, the time of onset of symptoms was no longer than 48 h after vaccination. Interestingly, 9 (27.2%) patients complained of dizziness or vertigo after the first dose, while 24 (72.8%) cases had problems only after the second dose. We have to consider the frame of Immunoglobulin G (IgG) production that

is at least 10–14 days after priming (61). Interesting works by Gallus et al. (62) and Dror et al. (63) about COVID-19 long-term sequelae, suggest that cochlear damage or vestibular dysfunction are mostly transitory, thus no clinically relevant impact on audiovestibular system can be found after recovery from virus. Few data about the effects of vaccination are available so far; therefore, only similarity between systems can be traced.

In conclusion, there is growing evidence from Vaccine Surveillance Reports that hearing loss, tinnitus and vertigo can be part of the clinical spectrum of COVID-19 vaccination side effects, even if available studies in literature have small sample size and do not report the difference between central or peripheral vertigo. Although, the benefits of the vaccines far outweigh the risks of possible cochleovestibular symptoms, large-scale and welldesigned studies are needed to better define possible adverse reactions and long-term consequences of the COVID-19 vaccine.

In this perspective and in light of the expected third dose, our report would also be a warning to clinicians and researchers in order to point out all possible adverse events, identify possible pathophysiological mechanisms, and enlarge systematic vaccine safety studies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Catania 1, G Rodolico-San Marco University Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization (WHO) WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard Available online at: https://covid19.who.int. (accessed October 06, 2021).
- Sadarangani M, Marchant A, Kollmann TR. Immunological mechanisms of vaccine-induced protection against COVID-19 in humans. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2021) 21:475–84. doi: 10.1038/s41577-021-00578-z
- Martínez-Flores D, Zepeda-Cervantes J, Cruz-Reséndiz A, Aguirre-Sampieri S, Sampieri A, Vaca L. SARS-CoV-2 vaccines based on the spike glycoprotein and implications of new viral variants. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:701501. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.701501
- Italian Medicines Agency COVID-19 Vaccine Surveillance Report (27/12/2020-26/08/2021). Available online at: https://www.aifa.gov.it/en/ farmacovigilanza-vaccini-covid-19. (accessed October 06, 2021).
- Chen J, Cai Y, Chen Y, Williams AP, Gao Y, Zeng J. Nervous and muscular adverse events after COVID-19 vaccination: a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials. *Vaccines (Basel)*. (2021) 9:939. doi: 10.3390/vaccines9080939
- Parrino D, Frosolini A, Gallo C, De Siati RD, Spinato G, de Filippis C. Tinnitus following COVID-19 vaccination: report of three cases. *Int J Audiol.* (2021) 13:1–4. doi: 10.1080/14992027.2021.1931969
- Tseng PT, Chen TY, Sun YS, Chen YW, Chen JJ. The reversible tinnitus and cochleopathy followed first-dose AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccination. *QJM*. (2021) 114:663–4. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcab210
- 8. Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System. Available online at: https://vaers. hhs.gov/. (accessed October 06, 2021).
- 9. Gurley KL, Edlow JA. Diagnosis of patients with acute dizziness. *Emerg Med Clin North Am.* (2021) 39:181–201. doi: 10.1016/j.emc.2020.09.011
- Quimby AE, Kwok ESH, Lelli D, Johns P, Tse D. Usage of the HINTS exam and neuroimaging in the assessment of peripheral vertigo in the emergency department. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. (2018) 47:54. doi: 10.1186/s40463-018-0305-8
- Kattah JC, Talkad AV, Wang DZ, Hsieh YH, Newman-Toker DE. HINTS to diagnose stroke in the acute vestibular syndrome: three-step bedside oculomotor examination more sensitive than early MRI diffusion-weighted imaging. *Stroke*. (2009) 40:3504–10. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.551234
- Kattah JC. Use of HINTS in the acute vestibular syndrome. An overview stroke. Vasc Neurol. (2018) 3:190–6. doi: 10.1136/svn-2018-000160
- Zuma E, Maia FC, Cal R, D'Albora R, Carmona S, Schubert MC. Head-shaking tilt suppression: a clinical test to discern central from peripheral causes of vertigo. *J Neurol.* (2017) 264:1264–70. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8524-x
- Califano L, Melillo MG, Vassallo A, Mazzone S. Hyperventilation-induced nystagmus in a large series of vestibular patients. *Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital.* (2011) 31:17–26.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PD designed and carried out the study. PD, RA, DR, and PS collected data and contributed to the writing of the manuscript. PD and RA designed the plan of statistical analysis of the study. SC, IL, IT, SF, and AM revised the manuscript. All authors have critically reviewed and agreed this final version of the article.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the A.O.U. Policlinico G.Rodolico-San Marco of Catania for encouragement our study and we also thank the Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences and Advanced Technologies G.F. Ingrassia, University of Catania.

- Von Brevern M, Bertholon P, Brandt T, Fife T, Imai T, Nuti D, et al. Benign paroxysmal positional vertigo: diagnostic criteria. J Vestib Res. (2015) 25:105– 17. doi: 10.3233/VES-150553
- Avci H, Karabulut B, Eken HD, Faraşoglu A, Çakil T, Çoruk S, et al. Otolaryngology-specific symptoms may be highly observed in patients with a history of covid-19 infection after inactivated coronavirus vaccination. *Ear Nose Throat J.* (2021) 8:1455613211028493. doi: 10.1177/01455613211028493
- Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS). (2001). Guidelines for Preparing Core Clinical-Safety Information on Drugs. Report of CIOMS Working Groups III and V (2nd ed.). Geneva: CIOMS.
- Formeister EJ, Chien W, Agrawal Y, Carey JP, Stewart CM, Sun DQ. Preliminary analysis of association between COVID-19 vaccination and sudden hearing loss using US centers for disease control and prevention vaccine adverse events reporting system data. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. (2021) 147:674–6. doi: 10.1001/jamaoto.2021.0869
- Tsetsos N, Poutoglidis A, Vlachtsis K, Kilmpasanis A, Gougousis S. Sudden sensorineural hearing loss following the second dose of COVID-19 vaccine. *Cureus*. (2021) 13:e17435. doi: 10.7759/cureus.17435
- Jeong J, Choi HS. Sudden sensorineural hearing loss after COVID-19 vaccination. Int J Infect Dis. (2021) 113:341–3. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2021.10.025
- Almufarrij I, Uus K, Munro KJ. Does coronavirus affect the audiovestibular system? A rapid systematic review. *Int J Audiol.* (2020) 59:487– 91. doi: 10.1080/14992027.2020.1776406
- Almufarrij I, Munro KJ. One year on: an updated systematic review of SARS-CoV-2, COVID-19 and audio-vestibular symptoms. *Int J Audiol.* (2021) 22:1–11. doi: 10.1080/14992027.2021.1896793
- Chern, A, Akinrinola O. Famuyide, Gul M, Lalwani AK. Bilateral sudden sensorineural hearing loss and intralabyrinthine hemorrhage in a patient with COVID-19. *Otol Neurotol.* (2021) 42:e10–e14. doi: 10.1097/MAO.00000000002860
- Degen C, Lenarz T, Willenborg K. Acute profound sensorineural hearing loss after COVID-19 pneumonia. *Mayo Clin Proceedings*. (2020) 95:1801– 3. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.05.034
- Abdel Rhman SS, Abdel Wahid AA. COVID-19 and sudden sensorineuralhearing loss, a case report. *Otolaryngology*. (2020) 16:100198-200. doi: 10.1016/j.xocr.2020.100198
- Karimi-Galougahi M, Naeini AS, Raad N, Mikaniki N, Ghorbani J. Vertigo and hearing loss during the COVID-19 pandemic – is there an association? *Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital.* (2020) 40:463. doi: 10.14639/0392-100X-N0820
- Kilic O, Kalcioglu MT, Cag Y, Tuysuz O, Pektas E, Caskurlu H, et al. Could sudden sensorineural hearing loss be the sole manifestation of COVID-19? An investigation into SARS-COV-2 in the etiology of sudden sensorineural hearing loss. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2020) 97:208–11. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.06.023
- Koumpa FS, Forde CT, Manjaly JG. Sudden irreversible hearing loss post COVID-19. BMJ Case Rep. (2020) 13:e238419. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2020-238419
- 29. Lamounier P, Franco Gonçalves V, Ramos HVL, Gobbo DA, Teixeira RP, Dos Reis PC, et al. A 67-year-old woman with sudden hearing

loss associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection. Am J Case Rep. (2020) 21:e927519. doi: 10.12659/AJCR.927519

- Lang B, Hintze J, Conlon B. Coronavirus disease 2019 and sudden sensorineural hearing loss. J Laryngol Otol. (2020) 1:1–3. doi: 10.1017/S0022215120002145
- Sriwijitalai W, Wjwanitkit V. Hearing loss and COVID-19: a note. Am J Otolaryngol. (2020) 102473. doi: 10.1016/j.amjoto.2020.102473
- Fidan V. New type of corona virus induced acute otitis media in adult. Am J Otolaryngol. (2020) 41:102487. doi: 10.1016/j.amjoto.2020.102487
- Raad N, Ghorbani J, Mikaniki N, Haseli S, Karimi-Galougahi M. Otitis media in coronavirus disease 2019: a case series. J Laryngol Otol. (2021) 135:10–3. doi: 10.1017/S0022215120002741
- Mohan S, Workman A, Barshak M, Welling DB, Abdul-Aziz D. Considerations in management of acute otitis media in the COVID-19 era. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol.* (2021) 130:520–7. doi: 10.1177/0003489420958443
- Young YH. Contemporary review of the causes and differential diagnosis of sudden sensorineural hearing loss. *Int J Audiol.* (2020) 59:243– 53. doi: 10.1080/14992027.2019.1689432
- 36. Di Nardo W, Anzivino R, Cattani P, Santangelo R, De Corso E, Paludetti G. Herpes simplex virus-1 and cytomegalovirus DNAs detection in the inner ear of implanted patients with non-congenital infection. *Acta Otolaryngol.* (2017) 137:791–6. doi: 10.1080/00016489.2017.1293292
- Chandrasekhar SS, Tsai Do B, Schwartz S, Bontempo L, Faucett E, Finestone S, et al. Clinical practice guideline: sudden hearing loss (Update). *Otolaryngol-Head Neck Surg.* (2019) 161:S1-s45. doi: 10.1177/0194599819859885
- Cure E, Cure MC. Comment on "hearing loss and COVID-19: A note". Am J Otolaryngol Head Neck Med Surg. (2020) 41:102513. doi: 10.1016/j.amjoto.2020.102513
- Gavriilaki E, Anyfanti P, Gavriilaki M, Lazaridis A, Douma S, Gkaliagkousi E. Endothelial dysfunction in COVID-19: lessons learned from coronaviruses. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* (2020) 22:63. doi: 10.1007/s11906-020-01078-6
- Anzivino R, Sciancalepore PI, Petrone P, D'Elia A, Petrone D, Quaranta N. Tinnitus revival during COVID-19 lockdown: how to deal with it? *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol.* (2021) 278:295–6. doi: 10.1007/s00405-020-06147-9
- Davis HE, Assaf GS, McCorkell L, Wei H, Low RJ. Re'em Y, et al. Characterizing long COVID in an international cohort: 7 months of symptoms and their impact. *EClinicalMedicine*. (2021) 38:101019. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101019
- Carfi A. BernabeiR, Landi F, Gemelli Against COVID-19 Post-Acute Care Study Group. Persistent Symptoms in Patients after Acute COVID-19 JAMA. (2020) 324:603–5. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.12603
- Lechien JR, Chiesa-Estomba CM, Place S, Van Laethem Y, Cabaraux P, Mat Q, et al. COVID-19 task force of YO-IFOS. Clinical and epidemiological characteristics of 1420 European patients with mild-to-moderate coronavirus disease 2019. J Intern Med. (2020) 288:335–44. doi: 10.1111/joim.13089
- 44. Micarelli A, Granito I, Carlino P, Micarelli B, Alessandrini M. Selfperceived general and ear-nose-throat symptoms related to the COVID-19 outbreak: a survey study during quarantine in Italy. J Int Med Res. (2020) 48:300060520961276. doi: 10.1177/0300060520961276
- Munro KJ, Uus K, Almufarrij I, Chaudhuri N, Yioe V. Persistent self-reported changes in hearing and tinnitus in post-hospitalisation COVID-19 cases. *Int J Audiol.* (2020) 59:889–90. doi: 10.1080/14992027.2020.1798519
- 46. Iltaf S, Fatima M, Salman S, Salam JU, Abbas S. Frequency of neurological presentations of coronavirus disease in patients presenting to a tertiary care hospital during the 2019 coronavirus disease pandemic. *Cureus*. (2020) 12:e9846. doi: 10.7759/cureus.9846
- Viola P, Ralli M, Pisani D, Malanga D, Sculco D, Messina L, et al. Tinnitus and equilibrium disorders in COVID-19 patients: preliminary results. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol.* (2021) 278:3725–30. doi: 10.1007/s00405-020-06440-7
- Salahuddin H, Afreen E, Sheikh IS, Lateef S, Dawod G, Daboul J, et al. Neurological predictors of clinical outcomes in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. Front Neurol. (2020) 11:585944. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.585944
- Salepci E, Turk B, Ozcan SN, Bektas ME, Aybal A, Dokmetas I, et al. Symptomatology of COVID-19 from the otorhinolaryngology perspective: a survey of 223 SARS-CoV-2 RNA-positive patients. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol.* (2021) 278:525–35. doi: 10.1007/s00405-020-06284-1

- Mao L, Jin H, Wang M, Hu Y, Chen S, He Q, et al. Neurologic Manifestations of Hospitalized Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Neurol.* (2020) 77:683–90. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.1127
- Malayala SV, Mohan G, Vasireddy D, Atluri P. A case series of vestibular symptoms in positive or suspected COVID-19 patients. *Infez Med.* (2021) 29:117–22.
- Wichova H, Miller ME, Derebery MJ. otologic manifestations after COVID-19 vaccination: the house ear clinic experience. *Otol Neurotol.* (2021) 42:e1213– 8 doi: 10.1097/MAO.00000000003275
- Kadali RAK, Janagama R, Peruru S, Malayala SV, Side. effects of BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine: A randomized, cross-sectional study with detailed self-reported symptoms from healthcare workers. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2021) 106:376–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2021.04.047
- 54. Gianfredi V, Minerva M, Casu G, Capraro M, Chiecca G, Gaetti G, et al. Immediate adverse events following COVID-19 immunization. A crosssectional study of 314,664 Italian subjects. *Acta Biomed.* (2021) 92:e2021487. doi: 10.23750/abm.v92iS6.12365
- 55. Ciorba A, Corazzi V, Bianchini C, Aimoni C, Pelucchi S, Skarzyński PH, et al. Autoimmune inner ear disease (AIED): a diagnostic challenge. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol. (2018) 32:2058738418808680. doi: 10.1177/2058738418808680
- Vonck K, Garrez I, De Herdt V, Hemelsoet D, Laureys G, Raedt R et al. Neurological manifestations and neuro-invasive mechanisms of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus type 2. *Eur J Neurol.* (2020) 27:1578– 87. doi: 10.1111/ene.14329
- Whittaker A, Anson M, Harky A. Neurological Manifestations of COVID-19: a systematic review and current update. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2020) 142:14– 22. doi: 10.1111/ane.13266
- Rhea EM, Logsdon AF, Hansen KM, Williams LM, Reed MJ, Baumann KK et al. The S1 protein of SARS-CoV-2 crosses the blood-brain barrier in mice. *Nat Neurosci.* (2021) 24:368–78. doi: 10.1038/s41593-020-00771-8
- Shang J, Ye G, Shi K, Wan Y, Luo C, Aihara H et al. Structural basis of receptor recognition by SARS-CoV-2. *Nature*. (2020) 581:221– 4. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2179-y
- Elarbed A, Fackrell K, Baguley DM, Hoare DJ. Tinnitus and stress in adults: a scoping review. *Int J Audiol.* (2021) 60:171– 82. doi: 10.1080/14992027.2020.1827306
- Clem AS. Fundamentals of vaccine immunology. J Glob Infect Dis. (2011) 3:73–8. doi: 10.4103/0974-777X.77299
- Gallus R, Melis A, Rizzo D, Piras A, De Luca LM, Tramaloni P, et al. Audiovestibular symptoms and sequelae in COVID-19 patients. J Vestib Res. (2021) 31:381–7. doi: 10.3233/VES-2 01505
- Dror AA, Kassis-Karayanni N, Oved A, Daoud A, Eisenbach N, Mizrachi M, et al. Auditory performance in recovered SARS-COV-2 patients. *Otol Neurotol.* (2021) 42:666–70. doi: 10.1097/MAO.0000000000 03037

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Di Mauro, La Mantia, Cocuzza, Sciancalepore, Rasà, Maniaci, Ferlito, Tundo and Anzivino. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Performance of NEWS, qSOFA, and SIRS Scores for Assessing Mortality, Early Bacterial Infection, and Admission to ICU in COVID-19 Patients in the Emergency Department

Julio Alencar¹, Luz Marina Gómez Gómez¹, Andre Lazzeri Cortez², Heraldo Possolo de Souza^{1,3}, Anna Sara Levin^{2,4} and Matias Chiarastelli Salomão^{2*} for the HCFMUSP COVID-19 Study Group[†]

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Felipe Dal Pizzol, Universidade do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Márcio Boniatti, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Brazil Cristiane Tomasi, Universidade do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Matias Chiarastelli Salomão matias.salomao@hc.fm.usp.br

[†]A list of collaborators is provided in the Appendix

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases - Surveillance, Prevention and Treatment, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 18 September 2021 Accepted: 08 February 2022 Published: 02 March 2022

Citation:

Alencar J, Marina Gómez Gómez L, Cortez AL, Possolo de Souza H, Levin AS and Salomão MC (2022) Performance of NEWS, qSOFA, and SIRS Scores for Assessing Mortality, Early Bacterial Infection, and Admission to ICU in COVID-19 Patients in the Emergency Department. Front. Med. 9:779516. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.779516 ¹ Departamento de Emergência Médica, Hospital das Clínicas, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ² Departamento de Moléstias Infecciosas e Parasitárias do Hospital das Clínicas da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ³ Departamento de Emergência Médica, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ⁴ Departamento de Moléstias Infecciosas e Parasitárias, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

SARS-CoV-2 infection has a wide spectrum of presentations, from asymptomatic to pneumonia and sepsis. Risk scores have been used as triggers for protocols that combine several interventions for early management of sepsis. This study tested the accuracy of the score SIRS, qSOFA, and NEWS in predicting outcomes, including mortality and bacterial infection, in patients admitted to the emergency department (ED) during the COVID-19 pandemic. We described 2,473 cases of COVID-19 admitted to the ED of the largest referral hospital for severe COVID-19 in Brazil during the pandemic. SIRS, qSOFA and NEWS scores showed a poor performance as prognostic scores. However, NEWS score had a high sensitivity to predict in-hospital death (0.851), early bacterial infection (0.851), and ICU admission (0.868), suggesting that it may be a good screening tool for severe cases of COVID-19, despite its low specificity.

Keywords: COVID-19, sepsis, NEWS, qSOFA (quick sequential organ failure assessment), SIRS (for Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome), scores, prognosis, emergency

INTRODUCTION

SARS-CoV-2 infection has a wide spectrum of presentations, from asymptomatic to severe cases of viral pneumonia and Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (1). Considering the pathophysiology and the clinical manifestations, some COVID-19 patients meet the definition of sepsis, described as an unregulated inflammatory host response to infection that results in organ failure and risk of death (2, 3).

This concept of sepsis is recent and was updated after a better understanding of pathophysiological events (4). In a consensus definition from 1991, sepsis was defined as a systemic inflammatory response (SIRS—Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome) caused by infection (5, 6). The diagnosis of sepsis was made in patients with suspected or confirmed infection and two of four criteria: abnormalities in body temperature, tachypnea, tachycardia and leukocytosis (6).

79

More recently, a new consensus, Sepsis-3, defines sepsis as organ dysfunction, represented as at least 2 points in the Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score in patients with suspected or confirmed infection (3). In the Emergency Department (ED), the use of a sepsis-related organ failure prediction tool (qSOFA) can help identify patients at high risk of death (3). Moreover, authors have compared the accuracy of scores based on physical examination for diagnosing sepsis in patients admitted to the ED with suspected or confirmed infection, and the NEWS (National Early Warning Score) score has been shown superior to SIRS and qSOFA (7).

These three tools have been used as triggers for protocols that combine several interventions for early management of sepsis, including the use of antibiotics (8). Although there is still controversy about how quickly antibiotics should be administered to septic patients in general (9), COVID-19 is a viral disease without indication for antibiotic treatment (10), and there is concern that the use of antibiotics may exacerbate antimicrobial resistance without a clinical benefit (11).

Thus, we designed a study to test the accuracy of the scores SIRS, qSOFA, and NEWS in predicting outcomes, including mortality and bacterial infection, in patients admitted to the ED during the COVID-19 pandemic.

METHODS

Study Design and Population

We conducted a retrospective single center cohort study from March to August 2020 at the ED in Hospital das Clínicas, in São Paulo, Brazil. This is an academic tertiary-care hospital affiliated to São Paulo University with 2,200 beds, comprising five institutes and two auxiliary hospitals. In March 2020, the main institute was converted to a COVID-19–only facility, dedicating 900 beds to the care of infected patients. Admissions to the COVID-19 Institute were centrally managed by the Regulatory Central of the State of São Paulo, and severely ill patients are preferably referred to the hospital

We included all consecutive adult patients (\geq 18 years) with confirmed COVID-19, defined as at least one positive result using reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (Rt-PCR) obtained from nasopharyngeal swabs or bronchial secretions (12).

We excluded patients for whom we could not calculate scores due missing data. Patient data were collected through electronic medical records, and a database was built using REDCap software (13).

We applied risk assessment scores according to patients' admission variables. The positive qSOFA cutoff was 2 or greater (3), NEWS score was classified into low risk (1–3 points) and high risk (four or more points) of sepsis (7), and the positive cutoff for SIRS was 2 or greater (5).

Besides the SIRS, qSOFA and NEWS variables, we also collected data on demographics (age, sex), clinical history (previous diagnoses and medications, time of symptoms on admission, physical examination, supplemental oxygen), laboratory tests routinely collected on admission (complete blood count, D-dimer, C-reactive protein, urea, creatinine, fibrinogen, lactate), variables of SAPS3, treatment (antibiotics, anticoagulants and corticosteroids), and outcomes (length of hospital stay, dialyses, invasive mechanical ventilation and inhospital mortality). We considered with severe COVID-19, patients who had SpO2 < 90% on room air, clinical signs of pneumonia, or a respiratory rate > 30 breaths/min (10).

The primary outcome was in-hospital mortality within 30 days after admission. Secondary outcomes were admission to intensive care unit (ICU) within 7 days from admission, and early bacterial infection confirmed by bacterial growth in culture.

We defined as early bacterial infection any positive culture of blood, urine or tracheal secretions in the first 7 days of hospitalization. We considered contaminants the coagulasenegative *Staphylococci, Corynebacterium species, Bacillus* spp. other than *Bacillus anthracis, Cutibacterium acnes, Micrococcus* spp., *viridans* group *streptococci, and Clostridium perfringens* (14) if isolated in only one culture of the patient. The contaminants were excluded.

All patients received standard care, according to the institutional protocol. In the emergency department, this included oxygen supplementation, dexamethasone and antibiotics.

The study protocol was approved by the Local Ethics Committee (number: 3.990.817; CAAE: 30417520.0.0000.0068), which waived the need for written informed consent. We adhered to Transparent Reporting of a Multivariable Prediction for Individual Prognosis or Diagnosis (TRIPOD) guidelines (15).

Statistical Analysis

Mean, standard deviation (SD), median, and interquartile range (IQR) were used for descriptive statistics according to variable distribution.

Model predictive performance was assessed with the area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUROC). Clinical utility was analyzed using sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive values (PPV), negative predictive values (NPV), positive likelihood ratio, negative likelihood ratio, and precision recall curves. Confidence intervals (95%) were calculated after 1,000 bootstrap re-samples (16–19).

SIRS, qSOFA and NEWS's variables were submitted to bivariate analysis and factors with statistical significance (p < 0.05) were submitted to logistic regression using multivariate analysis by calculating the Lassos lambda coefficient for the outcomes of in-hospital death, ICU admission, and early bacterial infection.

A Bonferroni correction was used to account for multiple comparisons across the pre-specified outcomes and subgroup analyses.

All statistical analyses were performed using the software R version 3.6.2.

RESULTS

A total of 3,021 patients diagnosed with COVID-19 in the Emergency Department were included in the study,



of which 2,473 patients had enough data to calculate the scores. To analyze the predictive power of the three scores, data from these 2,473 individuals were used (**Figure 1**).

The median age of patients was 61.6 years, 57% were male, and the median length of hospital stay was 14 days. The median SAPS3 was 65, and the median time between onset of symptoms of COVID-19 and hospitalization was 8 days. A total of 1,904 patients (77%) required ICU admission. In-hospital mortality was 39% (968 patients) (Tables 1, 2). Cultures collected within the first 7 days of hospitalization were available for 1,190 patients, and 684 (62%) of these patients had an infectious agent isolated. The most commonly isolated agents were Staphylococcus aureus (112 isolates), Candida albicans (109 isolates), Pseudomonas aeruginosa (78 isolates), and Acinetobacter baumannii (69 isolates) (Table 3). The most isolated agents, considering only blood cultures, were Staphylococcus aureus (67 isolates), Enterococcus spp. (50 isolates), Klebsiella pneumoniae (48 isolates), Pseudomonas aeruginosa (34 isolates), Acinetobacter baumannii (30 isolates), Candida albicans (19 isolates), and other Candida species (23 isolates).

At admission, 1,364 (55%) had positive SIRS, 820 (33%) had positive qSOFA, and 2005 (81%) had high risk NEWS. In-hospital mortality frequency based on these cutoffs were: 629 (46%) for SIRS; 265 (32%) for qSOFA, and 859 (43%) for NEWS. The frequency of patients with early bacterial infection based on the cut-offs were: 423 (62%) for SIRS; 211 (66%) for qSOFA; and 582 (61%) for NEWS (**Table 4**).

Prediction of Mortality

The AUROC for each score to predict mortality was: 0.58 for SIRS, 0.55 for qSOFA, and 0.56 for NEWS. After corrections, only AUROC values for SIRS and qSOFA were considered statistically different (p = 0.003).

We found higher sensitivity for NEWS 0.89 (CI 95% 0.87–0.91) and its NPV was 0.77 (CI 95% 0.73–0.80). However, NEWS had a lower specificity, 0.24 (CI 95% 0.22–0.26) and lower PPV 0.43 (CI 95% 0.42–0.44) (**Table 5, Figure 2**).

Prediction of Early Bacterial Infection

There was no difference between the AUROC of the three scores to predict bacterial infection, with poor performance for the three. The NEWS score presented the best sensitivity [0.85 (CI 95% 0.82–0.88)], and qSOFA the best specificity [0.75 (CI 95% 0.71–0.79)] (**Table 5, Figure 3**).

Prediction of ICU Admission

There was also no difference between the AUROC of the three scores. The NEWS score demonstrated the best sensitivity [0.87, CI 95% (0.85; 0.88)], and SIRS [0.62, CI 95% (0.58; 0.66)] the best specificity (**Figure 4**).

Factors Associated With Mortality, Admission to the ICU, and Early Bacterial Infection

The factors associated with in-hospital death were: use of steroids, cancer, male sex, and immunosuppression. Protective

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of patients on Emergency Department admission.

	•	atients 473)		-	Died in pital (96	68)		vivors 505)				All patient vith cultur (1,105)		-	atients w sitive cul (652)		-	atients w ative culi (453)		
	Median	Interq Interv	•	Median	Interqu Interv		Median	Interqu Interva		P-value	Median	Interqua Interval		Median	Interqua Interva		Median	Interqua Interval		P-value
Age	61.6	49.1	71.3	62.5	52.5	70.1	62.5	51	70.7	0.73	62.5	51.8	70.5	62.5	52.5	70.1	62.5	51	70.7	0.73
Hospital length of stay (days)	14	8	23	25	18	37	18	11	27	<0.01	21	13	32	25	18	37	18	11	27	<0.01
Characteristics	on admi	ission																		
Duration of Symptoms on Admission (days)	8	5	11	7	4	10	8	5	12	<0.01	8	5	11	7	4	10	8	5	12	<0.01
Temperature (°C)	36.1	36	37	36.3	36	37	36.2	36	37	0.76	36.2	36	37	36.3	36	37	36.2	36	37	0.76
Heart rate (bpm)	88	77	100	89	78	100	90	78	102	0.19	90	78	101	89	78	100	90	78	102	0.19
Respiratory Rate (ipm)	24	20	28	25	20	30	24	20	30	0.22	24	20	30	25	20	30	24	20	30	0.22
Systolic blood Pressure (mmHg)	122	110	139	120	109	137	120	105	137	0.38	120	107	137	120	109	137	120	105	137	0.38
SpO2 (%)	94	91	96	93	90	96	94	91	97	0.01	94	91	96	93	90	96	94	91	97	0.01
SAPS3	65	53	77	66	54.25	77	69	58	78.5	0.01	68	56	78	66	54.25	77	69	58	78.5	0.01
BMI	26.4	23.4	31.6	25.8	22.9	30.4	26.65	23.5	32	0.04	26.2	23.4	31.3	25.8	22.9	30.4	26.65	23.5	32	0.04
Blood tests co	lected up	o to 72	h after	admissio	on															
Leukocytes (X 10 ³ /µL)	9.06	6.27	12.84	9.17	5.96	13.67	10	7	15	<0.01	9.75	6.60	14.24	9.17	5.96	13.67	9.91	7.04	14.60	<0.01
Neutrophils (X 10 ³ / µL)	7.48	4.85	11	7.8	5	11.85	8.49	6	12.98	0.01	8.26	5.32	12.50	7.80	4.82	11.85	8.49	5.75	12.98	0.01
Lymphocytes (X 10 ³ /µL)	0.85	0.56	1.22	0.71	0.48	1	0.81	0.52	1	0.02	0.78	0. 50	1.14	0.71	0.48	1.08	0.81	0.52	1.19	0.02
CRP (mg/L)	128.5	63.7	236.4	168.55	88.58	271	169.2	80.8	269.3	0.61	169.2	84.2	270.8	168.55	89	271	169.2	80.8	269.3	0.61
LDH (UI/L)	436	316.5	593	495	378	631	501	376	678.5	0.40	498	377	656.5	495	378	631	501	376	678.5	0.40
D-Dimer (ng/mL)	1,631	878	5,030	1,697	940	5,286	2,954	1,198.5	7233.5	<0.01	2,241	1093.5	6,749	1,697	940	5,286	2,954	1198.5	7233.5	<0.01
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	538	410	664	525	389	684	551	410	664	0.53	551	403	664	525	389	684	551	410	664	0.53
Lactate (mg/dL)	13	10	18	14	10	19	14	11	18	0.68	14	10.75	18	14	10	19	14	11	18	0.68

82

 TABLE 2 | Characteristics of patients on Emergency Department admission and outcomes.

	All pat	ients	Died in ho	spital (968)	Patients with pos	itive cultures (652
	N (2,473)	%	N (968)	%	N (652)	%
Sex (Male) N, %	1,412	57%	608	43%	400	61%
Comorbidities						
Chronic kidney disease (Dialysis) N, %	659	27%	492	75%	282	59%
Cardiovascular disease N, %	460	19%	202	44%	114	57%
lypertension N, %	1,445	59%	633	44%	430	62%
COPD <i>N</i> , %	166	7%	83	50%	53	64%
sthma N, %	101	4%	26	26%	22	63%
enal failure (dialysis) N, %	86	4%	43	50%	25	63%
enal failure N, %	226	9%	111	49%	63	56%
iver disease N, %	76	3%	38	50%	20	63%
troke N, %	182	7%	89	49%	51	59%
ementia N, %	74	3%	42	57%	11	69%
heumatologic disease N, %	58	2%	15	26%	20	71%
lematological disease N, %	176	9%	68	39%	58	60%
sychiatric disease N, %	81	4%	24	30%	19	61%
olid organ transplant N, %	70	9%	29	41%	14	44%
besity N, %	354	14%	95	27%	105	65%
iabetes N, %	947	38%	428	45%	302	64%
yslipidemia N, %	144	18%	53	37%	32	47%
ancer N, %	231	10%	134	58%	56	51%
nmunodeficiency N, %	44	4%	28	64%	13	42%
IV/Aids <i>N</i> , %	21	1%	11	52%	6	50%
ypothyroidism N, %	178	21%	74	42%	49	52%
moker N, %	167	7%	84	50%	56	58%
Icoholism N, %	101	9%	38	38%	30	59%
rug user <i>N</i> , %	23	9% 3%	7	30%	7	58%
other comorbidities N, %	373	24%	166	45%	104	59%
ymptoms on Admission	1 000	750/	750	400/	500	000/
yspnea N, %	1,862	75%	750	40%	532	62%
ough	1,664	68%	630	38%	433	59%
putum N, %	119	7%	40	34%	37	73%
iredness N, %	619	25%	208	34%	167	64%
ew confusion N, %	149	6%	66	44%	35	69%
ife support						
CU N, %	1,904	77%	927	49%	637	61%
lechanical Ventilation N, %	1,491	65%	878	59%	575	62%
asoactive drugs N, %	1,455	65%	881	61%	563	60%
xygen therapy N, %	2,307	95%	967	42%	669	62%
CMO <i>N</i> , %	11	0%	9	82%	6	60%
nticoagulant N, %	2,416	98%	948	39%	678	62%
ntiplaquet N, %	485	20%	191	39%	127	56%
orticosteroid use N, %	1,695	69%	771	46%	544	62%
se of immunosuppressants N, %	82	3%	31	38%	20	48%
ntibiotic N, %	2,291	93%	935	41%	661	61%
ntifungal N, %	242	10%	139	57%	118	61%
CEi N, %	370	15%	74	20%	71	50%

TABLE 3 | Bacterial infections.

Isolate	Frequency
Early bacterial infection (culture positive on	first 7 days of admission)
Other non-fermenting gram negative bacilli	13
Acinetobacter baumannii complex	69
Others	9
Anaerobes	4
Other Candida spp.	17
Candida glabrata	39
Candida albicans	109
Candida tropicalis	46
Other Enterobacterales	15
Complexo M. tuberculosis	10
Other Enterobacterales	4
Coagulase-negative Staphylococcus	60
Streptococcus spp.	6
Serratia marcescens	9
Staphylococcus aureus	112
Escherichia coli	36
Klebsiella pneumoniae	45
Aspergillus spp.	2
Burkholderia spp.	2
Proteus spp.	4
Enterobacter cloacae complex	10
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	78
Stenotrophomonas maltophilia	15

TABLE 4 | Scores SIRS, qSOFA and NEWS at admission and outcomes in patients COVID-19.

	Patients	SIR	S > 2	qSO	FA > 2	NEV	VS > 4
	N	N	%	N	%	N	%
Died in hospital	968	629	46%	265	32%	859	43%
Positive culture	652	423	62%	211	67%	582	61%

factors were: use of ACEi, rheumatologic disease, and hematologic disease (Table 6).

The factors associated with ICU admission were: dialysis, supplemental oxygen therapy, use of steroids, anticoagulation, cardiovascular disease, and immunosuppression (Table 6).

Precision Recall

All scores show low performance on precision-recall. They only presented a high recall value, but with small precision values. According to precision-recall, the score with the best performance is the qSOFA, which has the best specificity (Table 4). The scores also show a low performance to predict positive culture of patients with COVID-19. High precision values only are present with low recall (Figures 5, 6).

TABLE 5	Area under f	Receiver Op	erator Curve	s (AUROC) for 1	TABLE 5 Area under Receiver Operator Curves (AUROC) for mortality and early bacterial infection for SIRS > 2, qSOFA > 2, and NEWS > 4.	oacterial infe	ction for SIR	S > 2, qSOFA > 2	2, and NEWS	3 > 4.						
	AUC	CI 95%	5%	P-value	Sensitivity	CI 95%	5%	Specificity	CI 95%	5%	NPV	CI 95%	5%	РРV	CI 95%	5%
AUROC fo	r mortality	prediction 1	for SIRS >	2, qSOFA > 2,	AUROC for mortality prediction for SIRS > 2, qSOFA > 2, and NEWS > 4											
SIRS	0.58	0.56	0.6	0.003*	0.65	0.61	0.68	0.51	0.49	0.54	0.69	0.67	0.71	0.46	0.44	0.48
qSOFA	0.55	0.53	0.57	0.08***	0.27	0.25	0:30	0.63	0.61	0.66	0.57	0.56	0.59	0.32	0:30	0.35
NEWS	0.56	0.55	0.58	0.09**	0.89	0.87	0.91	0.24	0.22	0.26	0.77	0.73	0.80	0.43	0.42	0.44
AUROC fo	r early cult	ure positivi	ty predictio	in for SIRS > 2	AUROC for early culture positivity prediction for SIRS $>$ 2, qSOFA $>$ 2, and NEWS $>$ 4	NEWS > 4										
SIRS	0.50	0.47	0.53	0.11*	0.61	0.58	0.65	0.37	0.33	0.42	0.38	0.34	0.41	0.62	0.59	0.64
qSOFA	0.53	0.50	0.56	0.49***	0.30	0.27	0.34	0.75	0.71	0.79	0.40	0.38	0.42	0.67	0.62	0.71
NEWS	0.52	0.50	0.54	0.24**	0.85	0.82	0.88	0.11	0.79	0.14	0.31	0.24	0.38	0.61	0.60	0.62
*p-value cor **p-value co ***p-value co	*p-value comparison between SIRS and qSOFA. **p-value comparison between SIRS and NEWS. ***p-value comparison between qsofa and NEWS.	ween SIRS ar ween SIRS a tween gsofa	nd qSOFA. nd NEWS. and NEWS.													





DISCUSSION

In this study we described 2.473 cases of COVID-19 admitted to the emergency department of a tertiary hospital during the pandemic, in order to evaluate the performance of SIRS, qSOFA and NEWS scores to predict in-hospital mortality, early bacterial infection, and ICU admission. Our findings suggest a poor



performance of the 3 prognostic scores. However, they indicate a possible use of the NEWS as a screening tool for severe cases of COVID-19, given its high sensitivity to predict in-hospital death, early bacterial infection and ICU admission, despite its low specificity.

To our knowledge, this is the largest study to assess the performance of SIRS, qSOFA and NEWS scores in patients with COVID-19. Other authors have also evaluated prognostic scores to predict unfavorable outcomes for patients with COVID-19, but few have performed this assessment in the emergency department. Prognostic scores are tools that, in this context, help to make better-informed decisions (16, 17). In favor of the NEWS score, we must consider that this tool is already widely validated for the care of patients with sepsis. And, although not ideal, its high sensitivity allows NEWS to be used as a screening tool for cases that may progress badly during hospitalization. We also evaluated the performance of these tools to predict early bacterial infection, with similar results and NEWS also presented higher sensitivity than SIRS and qSOFA.

Our results are in agreement with the literature. The first study which systematically evaluated the use of NEWS2 for severe COVID-19 outcomes was carried out in five hospitals in the United Kingdom, one hospital in Norway, and two hospitals in Wuhan, China. Their results demonstrated a poor-to-moderate discrimination for 14-day ICU and death (AUC between 0.63 and 0.77 according to center) (20). Higher NEWS' cutoffs probably are better to predict COVID-19 outcomes. At Emergency Department, NEWS-2 score ≥ 6 at admission predicted severe disease with 80.0% sensitivity and 84.3% specificity (AUC 0.822, 95% CI 0.690–0.953), and was higher than qSOFA score ≥ 2 (AUC 0.624, 95% CI 0.446–0.810, p < 0.05) (21).

ality		Early	Bacteri	al Infect	ion		ICU h	ospita	lization	
Lassos lambda coefficient	1	P-value	CI	95%	Lassos lambda coefficient	RR	<i>P</i> - value	CI	95%	Lassos lambda coefficient
5 0.03	1.00	0.89	0.99	1.01		1.02	<0.001	1.01	1.02	0.01
)	0.98	< 0.001	0.97	0.98		1.13	<0.001	1.12	1.15	
1	1.05	<0.001	1.02	1.07	0.02	1.02	0.01	1.01	1.04	0.00
) -0.09	0.98	0.73	0.86	1.11		1.07	0.19	0.97	1.19	
1 0.01	1.00	0.32	1.00	1.01		1.01	<0.001	1.01	1.02	0.00
2	0.99	0.34	0.98	1.01		1.08	<0.001	1.06	1.10	0.04
9 0.00	1.00	0.44	0.99	1.00		0.99	0.00	0.99	1.00	-0.01
3 -0.02	1.02	0.04	1.00	1.04	0.01	0.96	< 0.001	0.94	0.98	0.01
7 0.05	1.01	0.01	1.00	1.02	0.01	1.10	0.05	1.01	1.21	
9 –0.01	1.01	0.26	1.00	1.02		1.00	0.93	0.99	1.01	
6 0.00	1.01	0.10	1.00	1.03		1.14	<0.001	1.11	1.17	-0.01
2 0.02	1.03	0.02	1.00	1.05	0.01	1.21	<0.001	1.18	1.25	0.12
1	1.00	0.75	0.98	1.02		1.00	0.72	1.00	1.02	
1 0.00	1.00	0.94	1.00	1.00		1.01	< 0.001	1.01	1.01	0.00
0.00	1.00	0.10	1.00	1.00		1.01	< 0.001	1.01	1.01	0.00
0.00	1.00	0.12	1.00	1.00		1.00	< 0.001	1.00	1.00	0.00
)	1.00	0.46	1.00	1.00		1.00	0.01	1.00	1.00	0.00
6 0.01	1.00	0.60	0.99	1.02		1.04	0.00	1.02	1.06	0.02
8	0.83	0.13	0.65	1.06		15.54	< 0.001	9.92	26.00	1.89
6	0.77	0.10	0.57	1.05		1.28	0.06	1.00	1.65	0.35
0.00	1.00	1.00	0.78	1.29		1.62	< 0.001	1.34	1.96	0.00
0.00	1.09	0.70	0.69	1.76		1.58	0.03	1.05	2.46	0.02
2 0.00	1.04	0.91	0.53	2.15		0.42	<0.001	0.28	0.63	-0.40
4	1.03	0.94	0.54	2.01		1.56	0.13	0.90	2.90	
6 0.00	0.75	0.16	0.51	1.12		1.09	0.62	0.79	1.53	
0.00	1.03	0.94	0.50	2.18		0.83	0.49	0.50	1.43	
8 0.00	0.89	0.61	0.57	1.40		0.90	0.57	0.64	1.29	
5 0.00	1.36	0.57	0.49	4.34		0.51	0.01	0.32	0.83	-0.21
5 –0.25	1.55	0.30	0.70	3.78		0.94	0.83	0.52	1.78	
3 –0.22	0.94	0.79	0.62	1.46		0.37	<0.001		0.56	-0.79
7 0.00	0.96	0.91	0.46	2.05		0.60	0.04	0.37	0.98	0.00
7 0.00	1.18	0.34	0.84	1.69		1.48	0.01	1.12	2.00	0.08
3 0.00 -	1.18	0.19	0.92	1.51	a =-	1.48	< 0.001		1.82	
5	0.37	< 0.001	0.22	0.65	-0.72	1.36	0.18	0.88	2.19	
6 0.26	0.62	0.02	0.41	0.92	-0.41	0.53	< 0.001		0.72	-0.41
9 0.18	0.44	0.03	0.21	0.91	-0.22	8.67	0.03		154.28	0.19
4	0.61	0.40	0.19	1.97	0.5.	0.75	0.54	0.30	2.10	
3	0.47	0.00	0.29	0.77	0.04	1.14	0.53	0.77	1.71	0.15
										0.13
		3 0.00 0.82	3 0.00 0.82 0.37	3 0.00 0.82 0.37 0.54	3 0.00 0.82 0.37 0.54 1.26	8 0.00 0.82 0.37 0.54 1.26	3 0.00 0.82 0.37 0.54 1.26 3.20	8 0.00 0.82 0.37 0.54 1.26 3.20 <0.001	3 0.00 0.82 0.37 0.54 1.26 3.20 <0.001 1.93	3 0.00 0.82 0.37 0.54 1.26 3.20 <0.001 1.93 5.72

TABLE 6 | Bivariate and multivariate analysis for In-hospital mortality, early bacterial infection, and ICU hospitalization in COVID-19 patients in the Emergency Department.

(Continued)

TABLE 6 | Continued

		In-h	ospital	mortality	y		Early I	Bacteri	al Infect	tion		ICU h	ospita	lizatior	ı
	RR	<i>P</i> -value	CI	95%	Lassos lambda coefficient	RR	P-value	CI	95%	Lassos lambda coefficient	RR	P- value	CI	95%	Lassos lambda coefficien
Drug user	0.76	0.55	0.29	1.81		0.67	0.50	0.21	2.30		0.86	0.75	0.35	2.40	
Other comorbidities	0.86	0.20	0.68	1.09		0.94	0.74	0.68	1.33		0.14	< 0.001	0.09	0.21	
Dyspnea	1.21	0.05	1.00	1.47	0.00	1.10	0.53	0.82	1.46		1.88	< 0.001	1.53	2.31	0.00
Cough	0.84	0.05	0.71	1.00	0.00	0.74	0.02	0.57	0.96	-0.22	1.10	0.34	0.90	1.34	
Sputum	0.97	0.86	0.65	1.42		1.68	0.11	0.91	3.27		0.64	0.02	0.44	0.95	0.00
Tiredness	0.73	0.00	0.60	0.88	-0.02	1.11	0.48	0.83	1.48		0.86	0.18	0.70	1.07	
New confusion	1.25	0.18	0.90	1.75		1.37	0.31	0.76	2.57		0.53	< 0.001	0.38	0.76	-0.26
Oxygen therapy	93.09	< 0.001	20.82	1639.71	0.00	0.29	0.11	0.04	1.09		31.83	< 0.001	19.23	56.32	1.57
ECMO	7.05	0.01	1.81	46.30		0.92	0.90	0.26	3.63		637021.36	6 0.96	0.00	NA	
Antiplaquet	1.01	0.90	0.83	1.24		0.75	0.06	0.56	1.01		1.19	0.16	0.94	1.52	
Corticosteroid use	2.46	< 0.001	02.04	2.97	0.48	0.93	0.62	0.68	1.25		4.31	< 0.001	3.54	5.25	0.69
Use of immunossupressors	0.94	0.80	0.59	1.48		0.55	0.06	0.29	1.02		0.71	0.17	0.45	1.18	
Antibiotic	3.11	< 0.001	2.14	4.65	0.00	0.35	0.03	0.12	0.85	-0.31	2.62	< 0.001	1.91	3.56	0.00
Antifungal	2.28	< 0.001	1.75	2.99	0.09	0.93	0.66	0.68	1.28		3.09	< 0.001	2.03	4.92	0.00
ACEi	0.34	< 0.001	0.26	0.44	-0.54	0.57	0.00	0.40	0.81	-0.44	0.93	0.60	0.72	1.22	





Although this study was conducted in an emergency department of a single center, this hospital was the main state referral for severe COVID-19. São Paulo has a population over 44 million, and 600 of the 6,000 critical COVID-19 care beds were located in this hospital. Because of this, our sample represents the selection of the most severe cases of the State of São Paulo, one of the world's epicenters of the pandemic at that time. This is evident when evaluating the median SAPS 3 value of 68 for patients admitted to the emergency department, which would

have an expected mortality of 66.8% for patients seen in Latin America. We highlight that tools presented lower AUROCs than those found in some studies (12, 13, 16, 22, 23), mainly due to the lower specificity and PPV values. This may have happened because of the high severity of the cases. In a scenario with a higher prevalence of milder cases, there would be a better chance of detecting survivors, resulting in higher specificity and PPV values.

The incidence of early bacterial infection was high, 59% among those who collected cultures, and 26% among the 2,403 patients studied. This result is much higher than that found in other studies, 3–8% (24, 25). It would be expected that these infections had occurred later, but the median time of COVID-19 symptoms on admission was 8 days. This finding may be one of the factors related to the greater severity of our patients.

There were no factors strongly associated with early bacterial infection, but antibiotic use was associated with a reduced risk. This finding may be explained by the use of antibiotics resulting in negative cultures. Despite the high incidence of early bacterial infection, it is important to note that the use of antibiotics was not associated with lower risk of admission to the ICU or death. It was not possible to analyze the risk of developing infection by resistant bacteria in our study, but the indiscriminate use of antibiotics has been shown to be associated with the emergence of resistance, and the prescription of these drugs should be done cautiously and rationally.

Among the factors associated with in-hospital death, we found the use of steroids to be the most important factor. This may represent a bias as steroids are prescribed for severe COVID-19 as well as for comorbidities such as cancer and immunodeficiency. Paradoxically, rheumatologic disease and hematologic disease were not associated with death. The latter, it was not even a factor associated with admission to the ICU. These patients were prioritized for hospital care, which may have positively influenced the outcome, despite their potentially higher risk (26, 27). The use of ACEi was a protective factor against death in our study, as demonstrated by other authors (28, 29).

The most important factors associated with admission to the ICU admission were factors associated with the need for intensive support, such as dialysis, or the severity of COVID-19 (supplemental oxygen therapy, use of steroids and anticoagulation). The presence of cardiovascular disease and immunodeficiency were also factors associated with admission to the ICU. Factors not associated with hospitalization in ICU were: cancer, dementia, hematologic disease and asthma. Although not expected, patients with asthma had lower risk of hospitalization in ICU, as demonstrated in other studies (30–32).

This study has limitations. Data for this study were collected prospectively, but their analysis was performed later, and it was not possible to obtain retrospectively some data that were not collected initially. For instance, it was not possible to collect data on Glasgow Coma Scale for all patients, as this information was sometimes described as mental status alert, somnolent, and unconsciousness in the electronic medical record. We considered any positive culture as bacterial infection. It was not possible

REFERENCES

- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med. (2020) 382:727– 33. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001017
- Merad M, Martin JC. Pathological inflammation in patients with COVID-19: a key role for monocytes and macrophages. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2020) 20:355–62. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0331-4

to evaluate the clinical features of the patients, so patients that were only colonized may have been considered as infected in our definition. We could not evaluate the antimicrobial resistance profiles in our study, so we could not analyze the impact of antibiotic use. This study was performed in a single-center, which is a limitation. However, this center was the reference hospital for severe cases of COVID-19 in the State of São Paulo, so we feel that it was broadly representative of the state which was hit hard by the pandemic. Our cases reflected the selection of the most severe cases in the state, actually representing a wider population than the study design would suggest, especially among critically ill patients in the emergency department.

In conclusion, for patients with severe COVID-19 admitted to the emergency department, SIRS or qSOFA did not perform well in predicting in-hospital mortality, early bacterial infection, or admission to the ICU. However, high sensitivity in predicting these three outcomes suggests that the NEWS score can be useful as a screening tool.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Hospital of Clinics, Faculty of Medicine, University of São Paulo, Brazil. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JA and MS conceptualized the project, analyzed the results, wrote the first draft, and wrote the final manuscript. LM performed the statistical analysis. AC collected data. HP and AL conceptualized the project and reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

LM acknowledges the partial support of FAPESP (Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo), grant 2019/23078-1. HP acknowledges the partial support of FAPESP, grants 2016/14566-4 and 2020/04738-8.

 Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The Third International Consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (Sepsis-3). *JAMA*. (2016) 315:801. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.0287

 Shankar-Hari M, Singer M, Phillips G, Levy M, Rubenfeld G, Angus D, et al. Developing a new definition and assessing new clinical criteria for septic shock: for the Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA J Am Med Assoc. (2014) 312:775– 87. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.0289

- ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee, Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, Dellinger RP, et al. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. *Chest.* (1992) 101:1644– 55. doi: 10.1378/chest.101.6.1644
- Levy MM, Fink MP, Marshall JC, Abraham E, Angus D, Cook D, et al. International sepsis definitions conference. *Crit Care Med.* (2003) 31:1250– 6. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000050454.01978.3B
- Usman OA, Usman AA, Ward MA. Comparison of SIRS, qSOFA, and NEWS for the early identification of sepsis in the Emergency Department. *Am J Emerg Med.* (2019) 37:1490–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2018.10.058
- Baghdadi JD, Brook RH, Uslan DZ, Needleman J, Bell DS, Cunningham WE, et al. Association of a care bundle for early sepsis management with mortality among patients with hospital-onset or community-onset sepsis. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2020) 180:707. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.0183
- Sterling SA, Miller WR, Pryor J, Puskarich MA, Jones AE. The impact of timing of antibiotics on outcomes in severe sepsis and septic shock. *Crit Care Med.* (2015) 43:1907–15. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000001142
- World Health Organization. *Clinical Management of COVID-19*. Washigton, DC: WHO (2020).
- Ginsburg AS, Klugman KP. COVID-19 pneumonia and the appropriate use of antibiotics. *Lancet Glob Health.* (2020) 8:e1453-4. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30444-7
- Corman VM, Landt O, Kaiser M, Molenkamp R, Meijer A, Chu DK, et al. Detection of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) by real-time RT-PCR. *Euro* Surveill. (2020) 25:2000045. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.3.2000045
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, Elliott V, Fernandez M, O'Neal L, et al. The REDCap consortium: building an international community of software platform partners. J Biomed Inform. (2019) 95:103208. doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103208
- 14. Doern GV, Carroll KC, Diekema DJ, Garey KW, Rupp ME, Weinstein MP, et al. Practical guidance for clinical microbiology laboratories: a comprehensive update on the problem of blood culture contamination and a discussion of methods for addressing the problem. *Clin Microbiol Rev 33*. (2019) e00009–19. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00009-19
- Collins GS, Reitsma JB, Altman DG, Moons KG. Transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis (TRIPOD): the TRIPOD statement. *BMJ*. (2015) 350:g7594. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g7594
- Brown LD, Cai TT, DasGupta A. Interval estimation for a binomial proportion. *Stat Sci.* (2001) 16:101–17. doi: 10.1214/ss/1009213286
- Mercaldo ND, Lau KF, Zhou XH. Confidence intervals for predictive values with an emphasis to case-control studies. *Stat Med.* (2007) 26:2170– 83. doi: 10.1002/sim.2677
- Boyd K, Eng KH, Page CD. Area under the precision-recall curve: point estimates and confidence intervals. In: Blockeel H, Kersting K, Nijssen S, Železný F, editors. Machine Learning and Knowledge Discovery in Databases. ECML PKDD 2013. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 8190. Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer (2013).
- Davis J, Goadrich M. (2006). The relationship between precision-recall and ROC curves. In: *Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Machine Learning*. Pittsburgh, PA (2006). doi: 10.1145/1143844.1143874
- Carr E, Bendayan R, Bean D, Stammers M, Wang W, Zhang H, et al. Evaluation and improvement of the National Early Warning Score (NEWS2) for COVID-19: a multi-hospital study. *BMC Med.* (2021) 19:23. doi: 10.1101/2020.04.24.20078006
- Myrstad M, Ihle-Hansen H, Tveita AA, Andersen EL, Nygård S, Tveit A, et al. National Early Warning Score 2 (NEWS2) on admission predicts severe disease and in-hospital mortality from Covid-19 - a prospective cohort study. *Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med.* (2020) 28:66. doi: 10.1186/s13049-020-00764-3
- 22. Kostakis I, Smith GB, Prytherch D, Meredith P, Price C, Chauhan A, et al. The performance of the National Early Warning Score and National

Early Warning Score 2 in hospitalised patients infected by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). *Resuscitation*. (2021) 159:150–7. doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.10.039

- Jang JG, Hur J, Hong KS, Lee W, Ahn JH. Prognostic accuracy of the SIRS, qSOFA, and NEWS for early detection of clinical deterioration in SARS-CoV-2 infected patients. J Korean Med Sci. (2020) 35:e234. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2020.35.e234
- Vaughn VM, Gandhi TN, Petty LA, Patel PK, Prescott HC, Malani AN, et al. Empiric antibacterial therapy and community-onset bacterial coinfection in patients hospitalized with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): a multi-hospital cohort study. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2021) 72:e533– 41. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa1239
- Langford BJ, So M, Raybardhan S, Leung V, Soucy JR, Westwood D, et al. Antibiotic prescribing in patients with COVID-19: rapid review and meta-analysis. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* (2021) 27:520–31. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.12.018
- Piñana JL, Martino R, García-García I, Parody R, Morales MD, Benzo G, et al. Risk factors and outcome of COVID-19 in patients with hematological malignancies. *Exp Hematol Oncol.* (2020) 9:21. doi: 10.1186/s40164-020-00177-z
- Yigenoglu TN, Ata N, Altuntas F, Basci S, Dal MS, Korkmaz S, et al. The outcome of COVID-19 in patients with hematological malignancy. J Med Virol. (2021) 93:1099–104. doi: 10.1002/jmv.26404
- Baral R, Tsampasian V, Debski M, Moran B, Garg P, Clark A, et al. Association between renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitors and clinical outcomes in patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2021) 4:e213594. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.3594
- Brandão Neto RA, Marchini JF, Marino LO, Alencar JCG, Lazar Neto F, Ribeiro S, et al. (2021). Correction: mortality and other outcomes of patients with coronavirus disease pneumonia admitted to the emergency department: a prospective observational Brazilian study. *PLoS ONE*. 16:e0248327. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0248327
- Yang JM, Koh HY, Moon SY, Yoo IK, Ha EK, You S, et al. Allergic disorders and susceptibility to and severity of COVID-19: a nationwide cohort study. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2020) 146:790–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2020.08.008
- Choi YJ, Park JY, Lee HS, Suh J, Song JY, Byun MK, et al. Effect of asthma and asthma medication on the prognosis of patients with COVID-19. *Eur Respir J.* (2021) 57:2002226. doi: 10.1183/13993003.02226-2020
- Grandbastien M, Piotin A, Godet J, Abessolo-Amougou I, Ederlé C, Enache I, et al. SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in hospitalized asthmatic patients did not induce severe exacerbation. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. (2020) 8:2600– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2020.06.032

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Alencar, Marina Gómez Gómez, Cortez, Possolo de Souza, Levin and Salomão. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIX HCFMUSP COVID-19 STUDY GROUP AUTHORS

Members	Name for publication	e-mail	ORCID-ID
Amanda Montal	Amanda C. Montal	amanda.montal@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0002-6478-6925
Anna Miethke Morais	Anna Miethke-Morais	anna.morais@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0002-5077-4122
Beatriz Perondi	Beatriz Perondi	beatriz.perondi@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0003-2280-642X
Carolina Carmo		carolina.carmo@hc.fm.usp.br	
Carolina dos Santos Lázari		carolina.lazari@hc.fm.usp.br	
Fabiane Yumi Ogihara Kawano		fabiane.kawano@hc.fm.usp.br	
Izabel Cristina Rios	Izabel Cristina Rios	izabel.rios@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0003-0938-6459
Izabel Marcilio	Izabel Marcilio	izamarcilio@gmail.com	0000-0002-2914-6535
Juliana Carvalho Ferreira	Juliana C. ferreira	juliana.ferreira@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0001-6548-1384
Rodrigo Antonio Brandão Neto		rodrigo.neto@hc.fm.usp.br	
Sabrina Ribeiro	Sabrina C. C. Ribeiro	sabrina.ribeiro@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0002-1182-8415
Suze M. Jacon		suze.jacon@hc.fm.usp.br	
Leila Letaif	Leila Harima	leila.suemi@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0003-0713-6560
Marcello Mihailenko Chaves Magri	Marcello M. C. Magri	marcello.magri@hc.fm.usp.br	
Marcelo Rocha	Marcelo C. Rocha	marcelo.rocha@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0001-6821-2286
Maria Amélia de Jesus		maria.amelia@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0001-8508-2612
Maria Cristina Peres Braido Francisco		maria.braido@hc.fm.usp.br	
Marjorie Fregonesi	Marjorie F. Silva	marjorie.silva@hc.fm.usp.br	
Maura Salaroli de Oliveira	Maura Salaroli Oliveira	maura.oliveira@hc.fm.usp.br	
Alberto José da Silva Duarte		alberto.duarte@hc.fm.usp.br	
Aluisio Segurado	Aluisio C. Segurado	segurado@usp.br	0000-0002-6311-8036
Carlos Carvalho		carlos.carvalho@hc.fm.usp.br	
Edivaldo Utiyama	Edivaldo M. Utiyama	edivaldo.utiyama@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0002-8376-975X
Ésper Georges Kallas		esper.kallas@usp.br	
Tarcisio P. Barros Filho	Tarcisio E. P. Barros-Filho	tarcisio.barros@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0002-7969-7845
Clarice Tanaka	Clarice Tanaka	clarice.tanaka@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0003-3900-5944
Eloisa Bonfá	Eloisa Bonfa	eloisa.bonfa@hc.fm.usp.br	
Ester Sabino		sabinoec@gmail.com	
Silvia Figueiredo Costa	Silvia F. Costa	silviacosta@usp.br	
Solange Fusco	Solange R. G. Fusco	solange.fusco@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0002-1243-1743
Thaís Guimarães	Thaís Guimarães	thais.guimaraes@hc.fm.usp.br	0000-0002-7282-5453





Respiratory Outcomes After 6 Months of Hospital Discharge in Patients Affected by COVID-19: A Prospective Cohort

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alessandro Cassini, World Health Organization (Switzerland), Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Paulo Hilario Nascimento Saldiva, University of São Paulo, Brazil Rodrigo Torres-Castro, University of Chile, Chile

*Correspondence:

Felipe Dal-Pizzol fdpizzol@gmail.com

[†]ORCID:

Gabriele da Silveira Prestes orcid.org/0000-0003-0328-753X Carla Sasso Simon orcid.org/0000-0002-4428-5074 Roger Walz orcid.org/0000-0002-9875-6687 Cristiane Ritter orcid.org/0000-0002-1891-1561 Felipe Dal-Pizzol orcid.org/0000-0003-3003-8977

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases – Surveillance, Prevention and Treatment, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

> Received: 14 October 2021 Accepted: 04 February 2022 Published: 07 March 2022

Citation:

Prestes GdS, Simon CS, Walz R, Ritter C and Dal-Pizzol F (2022) Respiratory Outcomes After 6 Months of Hospital Discharge in Patients Affected by COVID-19: A Prospective Cohort. Front. Med. 9:795074. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.795074 Gabriele da Silveira Prestes^{1†}, Carla Sasso Simon^{2†}, Roger Walz^{3†}, Cristiane Ritter^{2,4†} and Felipe Dal-Pizzol^{2,5*†}

¹ Laboratory of Translational Biomedicine, Graduate Program in Health Sciences, Universidade do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Criciuma, Brazil, ² Laboratory of Experimental Pathophysiology, Graduate Program in Health Sciences, Universidade do Extremo Sul Catarinense, Criciúma, Brazil, ³ Department of Clinical Medicine, Center for Applied Neuroscience (CeNAp), University Hospital - UFSC, Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianópolis, Brazil, ⁴ Intensive Care Unit, Hospital São José, Criciúma, Brazil, ⁵ Clinical Research Center, Hospital São José, Criciúma, Brazil

Background: Considering millions of people affected by Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), long-lasting sequelae can significantly impact health worldwide. Data from prospective studies in lower-middle-income countries on persistent lung dysfunction secondary to COVID-19 are lacking. This work aims to determine risk factors and the impact of persistent lung dysfunctions in COVID-19 survivors.

Methods: Observational and prospective cohort of patients admitted to a tertiary hospital from June 2020 to November 2020. Persistence of chest CT scan alterations, desaturation in the six-minute walk test (6MWT), forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV1), lung carbon monoxide diffusion (DLCO), and maximum inspiratory pressure (MIP) were measured 6 months after hospital discharge. Additionally, the Barthel index (BI) and the Modified Medical Research Council (mMRC) Dyspnea Scale were used to determine the impact of lung dysfunction in activities of daily living (ADL).

Results: It was included 44 patients. Sixty percent had persistent lung CT scan abnormalities. From 18 to 43% of patients had at least one pulmonary function dysfunction, a decrease in FEV1 was the least prevalent (18%), and a reduction in DLCO and MIP was the most frequent (43%). In general, female gender, comorbidity index, and age were associated with worse lung function. Additionally, the presence of lung dysfunction could predict worse BI (r-square 0.28) and mMRC (r-square 0.32).

Conclusion: Long-term lung dysfunction is relatively common in survivors from severe COVID-19 and impacts negatively on ADL and the intensity of dyspnea, similar to studies in high-income countries.

Keywords: pulmonary function, COVID-19, activities of daily living, mMRC scale, post COVID-19 condition, long-COVID

INTRODUCTION

In addition to the characteristic symptoms of the acute infectious process of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), such as fever, cough, and chest discomfort and, in severe cases, dyspnea and bilateral pulmonary infiltration (1, 2); "post-COVID condition" reports are increasing. Still, its prevalence, risk factors, or whether one can predict the occurrence of "post-COVID condition" is not known (3, 4). The consequences of acute lung damage drove by COVID-19 could be permanent lung damage if the patient recovers (5, 6).

Until today, there is not sufficient evidence on the long-term prognosis of patients who had pneumonia due to COVID-19 (5). The inflammatory storm that characterizes severe forms of the disease suggests that serious tissue sequelae may affect various organ systems. The most common symptoms were fatigue, cognitive problems, and new-onset dyspnea. In this context, McGroder et al. (6) evaluated patients 4 months after hospitalization. Predominantly in patients who underwent mechanical ventilation, fibrotic-type patterns were observed on CT. Elderly patients are at an even higher risk, and in this population, even less severe dysfunctions can cause increased morbidity and mortality (7). Few studies suggested that this pattern persist up to 12 months after hospitalization (8-10). Like other severe conditions (11), all these sequela would impacto on the ability to perform activities of daily living (ADL) and physical capacity (12).

Thus, lung dysfunction is a critical question in "post-COVID condition". Still, we do not have enough data on risk factors, the impact of this dysfunction on patients' daily living, mainly coming from lower-middle-income countries. In this context, we performed a prospective cohort study to identify pulmonary outcomes after 6 months of hospital discharge in patients who developed pneumonia due to COVID-19 in South Brazil. We hypothesize that 6 months after hospitalization due to COVID-19 pneumonia, lung dysfunction is frequent, and negatively affects the ADL.

METHODS

Study Design

A prospective cohort was conducted with patients admitted to a tertiary hospital from June 2020 to November 2020. The São José hospital's Institutional Review Board approved the protocol under the number 31384620.6.1001.5364. All patients or their surrogates gave written consent before inclusion in the study.

Setting

The study sample consisted of all consecutive patients admitted to the COVID-19 ward or intensive care unit (ICU) of a tertiary hospital from June 2020 to November 2020.

Participants

The inclusion criteria were patients over 18 years old admitted to the hospital with confirmed COVID-19 diagnosis through reverse transcriptase reaction or rapid antigen test and requiring supplementary oxygen, non-invasive ventilation, or mechanical ventilation due to COVID-19 pneumonia. Exclusion criteria were patients with severe chronic diseases (chronic kidney disease under dialysis, cirrhosis child C, severe COPD, severe heart failure) or diseases capable of altering inflammatory response (such as chronic use of immunosuppressants, cancer patients without disease control, and HIV without disease control), and patients in palliative care or with life expectancy <24 h.

Procedures

Investigators daily screened all patients admitted to the hospital, and those who met the inclusion criteria were considered eligible. The patient was invited to participate in the study from hospital admission for a maximum of 120 h. All necessary information was prospectively collected directly from the patient's electronic medical record. Prehospital comorbidities were aggregated through the validated Charlson comorbidity index. The severity of critical illness at ICU admission was collected with the Simplified Acute Physiology Score (SAPS) 3. The Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score was used to assess organ dysfunction. A chest CT scan was performed on admission and was analyzed to determine the extent of pulmonary involvement. Approximately, 6 months after hospital discharge, patients attended the hospital's outpatient clinic. They were evaluated with chest CT scan, lung carbon monoxide diffusion (DLCO), and lung plethysmography, a six-minute walk test (6MWT), ADL, and dyspnea intensity, performed as described below. The outcome evaluation was blinded for the hospitalization variables.

Chest Computed Tomography

The extension of acute-phase ground-glass opacity was graded as <25%, 25–50%, and >50% at hospital admission, modified from Guan et al. (13). At 6-months after hospital discharge, the persistence of ground-glass and the occurrence of lung fibrosis were evaluated.

Lung Plethysmography With Carbon Monoxide Diffusion

Pulmonary function tests were done according to the American Thoracic Society (ATS)–European Respiratory Society guidelines. A variable pressure VIASYS Respiratory Care plethysmography (Vyaire, Mettawa, IL, USA) was used to determine the following parameters: FEV1, DLCO, and maximum inspiratory pressure (MIP). For FEV1, flow-volume curves were obtained and the greatest percentage of the three maneuver was used for analysis. For MIP, each participant was asked to perform five manoeuvers, with a goal of matching the highest two within 10 cm H₂O, and the largest MIP from each participant's test was used for analysis. These variables were expressed as percentages of predicted normal values. Normal values were considered those \geq 80% of predicted values (6).

Abbreviations: 6MWT, 6-minute walk test; ADL, Activities of daily living; BI, Barthel index; CT, Computed tomography; CRP, c-reactive protein; FEV1, Forced expiratory volume in one second; ICU, Intensive care unit; DLCO, Lung carbon monoxide diffusion; MIP, Maximum inspiratory pressure; mMRC, Modified medical research council; SOFA, Sequential Organ Failure Assessment; SAPS, Simplified Acute Physiology Score.

Six-Minute Walk Test

Each patient walked on the flat ground as fast as possible without oxygen inhalation and completed the 6MWT independently. From the 6MWT, significant oxygen desaturation was the parameter used to qualify the patient's performance, defined as a decrease of at least 4% from baseline SpO₂ (14).

The Barthel Index

The BI is a ten-item ordinal scale used to measure performance ADL (15). BI scored according to the level of physical assistance required to perform the daily task.

The Modified Medical Research Council Dyspnea Scale

The Modified Medical Research Council (mMRC) Dyspnea Scale is a self-rating tool to measure the degree of disability that breathlessness poses on day-to-day activities on a scale from 0 to 4(16).

Outcomes

Outcomes were different aspects of lung function 6-months after hospital discharge: persistence of CT scan alterations, desaturation in the 6MWT, FEV1, DLCO, and MIP. Additionally, the BI and the mMRC were used to determine the impact of lung dysfunction in ADL.

Statistical Analysis

The collected data were analyzed in the IBM SPSS Statistics version 22.0 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, N.Y., USA). Quantitative variables were expressed as mean and standard deviation, and were compared using the Student's *t*-test. Nominal variables were expressed as frequency and percentage, and were compered using the Pearson's chi-square. The logistic binary regression was used to access the independent risk factors for the presence of lung dysfunction. Lung function parameters were dichotomized as described above, and the predictive variables were entered in the model as continuous or categorical depending on their characteristics. The model included only variables with p < 0.20 or p < 0.05 in the univariate analysis depending on the number of events observed in each outcome to not overfit the model. If variables that reached the threshold had collinearity, the variable with a lower *p*-value in the univariate analysis entered the final model. Results from univariate analysis were presented as *p*-value and logistic binary regression as relative risk and 95% CI. Linear regression was performed to determine the impact of lung dysfunction on ADL, and R squared was calculated to express the percentage of the variance in the ADL that the lung dysfunction variables explained. In all analyses, a p-value < 0.05 was adopted as the level for statistical significance.

RESULTS

Based on the predefined inclusion and exclusion criteria, the final sample resulted in 167 patients. From these, 56 patients died during hospitalization or follow-up. Due to the importance of a timely description of lung abnormalities, we evaluated only the TABLE 1 | General patients' characteristics.

Variables	N(%)	Mean (SD)/median (25–75)
Age, years		54 (11)
Gender		
Male	31 (70)	
Female	13 (30)	
BMI		30 (5.0)
Extent of lung involvement at a	dmission	
25–50%	16 (41)	
>50%	23 (59)	
Charlson comorbidity index		2 (1, 2)
Corticosteroids, yes	40 (91)	
SAPS III		48 (12.2)
Respiratory SOFA		
D1		2.8 (1.0)
D3		2.0 (1.4)
SOFA		
D1		3.7 (1.9)
D3		2.9 (2.6)
C-reactive protein, mg/L		
D1		118 (84)
D3		108 (96)
ICU admission		
Yes	31 (70)	
No	13 (30)	
ICU length of stay, days		12 (9.1)
Invasive mechanical ventilation	ı	
Yes	10 (23)	
No	34 (77)	
Days on mechanical ventilation		13 (7.7)
Length of hospital stay, days		16(10.3)

SD, standard deviation; BMI, Body mass index; SAPS III, Simplified Acute Physiology Score 3; SOFA, sequential organ failure assessment score; ICU, intensive care unit; N, number of participants.

first 44 consecutively included patients 6 months after hospital discharge. There were no missing cases. All patients will have a 1-year evaluation, as defined in the original protocol.

Table 1 described demographic information. Approximately, 70% of the patients were male, and the mean age was 54 ± 11 years. The mean body mass index was 30 ± 5 , and the median Charlson comorbidity index was 2 (1, 2). The mean length of ICU stay was 12 ± 9.1 days and the mean length of hospital stay was 16 ± 10.3 days. The need for mechanical ventilation was 23% of the sample. The mean SAPS III score was 48 ± 12 , and the mean respiratory SOFA was 2.8 ± 1 at admission (D1) and 2.0 ± 1.4 72 h after (D3). These variables were not statistically different compared to the remaining 67 patients not included in this preliminary analysis.

Lung CT scan abnormalities were ground-glass (15 from 24) and fibrosis (9 from 24). Thus, 24 (60%) of the patients had persistent lesions on CT scan. **Table 2** presented the relation of acute-phase variables and the persistence of lung abnormalities

6-months after hospital discharge.					
Variables	Present $(n = 24)$	Absence $(n = 20)$	p-value ^a	RR (CI 95%) ^t	
Age, years, mean (SD)	54 (11)	54 (11)	0.99	NA	
Gender					
Male, <i>n</i> (%)	16 (66)	15 (75)	0.55	NA	
BMI, mean (SD)	31 (4.8)	30 (5.4)	0.64	NA	
Extent of lung involvement at adm	ission ^c <i>n</i> (%)			
25–50%	8 (38)	7 (41)	0.85	NA	
>50%	13 (62)	10 (59)			
Charlson Comorbidity Index, median (25–75)	2 (1, 2)	1 (1, 2)	0.34	NA	
SAPS III, mean (SD)	47 (14.4)	48 (10.6)	0.91	NA	
Respiratory SOFA					
D1, mean (SD)	2.9 (1.1)	2.7 (0.9)	0.56	NA	
D3, mean (SD)	2.4 (1.3)	1.8 (1.5)	0.16*	1.04 (0.7–1.5)	
SOFA					
D1, mean (SD)	3.6 (1.7)	3.9 (2.2)	0.59	NA	
D3, mean (SD)	3.0 (2.5)	2.7 (2.8)	0.67	NA	
C-reactive protein, mg/L					
D1, mean (SD)	99 (72)	146 (96)	0.13	NA	
D3, mean (SD)	79 (54)	164 (133)	0.08*	0.98 (0.98–1.0)	
ICU yes, n (%)	31 (55)	14 (45)	0.95	NA	
ICU length of stay, days mean (SD)	12 (9.9)	11 (8.3)	0.65	NA	
Mechanical ventilation, yes, n (%)	4 (40)	6 (60)	0.29	NA	
	()				

TABLE 2 | Variables associated with the persistence of lesions on lung CT scan

 6-months after hospital discharge.

TABLE 3 | Variables associated with desaturation in the six-minute walk test (6MWT) 6-months after hospital discharge.

Variables	Present (n = 15)	Absence (<i>n</i> = 29)	p-value ^a	RR (IC 95%) ^b
Age, years, mean (SD)	56 (10)	52.7 (11)	0.24	NA
Gender				
Male, n (%)	6 (40)	25 (86)	0.001*	0.13 (0.03–0.6)
BMI, mean (SD)	32 (6.8)	30 (3.8)	0.52	NA
Extent of lung involvement at adm	ission ^c n (%)		
25–50%	4 (27)	12 (50)	0.08	NA
>50%	11 (73)	12 (50)		
Charlson Comorbidity Index, median (25–75)	1 (1, 2)	2 (1–3)	0.044*	1.5 (0.8–2.9)
SAPS III, mean (SD)	53 (15.0)	46 (10.1)	0.15	NA
Respiratory SOFA				
D1, mean (SD)	2.9 (1.2)	2.7 (0.9)	0.50	NA
D3, mean (SD)	2.6 (1.1)	1.8 (1.5)	0.045*	1.06 (0.8–1.4)
SOFA				
D1, mean (SD)	3.6 (1.7)	3.6 (1.7)	0.73	NA
D3, mean (SD)	3.6 (2.8)	2.4 (2.4)	0.15	NA
C-reactive protein, mg/L				
D1, mean (SD)	88 (45)	136 (96)	0.07	NA
D3, mean (SD)	91 (89)	122 (102)	0.40	NA
ICU, yes, n (%)	11 (73)	20 (69)	0.76	NA
ICU length of stay, days, mean (SD)	14 (8.0)	10 (9.6)	0.279	NA
Mechanical ventilation, yes, n (%)	4 (27)	6 (21)	0.65	NA
Days on mechanical ventilation, mean (SD)	15 (5.3)	11 (9.2)	0.750	NA
Length of hospital stay, days, mean (SD)	20 (10.3)	14 (9.9)	0.485	NA

SD, standard deviation; RR- Relative Risk; CI, confidence interval; NA, not applied; BMI, Body mass index; SAPS III, Simplified Acute Physiology Score 3; SOFA, sequential organ failure assessment score; ICU, intensive care unit; N, number of participants.

*p < 0.20 and included in the binary logistic regression. ^a p-value from the univariate analysis

^bRR form the regression analysis.

^c For five patients. CT scan was not performed at hospital admission.

(**Table 4**), age was significantly associated with an abnormal FEV1. Interestingly, all patients that had reduced FEV1 had more than 50% of ground-glass at hospital admission. However, due to the low number of events, every attempt to perform a binary regression resulted in an overfitted model. Of these eight patients, 2 (25%) had persistence of CT scan alterations, being 1 (50%) ground-glass and 1 (50%) fibrotic lesions.

When analyzing DLCO (**Table 5**), 19 (43%) of patients presented a significant decrease. In the univariate analysis, age, gender, and Charlson comorbidity index were significantly associated with a reduction in DLCO, but only gender was independently associated with a decrease in diffusion. Of these 19 patients, 11 (58%) had persistence of CT scan alterations, being 6 (54%) ground-glass and 5 (36%) fibrotic lesions.

Maximum inspiratory pressure assessed respiratory muscle strength and was decreased in 19 (43%) patients (Table 6). Age,

SD, standard deviation; RR, Relative Risk; CI, confidence interval; NA, not applied; BMI, Body mass index; SAPS III, Simplified Acute Physiology Score 3; SOFA, sequential organ failure assessment score; ICU, intensive care unit; N, number of participants. *p < 0.20 variables included in the binary logistic regression.

14 (8.2)

17 (11.4) 15 (8.9)

12 (7.9)

0.63

0.61

NA

NA

^ap-value from the univariate analysis.

^bRR form the regression analysis.

Days on Mechanical Ventilation,

Length of hospital stay, days,

mean (SD)

mean (SD)

^c for six patients, CT scan, was not performed at hospital admission.

on the CT scan 6-months after hospital discharge. In the univariate analysis, no single variable was associated with CT-scan lesions. However, c-reactive protein (CRP) at D1 and D3 and respiratory SOFA at D3 reached the threshold and were included in the regression analysis. Only CRP levels were marginally, but not significantly, related to the persistence of CT-scan lesions (**Table 2**).

In the 6MWT (**Table 3**), 15 (35%) patients had a significant desaturation. In the univariate analysis, desaturation was associated with female gender, Charlson comorbidity index, and respiratory SOFA D3. Only the female gender was independently associated with desaturation in 6MWT. Of these 15 patients, 10 (66%) had persistence of CT scan alterations, being 6 (60%) ground-glass and 4 (40%) fibrotic lesions.

Only 8 (18%) of the patients had a significant (<80% of predicted value) decrease in FEV1. When analyzing the FEV1

TABLE 4 Variables associated with a decreased forced expiratory volume in one
second 6-months after hospital discharge.

Variables	Present (n = 8)	Absence (<i>n</i> = 36)	p-value ^a
Age, years, mean (SD)	60 (5)	53 (11)	0.015*
Gender			
Male, n (%)	6 (75)	25 (10)	0.75
BMI, mean (SD)	32 (5.4)	30 (5.0)	0.35
Extent of lung involvement at admission ^b	n (%)		
25–50%	0 (0.0)	15 (48)	0.029*
>50%	7 (100)	16 (52)	
Charlson Comorbidity Index, median (25–75)	1 (1, 2)	2 (2)	0.11
SAPS III, mean (SD)	50 (15.2)	48 (12.0)	0.71
Respiratory SOFA			
D1, mean (SD)	2.9 (1.2)	2.8 (0.9)	0.80
D3, mean (SD)	2.0 (1.4)	2.1 (1.4)	0.87
SOFA			
D1, mean (SD)	3.9 (2.8)	3.7 (1.7)	0.81
D3, mean (SD)	2.6 (2.1)	2.9 (2.8)	0.76
C-reactive protein, mg/L			
D1, mean (SD)	108 (103)	122 (80)	0.70
D3, mean (SD)	129 (172)	103 (70)	0.72
ICU yes, n (%)	5 (62)	26 (72)	0.59
ICU length of stay, days, mean (SD)	14 (11.6)	11 (8.7)	0.51
Mechanical ventilation, yes, n (%)	2 (25)	8 (22)	0.86
Days on mechanical ventilation, mean (SD)	18 (7.8)	11 (7.4)	0.25
Length of hospital stay, days, mean (SD)	19 (11.3)	15 (10.0)	0.35

SD, standard deviation; BMI, Body mass index; FEV1, forced expiratory volume in one second; SAPS III, Simplified Acute Physiology Score 3; SOFA, sequential organ failure assessment score; ICU, intensive care unit; N, number of participants.

^ap-value from the univariate analysis.

^bFor six patients CT scan was not performed at hospital admission.

*Due to the low number of events, it was not possible to perform binary regression analysis.

gender, and Charlson comorbidity index were associated with reduced MIP in the univariate analysis, but no one variable was independently associated with this outcome. It was observed a marginal, non-significant association with gender and Charlson comorbidity index. Of these 19 patients, 11 (58%) had persistence of CT scan alterations, being 7 (64%) ground-glass, and 4 (36%) fibrotic lesions.

The impact of these dysfunctions on the BI was measured. Both the presence of desaturation on 6MWT (mean BI 91 \pm 25 vs. 74 \pm 27) and reduced VEF1 (mean BI 89 \pm 24 vs. 68 \pm 32) were significantly associated with lower BI scores (p < 0.05). DLCO was marginally but not significantly associated with lower BI scores (mean BI 92 \pm 23 vs. 76 \pm 30, p = 0.06). There was no association between MIP and the extension of CT lesions and BI scores. When desaturation on 6MWT, FEV1, and DLCO entered in a linear regression only FEV1 (p = 0.019) and marginally DLCO (p = 0.06) were associated with lower BI (R square for the model 0.28).

Additionally, both the presence of desaturation on 6MWT (mean mMRC 0.8 \pm 0.8 vs. 1.7 \pm 1.4) and reduced DLCO (mean

TABLE 5 | Variables associated with a decreased carbon monoxide diffusion6-months after hospital discharge.

Variables	Present (n = 19)	Absence (<i>n</i> = 25)	p-value ^a	RR (IC 95%) ^b
Age, years, mean (SD)	59 (9)	50 (11)	0.008*	1.03 (0.9–1.2)
Gender				
Male. n (%)	9 (47)	22 (88)	0.003*	0.7 (0.006–0.7)
BMI, mean (SD)	30 (5.6)	31 (4.7)	0.73	NA
Extent of lung involvement at a	admission ^c	n (%)		
25–50%	5 (36)	10 (42)	0.72	NA
>50%	9 (64)	14 (58)		
Charlson Comorbidity Index, median (25–75)	1 (1, 2)	2 (1–3)	0.02*	1.9 (0.65–5.6)
SAPS III, mean (SD)	48 (10.6)	48 (14)	0.88	NA
Respiratory SOFA				
D1, mean (SD)	2.68 (1.00)	2.88 (0.97)	0.51	NA
D3, mean (SD)	2.32 (1.25)	1.87 (1.51)	0.30	NA
SOFA				
D1, mean (SD)	3.3 (2.2)	4.0 (1.6)	0.21	NA
D3, mean (SD)	3.0 (2.0)	2.8 (3.1)	0.88	NA
C-reactive protein, mg/L				
D1, mean (SD)	96 (63)	137 (96)	0.16	NA
D3, mean (SD)	83 (51)	132 (121)	0.16*	0.99 (0.97–1.005)
ICU, yes, n (%)	14 (74)	17 (68)	0.68	NA
ICU length of stay, days, mean (SD)	12 (6.8)	11 (10.8)	0.68	NA
Mechanical ventilation, yes, n (%)	3 (16)	7 (28)	0.34	NA
Days on mechanical ventilation, mean (SD)	13 (5.5)	12 (8.8)	0.87	NA
Length of hospital stay, days, mean (SD)	17 (8.6)	15 (11.4)	0.48	NA

SD, standard deviation; RR- Relative Risk; CI, confidence interval; NA, not applied; BMI, Body mass index; SAPS III, Simplified Acute Physiology Score 3; SOFA, sequential organ failure assessment score; ICU, intensive care unit; N, number of participants. ^ap-value from the univariate analysis.

^bRR form the regression analysis.

^c For six patients, CT scan was not performed at hospital admission.

p < 0.20 variables included in the binary logistic regression.

mMRC 0.8 \pm 1.2 vs. 1.6 \pm 1.0) were significantly associated with higher mMRC scores (p < 0.05). FEV1 and the extension of CT lesions were marginally, but not significantly associated with higher mMRC scores (mean mMRC 1.0 \pm 1.0 vs. 1.6 \pm 1.7, p =0.17 for FEV1; 0.9 \pm 1.1 vs. 1.3 \pm 1.2, p = 0.17 for CT lesions). There was no association between MIP and mMRC scores. When desaturation on 6MWT, FEV1, DLCO, and CT lesions entered in a linear regression only FEV1 (p = 0.017) and marginally DLCO (p = 0.12) were associated with higher mMRC scores (R square for the model 0.32).

DISCUSSION

Confirming our hypothesis, respiratory dysfunction 6 months after hospital discharge from COVID-19 was common and negatively impacted the ADL.

Variables	Present (<i>n</i> = 19)	Absence $(n = 25)$	<i>p</i> -value ^a	^b RR (IC 95%) ^b
Age, years, mean (SD)	57 (9.0)	51 (11.6)	0.05*	0.96 (0.86–1.08)
Gender				
Male. n (%)	10 (53)	20 (80)	0.03*	0.25 (0.05–1.16)
BMI, mean (SD)	30 (6.0)	31 (4.4)	0.71	NA
Extent of lung involvement at adm	nission ^c n (%)		
25–50%	7 (40)	9 (41)	0.96	NA
>50%	9 (60)	13 (59)		
Charlson Comorbidity Index, media (25–75)	1 (1, 2)	2 (1–3)	0.008*	2.6 (0.8–8.0)
SAPS III, mean (SD)	45 (10.0)	50 (13.6)	0.36	NA
Respiratory SOFA				
D1, mean (SD)	2.8 (0.8)	2.7 (1.1)	0.65	NA
D3, mean (SD)	2.3 (1.2)	1.9 (1.6)	0.36	NA
SOFA				
D1, mean (SD)	3.9 (1.6)	3.6 (2.2)	0.71	NA
D3, mean (SD)	3.0 (2.1)	2.9 (3.1)	0.78	NA
C-reactive protein, mg/L				
D1, mean (SD)	138 (70)	100 (97)	0.22	NA
D3, mean (SD)	97 (53)	125 (128)	0.45	NA
ICU, yes, n (%)	14 (74)	16 (64)	0.62	NA
ICU length of stay, days, mean (SD)	10 (7.4)	13 (10.7)	0.42	NA
Mechanical ventilation, yes, n (%)	5 (26)	5 (20)	0.67	NA
Days on mechanical ventilation, mean (SD)	9 (8.1)	16 (6.1)	0.21	NA
Length of hospital stay, days, mean (SD)	16 (8.3)	16 (11.6)	0.92	NA

TABLE 6 | Variables associated with a decreased maximum inspiratory pressure6-months after hospital discharge.

SD, standard deviation; RR- Relative Risk; CI, confidence interval; NA, not applied; BMI, Body mass index; SAPS III, Simplified Acute Physiology Score 3; SOFA, sequential organ failure assessment score; ICU, intensive care unit; N, number of participants.

^ap-value from the univariate analysis.

^bRR form the regression analysis.

^cFor six patients CT scan was not performed at hospital admission.

p < 0.20 variables included in the binary logistic regression.

Lung CT scan were abnormal in more than half of the patients, and this is consistent with other studies (6, 8). Interestingly, even variables such as mechanical ventilation and respiratory SOFA were not a risk factor associated with abnormal CT scan at 6 months. Unlike González et al. (17) demonstrated that the persistence of lung abnormalities on CT scan was associated with the length of invasive mechanical ventilation. Dyspnea was attributed to abnormalities on lung CT scan (17), and this is similar to our results; half of the patients who presented lung dysfunction measured by the 6MWT, DLCO, and MIP had persistent CT scan abnormalities.

Results for abnormal lung function assessed by the 6MWT, FEV1, DLCO, and MIP showed that a considerable proportion (18–43%) had at least one alteration. DLCO and MIP were the most prevalent dysfunction observed; thus, intrinsic lung function and respiratory muscle strength were affected after COVID-19. A systematic review evaluated pulmonary function after COVID-19 (18). It included three hundred eighty patients

in the data synthesis. In the sensitivity analysis, the study found a prevalence of 0.39 (CI 0.24-0.56, p < 0.01, $I^2 =$ 86%), 0.15 (CI 0.09–0.22, p = 0.03, $I^2 = 59\%$), and 0.07 (CI 0.04–0.11, p = 0.31, $I^2 = 16\%$) for altered DLCO, restrictive pattern and obstructive pattern, respectively, consistent with our findings. As previously demonstrated (9, 10), an increased risk for lung dysfunction was observed in women. In our sample, female sex was an independent risk factor for decreasing 6MWT and DLCO. Additionally, this was also true to MIP in the univariate analysis. Interestingly, confirming previous reports (19), female sex was not significantly associated with persistent CT-scan abnormalities; neither is persistent CT-scan abnormalities universally present in lung dysfunction patients, suggesting that distinct mechanisms could be related to these outcomes. Further biomarkers studies could help to understand the underlying mechanisms that drive these alterations.

Other risk factors associated with lung dysfunction at 6months that were statistically significant in the univariate analysis were Charlson comorbidity index and age. This is an exciting finding suggesting that for "post-COVID condition" premorbid characteristics are more important as a risk factor when compared to variables associated with the COVID-19 acute phase. This is different when compared to Huang et al. findings (10). They found that impaired DLCO was most prevalent in patients with more severe illnesses. The population in Huang's study included less severe COVID-19 patients when compared to our study, and this could partially explain these differences.

These dysfunctions seem to be of clinical relevance since they are associated with a decreased BI and a higher degree of dyspnea assessed by the mMRC. It is important to note that the linear regression model explained 28 and 32% of the alterations in the ADL and mMRC, respectively. Thus, besides lung dysfunction, others factors associated with "post-COVID condition" could impact ADL impairment. Huang et al. (10) found that fatigue and muscle weakness were common 6-months after the onset of COVID-19 symptoms, and such symptoms could impact ADL and mMRC. Further studies should be performed to determine clinical factors associated with long-term limitations in ADL and dyspnea intensity.

This study has several limitations. First, due to the urgent need for data, we anticipated the evaluation for these 44 patients to 6months after hospital discharge. The small sample size may result in false-negative results. However, the significant associations that were found, together with the prospective design with a blind analysis, strengthen the results' credibility. Initially, these patients would be followed up only by phone interview until 12-months after hospital discharge. Follow-up keeps going, and all patients will have a complete evaluation at 12-months after hospital discharge. Second, due to epidemiologic characteristics of the pandemia, it was not possible to include SARS patients of other etiologies such as influenza.

CONCLUSION

Long-term lung dysfunction is relatively common in survivors from severe COVID-19 and impacts negatively on ADL and the intensity of dyspnea, similar to studies in highincome countries. These results highlight the need to develop strategies to prevent and treat the burden of disease associated with COVID-19.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The São José Hospital's Institutional Review Board approved the protocol under the number 31384620.6.1001.5364. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

REFERENCES

- Ranzani OT, Bastos LS, Gelli JG, Marchesi JF, Baião F, Hamacher S, et al. Characterisation of the first 250,000 hospital admissions for COVID-19 in Brazil: a retrospective analysis of Nationwide data. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2021) 9:407–18. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30560-9
- Hu B, Guo H, Zhou P, Shi ZL. Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19. Nat Rev Microbiol. (2021) 19:141–54. doi: 10.1038/s41579-020-00459-7
- Ramani C, Kadl A. Surviving COVID-19: a burden yet to come? Chest. (2021) 160:15–6. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2021.04.019
- Wiersinga WJ, Rhodes A, Cheng AC, Peacock SJ, Prescott HC. Pathophysiology, transmission, diagnosis, and treatment of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a review. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:782–93. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.12839
- Nalbandian A, Sehgal K, Gupta A, Madhavan MV, McGroder C, Stevens JS, et al. Post-acute COVID-19 syndrome. *Nat Med.* (2021) 27:601– 15. doi: 10.1038/s41591-021-01283-z
- McGroder CF, Zhang D, Choudhury MA, Salvatore MM, D'Souza BM, Hoffman EA, et al. Pulmonary fibrosis 4 months after COVID-19 is associated with severity of illness and blood leucocyte telomere length. *Thorax*. (2021) 76:1242–5. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2021-217031
- McDonald LT. Cure after COVID-19: survivors are at risk for pulmonary fibrosis? *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2021) 320:257–65. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00238.2020
- Huang C, Huang L, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Gu X, et al. 6-month consequences of COVID-19 in patients discharged from hospital: a cohort study. *Lancet*. (2021) 397:220–32. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32656-8
- Wu X, Liu X, Zhou Y, Yu H, Li R, Zhan Q, et al. 3-month, 6-month, 9month, and 12-month respiratory outcomes in patients following COVID-19-related hospitalisation: a prospective study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2021) 9:747–54. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00174-0
- Huang L, Yao Q, Gu X, Wang Q, Ren L, Wang Y, et al. 1-year outcomes in hospital survivors with COVID-19: a longitudinal cohort study. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:747–58. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01755-4
- Barichello T, Sayana P, Giridharan VV, Arumanayagam AS, Narendran B, Della Giustina A, et al. Long-term cognitive outcomes after sepsis: a translational systematic review. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2019) 56:186–251. doi: 10.1007/s12035-018-1048-2
- Pizarro-Pennarolli C, Sánchez-Rojas C, Torres-Castro R, Vera-Uribe R, Sanchez-Ramirez DC, Vasconcello-Castillo L, et al. Assessment of activities of daily living in patients post COVID-19: a systematic review. *PeerJ.* (2021) 9:e11026. doi: 10.7717/peerj.11026

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GP had full access to all of the data in the study and contributed to the study design, data collection and interpretation, and writing of manuscript. CS contributed to data collection and literature search. RW and CR contributed to the study design and to writing of the manuscript. FD-P contributed to the study design, data interpretation, and writing of manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by MCTIC/CNPq/FNDCT/MS/SCTIE/ DECIT, 07/2020, grant number 401263/2020-7 and BRF S.A. Hub unrestricted donation.

- Guan X, Yao L, Tan Y, Shen Z, Zheng H, Zhou H, et al. Quantitative and semiquantitative CT assessments of lung lesion burden in COVID-19 pneumonia. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:5148. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-84561-7
- Moreira MAF, Medeiros GA, Boeno FP, Sanches PRS, da Silva DP Jr, Muller AF. Oxygen desaturation during the six-minute walk test in COPD patients. J Bras Pneumol. (2014) 40:222–8. doi: 10.1590/S1806-37132014000300004
- Mahoney FI, Barthel D. Functional evaluation: the Barthel Index. Maryland State Med J. (1965) 14:56–61. doi: 10.1037/t02366-000
- Bestall JC, Paul EA, Garrod R, Garnham R, Jones PW, Wedzicha J, et al. Usefulness of the medical research council (MRC) dyspnoea scale as a measure of disability in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax.* (1999) 54:581–6. doi: 10.1136/thx.54.7.581
- González J, Benítez ID, Carmona P, Santisteve S, Monge A, Moncusí-Moix A, et al. CIBERESUCICOVID Project (COV20/00110, ISCIII). Pulmonary function and radiologic features in survivors of critical COVID-9: a 3-month prospective cohort. *Chest.* (2021) 160:187–98. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2021.02.062
- Sanchez-Ramirez DC, Normand K, Zhaoyun Y, Torres-Castro R. Longterm impact of COVID-19: a systematic review of the literature and meta-analysis. *Biomedicines*. (2021) 9:900. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines 9080900
- The Writing Committee for the COMEBAC Study Group. Four-month clinical status of a cohort of patients after hospitalization for COVID-19. *JAMA*. (2021) 325:1525–34. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.3331

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Prestes, Simon, Walz, Ritter and Dal-Pizzol. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

97





OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Reinaldo Salomao, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Erich Vinicius De Paula, State University of Campinas, Brazil Rafael Simone Saia, University of São Paulo, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Mónica Cáceres monicacaceres@med.uchile.cl

[†]ORCID:

Felipe Maldonado orcid.org/0000-0002-2633-4717 Diego Morales orcid.org/0000-0002-5834-3685 Catalina Diaz-Papapietro orcid.org/0000-0001-8174-130X Christian Fernandez orcid.org/0000-0001-8157-5997 Carlos Romero orcid.org/0000-0003-4210-9269 Oscar Cerda orcid.org/0000-0003-2873-5722 Mónica Cáceres orcid.org/0000-0002-0456-0721

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases–Surveillance, Prevention and Treatment, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

Received: 30 November 2021 Accepted: 18 February 2022 Published: 16 March 2022

Citation:

Maldonado F, Morales D, Díaz-Papapietro C, Valdés C, Fernandez C, Valls N, Lazo M, Espinoza C, González R, Gutiérrez R, Jara Á, Romero C, Cerda O and Cáceres M (2022) Relationship Between Endothelial and Angiogenesis Biomarkers Envisage Mortality in a Prospective Cohort of COVID-19 Patients Requiring Respiratory Support. Front. Med. 9:826218. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.826218

Relationship Between Endothelial and Angiogenesis Biomarkers Envisage Mortality in a Prospective Cohort of COVID-19 Patients Requiring Respiratory Support

Felipe Maldonado^{1†}, Diego Morales^{2†}, Catalina Díaz-Papapietro^{1,2†}, Catalina Valdés¹, Christian Fernandez^{2†}, Nicolas Valls¹, Marioli Lazo³, Carolina Espinoza⁴, Roberto González¹, Rodrigo Gutiérrez^{1,5}, Álvaro Jara¹, Carlos Romero^{3†}, Oscar Cerda^{2,6†} and Mónica Cáceres^{2,6,7*†}

¹ Department of Anaesthesia and Perioperative Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Hospital Clínico de la Universidad de Chile, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile, ² Program of Cellular and Molecular Biology, Institute of Biomedical Sciences (ICBM), Faculty of Medicine, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile, ³ Critical Care Unit, Hospital Clínico Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile, ⁴ Emergency Department, Hospital Clínico Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile, ⁵ Centro de Investigación Clínica Avanzada, Faculty of Medicine, Hospital Clínico de la Universidad de Chile, Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile, ⁶ Millennium Nucleus of Ion Channel-Associated Diseases, Santiago, Chile, ⁷ Millennium Institute on Immunology and Immunotherapy, Santiago, Chile

Purpose: Endothelial damage and angiogenesis are fundamental elements of neovascularisation and fibrosis observed in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Here, we aimed to evaluate whether early endothelial and angiogenic biomarkers detection predicts mortality and major cardiovascular events in patients with COVID-19 requiring respiratory support.

Methods: Changes in serum syndecan-1, thrombomodulin, and angiogenic factor concentrations were analysed during the first 24 h and 10 days after COVID-19 hospitalisation in patients with high-flow nasal oxygen or mechanical ventilation. Also, we performed an exploratory evaluation of the endothelial migration process induced by COVID-19 in the patients' serum using an endothelial cell culture model.

Results: In 43 patients, mean syndecan-1 concentration was 40.96 ± 106.9 ng/mL with a 33.9% increase (49.96 ± 58.1 ng/mL) at day 10. Both increases were significant compared to healthy controls (Kruskal–Wallis p < 0.0001). We observed an increase in thrombomodulin, Angiopoietin-2, human vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and human hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) concentrations during the first 24 h, with a decrease in human tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2 (TIMP-2) that remained after 10 days. An increase in human Interleukin-8 (IL-8) on the 10th day accompanied by high HGF was also noted. The incidence of myocardial injury and pulmonary thromboembolism was 55.8 and 20%, respectively. The incidence of in-hospital deaths was 16.3%. Biomarkers showed differences in severity of COVID-19. Syndecan-1, human platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), VEGF, and Ang-2 predicted mortality. A multiple logistic regression model with TIMP-2 and PDGF had positive and negative

98

predictive powers of 80.9 and 70%, respectively, for mortality. None of the biomarkers predicted myocardial injury or pulmonary thromboembolism. A proteome profiler array found changes in concentration in a large number of biomarkers of angiogenesis and chemoattractants. Finally, the serum samples from COVID-19 patients increased cell migration compared to that from healthy individuals.

Conclusion: We observed that early endothelial and angiogenic biomarkers predicted mortality in patients with COVID-19. Chemoattractants from patients with COVID-19 increase the migration of endothelial cells. Trials are needed for confirmation, as this poses a therapeutic target for SARS-CoV-2.

Keywords: angiogenesis, syndecan-1, angiopoietin-2, VEGF, COVID-19

INTRODUCTION

Aggressive and rapidly evolving symptoms characterise a subset of patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Early recognition of evolution is still not possible (1-3). Longlasting hospitalisation due to prolonged mechanical ventilation is associated with altered oxygen diffusion in lung capillaries, which may be partly due to an increase in fibrotic areas (4). Angiopoietins are critical players in vessel maturation and mediate the migration, adhesion, and survival of endothelial cells. In conjunction with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), angiopoietins promote neovascularisation (5). Furthermore, neovascularisation and fibrosis are present in the lungs of patients with COVID-19 (6, 7). Endothelial damage and angiogenesis are fundamental elements of this process (8-11), where intussusceptive and sprouting angiogenesis observed in autopsies reflect rapid vascular activation and proliferation during the disease (7, 12).

Elevation of the endothelial injury biomarkers, syndecan-1 and thrombomodulin (TM) in patients with sepsis is associated with intensive care unit (ICU) mortality (13, 14). In COVID-19, reports of syndecan-1 increase are related to disease severity and have been suggested as an assessment of the clinical course of the patient (15, 16). Soluble TM plasma elevation is also related to increased mortality in patients with COVID-19, as it marks direct endothelial cell damage (17, 18).

Besides injury, endothelial angiogenic activation poses another pathophysiological feature as well as a therapeutic opportunity. It seems to be a rapid phenomenon upon severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection, as this feature is observed in lung autopsies from non-surviving patients within 10 days of hospitalisation (7). Increased angiogenic biomarkers are associated with ICU admission and patients' reduced respiratory system compliance (19). Molecules such as VEGF and angiopoietin-2 (Ang-2) are associated with angiogenesis. Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) stimulates cell migration and branching and acts synergistically with VEGF to promote new blood vessel formation, pericyte migration, and endothelial cell migration. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2 (TIMP-2) binds to metalloproteinases (MMPs) and decreases extracellular matrix degradation (20).

Considering the brief instauration of the endothelial and angiogenic processes, we aimed to evaluate whether there is an early increase in endothelial and angiogenic biomarkers and whether early detection of these biomarkers is associated with mortality and major cardiovascular events in patients with COVID-19.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We performed a single-centre prospective cohort study of patients with COVID-19 hospitalised at the Hospital Clínico de la Universidad de Chile. The study was approved by the ethics committee of our centre (Ref: OAIC 1161/20), registered online at https://www.clinicaltrials.gov (Ref: NCT04609332), and conducted according to the principles of the Helsinki Declaration under monitoring by the Good Clinical Practice unit of our institution. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients who were able to sign or from a legal representative if they were unable to provide consent. We adhered to the STROBE guidelines for reporting observational studies (21). The study was performed before vaccination campaigns in our country.

We defined changes in syndecan-1 blood concentrations during hospitalisation as the primary outcome. First, serum syndecan-1 concentrations were analysed during the first day of hospitalisation. Second, in the blood samples, we determined the concentrations of TM and a set of angiogenic factors as markers of profound endothelial damage and activation. After 10 days, if the patient remained hospitalised, a second biomarker set measurement was performed in this subgroup of patients. After 6 months of follow-up, mortality and major cardiovascular events were recorded. Finally, using an endothelial cell culture model, we performed an exploratory evaluation of the endothelial migration process in the serum samples of patients with COVID-19.

Participants

We included patients aged 18 years and older with clinically suspected and laboratory reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)-confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection, hospitalised in critical patient care units with the need for high-flow nasal oxygen (HFNO) or mechanical ventilation during the first 24 h after arriving at our centre. The exclusion criteria were symptomatic patients with a negative RT-PCR for SARS-CoV-2 and patients who were treated with anticoagulants for a pre-existing comorbidity. Recruitment was performed between December 2020 and March 2021. For serum endothelial damage and angiogenic biomarkers, 10 mL blood samples were collected during the first 24 h and on the 10th day of hospitalisation. Hospitalisation clinical data were collected, and a telephonic follow-up was performed until the 6th month after hospital admission. As for control group, we included nine blood samples from healthy volunteers who did not present COVID-19 disease. They were recruited from the hospital and research laboratory during the study period. All patients' samples were processed similarly.

Variables

For the primary outcome, increased and differences in syndecan-1 concentrations were analysed during the first 24 h and at the 10th day of hospitalisation. Blood serum concentrations of TM, human Ang-2, human HGF, human Interleukin-8 (IL-8), human platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), human TIMP-2, and human VEGF were measured. Demographic, clinical, and laboratory data were obtained from the patients' medical charts. Major cardiovascular events were defined as death, the presence of pulmonary thromboembolism, and myocardial injury in patients with high-sensitive cardiac troponin I (HscTn) elevation above 11 ng/L [99th percentile upper reference limit (URL)] (Vitros[®], Ortho Clinical Diagnostics, UK) (22). Deaths outside the hospital were obtained from the National Registry of Deaths accessed online (https://www.registrocivil.cl). Surviving patients were contacted within the next 6 months after hospitalisation for clinical follow-up. As a definition of COVID-19, we analysed our cohort according to the National Institutes of Health clinical spectrum (23). We defined severity according to the need for ventilatory support and hospitalisation period as follows: severe, patients requiring HFNO ventilation who did not progress into shock or respiratory failure during the first 10 days of hospitalisation; critical, patients with the need for HFNO or mechanical ventilation due to respiratory failure, shock, or multiorgan dysfunction; and deceased patients.

Laboratory processing and outcome assessors were blinded to the patients. At study termination, the outcome assessor attained the patients' sample codes and performed the final analysis. After blinded assessments, we performed an exploratory analysis of serum from healthy patients and patients with severe COVID-19. Serum samples were used for *in vitro* endothelial migration assays.

Sample Size

By the time of the study design, we found no previous data on syndecan-1 in patients with COVID-19; therefore, we selected a sample size of 40 patients for convenience of the primary outcome. Nevertheless, considering a normal syndecan-1 value of 31.6 ng/mL, a standard deviation of 15.3 ng/mL, our sample size calculation allowed us to detect a 29.7% change in the mean concentration of syndecan-1, with an alpha of 0.05 and a power of 80% (24, 25). Considering a 10% loss of patients, 44 patients were required for the two-sided test analysis.

Statistical Methods

Categorical variables were summarised as relative frequencies. Continuous variables for primary and secondary outcomes were expressed as the mean and standard deviation (SD) or median and interquartile rank (IQR). Non-paired results were compared using the Mann-Whitney test. For group comparisons, we used the Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparison test. The Wilcoxon test was used for paired data. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves were generated for all biomarkers. The area under the curve (AUC) was calculated using the Youden index for cut-off values (26, 27). Multiple logistic regression was used with survivors and non-survivors as dichotomised variables as outcomes. We obtained a pseudo R2 (Tjur's R2) and used a Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit and log-likelihood ratio test for hypothesis testing. Two-tailed P-values < 0.05, were considered significant for all analyses. Data were analysed using GraphPad Prism software (version 9.0; La Jolla, CA, USA).

Quantification of Biomarkers

All blood samples were collected in a 15 mL centrifugation tube without heparin by an anaesthesiologist and coded before delivering the samples to the processing laboratory. All blood samples were immediately incubated for 1 h at 37°C and centrifuged at 400 g for 10 min. Blood serum was stored in a -80° C freezer for the final analysis (28).

To characterise the endothelial damage, we measured one glycocalyx biomarker (syndecan-1) and one endothelial membrane biomarker (TM). For biomarker levels in blood serum, we used the following enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA): DuoSet Human Syndecan-1 (#DY2780; R&D Technologies, MN, USA) using blood samples diluted 20 times and five times, and human TM/BDCA-3 (#DTHBDO; R&D Technologies, MN, USA) using blood samples diluted six times. All measurements were performed in duplicate in one assay. Assays and analyses were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions (25).

To quantify Ang-2, HGF, IL-8, PDGF, TIMP-2, and VEGF, we used Q-PlexTM Human Angiogenesis (#150233HU; Quansys, Cellus, Santiago, Chile). The blood samples were diluted six times. Assays and analyses were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Additionally, a Proteome Profiler Human Angiogenesis Array kit (#ARY007, R&D Technologies) was used to identify 55 different angiogenesis proteins in COVID-19 and in the healthy volunteers' blood serum.

Cell Migration

Cell migration was assayed using Transwell chambers (#3422; Costar, Corning Incorporated, ME, USA) with 8.0 μ m-pore polycarbonate filters. 10,000 EA. hy926 cells were suspended in serum-free Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) without antibiotics and seeded in the upper compartment of the chamber. Ten samples of 10% v/v blood (five in the first 24h and five on the 10th day of hospitalisation) from five randomly selected patients with COVID-19 and five from healthy individuals were added to the lower compartment of the chamber. Migration was allowed to occur for 24 h. Following the removal of the non-invading cells, the invading cells were fixed

TABLE 1 | Patients characteristics.

			COVID-19 severity	1	
Baseline values	Total	Severe	Critical	Non-survivors	<i>p</i> -value
Age-years					
Median (IQR)	62 (53–72)	55 (38–68)	62 (55–74)	73 (60–74)	<0.0001#
Range	55	42	49	17	
Sex—n/ total n (%)					
Female	18/43 (42)	4/43 (9)	11/43 (26)	3/43 (7)	0.9110
Male	25/43 (58)	7/43 (16)	14/43 (33)	4/43 (9)	0.9110
BMI-mean (SD)	26.4 (8.6)	28.2 (3.7)	25.7 (10.6)	26.9 (2.9)	
Comorbidities— <i>n</i> / total <i>n</i> (%)					
Obesity	5/43 (12)	3/43 (7)	1/43 (2)	1/43 (2)	0.0751
Coronary heart disease	4/43 (9)	2/43 (4)	1/43 (2)	1/43 (2)	0.3339
Heart failure	3/43 (7)	-	1/43 (2)	2/43 (4)	0.1801
Chronic kidney failure	3/43 (7)	-	3/43 (7)	-	0.3281
Acute kidney failure	-	-	-	-	-
Stroke	-	-	_	-	-
Vascular disease	-	-	-	-	-
COPD	3/43 (7)	1/43 (2)	1/43 (2)	1/43 (2)	0.5870
Liver disease	1/43 (2)	-	-	1/43 (7)	0.0669
Diabetes	16/43 (37)	4/43 (9)	9/43 (21)	3/43 (7)	0.9402
Hypertension	22/43 (51)	5/43 (12)	14/43 (32)	3/43 (7)	0.8619
Smoking	5/43 (12)	1/43 (2)	2/43 (4)	2/43 (4)	0.2920
Dyslipidemia	4/43 (9)	1/43 (2)	3/43 (7)	-	0.9434
Laboratory—mean (SD)					
D-Dimer (ng/mL)	1,558 (1,745)	1,090 (808)	1,844 (2,168)	1,240 (585)	0.4274
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	159 (100)	96 (69)	183 (109)	169 (61)	0.0341*
ProBNP (pg/mL)	749 (914)	256 (252)	875 (1,092)	939 (943)	0.0827
Procalcitonin (ng/mL)	0.27 (0.39)	0.09 ()	0.45 (0.5)	0.09 (0.05)	0.7000
Myocardial injury— <i>n</i> (within subgroup %)					
24 h	19 (44.2)	2 (18)	12 (46.1)	5 (71)	0.1371
Total hospitalisation	24 (55.8)	3 (27)	15 (58)	6 (85)	0.0418&
High-sensitive cardiac troponin I—mean (SD)					
24 h (mg/ml)	35.7 (89.8)	6.7 (6.6)	41.7 (108.9)	52.2 (72)	0.0348* 0.0318
Maximum (mg/ml)	114.5 (341.1)	12.4 (20.9)	149.6 (439.8)	149.5 (119.5)	0.0362* 0.0032
Thromboembolism— <i>n</i> / total <i>n</i> (%)					
First 24 h	4/43 (9)	0/11 (0)	3/25 (7)	1/7 (14)	0.4684
During hospitalisation	9/43 (20)	1/11 (1)	5/25 (20)	3/7 (43)	0.2489
Arterial blood gases—mean (SD)					
pH	7.43 (0.04)	7.43 (0.04)	7.43 (0.05)	7.42 (0.04)	0.6802
pCO ₂	32.1 (4.3)	32.8 (4.4)	31.9 (4.6)	31.5 (2.9)	0.8469
pO ₂	82.6 (28.19)	96.63 (35.9)	79.42 (23.0)	72.63 (28.5)	0.2816
BE	-2.39 (3.25)	-1.98 (3.07)	-2.30 (3.40)	-3.33 (3.24)	0.6541
HCO ₃	21.36 (2.99)	21.62 (3.17)	21.50 (3.04)	20.44 (2.79)	0.6171
FiO ₂	49.5 (2.99)	34.2 (12.80)	55.2 (29.08)	53.7 (29.40)	0.1385
PaFi	221.0 (132.7)	316.4(151.5)	184.6 (102.7)	190.7 (133.2)	0.0265*
Use of vasopressors—n/ total n (%)					
First 24 h	4/43 (9)	0/11 (0)	2/25 (8)	2/7 (29)	0.1189
Between 24 h and 10th day	16/43 (44)	0/11 (0)	11/25 (44)	5/7 (71)	0.0052*#
At 10th day	7/43 (16)	0/11 (0)	6/25 (24)	0/7 (0)	0.0812

*Severe vs. critical patients Kruskal-Wallis.

[#]Severe vs. non-survivors Kruskal-Wallis.

[&]amp; Chi-square.



and stained with 0.2% crystal violet. Cell migration was evaluated by counting five (\times 20) fields per chamber (29).

RESULTS

Forty-three patients were included between December 2020 and March 2021 (Supplementary Figure 1). The median age was 62 years (IQR 53-72); 39.5% were female and 60.5% were male. The mean body mass index was 26.4 kg/m². The most prevalent comorbidities were hypertension (51%), diabetes (37%), obesity (12%), and dyslipidaemia (12%) (Table 1; Supplementary Table 1). For major cardiovascular events, we found a 44.2% (n = 19) incidence of myocardial injury in patients presenting to the hospital (Hs-cTn above URL), which increased to 55.8% (n = 24) of patients during hospitalisation. The incidence of pulmonary thromboembolism (PTE) was 9.3% (n = 4) in the first computed tomography angiography and increased during hospitalisation to 20% (n = 9) (Table 1). The incidence of in-hospital death was 16.3%. During the 6-month follow-up period, we found no out-of-hospital mortality.

Key molecules are involved in endothelial and angiogenic processes (**Figure 1A**). The endothelial damage in patients with COVID-19 was characterised by a mean syndecan-1 concentration during the first 24 h of hospitalisation (40.96 \pm 106.9 ng/mL) and, in the next 10 days, the subgroup of patients that remain hospitalised presented a 33.9% increase in serum concentrations (49.96 \pm 58.1 ng/mL). Both increases were significant compared to healthy controls (Kruskal–Wallis p < 0.0001) (Intra-assay Coefficient of Variation of 6.9%). The mean TM level significantly increased from 942 \pm 638 ng/mL in the

first 24 h to 1,189 \pm 608 ng/mL on the 10th day of hospitalisation and was different from that in healthy controls (Kruskal–Wallis p < 0.0001) (**Figure 1B**).

The angiogenic biomarker profile was characterised by an increase in Ang-2, VEGF, and HGF concentrations during the first 24 h after arriving at the centre. We found a decrease in the MMP inhibitor MMP TIMP-2 concentrations, which remained in the subgroup of hospitalised patients after 10 days. In this subgroup of patients with COVID-19, we also observed higher IL-8 levels on the 10th day accompanied by high HGF values compared to those in healthy controls (**Figure 1C**).

For biomarkers obtained in the first 24 h, PDGF had an AUC of 0.838 (95% CI 0.69–0.99; p = 0.005) to predict mortality from survivors (cut-off value, 2,118 pg/mL; sensitivity, 71.43%; specificity, 81.08%). VEGF had an AUC of 0.768 (95% CI 0.56–0.98: p = 0.0257) to predict mortality (cut-off value, 266 pg/mL; sensitivity, 71.43%; specificity, 83.78%). On the 10th day of hospitalisation, Ang-2 had an AUC of 0.875 (95% CI 0.73–1.0; p = 0.018) to predict mortality from survivors (cut-off value, 2,388 pg/mL; sensitivity, 100%; specificity, 75%). Interestingly, syndecan-1 had an AUC of 0.94 (95% CI 0.84–1.0; p = 0.005) to predict mortality from survivors (cut-off value of 40.1 ng/mL; sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 81.82%) (Figures 2A,B). Finally, none of the biomarkers predicted myocardial injury or PTE.

According to severity definitions, we found that the concentrations of syndecan-1 in the first 24 h were significantly elevated in patients who developed a critical illness or died. TM levels were elevated in patients with severe and critical disease (**Figure 3A**). Patients who died from COVID-19 also presented with elevated Ang-2 and HGF levels, accompanied by low concentrations of TIMP-2. Critical disease was characterised



FIGURE 2 | Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve for mortality: (A) Endothelial biomarkers (B) Angiogenic biomarkers. ROC curves with area under the curve for mortality.

by an increase in VEGF and HGF and a decrease in TIMP-2 (Figure 3B).

Next, we evaluated whether a combination of the biomarkers already shown may outperform the prediction accuracy for inhospital mortality. We performed a multiple logistic regression model using Ang-2, HGF, IL-8, PDGF, TIMP-2, VEGF, syndecan-1, and TM values obtained within 24 h of the patient arriving at the hospital. A dual combination of VDGF, PDGF, and TIMP-2 improved our model. The combination of TIMP-2 and PDGF as predictors had a positive predictive power of 80.9% and a negative predictive power of 70% for mortality, with an AUC of 0.90 (95% CI 0.816–0.997; *p*-value < 0.0001; Tjur's R2 of 0.43), Hosmer-Lemeshow *p*-value of 0.34 and a log-likelihood ratio *p*-value < 0.0001 (**Figure 3C**).

To further evaluate the biomarkers, we tested whether patients' serum samples were able to induce changes in endothelial function. To identify biomarkers that could be modulated by SARS-CoV-2, we used a semi-quantitative



methodology, a proteome profiler array, using serum from patients with COVID-19 and healthy individuals. We found that Angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1), Ang-2, endostatin, VEGF, TIMP-1, TIMP-4, CXCL4, PDGF-AB/BB, TSP-1, EGF, CXCL16, and CD105 were modulated. Interestingly, Ang-1, Ang-2, VEGF, and CXCL-4 were involved in angiogenesis (**Figures 4A,B**) (30). Further, we evaluated whether blood serum from patients with COVID-19 and healthy individuals served as chemoattractants to endothelial EA.hy 926 cells by performing a Transwell assay (**Figures 4C-E**). We observed that blood serum from patients with COVID-19 showed increased cell migration compared to that in healthy blood serum.

DISCUSSION

COVID-19 is an aggressive disease. Here, we observed that endothelial injury and angiogenic biomarkers increased upon arrival of patients in need of high-flow nasal oxygen (HFNO) or mechanical ventilation support. An imbalance in the proangiogenic profile of endothelial activation is suggested in our migration and angiogenic assays using the serum samples of patients with COVID-19 as a chemotactic agent. Furthermore, an increase in biomarkers was predictive of mortality in our cohort.

The increase in syndecan-1 and TM levels confirmed substantial endothelial damage. As for angiogenesis, the sole elevation of one angiogenic protein has been described as insufficient for promoting endothelial cell survival and *in vitro* tubulogenesis, and the need for combination increases cell survival, tubulogenesis, and neovascularisation in rat corneas (20). In our cohort, we found an increase in VEGF, HGF in combination with high circulating Ang-2 levels. For PDGF, in deceased patients, we observed a decrease in the concentration in blood samples obtained upon arrival at the hospital. Also, we observed a decrease in TIMP-2 levels in the first 24 h and 10 days of hospitalisation, respectively. TIMP-2 inhibits VEGFinduced angiogenesis (31). Therefore, serum reduction reinforces the imbalance in the angiogenic profile of COVID-19 patients. Finally, IL-8 increase on the 10th day of hospitalisation adds a paracrine angiogenic factor that modulates the endothelial cell response (32, 33).

Using the proteome profiler array approximation, in patients with COVID-19 we confirmed the angiogenic and chemotactic serum profile compared to healthy volunteers of similar ages. Of the 55 molecules analysed, the observed increase in insulin-like growth factor binding proteins (IGFBPs), chemokines such as CXCL16 and Pentraxin-3, and endothelial growth factor (EGF) reaffirms the upregulation of angiogenic factors (34–39). There is compelling evidence that there is a need for crosstalk between different factors, as this has been described between HGF and VEGF, enhancing VEGF-driven angiogenesis; therefore, an increase in different molecules was expected (40). Finally, this profile was associated with *in vitro* endothelial cell migration, suggesting the ability of serum to activate endothelial functions.

SARS-CoV-2 infection through the angiotensin converting enzyme-2 (ACE-2) receptor makes COVID-19 systemic.



Endothelial injury is a hallmark of tissue permeability, lung oedema, and organ dysfunction. Endothelial cells control vascular tone and permeability by inducing endotheliumderived relaxation and contractile factors. Upon activation, endothelial cells secrete chemoattractants, cytokines, and adhesion molecules (41). With dysfunction, endothelial cells fail to produce nitric oxide (NO), losing the suppression effect on activated molecule release, a feature observed in patients with COVID-19 (42, 43). Other endothelial functions, such as angiogenesis and cellular migration, have received less attention in the literature. When Ackerman et al. described intussusceptive and sprouting angiogenesis as a novel feature of SARS-CoV-2 infection, compared with autopsies from influenza patients, he showed a vessel proliferation that accompanied a rapid decline in lung function and death (7). This angiogenic progression has been primarily studied in tumours. Circulating VEGF, HGF, and Ang-2 levels have been described in breast cancer, hepatocarcinoma, and melanoma (44-46).

There is increasing evidence that endothelial damage is a predictor of outcomes. Smadja et al., in an observational cohort of 40 patients, found that Ang-2 concentration at admission is a relevant factor to predict transfer to ICU with an ROC of AUC 77.2 (80.1% sensitivity and 70% specificity) (19). Vassiliou et al., using endothelial biomarkers in hospitalised patients with COVID-19 admitted to the ICU, found that elevation of sE-selectin, sP-selectin, Ang-2, and sICAM-1 levels were significantly elevated in ICU non-survivors compared

to survivors, with a higher mortality probability. In addition, sE-selectin, Ang-2, and sICAM-1 from the generated ROC curves were >0.85, indicating that elevated levels of these markers upon ICU admission could predict mortality in COVID-19 (47). Recently, de Moraes et al. described that angiopoietins, their receptors, and VEGF are associated with severity of COVID-19, suggesting that targeting the Ang/Tie2 and VEGF-A pathways could be valuable strategies to modulate COVID-19 severity (48). This reinforces our findings that endothelial damage is an early phenomenon, relates to hospital admission biomarker concentrations as a predictive tool for mortality, and can be a useful strategy for patient management.

Among the limitations of our study, we find the small number of participants and controls, which may reduce the strength of the statistical analysis. Although some of the biomarkers exhibited good AUC in the ROC curves and could predict disease mortality and severity in SARS-CoV-2, a larger trial is needed to confirm our results. Additionally, the number of samples obtained on day 10 was reduced due to deceased patients. Another limitation is the variation of absolute values between assays in the literature due to the temperature of sample management. Our samples were obtained with different processing methods than other laboratories, were we aimed to maintain normothermia to avoid platelet activation and angiogenic biomarkers release (49). Hence absolute values should be interpreted carefully and compared to studies with similar sample management. In relation to our migratory assay, we did not perform inhibitory experiments, and our findings need to be further investigated.

Finally, endothelial injury and angiogenesis biomarkers have been associated with mortality in patients with sepsis (14, 50). Here, we observed that early endothelial and angiogenic biomarkers increased the prediction of mortality, although they failed to predict myocardial injury and PET. Even though all patients in our cohort received the dexamethasone-recovery protocol (51), serum biomarkers remained altered on the 10th day of hospitalisation. The angiogenic profile associated with the known cytokine storm may be a relevant feature in COVID-19 induced organ dysfunction (52), and differences in sprouting or intussusceptive angiogenic evolution in different sepsis aetiologies may impact outcomes (7). Regarding the endothelial and angiogenic features of COVID-19, many questions still remain regarding their usefulness as biomarkers and the potential role of anti-angiogenic treatments in patients with the disease.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Hospital Clínico Universidad de Chile (Ref: OAIC 1161/20). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from all patients who were able to sign or from a legal representative when they were unable to provide consent.

REFERENCES

- Zhu J, Ji P, Pang J, Zhong Z, Li H, He C, et al. Clinical characteristics of 3062 COVID-19 patients: a meta-analysis. J Med Virol. (2020) 92:1902– 14. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25884
- Du Y, Tu L, Zhu P, Mu M, Wang R, Yang P, et al. Clinical features of 85 fatal cases of COVID-19 from Wuhan. A retrospective observational study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2020) 201:1372–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202003-0 543OC
- Auld SC, Caridi-Scheible M, Blum JM, Robichaux C, Kraft C, Jacob JT, et al. ICU and ventilator mortality among critically ill adults with coronavirus disease 2019*. *Crit Care Med.* (2020) 48:e799. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000004457
- Guizani I, Fourti N, Zidi W, Feki M, Allal-Elasmi M. SARS-CoV-2 and pathological matrix remodeling mediators. *Inflamm Res.* (2021) 70:847– 58. doi: 10.1007/s00011-021-01487-6
- Fagiani E, Christofori G. Angiopoietins in angiogenesis. *Cancer Lett.* (2013) 328:18–26. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2012.08.018
- Solomon JJ, Heyman B, Ko JP, Condos R, Lynch DA. CT of postacute lung complications of COVID-19. *Radiology*. (2021) 301:E383–95. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2021211396
- Ackermann M, Verleden SE, Kuehnel M, Haverich A, Welte T, Laenger F, et al. Pulmonary vascular endothelialitis, thrombosis, and angiogenesis in Covid-19. N Engl J Med. (2020) 383:120–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2015432

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FM and MC conceived the study, drafted the work, and performed the funding acquisition. FM, DM, CD-P, CV, CF, ML, CE, and MC performed the data collection. Data were analysed by FM, DM, CD-P, CF, NV, RGu, ÁJ, CR, OC, and MC and interpreted by FM, NV, RGo, RGu, ÁJ, CR, OC, and MC. All the authors revised the work, commented on previous versions of the manuscript, approved the version to be published, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Priority Health Problems: COVID-19 Investigation Grant of the Hospital Clínico de la Universidad de Chile, Santiago, Chile (FM), and a grant from the National Fund for Science and Technology (FONDECYT) Grant 1181263 (MC) from the National Agency of Research and Development (ANID). The Millennium Nucleus of Ion Channel-Associated Diseases (MiNICAD) from the Millennium Initiative, ANID funds (OC and MC). FONDECYT 1200917 funds (OC).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed. 2022.826218/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Strobe diagram.

Supplementary Table 1 | Healthy volunteers' characteristics.

- Keane MP. Angiogenesis and pulmonary fibrosis: feast or famine? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2004) 170:207–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.24 05007
- Smadja DM, Mentzer SJ, Fontenay M, Laffan MA, Ackermann M, Helms J, et al. COVID-19 is a systemic vascular hemopathy: insight for mechanistic and clinical aspects. *Angiogenesis*. (2021) 24:755–88. doi: 10.1007/s10456-021-09805-6
- Okada H, Yoshida S, Hara A, Ogura S, Tomita H. Vascular endothelial injury exacerbates coronavirus disease 2019: the role of endothelial glycocalyx protection. *Microcirculation*. (2021) 28:e12654. doi: 10.1111/micc. 12654
- Medina-Enríquez MM, Lopez-León S, Carlos-Escalante JA, Aponte-Torres Z, Cuapio A, Wegman-Ostrosky T. ACE2: the molecular doorway to SARS-CoV-2. *Cell Biosci.* (2020) 10:148. doi: 10.1186/s13578-020-00519-8
- Teuwen L-A, Geldhof V, Pasut A, Carmeliet P. COVID-19: the vasculature unleashed. Nat Rev Immunol. (2020) 20:389– 91. doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0343-0
- Suzuki K, Okada H, Sumi K, Tomita H, Kobayashi R, Ishihara T, et al. Serum syndecan-1 reflects organ dysfunction in critically ill patients. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:8864. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-88303-7
- Johansen M, Johansson P, Ostrowski S, Bestle M, Hein L, Jensen A, et al. Profound endothelial damage predicts impending organ failure and death in sepsis. Semin Thromb Hemost. (2015) 41:016–025. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1398377

- Ogawa F, Oi Y, Nakajima K, Matsumura R, Nakagawa T, Miyagawa T, et al. Temporal change in Syndecan-1 as a therapeutic target and a biomarker for the severity classification of COVID-19. *Thromb J.* (2021) 19:55. doi: 10.1186/s12959-021-00308-4
- Suzuki K, Okada H, Tomita H, Sumi K, Kakino Y, Yasuda R, et al. Possible involvement of Syndecan-1 in the state of COVID-19 related to endothelial injury. *Thromb J.* (2021) 19:5. doi: 10.1186/s12959-021-0 0258-x
- Goshua G, Pine AB, Meizlish ML, Chang C-H, Zhang H, Bahel P, et al. Endotheliopathy in COVID-19-associated coagulopathy: evidence from a single-centre, cross-sectional study. *Lancet Haematol.* (2020) 7:e575– 82. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(20)30216-7
- Norooznezhad AH, Mansouri K. Endothelial cell dysfunction, coagulation, and angiogenesis in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Microvasc Res.* (2021) 137:104188. doi: 10.1016/j.mvr.2021.104188
- Smadja DM, Guerin CL, Chocron R, Yatim N, Boussier J, Gendron N, et al. Angiopoietin-2 as a marker of endothelial activation is a good predictor factor for intensive care unit admission of COVID-19 patients. *Angiogenesis*. (2020) 23:611–20. doi: 10.1007/s10456-020-09730-0
- Xin X, Yang S, Ingle G, Zlot C, Rangell L, Kowalski J, et al. Hepatocyte growth factor enhances vascular endothelial growth factor-induced angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. *Am J Pathol.* (2001) 158:1111–20. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64058-8
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *Lancet.* (2007) 370:1453–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)6 1602-X
- Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Chaitman BR, Bax JJ, Morrow DA, et al. Fourth universal definition of myocardial infarction (2018). J Am Coll Cardiol. (2018) 72:2231–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.08.1038
- COVID-19 Treatment Guidelines Panel. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Treatment Guidelines. *National Institutes of Health*. Available online at: https://www.covid19treatmentguidelines.nih.gov/ (accessed January 21, 2022).
- Rahbar E, Cardenas JC, Baimukanova G, Usadi B, Bruhn R, Pati S, et al. Endothelial glycocalyx shedding and vascular permeability in severely injured trauma patients. *J Transl Med.* (2015) 13:117. doi: 10.1186/s12967-015-0 481-5
- Maldonado F. Effect of sevoflurane and propofol on tourniquet-induced endothelial damage: a pilot randomized controlled trial for knee-ligament surgery. *BMC Anesthesiol.* (2020) 20:121. doi: 10.1186/s12871-020-01030-w
- Hajian-Tilaki K. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis for medical diagnostic test evaluation. *Caspian J Intern Med.* (2013) 4:627–35.
- Bewick V, Cheek L, Ball J. Statistics review 13: receiver operating characteristic curves. Crit Care. (2004) 8:508–12. doi: 10.1186/cc3000
- Saldías MP, Fernández C, Morgan A, Díaz C, Morales D, Jaña F, et al. Aged blood factors decrease cellular responses associated with delayed gingival wound repair. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0184189. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0184189
- Fernandez C, Burgos A, Morales D, Rosales-Rojas R, Canelo J, Vergara-Jaque A, et al. TMPRSS11a is a novel agealtered, tissue specific regulator of migration and wound healing. *FASEB J.* (2021) 35:e21597. doi: 10.1096/fj.2020022 53RRR
- Thomas KA. Angiogenesis. In: Bradshaw RA, Stahl PD, editors. *Encyclopedia of Cell Biology*. Waltham: Academic Press (2016). p. 102–16. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-394447-4.40019-2
- Seo D-W, Li H, Guedez L, Wingfield PT, Diaz T, Salloum R, et al. TIMP-2 mediated inhibition of angiogenesis: an MMP-independent mechanism. *Cell.* (2003) 114:171–80. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03) 00551-8
- 32. Li A, Varney ML, Valasek J, Godfrey M, Dave BJ, Singh RK. Autocrine role of interleukin-8 in induction of endothelial cell proliferation, survival, migration and MMP-2 production and angiogenesis. *Angiogenesis*. (2005) 8:63–71. doi: 10.1007/s10456-005-5208-4

- Petzelbauer P, Watson CA, Pfau SE, Pober JS. IL-8 and angiogenesis: evidence that human endothelial cells lack receptors and do not respond to IL-8 in vitro. *Cytokine*. (1995) 7:267–72. doi: 10.1006/cyto.1995.0031
- Slater T, Haywood NJ, Matthews C, Cheema H, Wheatcroft SB. Insulinlike growth factor binding proteins and angiogenesis: from cancer to cardiovascular disease. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2019) 46:28– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2019.03.005
- Wu X, Zheng W, Jin P, Hu J, Zhou Q. Role of IGFBP1 in the senescence of vascular endothelial cells and severity of aging-related coronary atherosclerosis. *Int J Mol Med.* (2019) 44:1921–31. doi: 10.3892/ijmm. 2019.4338
- Möller B, Rasmussen C, Lindblom B, Olovsson M. Expression of the angiogenic growth factors VEGF, FGF-2, EGF and their receptors in normal human endometrium during the menstrual cycle. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2001) 7:65–72. doi: 10.1093/molehr/7.1.65
- Presta M, Foglio E, Churruca Schuind A, Ronca R. Long pentraxin-3 modulates the angiogenic activity of fibroblast growth factor-2. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:2327. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 02327
- 38. Yu X, Zhao R, Lin S, Bai X, Zhang L, Yuan S, et al. CXCL16 induces angiogenesis in autocrine signaling pathway involving hypoxia-inducible factor 1α in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Oncol Rep.* (2016) 35:1557–1565. doi: 10.3892/or.2015.4520
- Karimzadeh P, Faghih Z, Rahmani N, Eghbali F, Razmkhah M. Quantification of angiogenic factors and their clinicopathological associations in breast cancer. *Eur Cytokine Netw.* (2020) 31:68–75. doi: 10.1684/ecn.2020. 0447
- 40. Sulpice E, Ding S, Muscatelli-Groux B, Bergé M, Han ZC, Plouet J, et al. Cross-talk between the VEGF-A and HGF signalling pathways in endothelial cells. *Biol Cell.* (2009) 101:525–39. doi: 10.1042/BC200 80221
- 41. Jin Y, Ji W, Yang H, Chen S, Zhang W, Duan G. Endothelial activation and dysfunction in COVID-19: from basic mechanisms to potential therapeutic approaches. *Signal Transduct Target Ther.* (2020) 5:293. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-00454-7
- Pober JS, Sessa WC. Evolving functions of endothelial cells in inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol. (2007) 7:803–15. doi: 10.1038/nri2171
- Green SJ. Covid-19 accelerates endothelial dysfunction and nitric oxide deficiency. *Microbes Infect.* (2020) 22:149–50. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2020. 05.006
- 44. Takayama H, Miyake Y, Nouso K, Ikeda F, Shiraha H, Takaki A, et al. Serum levels of platelet-derived growth factor-BB and vascular endothelial growth factor as prognostic factors for patients with fulminant hepatic failure. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2011) 26:116–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2010.06441.x
- Helfrich I, Edler L, Sucker A, Thomas M, Christian S, Schadendorf D, et al. Angiopoietin-2 levels are associated with disease progression in metastatic malignant melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:1384– 92. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1615
- 46. Yamagamim H, Moriyama M, Matsumura H, Aoki H, Shimizu T, Saito T, et al. Serum concentrations of human hepatocyte growth factor is a useful indicator for predicting the occurrence of hepatocellular carcinomas in Cviral chronic liver diseases. *Cancer.* (2002) 95:824–34. doi: 10.1002/cncr. 10732
- Vassiliou AG, Keskinidou C, Jahaj E, Gallos P, Dimopoulou I, Kotanidou A, et al. ICU admission levels of endothelial biomarkers as predictors of mortality in critically Ill COVID-19 patients. *Cells.* (2021) 10:186. doi: 10.3390/cells10010186
- 48. de Moraes CRP, de Borba Junior IT, de Lima F, Barbosa MS, Huber SC, Palma AC, et al. Circulating levels of Ang/Tie2 and VEGF-a pathway mediators are associated with clinical severity, endothelial barrier disruption and coagulation activation in COVID-19. *Blood.* (2021) 138:2073. doi: 10.1182/blood-2021-152771
- Maurer-Spurej E, Pfeiler G, Maurer N, Lindner H, Glatter O, Devine DV. Room temperature activates human blood platelets. *Lab Invest.* (2001) 81:581– 92. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3780267
- Luz Fiusa MM, Costa-Lima C, de Souza GR, Vigorito AC, Penteado Aranha FJ, Lorand-Metze I, et al. A high angiopoietin-2/angiopoietin-1 ratio is associated

with a high risk of septic shock in patients with febrile neutropenia. *Crit Care.* (2013) 17:R169. doi: 10.1186/cc12848

- RECOVERY Collaborative Group, Horby P, Lim WS, Emberson JR, Mafham M, Bell JL, et al. Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med. (2021) 384:693–704. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa20 21436
- Leisman DE, Ronner L, Pinotti R, Taylor MD, Sinha P, Calfee CS, et al. Cytokine elevation in severe and critical COVID-19: a rapid systematic review, meta-analysis, and comparison with other inflammatory syndromes. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8:1233–44. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30404-5

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Maldonado, Morales, Díaz-Papapietro, Valdés, Fernandez, Valls, Lazo, Espinoza, González, Gutiérrez, Jara, Romero, Cerda and Cáceres. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





@

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

Contact us: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Frontiers

FOLLOW US @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network increases your